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SECTION I - GENERAL

DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Draft Letter of Offer uses certain definitions and abbreviations which, unless the context otherwise
indicates or implies or unless otherwise specified, shall have the meaning as provided below. References to any

legislation, act, regulation,

rules, guidelines or policies shall be to such legislation, act, regulation, rules,

guidelines or policies as amended, supplemented, or re-enacted from time to time and any reference to a
statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation made from time to time under that provision.

The words and expressions used in this Draft Letter of Offer, but not defined herein shall have, to the extent
applicable, the meaning ascribed to such terms under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Companies Act, the
SCRA, the Depositories Act, and the rules and regulations made thereunder.

Company Related Terms

Term

Description

Company / our Company / the
Company / the Issuer

Bharti Airtel Limited, on a standalone basis, a public limited company incorporated under the
provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 and having its Registered and Corporate Office
situated at Bharti Crescent, 1, Nelson Mandela Road, Vasant Kunj, Phase 11, New Delhi 110
070, India

“We”, “Our”, “Us” or “our
Group”

Bharti Airtel Limited on a consolidated basis, including its Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and
Associate Companies, unless otherwise specified

Airtel Africa Group

Airtel Africa Plc and its consolidated subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings

Annual Audited Financial | Audited consolidated financial statements of our Company as at and for the year ended
Statements March 31, 2018
Articles  of  Association/ | The articles of association of our Company, as amended

Articles / AoA

Associate Companies

Companies constituting the associate companies of our Company as determined in terms of
Section 2(6) of the Companies Act or applicable accounting standards. For details, see
“History and Corporate Structure — Corporate Structure of our Company” on page 99

Bharti  Airtel
Welfare Trust

Employees’

The trust, earlier known as the Bharti Tele-Ventures Employees Welfare Trust, and created
vide a trust deed dated March 31, 2001 with its office at Qutab Ambiance, H-5/12, Mehrauli
Road, New Delhi — 110 030 or such other trust as may be formed and/or designated by our
Company for the administration of ESOP 2001 and ESOP 2005

Bharti Digital

Bharti Digital Networks Private Limited (earlier known as Tikona Digital Networks Private
Limited)

Bharti Hexacom

Bharti Hexacom Limited

Bharti Infratel

Bharti Infratel Limited

Board of Directors / Board

Board of directors of our Company or a duly constituted committee thereof

BTL

Bharti Telecom Limited

Director(s)

Any or all the directors on our Board, as may be appointed from time to time

Equity Shareholder

A holder of Equity Shares

Equity Shares

The equity shares of our Company each having a face value of X 5 each, unless otherwise
specified

ESOP 2001 Employee Stock Option Scheme 2001 of our Company

ESOP 2005 Employee Stock Option Scheme 2005 of our Company

ESOP Compensation | A committee constituted by our Board under the provisions of the SEBI SBEB Regulations
Committee or any other law for the time being in force, to administer the ESOP 2001 and ESOP 2005

Financial Statements

Annual Audited Financial Statements and Interim Audited Financial Statements. For details,
see “Financial Statements” on page 108

GIC

GIC Private Limited

Holding Company

The holding company of our Company, i.e.,, BTL, as described under “History and
Corporate Structure — Corporate Structure of our Company” on page 99

Indus Towers

Indus Towers Limited

Interim  Audited Financial
Statements

Audited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of our Company as at and for
the nine month period ended December 31, 2018

Joint Ventures

Companies constituting the joint ventures of our Company as determined in terms of Section
2(6) of the Companies Act or applicable accounting standards. For details, see “History and
Corporate Structure — Corporate Structure of our Company” on page 99

Memorandum of Association /
Memorandum / MoA

The memorandum of association of our Company, as amended

Pastel

Pastel Limited

Promoter / our Promoter

The promoter of our Company being, BTL. Pastel, who is a member of our Promoter Group,
had been disclosed as a ‘deemed promoter’ in regulatory filings under the SEBI Takeover
Regulations

Promoter Group

Persons and / or entities constituting the promoter group of our Company as determined in
terms of Regulation 2(1)(pp) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

1
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Term Description
Registered and Corporate | Registered and corporate office of our Company situated at Bharti Crescent, 1, Nelson
Office Mandela Road, Vasant Kunj, Phase Il, New Delhi 110 070, India

Registrar of Companies / RoC

Registrar of Companies, National Capital Territory of Delhi and Haryana, located at New
Delhi

SingTel

Singapore Telecommunications Limited

Statutory Auditors

Statutory auditors of our Company, being Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered
Accountants

Subsidiaries Companies or body corporates constituting the subsidiaries of our Company as determined in
terms of Section 2(87) of the Companies Act. For details, see “History and Corporate
Structure — Corporate Structure of our Company” on page 99

Telenor Telenor (India) Communications Private Limited

TNL Telesonic Networks Limited

TTML Tata Teleservices (Maharashtra) Limited

TTSL Tata Teleservices Limited

Issue Related Terms

Term

Description

Abridged Letter of Offer /
ALOF

Abridged letter of offer to be sent to the Eligible Equity Shareholders with respect to the
Issue in accordance with the provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Companies
Act

Allot / Allotment / Allotted

Allotment of Rights Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue

Allotment Account

The account opened with the Banker(s) to the Issue, into which the Application Money lying
to the credit of the escrow account(s) and amounts blocked by Application Supported by
Blocked Amount in the ASBA Account, with respect to successful Applicants will be
transferred on the Transfer Date in accordance with Section 40(3) of the Companies Act

Allotment Date

Date on which the Allotment is made pursuant to the Issue

Allottee(s)

Person(s) who are Allotted Rights Equity Shares pursuant to the Allotment

Applicant(s) / Investor(s)

Eligible Equity Shareholder(s) and/or Renouncee(s) who are entitled to make an application
for the Rights Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue in terms of the Letter of Offer, including an
ASBA Investor

Application

Application made by the Applicant whether submitted by way of CAF or SAF or in the form
of a plain paper, in case of Eligible Equity Shareholders, and by way of a CAF or SAF in case
of Renouncees, to subscribe to the Rights Equity Shares at the Issue Price including
applications by way of the ASBA process

Application Money

Aggregate amount payable in respect of the Rights Equity Shares applied for in the Issue at
the Issue Price

Application Supported by
Blocked Amount / ASBA

Application (whether physical or electronic) used by an ASBA Investor to make an
application authorizing the SCSB to block the Application Money in an ASBA account
maintained with the SCSB

ASBA Account

Account maintained with the SCSB and specified in the CAF or the plain paper Application
by the Applicant for blocking the amount mentioned in the CAF or the plain paper
Application

ASBA Applicant / ASBA
Investor

Eligible Equity Shareholders who make an application to subscribe to the Issue through
ASBA process and who (i) hold Equity Shares in dematerialized form as on the Record Date;
(i) have not renounced their Rights Entitlements in full or in part; and (iii) are not
Renouncees

Axis Axis Capital Limited

Banker(s) to the Issue Collectively, the Escrow Collection Bank and the Refund Bank to the Issue

Banker(s) to the Issue|Agreement to be entered into by and among our Company, the Registrar to the Issue, the
Agreement Lead Managers and the Banker(s) to the Issue for collection of the Application Money from

Applicants/Investors, transfer of funds to the Allotment Account and where applicable,
refunds of the amounts collected from Applicants/Investors, on the terms and conditions
thereof

Composite Application Form/
CAF(s)

Form used by an Investor to make an application for the Allotment of Rights Equity Shares in
the Issue

Consolidated Certificate

The certificate that would be issued for Rights Equity Shares Allotted to each folio in case of
Eligible Equity Shareholders who hold Equity Shares in physical form

Controlling ~ Branches /
Controlling Branches of the
SCSBs

Such branches of the SCSBs which co-ordinate with the Lead Managers, the Registrar to the
Issue and the Stock Exchanges, a list of which is available on
http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes

Designated Branches

Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the CAF or the plain paper Application, as
the case may be, used by the ASBA Investors and a list of which is available on
http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes

Designated Stock Exchange

[¢]

Draft Letter of Offer

This draft letter of offer dated March 6, 2019 filed with SEBI in accordance with the SEBI
ICDR Regulations
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Escrow Collection Bank

Bank(s) which are clearing members and registered with SEBI as bankers to an issue and
with whom the Escrow Accounts will be opened, in this case being [e]

Eligible Equity Shareholders

Holder(s) of the Equity Shares as on the Record Date

Goldman Sachs

Goldman Sachs (India) Securities Private Limited

HSBC HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India) Private Limited
I-Sec ICICI Securities Limited
Issue Issue of up to 1,133,591,075 Equity Shares of face value of X 5 each of our Company for cash

at a price of ¥ 220 per Rights Equity Share (including a premium of X 215 per Rights Equity
Share) aggregating up to ¥ 249,390.04 million on a rights basis to the Eligible Equity
Shareholders of our Company in the ratio of 19 Rights Equity Shares for every 67 Equity
Shares held by the Eligible Equity Shareholders of our Company on the Record Date

Issue Closing Date

[e]

Issue Opening Date

[e]

Issue Period The period between the Issue Opening Date and the Issue Closing Date, inclusive of both
days, during which Applicants/Investors can submit their Applications, in accordance with
the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Issue Price % 220 per Rights Equity Share

Issue Proceeds Gross proceeds of the Issue

Issue Size Amount aggregating up to % 249,390.04 million

J.P. Morgan J.P. Morgan India Private Limited

Lead Managers Axis, J.P. Morgan, Goldman Sachs, HSBC and I-Sec and, in relation to the Issue

Letter of Offer The final letter of offer to be filed with the Stock Exchanges after incorporating observations

received from SEBI on this Draft Letter of Offer

Monitoring Agency

[e]

Net Proceeds

Issue Proceeds less Issue related expenses. For details, see “Objects of the Issue” on page 75

Non-ASBA Investor / Non-
ASBA Applicant

Applicants / Investors other than ASBA Applicants / ASBA Investors, who apply in the Issue
otherwise than through the ASBA process, comprising Eligible Equity Shareholders holding
Equity Shares in physical form or who intend to renounce their Rights Entitlement in part or
full and Renouncees

Record Date

Designated date for the purpose of determining the Equity Shareholders eligible to apply for
Rights Equity Shares, to be decided prior to filing of the Letter of Offer

Refund Bank

The Banker(s) to the Issue with whom the Refund Account(s) will be opened, in this case
being [e]

Registrar to the Issue /|Karvy Fintech Private Limited (formerly KCPL Advisory Services Private Limited)
Registrar
Renouncee(s) Person(s) who has/have acquired the Rights Entitlement from the Eligible Equity

Shareholders on renunciation

Rights Entitlement

The number of Rights Equity Shares that an Eligible Equity Shareholder is entitled to in
proportion to the number of Equity Shares held by such Eligible Equity Shareholder on the
Record Date, in this case being 19 Rights Equity Shares for every 67 Equity Shares held by
an Eligible Equity Shareholder

Rights Equity Shares

Equity Shares of our Company to be Allotted pursuant to this Issue

SCSB(s)

Self certified syndicate banks registered with SEBI, which offers the facility of ASBA. A list
of all SCSBs is available at
http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes

Split  Application Form /

SAF(s)

An application form used in case of renunciation in part by an Eligible Equity Shareholder in
favour of one or more Renouncee(s) in relation to the Rights Equity Shares

Stock Exchanges

Stock exchanges where the Equity Shares are presently listed, being BSE and NSE

Transfer Date

The date on which the amount held in the escrow account(s) and the amount blocked in the
ASBA Account will be transferred to the Allotment Account, upon finalization of the Basis
of Allotment, in consultation with the Designated Stock Exchange

Underwriter(s)

[¢]

Underwriting Agreement

The underwriting agreement that may be entered into between our Company and the
underwriter(s)

Wilful Defaulter

Company or person, as the case may be, categorised as a wilful defaulter by any bank or
financial institution (as defined under the Companies Act) or consortium thereof, in
accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by the RBI

Working Day(s)

Working day means all days on which commercial banks in Mumbai are open for business.
Further, in respect of Issue Period, working day means all days, excluding Saturdays,
Sundays and public holidays, on which commercial banks in Mumbai are open for business.
Furthermore, the time period between the Issue Closing Date and the listing of the Rights
Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges, working day means all trading days of the Stock
Exchanges, excluding Sundays and bank holidays, as per circulars issued by SEBI
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Conventional and General Terms or Abbreviations

Term /Abbreviation

Description / Full Form

%/ Rs./Rupees/ INR

Indian Rupee

AIF(s)

Alternative investment funds, as defined and registered with SEBI under the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012

AS / Accounting Standards

The Accounting standards issued by the ICAI

ASBA Circulars

Collectively, SEBI circular SEBI/CFD/DIL/ASBA/1/2009/30/12 dated December 30, 2009
and SEBI circular CIR/CFD/DIL/1/2011 dated April 29, 2011

BSE BSE Limited

CAGR Compound Annual Growth Rate

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited

Central Government Central Government of India

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CCI Competition Commission of India

CIN Corporate identity number

Companies Act, 1956 Erstwhile Companies Act, 1956 along with the rules made thereunder
Companies  Act, 2013 /|Companies Act, 2013 along with the rules made thereunder
Companies Act

Competition Act Competition Act, 2002

Cr.PC Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973

CSR Corporate social responsibility

Delhi Stock Exchange

Delhi Stock Exchange Association Limited

Depositories Act

Depositories Act, 1996

Depository A depository registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 1996

DIN Director identification number

DIPP Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Ministry of Commerce and Industry,

Government of India

DP / Depository Participant

Depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

DP ID

Depository participant identification

DPII Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade, Ministry of Commerce and
Industry, Government of India, earlier known as

EBITDA Profit from operating activities before depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items as
presented in the statement of profit and loss in the Financial Statements

EPS Earnings per share

FCNR Account Foreign Currency Non-Resident Account

FDI Foreign direct investment

FDI Policy The extant Consolidated Foreign Direct Investment Policy notified by the DIPP (now DPII)
through notification dated August 28, 2017 effective from August 28, 2017

FEMA Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, read with rules and regulations thereunder

FEMA Regulations

Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of Security by a Person Resident Outside
India) Regulations, 2017

Financial Year / FY / Fiscal

Period of 12 months ended March 31 of that particular year

Fugitive Economic Offender

An individual who is declared a fugitive economic offender under Section 12 of the Fugitive
Economic Offenders Act, 2018

FVCls Foreign venture capital investors as defined in and registered with the SEBI, under the SEBI
FVCI Regulations

GDP Gross domestic product

GIR General Index Register

Government / Gol Central Government and/or the State Government, as applicable

GST Goods and Services Tax

HUF Hindu Undivided Family

IBC Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016

ICAI Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

India Republic of India

Indian GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles followed in India

Ind AS Indian Accounting Standards as referred to and notified under the Companies (Indian
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015

IPC Indian Penal Code, 1860

IPO Initial public offering

ISIN International securities identification number allotted by the Depository

IT Information Technology

IT Act Information Technology Act, 2000

Income-tax Act Income-tax Act, 1961

LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rate
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Description / Full Form

Listing Agreement

Equity listing agreements entered into between our Company and the Stock Exchanges in
terms of the SEBI Listing Regulations read along with SEBI Circular No.
CIR/CFD/CMD/6/2015 dated October 13, 2015

MICR Magnetic Ink Character Recognition

Mutual Fund Mutual fund registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996

N.A./N/A Not applicable

NACH National Automated Clearing House

Net Worth The aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created out of the profits and
securities premium account and debit or credit balance of profit and loss account, after
deducting the aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and
miscellaneous expenditure not written off, as per the audited balance sheet, but does not
include reserves created out of revaluation of assets, write-back of depreciation and
amalgamation

NEFT National Electronic Fund Transfer

Net Debt It is computed by reducing the amounts of cash and cash equivalents from the aggregate of
long-term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term borrowings) and short-term
borrowings, all of which are as per the audited consolidated financial statements of respective
years/periods

NR / NRs Non-resident(s) or person(s) resident outside India, as defined under the FEMA

NRE Account Non-resident external account

NRI A person resident outside India, who is a citizen of India and shall have the same meaning as
ascribed to such term in the Foreign Exchange Management (Deposit) Regulations, 2016

NRO Account Non-resident ordinary account

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited

NSE The National Stock Exchange of India Limited

OCB [/ Overseas Corporate
Body

A company, partnership, society or other corporate body owned directly or indirectly to the
extent of at least 60% by NRIs including overseas trusts, in which not less than 60% of
beneficial interest is irrevocably held by NRIs directly or indirectly and which was in
existence on October 3, 2003 and immediately before such date had taken benefits under the
general permission granted to OCBs under FEMA

p.a. Per annum
PAN Permanent Account Number
RBI Reserve Bank of India

Registered Foreign Portfolio
Investors / Foreign Portfolio
Investors / FPIs

Foreign portfolio investors as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations

Regulation S Regulation S under the US Securities Act

RTGS Real Time Gross Settlement

SCRA Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956
SCRR Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957
SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India

SEBI Act Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992

SEBI AIF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012

SEBI FPI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations, 2014

SEBI FVCI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investors) Regulations,
2000

SEBI ICDR Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2018

SEBI Listing Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015

SEBI SBEB Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014

SEBI Takeover Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers)
Regulations, 2011

SEBI VCF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Venture Capital Funds) Regulations, 1996

Segment EBITDA

Total of ‘Segment results’ before share of results of Joint Ventures and Associates
Companies and segment ‘Depreciation and amortisation’ as presented in the “Summary of
segmental information” in the Financial Statements

State Government

Government of a state of India

Telegraph Act

Indian Telegraph Act, 1885

U.S. / USA / United States

United States of America, including the territories or possessions thereof

US Securities Act

U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended

VCFs

Venture capital funds as defined in and registered with the SEBI under the SEBI VCF
Regulations or the SEBI AlIF Regulations, as the case may be
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Term / Abbreviation

Description / Full Form

2G

Second generation mobile telecommunication technology

3G Third generation mobile telecommunication technology

4G Fourth generation mobile telecommunication technology

4K Four times the resolution of regular high definition television content
5G Fifth generation mobile telecommunication technology

Active infrastructure or active

Includes base transceiver station equipment, associated antennae, backhaul connectivity to an

equipment operator’s network and other requisite equipment and associated electrical works required to
provide telecommunications services by such operator at a tower site

AGR Adjusted gross revenue

ALT Balaji A digital platform of ALT Digital Media Entertainment Limited

Amazon Prime A digital platform of Amazon Seller Services Private Limited

ARPU Average revenue per user

Average Sharing Factor

Average of the opening and closing number of co-locations divided by the average of the
opening and closing number of towers for the relevant period

BSNL Bharat Sanchar Nigam Limited
BTS Base transceiver stations
Churn A measure of customer turnover, churn is derived by dividing the total number of customer

deactivations in a period by the average number of subscribers for that period and dividing
the result by the number of months in a relevant period

Circle(s) / telecom circle(s)

22 service areas that the Indian telecommunications market has been segregated into

Cisco

Cisco Commerce India Private Limited

Co-location Number of sharing operators at a tower, and where there is a single operator at a tower, “co-
location” refers to that single operator

DoT Department of Telecommunications, Ministry of Communications and Information
Technology, Government of India

DSL Digital Subscriber Line

DTH Digital TV services

Ericsson Ericsson India Private Limited

FDD Freqguency Division Duplex

GB Giga Bytes

GSM Global System for Mobile Communication

Hotstar Application owned and controlled by Novi Digital Entertainment Private Limited

HD High Definition

HSPA High Speed Packet Access

Huawei Huawei Telecommunications (India) Company Private Limited

ICR Intra Circle Roaming

ICT Information and Communication Technology

loT Internet of Things

ILD International Long Distance

ILP Internet Leased Port

IP Internet Protocol

IRU Indefeasible right to use

ISP Internet Service Provider

LSA Licensed Service Area

LTE Long Term Evolution

MB Mega-bytes

MBPS Mega-bytes per second

MHz Mega Hertz

MIB Ministry of Information and Broadcasting

Millicom Millicom International Cellular S.A

MSC Main Switching Centre

MPLS Multiprotocol Label Switching

MTN Mobile Telecommunications Network

MTNL Mahanagar Telephone Nigam Limited

Net neutrality

The principle that all internet traffic irrespective of its type or origin of content or means used
to transmit packets, is treated equally. All points in a network are able to connect to all other
points in the network and service providers are able to deliver traffic from one point to
another seamlessly, without any differentiation on speed, access or price

Netflix Netflix Entertainment Services India LLP

NLD National Long Distance

NSN Nokia Solutions and Networks India Private Limited
oTT Over-the-top services

PRIs Primary Rate Interface

Reliance Jio Reliance Jio Infocomm Limited
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Term / Abbreviation

Description / Full Form

RKMs

Route kilometres

RMS Revenue Market Share

SACFA Standing Advisory Committee on Radio Frequency Allocations of the Wireless Planning and
Coordination wing of the Ministry of Communications, Government of India

SD Standard Definition

Sharing operator A party granted access to a tower and who has installed active infrastructure at the tower

SIM Subscriber ldentity Module

SIP Session Initiation Protocol

SMS Short Messaging Service

South Asia South Asia shall mean the geographic areas of Sri Lanka and Bangladesh. For purposes of
our Company’s financial and management reporting, India is not included as part of South
Asia

SRAN Single Radio Access Network

Symantec Symantec Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd.

TDD Time Division Duplex

TDSAT Telecom Disputes Settlement and Appellate Tribunal

Tower / Tower and related
infrastructure

Infrastructure located at a site which is permitted by applicable law to be shared, including,
but not limited to, the tower, shelter, diesel generator sets and other alternate energy sources,
battery banks, air conditioners and electrical works

Tower infrastructure services

Tower Infrastructure Services include setting up, operating and maintaining wireless
communication towers

TRAI

Telecom Regulatory Authority of India, constituted under the Telecom Regulatory Authority
of India Act, 1997

TRAI Reported Revenue

Adjusted gross revenue for UASL and NLD license

TSP

Telecom service providers

TV Television

UAS Unified Access Service

UBR Ultra Broadband Radios

UASL Unified Access Service License

UL Unified License

UPI Unified Payments Interface

Uptime Time during which a service provider’s wireless telecommunications network is operational,
as measured by the service provider’s network operations centre and the tower infrastructure
provider’s tower operations centre

VAS Value Added Services

Vodafone Idea Vodafone Idea Limited

VOLTE Voice over Long Term Evolution

VLR Visitor Location Register

VolP Voice over Internet Protocol

WPC Wireless Planning Commission

Zeeb A digital platform of Zee Entertainment Enterprises Limited

ZTE ZTE Corporation

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms used in “Risk Factors”, “Statement of Special Tax Benefits”, “Our
Business” “History and Corporate Structure”, “Financial Statements” and ‘“Outstanding Litigation and
Defaults” on pages 17, 82, 85, 98, 108 and 269, respectively, shall have the meaning given to such terms in such
sections. Page numbers refer to page numbers of this Draft Letter of Offer, unless otherwise specified.
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The distribution of this Draft Letter of Offer and the issue of Rights Entitlements and the Rights Equity Shares
on a rights basis to persons in certain jurisdictions outside India is restricted by legal requirements prevailing in
those jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this Draft Letter of Offer, the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter
of Offer or the CAF may come, are required to inform themselves about and observe such restrictions. Our
Company is making the Issue on a rights basis to the Eligible Equity Shareholders of our Company and will
dispatch the Letter of Offer/Abridged Letter of Offer and CAF only to Eligible Equity Shareholders who have
provided an Indian address to our Company. Those overseas shareholders who do not update our records with
their Indian address or the address of their duly authorized representative in India, prior to the date on which we
propose to dispatch the Letter of Offer/ the Abridged Letter of Offer and CAFs, shall not be sent the Letter of
Offer/ the Abridged Letter of Offer and CAFs.

NOTICE TO OVERSEAS INVESTORS

No action has been or will be taken to permit the Issue in any jurisdiction where action would be required for
that purpose, except that this Draft Letter of Offer was filed with SEBI for observations. Accordingly, this Draft
Letter of Offer, the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer or the CAF or or any offering materials or
advertisements in connection with the Issue may not be distributed in any jurisdiction outside India and the
Rights Equity Shares may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in any jurisdiction, except in accordance
with legal requirements applicable in such jurisdiction. Receipt of this Draft Letter of Offer, the Letter of Offer,
Abridged Letter of Offer or the CAF will not constitute an offer in those jurisdictions in which it would be illegal
to make such an offer and, in those circumstances, this Draft Letter of Offer, the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter
of Offer or the CAF must be treated as sent for information only and should not be acted upon for subscription to
Rights Equity Shares and should not be copied or re-distributed. Accordingly, persons receiving a copy of this
Draft Letter of Offer, the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer or the CAF should not, in connection with the
issue of the Rights Equity Shares or the Rights Entitlements, distribute or send this Draft Letter of Offer, the
Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer or the CAF in or into any jurisdiction where to do so, would or might
contravene local securities laws or regulations. If this Draft Letter of Offer, the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter
of Offer or the CAF is received by any person in any such jurisdiction, or by their agent or nominee, they must
not seek to subscribe to the Rights Equity Shares or the Rights Entitlements referred to in this Draft Letter of
Offer, the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer or the CAF.

Any person who makes an application to acquire Rights Entitlements and the Rights Equity Shares offered in the
Issue will be deemed to have declared, represented, warranted and agreed that such person is authorized to
acquire the rights and the Equity shares in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations prevailing in such
person’s jurisdiction.

Neither the delivery of this Draft Letter of Offer nor any sale hereunder, shall, under any circumstances, create
any implication that there has been no change in our Company’s affairs from the date hereof or the date of such
information or that the information contained herein is correct as at any time subsequent to the date of this Draft
Letter of Offer or the date of such information. The contents of this Draft Letter of Offer should not be construed
as legal, tax or investment advice. Prospective investors may be subject to adverse foreign, state or local tax or
legal consequences as a result of the offer of Rights Equity Shares or Rights Entitlements. As a result, each
investor should consult its own counsel, business advisor and tax advisor as to the legal, business, tax and related
matters concerning the offer of the Rights Equity Shares or Rights Entitlements. In addition, neither our
Company nor the Lead Managers are making any representation to any offeree or purchaser of the Rights Equity
Shares regarding the legality of an investment in the Rights Equity Shares by such offeree or purchaser under
any applicable laws or regulations.

The RBI has granted banking license dated April 11, 2016 to Airtel Payments Bank Limited, our Subsidiary in
accordance with the Companies Act, for establishing payments bank and by way of letter dated March 11, 2016
to Airtel Payments Bank Limited stipulated that our Articles of Association shall be amended to incorporate the
clause for seeking prior approval of the RBI in case of any change in shareholding of 5% or more of the total
issued capital of our Company. Accordingly, our Company has amended its Articles of Association by insertion
of article number 42A, to state that “No person / group of persons shall acquire any shares of the Company
which would take his / her / its holding to a level of 5% or more (or any such percentage imposed by Reserve
Bank of India from time to time) of the total issued capital of the Company unless prior approval of the Reserve
Bank of India has been obtained by such person / group of persons”.

In the event any Application exceeds the limits as set out above, such Applicant would be required to submit a
copy of the approval obtained from the RBI with the Application. Such approval from the RBI should clearly
mention the name(s) of the persons who propose to apply in the Issue and the aggregate shareholding of the
Applicant in the pre-Issue paid-up share capital of our Company, if any. In case of failure by such Applicant to
submit the RBI approval, our Company may at its sole discretion keep on hold the Allotment to such Applicant
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till necessary approvals are received from the Applicant or it may decide to Allot such number of Rights Equity
Shares, that will limit the resultant aggregate shareholding of the Applicant to less than 5% of the post-lssue
paid-up equity share capital of our Company.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN THE UNITED STATES

THE RIGHTS ENTITLEMENTS AND THE RIGHTS EQUITY SHARES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL
NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE
“US SECURITIES ACT”), OR ANY U.S. STATE SECURITIES LAWS AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED,
SOLD, RESOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR THE
TERRITORIES OR POSSESSIONS THEREOF (THE “UNITED STATES” OR “U.S.”), EXCEPT IN A
TRANSACTION EXEMPT FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE US SECURITIES
ACT. THE RIGHTS ENTITLEMENTS AND RIGHTS EQUITY SHARES REFERRED TO IN THIS DRAFT
LETTER OF OFFER ARE BEING OFFERED IN OFFSHORE TRANSACTIONS OUTSIDE THE UNITED
STATES IN COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATION S UNDER THE US SECURITIES ACT
(“REGULATION S”) AND IN THE UNITED STATES TO “QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS” (AS
DEFINED IN RULE 144A UNDER THE US SECURITIES ACT) (“QIBs”) IN TRANSACTIONS EXEMPT
FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE US SECURITIES ACT. THE OFFERING TO
WHICH THIS DRAFT LETTER OF OFFER RELATES IS NOT, AND UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES IS
TO BE CONSTRUED AS, AN OFFERING OF ANY RIGHTS EQUITY SHARES OR RIGHTS FOR SALE IN
THE UNITED STATES OR AS A SOLICITATION THEREIN OF AN OFFER TO BUY ANY OF THE SAID
SECURITIES, EXCEPT IN EACH CASE TO PERSONS IN THE UNITED STATES WHO ARE QIBs.
ACCORDINGLY, YOU SHOULD NOT FORWARD OR TRANSMIT THIS DRAFT LETTER OF OFFER IN
OR INTO THE UNITED STATES AT ANY TIME.

Neither our Company, nor any person acting on behalf of our Company, will accept a subscription or
renunciation from any person, or the agent of any person, who appears to be, or who our Company, or any
person acting on behalf of our Company, has reason to believe is, in the United States when the buy order is
made (other than persons in the United States who are QIBs). Envelopes containing a CAF should not be
postmarked in the United States or otherwise dispatched from the United States (other than from persons in the
United States who are QIBs) or any other jurisdiction where it would be illegal to make an offer under the Letter
of Offer. Our Company is making the Issue on a rights basis to the Eligible Equity Shareholders and will
dispatch the Letter of Offer or Abridged Letter of Offer and CAF only to Eligible Equity Shareholders who have
provided an Indian address to our Company. Any person who acquires Rights Entitlements or Rights Equity
Shares will be deemed to have declared, warranted and agreed, by accepting the delivery of this Draft Letter of
Offer, the Letter of Offer, that (i) it is not and that at the time of subscribing for the Rights Equity Shares or the
Rights Entitlements, it will not be, in the United States when the buy order is made, or (ii) it is a QIB in the
United States, and in each case is authorized to acquire the Rights Entitlement and the Rights Equity Shares in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

Our Company, in consultation with the Lead Managers, reserves the right to treat as invalid any CAF which: (i)
appears to our Company or its agents to have been executed in or dispatched from the United States (unless the
CAF is submitted by a QIB in the United States); (ii) does not include the relevant certification set out in the
CAF headed “Overseas Sharcholders” to the effect that the person accepting and/or renouncing the CAF does
not have a registered address (and is not otherwise located) in the United States (unless the CAF is submitted by
a QIB in the United States), and such person is complying with laws of jurisdictions applicable to such person in
connection with the Issue, among others; (iii) where a registered Indian address is not provided; or (iv) where our
Company believes acceptance of such CAF may infringe applicable legal or regulatory requirements; and our
Company shall not be bound to issue or Allot any Rights Equity Shares in respect of any such CAF.

NOTICE TO THE INVESTOR

THIS DOCUMENT IS SOLELY FOR THE USE OF THE PERSON WHO RECEIVED IT FROM OUR
COMPANY OR FROM THE REGISTRAR. THIS DOCUMENT IS NOT TO BE REPRODUCED OR
DISTRIBUTED TO ANY OTHER PERSON.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Certain Conventions

Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all references in this Draft Letter of Offer to (i) the
‘US’ or ‘U.S.” or the ‘United States’ are to the United States of America and its territories and possessions; (ii)
‘India’ are to the Republic of India and its territories and possessions; and the ‘Government’ or ‘Gol’ or the
‘Central Government’ or the ‘State Government’ are to the Government of India, Central or State, as applicable.

In this Draft Letter of Offer, references to the singular also refer to the plural and one gender also refers to any
other gender, where applicable.

Financial Data

Unless stated otherwise, the financial data in this Draft Letter of Offer is derived from the Financial Statements.
Our Fiscal commences on April 1 and ends on March 31 of the following calendar year. For details, see
“Financial Statements” on page 108.

We have prepared our Financial Statements in accordance with Ind AS, Companies Act, and other applicable
statutory and/or regulatory requirements. Our Company publishes its financial statements in Rupees. Any
reliance by persons not familiar with Indian accounting practices on the financial disclosures presented in this
Draft Letter of Offer should accordingly be limited.

In this Draft Letter of Offer, any discrepancies in any table between the total and the sums of the amounts listed
are due to rounding off, and unless otherwise specified, all financial numbers in parenthesis represent negative
figures. Unless stated otherwise, throughout this Draft Letter of Offer, all figures have been expressed in millions
Rupees.

Market and Industry Data

Unless stated otherwise, market, industry and demographic data used in this Draft Letter of Offer has been
obtained from market research, publicly available information, industry publications and government sources.
Industry publications generally state that the information contained in such publication has been obtained from
sources believed to be reliable but that the accuracy and completeness of that information are not guaranteed.
Similarly, internal surveys, industry forecasts and market research, while believed to be reliable, have not been
independently verified by us or the Lead Managers, and neither our Company nor the Lead Managers make any
representation as to the accuracy of that information. Accordingly, investors should not place undue reliance on
this information. Certain information in “Our Business” on page 85 relating to the industry outlook of Indian
telecom industry and the information relating to the industry outlook of sub-Saharan African telecom industry is
derived from the report titled “Cisco Visual Networking Index 20177, website GSMA Intelligence and report
titled “GSMA Mobile Money State of the Industry 2018 Report”.

Currency of Presentation
Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all references to:

‘INR’, ‘?’, ‘Indian Rupees’ and ‘Rupees’ are to the legal currency of India;

‘Central African CFA Franc’ and ‘XAF’ are to the legal currency of Republic of the Congo;
‘Congolese Franc’ and ‘CDF’ are to the legal currency of Democratic Republic of Congo;
‘Malagasy Ariary’, ‘Ariary’ and ‘MGA” are to the legal currency of Madagascar;

‘Tanzanian Shilling’ and “TZS’ are to the legal currency of Tanzania;

‘US$’, ‘USD’, ‘$” and ‘U.S. dollars’ are to the legal currency of the United States of America; and
‘Zambian Kwacha’ and ‘ZMW" are to the legal currency of Zambia.

Please note:

o One million is equal to 1,000,000 or 10 lakhs;
. One crore is equal to 10 million or 100 lakhs; and
. One lakh is equal to 100,000.

Conversion Rates for Foreign Currency:

The conversion rate for the following foreign currency is as follows:
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Sr. No. Name of the Currency As of December 31, 2018 (in %) As of March 31, 2018 (in 3)
1. 1 Central African CFA Franc 0.12115 0.12192
2. 1 Congolese Franc 0.04288 0.04024
3. 1 Malagasy Ariary 0.01980 0.02003
4, 1 Tanzanian Shilling 0.03017 0.02864
5. 1 United States Dollar 69.4879 65.04
6. 1 Zambian Kwacha (ZMW) 5.78594 6.78659

Source: www.fbil.org.in for USD and oanda.com for other currencies

Note: In the event that any of the abovementioned dates of any of the respective years is a public holiday, the previous
calendar day not being a public holiday shall be considered
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Certain statements contained in this Draft Letter of Offer that are not statements of historical fact constitute
‘forward- looking statements’. Investors can generally identify forward-looking statements by terminology
including ‘aim’, ‘anticipate’, ‘believe’, ‘continue’, ‘can’, ‘could’, ‘estimate’, ‘expect’, ‘intend’, ‘may’,
‘objective’, ‘plan’, ‘potential’, ‘project’, ‘pursue’, ‘shall’, ‘should’, ‘will’, ‘would’, ‘future’, ‘forecast’, ‘target’,
‘guideline’, or other words or phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe the strategies,
objectives, plans or goals of our Company are also forward-looking statements. However, these are not the

exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements regarding our Company’s expected financial conditions, results of operations, business plans and
prospects are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include statements as to our
Company’s business strategy, planned projects, revenue and profitability (including, without limitation, any
financial or operating projections or forecasts), new business and other matters discussed in this Draft Letter of
Offer that are not historical facts. These forward-looking statements contained in this Draft Letter of Offer
(whether made by our Company or any third party), are predictions and involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of
our Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements or other projections. All forward-looking statements are subject to
risks, uncertainties and assumptions about our Company that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those contemplated by the relevant forward-looking statement. Important factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from our Company’s expectations include, among others:

e Changes in laws, regulations or governmental policy affecting our business activities;
e Ability to provide telecommunications or related services that are technologically up to date;

e Exposure to a high risk of customer churn, resulting into increase in subscriber acquisition costs and loss of
future subscriber revenues;

¢ Significant competition from other companies, including from those with pan-India footprints;

e Ability to service our significant indebtedness and comply with its covenants to avoid refinancing risk;
e Ability to raise the additional funds required to meet substantial capital requirements;

e Failure or delay in renewal of our telecommunications licenses, permits and frequency allocations;

e We may have to pay additional spectrum charges for excess spectrum held or surrender excess spectrum
held by us to the Gol;

e Adverse consequences arising out of legal and other proceedings involving our Company and Subsidiaries;
and

o Dependence on the quality and quantity of spectrum owned by us for growth of our business and the humber
of our subscribers.

Additional factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially include, but
are not limited to, those discussed in the sections “Risk Factors” and “Our Business” on pages 17 and 85,
respectively. The forward-looking statements contained in this Draft Letter of Offer are based on the beliefs of
management, as well as the assumptions made by, and information currently available to, management of our
Company. Whilst our Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are
reasonable at this time, it cannot assure investors that such expectations will prove to be correct. Given these
uncertainties, Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. In any
event, these statements speak only as of the date of this Draft Letter of Offer or the respective dates indicated in
this Draft Letter of Offer, and neither our Company nor any of the Lead Managers undertakes any obligation to
update or revise any of them, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. If any of these
risks and uncertainties materialise, or if any of our Company’s underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, the
actual results of operations or financial condition of our Company could differ materially from that described
herein as anticipated, believed, estimated or expected. All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to
our Company are expressly qualified in their entirety by reference to these cautionary statements.
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SUMMARY OF DRAFT LETTER OF OFFER
Summary of Business
We are one of the world’s leading integrated providers of telecommunication services with presence in 18
countries representing India, Sri Lanka, 14 countries in Africa and Joint Ventures in two more countries and
retain a diversified portfolio of mobile, voice, data, fixed line, broadband, DTH and other integrated telecom
solutions.

Objects of the Issue

The Net Proceeds are proposed to be used in accordance with the details set forth below:

Particulars Amount (In % million)
Prepayment or repayment of all or a portion of certain borrowings availed by our 215,499
Company
General corporate purposes* [e]
Total [o]

* To be updated at the time of filing of the Letter of Offer with the Stock Exchanges. The amount shall not exceed 25% of the Issue Proceeds.
For details, see “Objects of the Issue” on page T5.

Subscription to the Issue by our Promoter and Promoter Group

Our Promoter, BTL, and members of our Promoter Group have undertaken to subscribe to the full extent of their
Rights Entitlement amongst themselves, in accordance with Regulation 10(4)(a) of the SEBI Takeover
Regulations, subject to compliance with the minimum public shareholding requirements, as prescribed under the
SCRR, except a part renunciation by our Promoter, BTL, of 227,272,727 Equity Shares out of its Rights
Entitlement in favour of GIC Private Limited (“GIC”). GIC, on behalf of Government of Singapore and
Monetary Authority of Singapore has also confirmed to subscribe to this renounced entitlement of 227,272,727
Equity Shares in the Issue by way of a letter dated March 1, 2019.

The eligible members of our Promoter Group reserve the right to subscribe either itself and/or through investors
for additional Equity Shares in the Issue, including in an event of under-subscription in this Issue, subject to the
aggregate shareholding of our Promoter and members of our Promoter Group not exceeding the minimum public
shareholding requirements under applicable law.

The acquisition of Rights Equity Shares by our Promoter and members of our Promoter Group, over and above
their Rights Entitlement, as applicable, or subscription of the unsubscribed portion of the Issue by such investors,
shall not result in a change of control of the management of our Company. Our Company is in compliance with
Regulation 38 of the SEBI Listing Regulations and will continue to comply with the minimum public
shareholding requirements pursuant to the Issue.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of audited consolidated financial information of our Company as at and for the Fiscals 2018, 2017
and 2016 and for the nine month period ended December 31, 2018 is set out below.

(In Z million, unless otherwise specified)

As at December 31, As at March 31, As at March 31, As at March 31,
2018 2018 2017 2016

Equity share capital 19,987 19,987 19,987 19,987
Net worth* 628,679 650,246 658,176 628,921
Revenue (Total income)** 612,583 839,367 955,889 966,192
Profit for the period/year 11,114 21,835 42,414 68,930
Basic earning per Equity 0.76 2.75 9.51 15.21
Share (in %)
Diluted earning per Equity 0.76 2.75 9.51 15.20
Share (in %)
Net asset value per Equity 208.15 196.00 185.95 180.79
Share (in J)***
Total  borrowings  (Non- 1,210,468 1,113,335 1,072,877 1,004,526
current and current
borrowings and including
current maturities of long
term borrowings)

* Net worth is the aggregate of total issued and subscribed share capital, share premium, retained earnings, share based payment reserve,
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debenture redemption reserve and general reserve as per the audited consolidated financial statements of respective years/period.
** Total income is the sum of revenue and other income as per the audited consolidated financial statements of respective years/period.
*** Net asset value per Equity Share is computed by dividing the difference between Total assets and Total liabilities (as presented in the

audited consolidated financial statements for the respective year/period, as applicable) with the number of issued, subscribed and fully paid-
up Equity Shares outstanding as at respective year/period end.

Qualifications of the Auditors

The Financial Statements do not contain any qualification requiring adjustments by the Statutory Auditors.
Summary of Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments

A summary of material outstanding legal proceedings involving our Company and our Subsidiaries, identified in

accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations as on the date of this Draft Letter of Offer, including the aggregate
approximate amount involved to the extent ascertainable, is set out below.

Type of Proceedings Number Amount*
of cases (R in million)

Cases involving our Company
Issues involving moral turpitude or criminal liability 17 -
Material violations of statutory regulations 24 177,270%
Direct tax proceedings 2 19,656
Indirect tax proceedings 1 1,183.89"
Other pending matters which, if they result in an adverse outcome would materially and 2 44,842.31
adversely affect the operations or the financial position of our Company”
Total 46 242,952.20
Cases involving our Subsidiaries
Issues involving moral turpitude or criminal liability 14 -
Material violations of statutory regulations 18 14,0317
Direct tax proceedings 2 60,007.19**
Indirect tax proceedings 3 18,980.87***
Other pending matters which, if they result in an adverse outcome would materially and Nil -
adversely affect the operations or the financial position of our Company”
Total 37 93,019.06

* To the extent quantifiable.

**This amount largely arises out of direct tax proceedings against Bharti Airtel International (Netherlands) B.V., our Subsidiary, involving
the amount of Tanzanian Shillings 1,968,708,131,465. Such amount has been converted into Rupees using oanda.com at the prevailing
conversion rate as of December 31, 2018.

***This amount includes liability arising out of indirect tax proceedings against one Subsidiary in India and two Subsidiaries in foreign
jurisdictions. In relation to the indirect tax proceedings against our Subsidiaries in foreign jurisdictions, the amount comprises USD 113.2
million against Airtel Congo RDC S.A. and CFA Franc 85,000 million against Airtel Congo S.A., which have been converted into Rupees
using the RBI Reference rate for USD and oanda.com for CFA Franc at the prevailing conversion rates as of December 31, 2018.

# Based on policy approved by our Board on February 28, 2019, all pending litigation against our Company and Subsidiaries, other than
litigation involving moral turpitude, criminal liability, material violations of statutory regulations or proceedings relating to economic
offences, are considered material if the monetary amount of claim is in excess of 1% of the consolidated revenues or 1% of the consolidated
net worth, whichever is lower, of our Company for the Fiscal 2018. Accordingly, the materiality threshold considered for disclosure of such
other matters is < 7,500 million.

## To the extent quantifiable, this amount includes a sum of I 65,026 million as of December 31, 2018 in respect of AGR matters of our
Company which is disclosed as part of the Contingent liabilities disclosure in the financial statements.

#it# To the extent quantifiable, this amount includes a sum of ¥ 2,661 million as of December 31, 2018 in respect of AGR matters of our
Subsidiaries which is disclosed as part of the Contingent liabilities disclosure in the financial statements.

"The demand amounts in tax litigations is the consolidated figure for all the matters pending before various authorities/ foras / courts.
For details, see “Outstanding Litigation and Defaults” on page 269.
Risk Factors

Specific attention of the Investors is invited to the section “Risk Factors” on page 17. Investors are advised to
read the risk factors carefully before taking an investment decision in the Issue.

Contingent Liabilities of our Company
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A summary of our contingent liabilities as of December 31, 2018 as provided for in the Financial Statements is
set out below.

(In ¥ million)
Particulars As at December 31, 2018

Taxes, duties and other demands (under adjudication / appeal / dispute)

—Sales tax and service tax 14,536
—Income tax 14,545
—Customs duty 6,842
—Entry tax 9,948
—Stamp duty 596
—Municipal taxes 1,610
—DoT demands 69,937
—QOther miscellaneous demands 5,399
Claims under legal cases including arbitration matters

—Access charges / port charges 11,990
—Others 2,616
Total 138,019

“In addition to the above, the group’s share of joint ventures and associates contingent liabilities is & 24,969 million and < 21,816 million as
of December 31, 2018 and March 31, 2018 respectively.

In addition to the amounts disclosed in the table above, the contingent liability on DoT matters includes the following:

a) Post the Supreme Court of India’s judgment in 2011, on components of AGR for computation of license fee, based on the legal advice,
our Company believes that the foreign exchange gain should not be included in AGR for computation of license fee thereon. Further as
per TDSAT judgement in 2015, foreign exchange fluctuation does not have any bearing on the license fees. Accordingly, the license fee
on foreign exchange gain has not been provided in the financial statements. Also, due to ambiguity of interpretation of ‘foreign
exchange differences’, the license fee impact on such exchange differences is not quantifiable. The matter is currently pending
adjudication by High Court of Kerala, High Court of Tripura and Supreme Court of India.

b)  On January 8, 2013, DoT issued a demand on our Company and one of its subsidiaries for € 52,013 million towards levy of one time
spectrum charge, which was further revised on June 27, 2018 to ¥ 84,140 million. The revised demand includes a retrospective charge
of 9,090 million for holding GSM spectrum beyond 6.2 MHz for the period from July 1, 2008 to December 31, 2012 and also a
prospective charge of € 75,050 million for GSM spectrum held beyond 4.4 MHz for the period from January 1, 2013, till the expiry of
the initial terms of the respective licenses.

In the opinion of our Company and one of its subsidiaries, inter-alia, the above demand amounts to alteration of financial terms of the
licenses issued in the past. Based on a petition filed by our Company and one of its subsidiaries, the High Court of Bombay, vide its
order dated January 28, 2013, has directed the DoT to respond and not to take any coercive action until the next date of hearing. The
DoT has filed its reply and the matter is currently pending with High Court of Bombay. Our Company and one of its subsidiaries,
based on independent legal opinions, till date has not given any effect to the above demand.

c) DoT had issued notices to our Company (as well as other telecom service providers) to stop provision of services (under 3G Intra
Circle Roaming (‘ICR’) arrangements) in the service areas where such service providers had not been allocated 3G spectrum and
levied a financial penalty of ¢ 3,500 million on our Company. Our Company contested the notices, in response to which TDSAT in
2014 held 3G ICR arrangements to be competent and compliant with the licensing conditions and quashed the notice imposing penalty.
The DoT has challenged the order of TDSAT before the Supreme Court of India which is yet to be listed for hearing.”

For details, see “Financial Statements” on page 108.
Related Party Transactions

For details of the related party transactions, as reported in the Financial Statements, see “Financial Statements”
on page 108.

Financing Arrangements

There have been no financing arrangements whereby our Promoter, members of our Promoter Group, directors
of our Promoter, our Directors or their relatives have financed the purchase by any other person of securities of
our Company, other than in their normal course of business, during the period of six months immediately
preceding the date of this Draft Letter of Offer.

Issue of Equity Shares for consideration other than cash in the last one year

Except as set out below, our Company has not issued Equity Shares for consideration other than cash during the
period of one year preceding the date of this Draft Letter of Offer:

Date of Number of | Face value Issue Reasons for allotment Allottee
allotment Equity ® price
Shares ®
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Date of Number of | Face value Issue Reasons for allotment Allottee
allotment Equity ® price
Shares ®
May 14, 5 5 N.A. Merger of Telenor with our Company. For|Telenor South Asia
2018 details, see “History and Corporate Structure | Investment Pte.
— Details regarding material mergers, | Limited, Singapore
demergers and amalgamation” on page 100
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An investment in the Equity Shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider all the
information in this Draft Letter of Offer, including the risks and uncertainties described below, before making an
investment in the Equity Shares. The risks described below are not the only ones relevant to us, the Equity
Shares, the industry in which we operate or the regions in which we operate. If one, or any combination, of the
following risks or other risks which are not currently known or are now deemed immaterial actually occurs or
were to occur, our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects could suffer and the trading
price of the Equity Shares could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment. Unless specified in the
relevant risk factor below, we are not in a position to quantify the financial implication of any of the risks
mentioned below. Further, some events may be material collectively rather than individually.

SECTION II: RISK FACTORS

We have described the risks and uncertainties that our management believes are material but the risks set out in
this Draft Letter of Offer may not be exhaustive and additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us,
or which we currently deem to be immaterial, may arise or may become material in the future. In making an
investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination of us and the terms of the Issue,
including the merits and the risks involved. Prospective investors should consult their tax, financial and legal
advisors about the particular consequences to you of an investment in the Issue. To obtain a complete
understanding of our business, you should read this section in conjunction with the section entitled “Our
Business”, and "Financial Statements” on pages 85 and 108, respectively.

This Draft Letter of Offer also contains forward-looking statements, which refer to future events that may involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which may be beyond our control, and which
may cause the actual results to be materially different from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements. For further details, see “Forward Looking Statements” on page 12.

In this section, unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to our Company
together with our Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associate Companies.

Unless otherwise stated, the financial information used in this section is derived from our Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements as of and for the nine month period ended December 31, 2018 and audited
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2018.

Internal Risk Factors
Risks relating to our business

1.  The telecommunications market is highly regulated and changes in laws, regulations or governmental
policy could potentially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and
results of operations.

Telecommunications businesses in each of our markets are subject to governmental regulation regarding
licensing, competition, frequency allocation and costs and arrangements pertaining to interconnection and
leased lines. Changes in laws, regulations or governmental policy affecting our business activities could
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

In various jurisdictions in which we operate, local regulators have significant latitude in the administration
and interpretation of telecommunications licenses. In addition, actions taken by these regulators in the
administration and interpretation of the licenses may be influenced by local political and economic
pressures. Decisions by regulators, including the amendment or revocation of any existing licenses, could
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

India

National Telecom Policy, 2012 (“NTP 2012”) recognized that the evolution from analog to digital
technology has facilitated the conversion of voice, data and video to the digital form. Increasingly, these
are now being rendered through single networks bringing about a convergence in networks, services and
also devices. Hence, it was now imperative to move towards convergence between various services,
networks, platforms, technologies and overcome the existing segregation of licensing, registration and
regulatory mechanisms in these areas to enhance affordability, increase access, delivery of multiple
services and reduce cost.
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One of the objectives of the NTP 2012 was "Strive to create One Nation - One License" across services and
service areas. Therefore, after considering the recommendations of TRAI for Unified Licenses, the
Government decided to grant Unified License (UL). The basic features of UL are as follows:

(i) The allocation of spectrum is delinked from the licenses and has to be obtained separately as per
prescribed procedure. At present, spectrum in 800/900/1800/2100/2300/2500 MHz band is allocated
through bidding process. For all other services and usages like Public Mobile Radio Trunking Service
(PMRTS), the allocation of spectrum and charges thereof shall be as prescribed by Wireless and
Planning and Co-ordination wing of Department of Telecommunications from time to time.

(if) Authorisation under Unified License comprises for any one or more services listed below:
a. Unified License (All Services)
b. Access Service (Service Area-wise)
c. Internet Service (Category-A with All India jurisdiction)
d. Internet Service (Category-B with jurisdiction in a Service Area)
e. Internet Service (Category-C with jurisdiction in a Secondary Switching Area)
f. National Long Distance (NLD) Service
g. International Long Distance (ILD) Service
h. Global Mobile Personal Communication by Satellite (GMPCS) Service
i. Public Mobile Radio Trunking Service (PMRTS) Service
j. Very Small Aperture Terminal (VSAT) Closed User Group (CUG) Service
k. INSAT MSS-Reporting (MSS-R) Service
I.  Resale of International private Leased Circuit (IPLC) Service

The DoT retains the right to modify the terms and conditions of our licenses at any time, if in its opinion it
is necessary or expedient to do so in the interest of the public or for the proper operation of the
telecommunication sector. A change in certain significant terms of any of the licenses, such as their
duration, the amount of charges payable by telecom service providers (“TSPS”), under the licenses, the
range of services permitted or the scope of exclusivity, if any, could have a material adverse effect on our
business and prospects. For example, in 2010 the DoT notified an increase in 2G spectrum usage charges
(“SUC”) from 1% to 2% of adjusted gross revenue (“AGR”) of TSPs, effective from April 1, 2010.
Subsequently, the SUC was prescribed at 5% of the AGR in respect of the spectrum acquired in auctions
held between 2014 and 2015, which was later reduced to a minimum of 3% for spectrum acquired in
auctions held in 2016. In October 2014, the DoT introduced the weighted average SUC rate formula for the
spectrum in 1800 MHz and 900 MHz bands held by the TSPs and also mentioned that the BWA spectrum
acquired through auction in 2010 will continue to be charged at 1% of AGR from services using this
spectrum. In August 2016, DoT issued another order prescribing the formula for calculating the applicable
SUC in a licensed service area (“LSA”), for the spectrum held by an operator across all bands, using the
weighted average SUC formula. However, for the purpose of calculating the minimum SUC floor, the DoT
excluded the spectrum in 2300 MHz / 2500 MHz acquired / allocated prior to Fiscal 2016 which was
calculated at an SUC of 1%, , thereby increasing the overall average SUC rate and the same has been
applied to the minimum of current year AGR and AGR for Fiscal 2016. Further, in case there is a reduction
in AGR of any TSP, the floor amount of SUC is permitted to be reduced proportionately. We have
challenged this calculation of the minimum SUC payable before the Telecom Disputes Settlement and
Appellate Tribunal (“TDSAT”), wherein the TDSAT has stayed the operation of the relevant clause,
permitting our Company to pay the SUC dues without applying the floor amount. However, there can be no
assurance that the final order of the TDSAT will be in our favour and in case, our Company does not
succeed, we will be required to pay additional amounts calculated in the manner set forth above, along with
applicable interest as may be directed by TDSAT.
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In February 2016, the DoT permitted sharing of active infrastructure comprising antenna, feeder cable,
Node B, radio access network and transmission systems, amongst service providers based on mutual
agreements entered amongst them, could increase competition or could increase the service quality and
reduce costs of our competition, if they were to enter into such contracts. Equally, we cannot assure you
that we will be able to secure agreements for sharing of active infrastructure on favorable terms.

In May 2016, DoT issued the guidelines for introduction of virtual network operators (“VNOS”), and
permitted such VNOs to provide telecom services to subscribers by leasing network capacity from multiple
facilities-based telecom operators, thereby eliminating the need for VNOSs to own telecom infrastructure or
spectrum. The Indian telecom sector is already hyper-competitive and tariffs are amongst the lowest in the
world which has put pressure on the profitability of the operators. In such a hyper-competitive
environment, introduction of VNOs may further increase the competition.

In September 2017, the Telecom Regulatory Authority of India (“TRAI”) released regulations on
termination rates applicable to TSPs. Under these regulations, mobile termination charges (“MTC”) for all
calls originating from a wireless network were reduced from 14 paisa per minute to six paisa per minute
with effect from October 1, 2017 and which will be further reduced to zero with effect from January 1,
2020. The fixed termination charges (“FTC”) as well as MTC for wireline to wireless calls have been kept
at zero. Our Company has challenged these regulations before the Bombay High Court on the ground that
the calculation methodology used by the TRAI is incorrect and without rationale. However, the move to set
termination charges to zero may have a material impact on our financials.

In January 2018, TRAI also released regulations in connection with international termination charge,
whereby the termination charge for international long distance calls (“ILD”) was reduced to 30 paisa per
minute from the then existing 53 paisa per minute. This reduction in interconnect charges negatively
affected the older, more established operators with large customer bases, such as our Company, to a greater
extent compared to the newer entrants. Our Company has challenged these regulations before the Bombay
High Court on the ground that they are beyond the jurisdiction of the regulator and the reduction in
termination charges has no rational nexus with the curbing of grey market calling.

Also in February 2018, TRAI vide its tariff order has asked significant market players (“SMP”) to report
their segmented offers including displaying the same on the websites and restricted telecom companies
classifying as SMPs from engaging in predatory pricing (which is defined as any price below the average
variable cost for providing that service with a view to reduce competition in the relevant market) in specific
distinct segments, while doing away with parameters such as traffic and switching capacity. The concept of
SMP based on the market share of revenue or customer base was newly introduced as part of the tariff.
However, the TDSAT on December 13, 2018 quashed provisions related to predatory pricing and
discounted tariffs. TRAI has now challenged the decision of the TDSAT before the Supreme Court, which
is currently pending adjudication. Should the Supreme Court rule in favour of TRAI and uphold this
circular, our business, financial condition and operations could be adversely affected.

In September 2018, DoT released the ‘National Digital Communications Policy-2018” (“NDCP-2018").
NDCP-2018 has set the goals and targets to be achieved by the sector till 2022. NDCP-2018 has set a target
to attract investments of up to USD 100 billion by 2022 in digital communications sector. While the policy
includes many forward looking strategies, certain strategies included in the NDCP-2018 may pose a risk to
our business. For instance, NDCP-2018 has included the strategy for de-licensing of spectrum for
broadband services. Any additional de-licensing of spectrum will negatively impact operators who have
invested extensively in procuring the licensed spectrum through the auction route as the same resource i.e.,
spectrum will be available for free for various entities in the form of de-licensed spectrum. DoT has also
included a strategy for introducing public data office (“PDO”) and public data office aggregators
(“PDOA”) for promoting open public Wi-Fi hubs. If DoT approves the introduction of PDO/PDOA
through a registration mechanism as recommended by TRAI then it will lead to creation of non-level
playing field between licensed operators and unlicensed PDOAs as the latter will be able to provide
internet access services without any obligation to pay license fee and without having to follow licensing
conditions and the TRAI Regulations.

Any disagreements or disputes with regulatory and other authorities in the jurisdictions in which we
operate or plan to operate can potentially affect our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and
results of operations, including with respect to the level of control we assert over our operating assets. For
instance, there are ongoing legal proceedings pertaining to disputes on the components of gross revenue
and AGR, based on which license fees and SUC for telecom operators are calculated. Dispute on the
definition of gross revenue and AGR of TSPs mainly pertain to inclusion of non-telecom revenue like
interest, dividend, profit on sale of asset, etc., inclusion of items which can either not be categorized as
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revenue or are not considered as revenue by our Company like insurance claim, forex gain, etc. as
components of the gross revenue and AGR. This matter has been through several rounds of litigations at
various fora and is currently pending before the Supreme Court of India.

With respect to telecommunication infrastructure, the Wireless Planning and Co-ordination Wing of the
DoT (“WPC”) issues licenses to establish, maintain and operate wireless stations. All license holders
intending to offer mobile services must also obtain a separate wireless license from the WPC. The WPC is
divided into licensing and regulation, the new technology group, and the Standing Advisory Committee on
Radio Frequency Allocation (“SACFA”), which grants site clearance for tower sites.

Additionally, in order to establish and maintain assets like dark fibres, right of way, duct space and towers
and to allow our Company to lease, rent, and sell this infrastructure to other telecom operators licensed
under Section 4 of the Indian Telegraph Act 1885 on mutually agreed terms, we require an Infrastructure
Provider Category-lregistration, which is granted by the DoT. Similar infrastructure can also be
established under UL (Access Service Authorization) / UASL. With respect to telecommunication
equipment, mandatory testing and approval is required from the Telecom Engineering Centre, DoT for
every telecommunication equipment that we put into use, as when such standards are notified by the Gol.
In absence of the mandatory TEC standard, we may utilize only those equipment and products, which meet
the relevant standard, set by the international standardisation bodies.

In addition, we are required to obtain and renew several approvals from various other regulatory bodies,
including various local and municipal bodies, from time to time. If we fail to obtain, maintain or renew
required approvals, licenses, registrations and permits at the requisite time, this may result in the
interruption of our operations and will have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
prospects. The terms and conditions of these licenses may be amended at the discretion of the issuing
authorities, and such amendments could be unfavorable to us. Changes to the terms and conditions of these
licenses could subject us to additional liabilities and may adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. Further, we cannot assure you that the approvals, licenses, registrations
and permits issued to us will not be suspended or revoked in the event of an alleged or actual non-
compliance with any terms or conditions thereof, or pursuant to any regulatory action in the future.

Africa

Political and regulatory environment in certain African countries where we operate continues to be
challenging. For example, the threat of insecurity and violence arising from terrorism in East Africa and
Boko Haram in Nigeria, Niger and Chad, resulting in the loss of property and disruption of its business
operations continues to be of real concern to businesses in the region. Changes in governments also results
in regulatory uncertainty.

We foresee that pressure of additional taxes and levies from governments in various countries in Africa
will continue to bear on the business.

In recent years we have observed greater regulatory focus on Know Your Customer (KYC) and anti-money
laundering compliance due to initiatives to enhance national security due to increased terrorism activities in
many of the African countries. Strong emphasis on KYC may slow down customer uptake and may also
increase the cost of customer acquisition. Non-compliance would result in significant penalties, and loss of
revenues as a result of deactivation of customers who are not properly registered.

The other area of increased regulatory focus across Africa is consumer protection through enforcement of
‘Network Quality of Service’ requirements. Significant penalties are levied across markets for non-
compliance. Another area of consumer related regulatory focus is driving down interconnect costs between
operators, to ensure widespread affordability of telecom services. There is also a sustained push for a
reduction in roaming charges for calls within the region.

A trend that is also gathering momentum is the requirement for local shareholding in many countries,
including the requirement to list on local stock exchanges. While we have local shareholding in some of
countries in Africa that we operate in, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in achieving
compliance with the requirements of local shareholding and listing. Non-compliance of such regulatory
conditions may have an adverse impact on our business and operations.

From time to time, we also face uncertainties in many countries where licenses have come up for renewal.

20



® airtel

We, through Airtel Africa Plc and its consolidated subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings (“Airtel Africa
Group”) operate in a number of emerging markets, in which the interpretation and application of laws and
regulations affecting telecom services may be subject to increased uncertainties due to developing or
incomplete regulatory regimes and monitoring and ensuring compliance may be more difficult compared to
more developed markets. In many of the countries in which Airtel Africa Group operate, local regulators
have significant latitude in the administration and interpretation of telecom licenses and laws, rules and
regulations. In addition, the actions taken by these regulators in the administration and interpretation of
these licenses and laws, rules and regulations may be influenced by local political and economic pressures.

The enforcement of regulations in the emerging markets in which Airtel Africa Group operates may also be
subject to increased uncertainties as a result of limited regulatory history or historic inconsistencies in the
application of regulations and the penalties rendered, which may be sizeable. We cannot provide any
assurance that Airtel Africa Group will not be subject to future regulatory enforcement actions, which may
include fines that could be substantial, which could have a material adverse effect on its reputation and its
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

If we do not continue to provide telecommunications or related services that are technologically up to
date, we may not remain competitive, and our business, prospects and results of operations may be
adversely affected.

The telecommunications industry is characterized by technological changes, including an increasing pace
of change in existing mobile systems, industry standards, customer demand, preferences, behaviour, and
ongoing improvements in the capacity and quality of network. As new technologies develop, our
equipment may need to be replaced or upgraded, or our networks may need to be rebuilt in part or in whole
in order to sustain our competitive position in the Indian telecommunications industry. As a result, we may
require substantial capital expenditures and access to related technologies in order to integrate new
technologies with our existing technology and phase out outdated and unprofitable technologies. If we are
unable to modify our networks and equipment on a timely and cost effective basis, we may lose
subscribers.

High-speed data services have emerged as a key competitive factor in India. Deployment of new telecom
technologies, including fifth generation mobile telecom or 5G, in the future may involve significant
additional resources including time, funds, and thereby could impact on our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows. Technologies such as mobile money payment services, innovative mobile
applications, and other OTT and value-added service products are also of growing importance to our
customers. We may not be able to provide such technologies or expand our offerings in a manner that
enables us to compete effectively in the Indian telecom sector. If the costs associated with new
technologies are higher than anticipated, our business, financial condition and results of operation may be
adversely affected. In addition, we face the risk of unforeseen complications in the deployment of new
services and technologies, and we cannot assure you that these new technologies will be commercially
successful, once deployed. Our results of operations would also suffer if our new services and products are
not well received by our subscribers, are not appropriately timed with market opportunities or are not
effectively brought to market or where our investments in such ventures do not generate commensurate
returns.

Additionally, we may be unable to successfully respond to technological advances and evolving industry
standards due to the following:

. Upgrading our services in response to market demand may require the adoption of new technologies
including 5G that could render many of the technologies that we are currently implementing less
competitive or obsolete. We may also need to gain access to related or enabling technologies in order
to integrate the new technology with our existing technology, including updating our technology and
services to ensure compatibility with our customers’ hardware and software. Consistent with the
experience of other industry players, our new services may contain flaws or other defects when first
introduced to the market.

. New telecommunications services are introduced by our competitors from time to time, including
competitors who may bundle such telecom services with other offerings such as content, music,
applications, e-commerce and other allied services. Our competitors may gain access to new
advanced technology that allows them to deliver their services at lower prices, at higher quality or
with other add-on services that might make our competitors’ services more competitive or attractive
than our services. If we do not anticipate these changes and promptly adopt new and innovative
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services in response, we may not be able to capture the opportunities in the market and may lose our
customers.

e  To compete successfully, we may need to increase the diversity and sophistication of the services we
offer and upgrade our telecommunications technology, including technology we use for our
broadband internet and direct-to-home (“DTH?”) services. We may be required to make substantial
capital expenditures and may not be successful in modifying our network infrastructure and/or
upgrading to use other technology in a timely and cost-effective manner in response to these changes.
For example, if DTH content providers migrate their channels from standard definition to high
definition, 4K or 8K definition, we will have to ensure our technology platform is able to support the
migration of a substantial number or all of our customers from standard to high and ultra-high
definition channels, which may require us to incur additional costs and deploy additional resources.
Additionally, new technology or trends in the telecommunications industry could have an adverse
effect on the services we currently offer and may cause significant write-downs of our fixed assets.
Increased adoption of these or other competing technology may lead to a decline in our turnover and
profitability. For example, while consumers are accustomed to viewing DTH content delivered over
their television, consumers’ preference may shift towards viewing content on over the top platforms
(“OTT”) through other devices, which use broadband internet or wireless mobile internet to receive
such content. This may adversely affect our DTH service business.

e  Advancements in technology or new technology developed in related or adjacent segments of the
telecommunications industry, such as 5G wireless mobile internet services, may offer consumers
attractive services, which are akin to or close alternatives to wired broadband internet services, and
may reduce the relevance of or demand for our wired broadband internet services. This may result in
a loss of customers, a decrease in average revenue per user (“ARPU”) and hence a substantial decline
in our broadband internet business.

e  Developing new services can be complex. We may not be able to implement the new services
effectively, promptly and economically to meet customer demand. In developing new services, we
may need to make significant investments in our network infrastructure and/or otherwise in order to
support these services. If we exceed our budgeted capital expenditure and cannot meet the additional
capital requirements through operating cash flows and planned financings, we may have to delay our
projects, which could make us less competitive and lead to customer loss.

. Our new services may not be commercially successful. The failure of any of our services to achieve
commercial acceptance could result in lower than expected turnover.

To respond to technological changes, including consumer demand for internet services at higher speeds, we
may need to invest to further upgrade our existing technologies to prevent them from becoming obsolete.
These changes may require us to replace and/or upgrade our network infrastructure and as a result, incur
additional capital expenditure (which may be significant) in order to maintain the latest technological
standards and remain competitive against newer products and services and may impair the value of our
existing assets. If we cannot respond to new technology successfully and offer the new services to meet the
demands of our customers in a timely manner and at competitive prices, our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected

For our Africa operations, commercial success depends on providing attractive products and services such
as voice, data, mobile money, connectivity and other value-added services to our customers on a timely
basis and at a competitive cost. If Airtel Africa Group is unable to anticipate customer preferences, respond
to technological changes or industry changes or if they are unable to modify its service offerings or
otherwise react to changing customer demands on a timely and cost-effective basis, they may lose
customers and quality of services and it may have an adverse impact on business, results of operations
financial condition and prospects of Airtel Africa Group.

It is possible that the development of technologies, products and services may intensify competition due to
the entrance of new competitors or the expansion of services offered by existing competitors or from
players of adjacent industries such as internet companies and OTT players. We cannot predict which of
many possible future technologies, products, or services will be important to maintain our competitive
position. To the extent we do not keep pace with technological advances or fail to respond in a timely
manner to changes in the competitive environment affecting our industry, we could lose market share or
experience a decline in our business, prospects and results of operations.
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Our Company is exposed to a high risk of customer churn, which increases our Company’s subscriber
acquisition costs, resulting in the loss of future subscriber revenues.

The Indian mobile telecommunication industry has historically experienced a high rate of churn in the
subscriber base. The high churn rate is a consequence of, among other things, the prepaid nature of the
industry, an increase in usage of devices with multi-sim capabilities, mobile number portability and intense
competition, which have led telecom operators to introduce promotional tariffs in order to add customers.
Churn rates are especially high among prepaid customers. Prepaid subscribers do not sign service contracts,
which make our Company’s customer base susceptible to switching to other wireless service providers. It
can be difficult to determine actual churn rates as customers may frequently keep switching networks, and
definition to account for customers may not be uniform across all operators. In addition, many of our
Company’s subscribers are first time users of wireless telecommunications services. First time users have a
tendency to migrate between service providers more frequently, in light of availability of incentives or
lower tariffs, than established users. Increased availability of incentives from our competitors increases the
risk of churn in our subscribers. Our Company launched ‘Minimum ARPU plans’ pan India in third quarter
of Fiscal 19 and witnessed a sharp reduction in subscriber base in the same quarter. Though we believe that
bulk of the impact is already factored in, there may be some impact of these plans on customer churn going
forward as well. Churn is also a function of overall network quality and overall customer satisfaction. Our
inability to retain existing prepaid customers and manage churn levels could have a material adverse effect
on our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

A high churn rate increases the average cost of signing up a new customer (the “Subscriber Acquisition
Costs”). However, our Company may be unable to recover such increased Subscriber Acquisition Costs
from existing and future customers and further, find it difficult to recover outstanding liabilities from post-
paid subscribers who have been deactivated from the system or where such customers have to migrate to
other telecom service providers. Higher churn in post-paid subscribers increases the incidence of bad debts.
A high rate of churn or an increase in bad debts could have a material adverse effect on our Company’s
business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Recently, a French credit insurance company, Euler Hermes has reportedly downgraded our insurance
credit rating based on their assessment of our financial statements and capability to generate profits from
our operations. Seemingly, they have stopped issuing credit insurance for our services availed by our
customers. This may lead to some churn of our Enterprise customers.

We face intense competition that may reduce our market share and lower our profits.

Competition in the Indian telecommunications industry is intense. Our Company faces significant
competition from other companies, including from those with pan-India footprints such as Reliance Jio and
Vodafone Idea Limited. Competition in the Indian telecommunications industry has increased notably due
to liberalization of the foreign direct investment (“FDI”) policy of India. Liberalization led to the
privatization of the telecommunication industry, allowed, and encouraged FDI and the provision of
services by several mobile operators in various cellular zones established in India by the DoT. With further
liberalization, new foreign and domestic competitors may enter the market, which will further increase
competition. In addition, mobile number portability, which enables customers to switch their providers of
mobile telecommunications services without changing their phone numbers, was introduced in India in the
first quarter of the 2011 calendar year. This has resulted in a greater movement of customers among
providers of mobile telecommunications services, has increased the marketing, distribution and
administrative costs of our Company, slow growth in subscribers and reduce revenues. As a substantial
number of the subscribers of our Company are prepaid, our Company does not have long-term contracts
with those subscribers and is therefore, more susceptible to subscriber churn.

The competitive landscape in India has also notably changed post the launch of services by a new operator
few years back. Intense pricing pressures, coupled with a general downward trend in prices of telecom
services, and the need for future network expansion have led to a spree of consolidation and exits from the
sector. Such increasing pricing pressure will affect our profitability and ARPU as well as an increase in
customer churn and selling and promotional expenses. Intense competition may impact our ability to retain
the long-term contracts with enterprise clients and may result in loss of business.

On February 20, 2014, the DoT issued guidelines for transfer/merger of various categories of
telecommunication service licenses/authorization under unified license on compromises, arrangements and
amalgamation of the companies (“Transfer-Merger Guidelines”) in order to regulate the transfer and
merger of various categories of licenses under the unified licensing regime. The Transfer-Merger
Guidelines permit merger, acquisition or amalgamation of companies up to 50% of the market share in any
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service area. Any such merger, acquisition, amalgamation, compromise or arrangement under the unified
licensing regime may result in enhanced competition through consolidation of our competitors with other
operators, which could have an adverse impact on our business, prospects and results of operations.

There are also an increasing number of players offering various forms of data products. We may also be
subject to competition from providers of new telecommunication services as a result of technological
developments and the convergence of various telecommunication services. For example, internet-based
services, such as Google Voice, WhatsApp, Yahoo Voice and Skype, allow users to make calls, send text
messages and offer other advanced features such as the ability to route calls to multiple handsets and access
to internet services without the same amount of regulatory costs and scrutiny as subjected to telecom
operators. It may reduce customers’ reliance on more traditional telecom services such as voice calls and
short message service (“SMS”), resulting in a decrease in our revenues.

Our competitors may introduce new telecommunications services with specialized or more expensive and
exclusive content from time to time. Access to such specialized, expensive and exclusive content may be
available to our competitors that allow them to deliver their services at lower prices, at higher quality or
with other add-on services that might make our competitors’ services more competitive than our services.
With resources at our disposal that may be more limited than our competitors, we may not be able to
capture the opportunities in the market and may lose customers to our competitors.

We believe that as a result of the prevailing competitive conditions in the telecom industry in India, our
results of operations have been adversely affected in recent periods, and as a result, our revenue reduced to
% 610,217 million in the nine months ended December 31, 2018, from T 640,536 in the nine months ended
December 31, 2017, and we have a profit for the period of ¥ 11,114 million in the nine months ended
December 31, 2018 compared with a profit for the period of X 17,645 million in the nine months ended
December 31, 2017.

We also face substantial competition in our operations outside India. Across Africa, we face various levels
of competition, including intense competition in a number of larger markets, such as Nigeria, resulting in
decreasing ARPU in these markets. In Sri Lanka, we compete with several larger service providers that
have been operating in Sri Lanka for significantly longer periods than us, and we expect to face intense
competition from these providers in our attempt to expand further. If we are not able to successfully
compete in our markets, this could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, prospects,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. The Airtel Africa Group operates in an
increasingly competitive environment, particularly with respect to pricing and market share, across its
markets and segments, which may adversely affect our revenue and margins. The existing and future
competitors of the Airtel Africa Group may enjoy certain competitive advantages that the we do not have,
such as having easier access to financing, greater personnel resources, fewer regulatory burdens or closer
relationships with regulatory authorities, which may in turn negatively impact the Airtel Africa Group’s
competitive position. Further, any failure of the Airtel Africa Group’s to compete effectively, including in
terms of pricing of services, acquisition of new customers, retention of existing customers, developing and
deploying of new or improved products and services and enhancing networks could have a material
adverse effect on our reputation, business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations of the Airtel Africa Group.

In Africa, social networking sites and messaging applications pose a threat to traditional
telecommunications revenue streams such as pre-paid mobile, voice services, which have historically
comprised a significant part of the Airtel Africa Group’s revenue. Demand for traditional paid voice
services across the telecom industry globally is declining and this may lower the revenue that the Airtel
Africa Group is able to generate from interconnect services. The Airtel Africa Group’s ability to retain and
attract subscribers or provide an attractive alternative to traditional subscriber models could materially and
adversely affect the Airtel Africa Group’s profitability, business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Our Company has incurred significant indebtedness, and our Company must service this debt and
comply with its covenants to avoid defaulting on our borrowings and refinancing risk. Further, we are
subject to risks arising from interest rate fluctuations, currency fluctuation and regulatory changes,
which could adversely affect its business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Our Company has outstanding indebtedness largely in connection with our operations, the acquisition of
the African operations of Zain in 2010, its refinancing and deferred payment obligations outstanding to
DoT for acquired spectrum. Such indebtedness may be substantial in relation to our Company’s
shareholders’ equity, increasing our risk of default. As at December 31, 2018, our Company has
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consolidated long term borrowings (including current maturities of long term borrowings) of X 947,637
million. Further, our Company may also incur additional indebtedness in the future, including indebtedness
incurred to fund capital contributions to our Subsidiaries, subject to limitations imposed by our Company’s
financing arrangements and applicable law. We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow from
operations in the future and future working capital borrowings may not be available in an amount sufficient
to enable us to do so. Further, financing may not be available for refinancing our existing and future debt
obligations. Working capital facilities are typically uncommitted and may be callable. There is no
guarantee that these facilities will continue to be available to us. Company has routine commercial paper
programme, factors impacting our company or the Indian economy may cause this source of funds to dry
up. Company also has significant bank guarantees issued to cover, including but not limited to, its disputes
as well as spectrum liabilities and other regulatory obligations which may materialize and our company
may not be able to honor such obligations. Similarly, our Company has also given corporate guarantee for
its Subsidiaries. Any performance lag/default on those debt obligations by Subsidiaries may cause
guarantees to be accelerated and we may not be able to honor such obligations. In addition, some of our
Company’s loan agreements may also extend charges on specific assets held in India and/or overseas. An
increase in debt levels beyond the levels acceptable to rating agencies or any adverse impact in operations,
may put downward pressure on our ratings, which can increase the costs and reduce/restrict availability of
further debt for us.

For details, see “Risk Factors — We have substantial capital requirements and may not be able to raise the
additional funds required to meet these requirements, which may have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and prospects.” below.

Our financing agreements contain certain restrictive covenants that limit our ability to undertake certain
types of actions, without the prior consent of the respective lender or require prior intimation to lenders of
any such events or covenants that give rights to the lenders, in a limited manner, to ask for mandatory
prepayment of the loans granted. Amongst others, we are required to obtain prior approval or cause prior
intimation of the following events:

1. Creation or allowing to exist any security interest on our movable and immovable assets without
the prior approval of relevant lender except in specific circumstances as set forth in various relevant
loan documents.

2. Passing any resolution or otherwise taking any steps towards voluntary winding up or liquidation or
dissolution by our Company.

3. Undertaking any amalgamation, demerger, merger or corporate reconstruction except in specific
circumstances as set forth in the relevant loan documents.

4. Making any substantial change in the general nature of our business.

5. Conveying, selling, leasing or otherwise disposing of all or substantially all of our assets or
receivables except for those assets, which are required to be disposed of in the ordinary course of
business.

6. Exceeding the agreed upon leverage levels.

Further, we may be required to mandatorily repay the outstanding amount of the loan obligations if
“Bharti Entities” together cease to directly or indirectly control our Company. (Bharti Entities shall mean
those entities of Bharti Group, which hold shares in our Company. Bharti Group is defined under our AoA,
collectively mean (i) Bharti Infotel Private Limited and all of its indirect and direct Subsidiaries (“BIPL”),
(ii) Bharti Overseas Private Limited and all of its indirect and direct Subsidiaries (“BOPL”), (iii) Bharti
Enterprises (“BE”), (iv) Bharti Telecom Limited (“BTL”).

We cannot assure you that the lenders will grant the required approvals in a timely manner, or at all. We
are also required to maintain certain financial ratios under some of our financing arrangements. These
financial ratios and the restrictive provisions could limit our flexibility to engage in certain business
transactions or activities, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage and could have an adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Further, any change in control or
occurrence of event of default may require us to make the prepayment of entire outstanding amount of the
loan obligations. We may not be able to procure sufficient funds to make the repayments thereof and it may
adversely affect our ability to conduct our business and operations.

Further, we borrow funds in the domestic and international markets from various banks and financial
institutions to meet the long-term and short-term funding requirements for our operations and funding our
growth initiatives. Increases in interest rates will increase the cost of debt that we incur. In addition, the
interest rate that we will be able to secure in any future debt financing will depend on market conditions at
the time and may differ from the rates on its existing debt. If the interest rates are high when we need to
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access the markets for additional debt financing, or if interest rates increase on our floating rate debt, our
business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. Our Company has debt
denominated in various currencies at floating rates of interest. Our Company may not be able to
successfully manage currency or interest rate risk and accordingly our liability to repay on debt obligation
may inflate. For instance, Indian Rupee depreciated from X 65.02 to X 71.19 per USD during Fiscal 2019.
In addition, various aspects including tenor, purpose/end use, costs of raising debt are guided by regulatory
change such as changes in regulations relating to external commercial borrowing that can cause our interest
rates to fluctuate or impose additional hedging requirements or otherwise cause adverse impact on
availability of capital. Further, any such hedging activity is likely to increase cost and has no assurance of
fully mitigating the impact of variations caused by mentioned factors.

The Airtel Africa Group has substantial debt in aggregate of interest-bearing loans and borrowings
outstanding under its borrowing arrangement. As a result, the Airtel Africa Group must dedicate a
substantial portion of its cash flow from operating activities to the payment of principal of, and interest on,
its borrowings, thereby reducing the availability of such cash flow to fund working capital, acquisitions or
other general corporate purposes. The amount of the Airtel Africa Group’s indebtedness could reduce its
flexibility to respond to general adverse economic and industry conditions and could place it at a
disadvantage compared to competitors with lower levels of indebtedness.

Moreover, under the terms of some of its existing debt, Airtel Africa Plc and its subsidiaries are subject to
certain restrictions which could limit the Airtel Africa Group’s ability or the ability of certain entities
within the Airtel Africa Group to pay dividends, may limit the Airtel Africa Group’s ability to finance
future operations and capital needs and may limit its ability to pursue business opportunities and activities.

We have substantial capital requirements and may not be able to raise the additional funds required to
meet these requirements, which may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
prospects.

We operate in a capital-intensive industry with long gestation periods. Our funding requirements are
primarily for award of licenses, purchase of spectrum, network expansion and upgrades, the roll-out of new
networks following award of new licenses, spectrum and technological advancements, refinancing of
existing debt and general corporate purposes. The actual amount and timing of our future capital
requirements may differ from our estimates as a result of, among other things, unforeseen delays or cost
overruns, future cash flows being less than anticipated, price increases, unanticipated expenses, imposition
of taxes, regulatory and technological changes, and limitations on spectrum availability, market
developments and new opportunities in the industry.

The financing required for such investments may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all and we
may be restricted by our existing or future financing arrangements. If we decide to raise additional funds
through the incurrence of debt, our interest obligations will increase, which could have significant adverse
effect on our profitability and other financial measures. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of
equity, your ownership interest will be diluted. We have, in the past and in the future, may continue to rely
on financial support from our Promoter, shareholders and related parties and we cannot assure you that
such funding will be available in the future. Our ability to finance our capital expenditure plans is also
subject to a number of risks, contingencies and other factors, some of which are beyond our control,
including borrowing or lending restrictions under applicable laws, any restrictions on the amount of
dividend payable and general economic and markets conditions.

Prudential norms including but not limited to single and group borrower concentration limits prescribed by
the RBI or other regulatory bodies to bank lenders in India (as well as corresponding limits under our
financing arrangements with such bank lenders) may restrict our ability to seek additional credit facilities
from our current bank lenders to fund our business requirements in the future. Therefore, we may be
required to maintain multiple banking relationships on an ongoing basis, or enter into new banking
relationships in the future. We cannot assure you that new bank credit facilities will be available to us in a
timely manner, on commercially viable terms, or at all.

Further, RBI or other regulators keep amend the regulations regarding grant or access of credit from time to
time. Such amendments may impact the availability, longevity, terms or other nuances of capital to our
Company. As an example, our Company is likely to fall under the ‘Large Borrower’ capital framework
effective April 1, 2019 and will have to arrange capital in a certain manner including from the market in
accordance with regulation. We can provide no assurance that our Company will be able to do so.
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Change in credit ratings assigned to our Company may also affect our ability to raise funds for future
capital requirements. In a press release dated February 5, 2019, Moody's Investors Service ("“Moody's")
has downgraded senior unsecured rating for our Company as well as the backed senior unsecured notes
issued by our wholly-owned subsidiary, Bharti Airtel International (Netherlands) B.V. from Baa3 to Bal.
Additionally, Moody's has assigned a Bal corporate family rating to Bharti and withdrawn our Company's
Baa3 issuer rating. ICRA Limited (“ICRA”) vide its report dated December 17, 2018, has downgraded our
Company’s rating and rating for term loans and working capital limits (rated on long term scale) from
[ICRA]JAA+(Negative) to [ICRAJAA(Stable). CRISIL, by way of its press release dated November 15,
2018 has downgraded the credit rating assigned to the various non-convertible debentures of our Company
from ‘CRISIL AA+/Negative’ to ‘CRISIL AA/Stable’. Standard & Poor's (“S&P”) in May 2018 changed
the outlook of our Company’s credit rating from BBB-/Stable/-- to BBB-/Negative/--. Downgrade in credit
ratings of our Company may cause an adverse impact on our ability to raise additional funds and/or the
interest cost at which our Company borrows the additional funds. Certain additional restrictive covenants
may also become applicable on a part of our indebtedness in case of downward revision of certain ratings.
Further, our Company cannot assure that it will not tie any of its future indebtedness that have linkages to
rating levels changes in which may result in increase in pricing, restrictions on debt and other actions.

Any inability to obtain sufficient financing could result in the delay or abandonment of our development
and expansion plans, the failure to meet roll-out obligations pursuant to our licenses or our inability to
continue to provide appropriate levels of service in all or a portion of the telecom circles we operate in
(which may lead to penalties or loss of license). As a result, if adequate amount of capital is not available,
there could be an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and prospects.

Similarly, the Airtel Africa Group operations require substantial amounts of capital and other long term
expenditures, including those relating to the development and acquisition of new networks and the
expansion or improvement of existing networks. Any failure to arrange sufficient external financing from
banks or other lenders on a timely basis or on satisfactory terms could have a material adverse effect on the
Airtel Africa Group’s business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition. Airtel Africa
Limited, our subsidiary and holding entity of our Africa operations has appointed global banks comprising
J.P. Morgan, Citigroup, BofA Merrill Lynch, Absa Group Limited, Barclays Bank PLC, BNP Paribas,
Goldman Sachs International and Standard Bank Group for its intended IPO on an international stock
exchange. If Airtel Africa Limited is unable to complete its IPO or if the IPO of Airtel Africa Limited is
not successful then funds required to meet its capital requirements may not be available and which may
have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and prospects.

Our telecommunications licenses, permits and frequency allocations are subject to finite terms and any
failure or delay in renewal of licenses could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition,
cash flows and results of operations.

The terms of our licenses, permits and frequency allocations are subject to finite terms, ongoing review and
the renewal of license is required for the licensee to continue its services as well as purchase of spectrum in
auctions. While we do not expect our Company or any of our Subsidiaries or Associate Companies to be
required to cease operations at the end of the terms of their respective licenses in relation to usage of
spectrum, there can be no assurance that these business arrangements or licenses will be extended on
equivalent satisfactory terms, or at all. Upon termination, the licenses and spectrum held by these
companies may revert to the local governments or local regulators in the respective jurisdiction, in some
cases without any or adequate compensation being paid. Our licenses and allocations are subject to varying
interpretations and the licensor reserves the unilateral right to amend the terms and conditions of our
telecommunication licenses. In the event the licensor exercises such right, our business, prospects, results
of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. Supply of spectrum is limited by the
restrictions on the participation in auctions and we may not be able to effectively win our spectrum back in
these auctions. We are also required to comply with certain conditions such as maintaining the minimum
net worth, minimum paid up equity capital and capitalization requirements specified under the terms of our
telecom licenses.

We have migrated our existing unified access service (“UAS”) licenses of Delhi and Kolkata, which were
due for renewal in November 2014 to unified license (“UL”) (access authorization). Subsequently, the
licenses, which came for renewal in 2015 and 2016, were also migrated to UL regime.

We have also purchased spectrum for a period of 20 years in the spectrum auctions of February 2014,
March 2015 and October 2016 to ensure continuity of our services in the license service areas where our
licenses were due to expire between 2014 and 2016. Typically, the UL is valid for 20 years and we will be
required to renew our ULs upon expiry of such period.
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In eight service areas, namely Tamil Nadu (including Chennai), Gujarat, Haryana, Kerala, Madhya
Pradesh, Maharashtra (excluding Mumbai), Mumbai and Uttar Pradesh West, our Company operates under
UAS license with administratively allocated spectrum, which are due to expire in 2021. However, we have
also acquired liberalized spectrum in these eight service areas through auctions, mergers and spectrum
trading for the continuity of our services.

While we believe we have presently safeguarded ourselves against the risk arising from the expiry of our
administratively allocated spectrum which is due to expire in the next five years by acquiring spectrum in
auctions/trading as well as acquiring additional spectrum from other TSPs through our recent acquisitions
such as that of Tata and Telenor, there can be no assurance that we will be able to implement the same
strategy in the future when our current auction acquired spectrum reaches its expiry or that there would be
adequate acquisition opportunities, at commercially acceptable terms, available at such time. Further, while
we have acquired such spectrum usage for blocks of 20 years through the auction process, or otherwise, at
a significant cost to us, if the technology and associated ecosystems and platforms change sooner than that,
we may nhot be able to put this spectrum to commercial use for its full life.

We anticipate that we may have to pay increasingly significant license fees and spectrum charges in certain
markets, as well as meet specified network build-out requirements. We cannot assure you that we will be
successful in obtaining or funding these licenses, or, if licenses are awarded, that they can be obtained on
terms commercially acceptable to us. Furthermore, if we renew existing licenses or obtain additional
licenses, we may need to seek future funding through additional borrowings or equity offerings, and we
cannot assure you that such funding will be obtained on satisfactory terms or at all, which could adversely
affect our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

We may have to pay additional spectrum charges for excess spectrum held or surrender excess spectrum
held by us to the Gol.

According to the Performance Audit Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India on the “Issue
of Licenses and Allocation of 2G Spectrum” dated November 8, 2010, for Fiscal 2010 (the “Report”), our
Company held an aggregate of 32.4 MHz of additional spectrum in 13 circles beyond the upper limit laid
down in the UAS license agreement without having paid any upfront charges in respect of such additional
spectrum. In the Report, eight other operators were also stated to be holding excess spectrum.

Subsequently, based on TRAI’s recommendations, on December 28, 2012, the DoT issued an order for the
levy of one-time charge for spectrum held in excess of 6.2 MHz between July 1, 2008 and December 31,
2012 and in excess of 4.4 MHz, effective from January 1, 2013, payable on an annual basis for remainder
of the term of license. On January 8, 2013, DoT issued a demand notice to our Company and Bharti
Hexacom Limited for holding spectrum beyond 6.2 MHz in the 1800 MHz and the 900 MHz band from
July 1, 2008 until December 31, 2012 and for holding spectrum beyond 4.4 MHz in the 900 MHz and the
1800 MHz band on the basis of 2012 auction determined price applicable from January 1, 2013 until the
expiry of the current term of our license amounting to X 52,013 million and disclosed as contingent liability
as at March 31, 2018. Our Company challenged this demand for one time charge in the Bombay High
Court, which has stayed the demand. The matter is currently pending for final hearing before the Bombay
High Court.

Thereafter, on June 27, 2018, DoT has revised the above-mentioned demand of onetime fee to ¥ 84,140
million. The revised demand is on the account of the latest auction determined rates in all the LSAs (except
J&K and Tamil Nadu, including Chennai in 900 MHz band where auction discovered rates are not
available yet). Our Company has submitted its response against the said notice on August 29, 2018. The
stay granted by Bombay High Court continues to be in force.

Further, the DoT by its letter dated June 22, 2018, which was subsequently revised on June 26, 2018,
demanded from our Company one-time spectrum charges of ¥ 12,879 million in respect of Chennai service
area for the extended period of license from November 30, 2014 to September 27, 2021. Our Company has
filed a detailed representation with the DoT on July 12, 2018 challenging the demand on various grounds.
Another representation has been submitted in the matter on December 24, 2018. DoT is yet to respond on
the same. In the event of DoT issues a demand for seeking payment, the same shall be challenged before
the TDSAT.
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Our Company and Subsidiaries are involved in certain legal and other proceedings and there can be no
assurance that our Company, and/or Subsidiaries will be successful in any of these legal actions. In the
event our Company and/or Subsidiaries are unsuccessful in litigating any of the disputes, our business
and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our Company and Subsidiaries are impleaded in a number of legal and regulatory proceedings that, if
determined against our Company, Subsidiaries could have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

A summary of material outstanding legal proceedings involving our Company and our Subsidiaries,
identified in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations as on the date of this Draft Letter of Offer,
including the aggregate approximate amount involved to the extent ascertainable, is set out below.

Type of Proceedings Number Amount*
of cases ® in million)

Cases involving our Company
Issues involving moral turpitude or criminal liability 17 —
Material violations of statutory regulations 24 177,270%
Direct tax proceedings 2 19,656
Indirect tax proceedings 1 1,183.89
Other pending matters which, if they result in an adverse outcome would 2 44,842.31
materially and adversely affect the operations or the financial position of our
Company”
Total 46 242,952.20
Cases involving our Subsidiaries
Issues involving moral turpitude or criminal liability 14 —
Material violations of statutory regulations 18 14,0317
Direct tax proceedings 2 60,007.19**
Indirect tax proceedings 3 18,980.87***
Other pending matters which, if they result in an adverse outcome would Nil -
materially and adversely affect the operations or the financial position of our
Company”
Total 37 93,019.06

* To the extent quantifiable.

**This amount largely arises out of direct tax proceedings against Bharti Airtel International (Netherlands) B.V., our Subsidiary,
involving the amount of Tanzanian Shillings 1,968,708,131,465. Such amount has been converted into Rupees using oanda.com at the
prevailing conversion rate as of December 31, 2018.

***This amount includes liability arising out of indirect tax proceedings against one Subsidiary in India and two Subsidiaries in
foreign jurisdictions. In relation to the indirect tax proceedings against our Subsidiaries in foreign jurisdictions, the amount
comprises USD 113.2 million against Airtel Congo RDC S.A. and CFA Franc 85,000 million against Airtel Congo S.A., which have
been converted into Rupees using the RBI Reference rate for USD and oanda.com for CFA Franc at the prevailing conversion rates
as of December 31, 2018.

# Based on policy approved by our Board on February 28, 2019, all pending litigation against our Company and Subsidiaries, other
than litigation involving moral turpitude, criminal liability, material violations of statutory regulations or proceedings relating to
economic offences, are considered material if the monetary amount of claim is in excess of 1% of the consolidated revenues or 1% of
the consolidated net worth, whichever is lower, of our Company for the Fiscal 2018. Accordingly, the materiality threshold
considered for disclosure of such other matters is T 7,500 million.

## To the extent quantifiable, this amount includes a sum of ¥ 65,026 million as of December 31, 2018 in respect of AGR matters of
our Company which is disclosed as part of the Contingent liabilities disclosure in the financial statements.

##t# To the extent quantifiable, this amount includes a sum of ¥ 2,661 million as of December 31, 2018 in respect of AGR matters of
our Subsidiaries which is disclosed as part of the Contingent liabilities disclosure in the financial statements.

"The demand amounts in tax litigations is the consolidated figure for all the matters pending before various authorities/ foras / courts.
For details, see “Outstanding Litigation and Defaults” on page 269. We are, and may in the future be, party
to litigation and legal, tax and regulatory proceedings, the outcome of which may affect our business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Our ability to grow our business and the number of our subscribers is dependent on the quality and
quantity of spectrum owned by us.

The operation of our mobile telecommunications network is limited by the quality and quantity of spectrum
owned by us. In India, telecom operators obtain access spectrum through competitive bidding in Gol held
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auctions or by entering into spectrum sharing or trading arrangements with other telecom operators.
Acquisition of spectrum is subject to certain conditions, risks and uncertainties, including:

o high reserve prices being set by the Gol for the auction of spectrum;

e our competitors outbidding us at the spectrum auctions and entering into spectrum sharing and trading
arrangements with each other to our exclusion;

e regulatory uncertainties including delayed access to spectrum already acquired through competitive
bidding; and the unavailability of spectrum in certain bands in certain telecom circles and inability to
acquire contiguous spectrum.

The operation of our mobile telecommunications networks is limited by the amount of spectrum procured
to us in the jurisdictions where we operate. Liberalized spectrum acquired through auction in all the bands
(700 MHz, 800 MHz, 900 MHz, 1800 MHz, 2100 MHz, 2300 MHz and 2500 MHZz) can be used to provide
wireless broadband services by the TSPs. In India, the DTH services are offered in Ku band and within the
band, ISRO allocates specified spots (transponders) as per the requirements of the operator. Procurement of
spectrum in India is determined by the DoT and by various local/jurisdictional regulators across our
African operations and is also subject to caps on the amount of spectrum any telecommunications operator
may obtain and hold. In determining spectrum distribution, governmental authorities generally seek to
ensure choice of services, efficient use of spectrum and continuity of customer service while maintaining
technology neutrality and providing a stable investment environment. The current spectrum procurement
may not be sufficient for expected subscriber growth going forward, and our future profitability and cash
flows may be materially and adversely affected if its procured spectrum proves inadequate in the future for
the expansion of our telecommunications business or if we are unable to procure additional spectrum in the
future for the expansion of our telecommunications business. Additional spectrum may also be required to
maintain quality of service. As the number of subscribers simultaneously using the same spectrum
increases, the quality of the service may suffer, which may lead to a loss of subscribers and revenues. This
could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Further, with the introduction of
stringent norms for telecom operators related to quality of service and call drops issues we may not be able
to maintain, control or improve the quality of our service and may be subject to monetary penalty or any
adverse action by regulators.

In August 2018, the TRAI has given its recommendation on auction of spectrum to DoT. TRAI has
suggested that entire available spectrum available in 700 MHz, 800 MHz, 900 MHz, 1800 MHz, 2100
MHz, 2300 MHz, 2500 MHz, 3300-3400 MHz and 3400-3600 MHz bands should be kept in the
forthcoming auction. It has recommended that the entire spectrum available in 3300 - 3600 MHz should be
auctioned, as a single band and time division duplex (“TDD”) based frequency arrangement should be
adopted for this band. Reserve price for 700 MHz and 3300-3600 MHz has been recommended as X 65,680
million/MHz and X 4,920 million/MHz for pan India, respectively. The DoT is likely to auction spectrum
in these bands in future. If we decide to bid for any additional spectrum that may come to auction in the
future, we may incur high capital expenditure for the acquisition of such spectrum and we may have to
undertake additional indebtedness for the same or increase our mobile phone tariffs as a result. An increase
in mobile phone tariffs may lead to reduced consumption of our services by our subscribers or a shift of
such subscribers to one of our competitors. Similarly, any additional indebtedness may impact our
profitability and could have a material adverse impact on our business, prospects, financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations.

Currently, the price of the bid in relation to auction of spectrum is typically the most important selection
criteria. Increased competition may drive bidding prices for spectrum higher and we may not be able to
acquire additional spectrum or may be required to pay a higher amount for acquiring additional spectrum.
We cannot assure you that there will be further auctions for spectrum in the future, or that we will be
successful in acquiring additional spectrum that we bid for, within a reasonable time, or at all. Further, we
may not realize the expected benefits from our investment in additional spectrum that we anticipated when
we bid for such additional spectrum.

Spectrum usage rights offered in auctions are typically awarded for a period of 20 years in case of mobile
telecommunication and we may not be a successful bidder when bidding for the same spectrum after expiry
of such validity period. Moreover, spectrum acquired through competitive bidding may suffer from
interference, which may limit its utility, temporarily or for a sustained period. Our business, financial
condition, results of operation and prospects may also be adversely affected if the GOl amends spectrum-
holding caps in the future, which limit the amount of spectrum that can be held by one telecom operator. If
we cannot acquire spectrum of the necessary quality and quantity to deploy our services on a timely basis
and at adequate cost, our ability to attract and retain customers and our ability to successfully compete
would be adversely affected.
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We have rapidly expanded internationally, which could affect future growth.

Our Company has significantly expanded its international operations (in terms of geography and scope)
through its Subsidiaries and associate entities. These include the acquisition of new licenses and building
its own network infrastructure and purchasing interests in existing businesses. For example, we
commenced telecommunications operations in Sri Lanka in 2009, Bangladesh in 2010 with the acquisition
of Warid Telecom, and Africa in 2010 with the acquisition of Zain Telecom’s operations in 15 African
countries. Our Company has, inter alia, divested its operations in Bangladesh (now with a minority stake in
Rob Axiata which is a leading telecom service provider in Bangladesh), Sierra Leone and Burkina Faso.
We have expanded our operations in Rwanda by acquiring Millicom’s operations in Rwanda, and our
operations in Ghana have been merged with Millicom’s operations, in which we presently hold 50% equity
interest.

Our ability to manage our increased scope of operations and to achieve future growth and profitability
depends upon a number of factors, including our ability:

o to effectively increase penetration of our service and the scope of our management, operational and
financial systems and controls to handle the increased complexity, expanded breadth and geographic
area of its operations, particularly in Africa;

o to recruit, train and retain qualified staff to manage and operate its growing business across locations;

e to accurately evaluate the contractual, financial, regulatory, environmental and other obligations and
liabilities associated with its international acquisitions and investments, including the appropriate
implementation of financial oversight and internal controls and the timely preparation of financial
statements that are in conformity with our Company’s accounting policies;

o to accurately judge market dynamics, demographics, growth potential and competitive environment;

o to effectively determine, evaluate, manage and respond to the risks and uncertainties in entering new
markets, including political, economic and regulatory risks and uncertainties, and acquiring new
businesses through its due diligence and other processes, particularly given the heightened risks in
emerging markets;

o to effectively and efficiently respond to the competitive environment and manage varied customer
demands and preferences in international markets; and

e to obtain and maintain necessary permits, licenses, spectrum allocation and approvals from
governmental and regulatory authorities and agencies.

Additionally, our Company has in place an Internal Assurance Group (IAG) headed by Chief Internal
Auditor, supported by internal assurance partners (global audit firms) to conduct the internal audit on the
basis of a detailed internal audit plan reviewed each year in consultation with the IAG and the Audit
Committee.

Any difficulties in addressing these issues or integrating one or more of its existing or future international
operations could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations. In addition, the value of our investments in associates (operating companies in
which it has less than a controlling interest) could decline, requiring us to record impairments to those
assets in our financial statements.

In Africa, business has historically and in recent years grown inorganically through mergers and
acquisitions alongside organic growth, and Airtel Africa Group has undertaken strategic divestments to
streamline its footprint and focus on its core subscriber-facing operations. The inorganic component of the
Airtel Africa Group’s growth strategy is based, in part, on strategic streamlining of our operational
footprint, which included our exit from Burkina Faso and Sierra Leone in July 2016, as well as the
expected continuation of our ongoing divestitures of tower assets. The Airtel Africa Group’s growth
strategy depends in part on its ability to develop and integrate new services into its existing services
offering, including in connection with the expansion of the their networks, as well as to expand its footprint
into new markets, including through acquisitive growth. The Airtel Africa Group may be unable to identify
or accurately evaluate suitable partners for acquisition or merger, or to complete or integrate past or
prospective acquisitions or mergers successfully or in a timely or cost-effective manner, which could
adversely affect our overall strategy. In addition, the Airtel Africa Group may also face risks with respect
to any of its divestments. Any failures, material delays or unexpected costs related to the implementation of
the Airtel Africa Group’s growth strategy could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.
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We are exposed to certain risks in respect of the development, expansion and maintenance of our mobile
telecommunications networks.

Our ability to increase our subscriber base depends upon the success of the expansion and management of
our networks and upon our ability to obtain sufficient financing to facilitate these plans. The build-out of
our networks is subject to risks and uncertainties, which could delay the introduction of services in some
areas and increase the cost of network construction, including obtaining sufficient financing. We are
engaged in a number of network expansion and infrastructure projects, including in India, Sri Lanka and in
the African countries in which we operate. The speed at which we are able to expand our network and
upgrade technology is critical to our ability to increase our subscriber base. Thus, if any of these risks
transpire, our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We purchase or rely on the purchase of commodities, such as diesel, steel and zinc, to support the
development and maintenance of our tower network. Volatility in global commodity prices, in particular
metal and fuel prices will make it more difficult for us to accurately forecast and plan the cost of equipment
required for network maintenance and expansion, besides increasing our operating costs and capital
expenditure.

Additionally, increases in such global commodity prices will increase the amount of capital expenditure
required to finance our expansion plans, which will exert downward pressure on our profit margins if we
are unable to pass these cost increases through to our customers. Our operating costs, including that of the
Airtel Africa Group, are subject to fluctuations, including changes in energy consumption costs, costs of
obtaining and maintaining licenses, spectrum and other regulatory requirements. Any volatility in these and
other variable operating costs or any inability to pass on increased costs to the customers could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

In connection with our network strategy, we, from time to time, consider establishing partnerships with
other carriers in our markets which may involve the sale of assets and may require funding from our
Company. Network expansion and infrastructure projects, including those in our development pipeline,
typically require substantial capital expenditure throughout the planning and construction phases and it
may take significant amount of time before we can obtain the necessary permits and approvals for such
projects to be completed and accrue benefits from such expansion, during which time we are subject to a
number of construction, financing, operating, regulatory and other risks beyond our control, including, but
not limited to:

an inability to secure any necessary financing arrangements on favorable terms, if at all;

changes in demand for our services;

our technology becoming obsolete or outdated resulting in reduced commercial success of our services;
shortage of material, equipment and labour, coupled with labour disputes and disputes with sub-
contractors;

inability to hire, train and retain qualified technical personnel,;

e inadequate infrastructure, including as a result of failure by third parties to fulfill their obligations
relating to the provision of utilities and transportation links that are necessary or desirable for the
successful operation of a project;

failure to complete projects according to specifications;

adverse weather conditions and natural disasters;

accidents;

changes in local governmental priorities; and

inability to obtain and maintain project development permission or requisite governmental licenses,
permits or approvals.

The occurrence of one or more of these events may have a material adverse effect on our ability to
complete our current or future network expansion projects on schedule or within budget, if at all, and may
prevent us from achieving our targeted increases in subscriber base, revenues, internal rates of return or
capacity associated with such projects. There can be no assurance that we will be able to generate revenues
from our expansion projects that meet our planned targets and objectives, or that they will be sufficient to
cover the associated construction and development costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. We may not be able to
procure sufficient funding for undertaking the future capital expenditure and may be subject to risks as
elaborated under risk factor 6.
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Our Subsidiary (Bharti Telemedia Limited) operates in an industry which is highly regulated and it
requires certain approvals, licenses, registrations and permissions to conduct our digital TV business.

Our Subsidiary’s (Bharti Telemedia Limited) business activity involve the provision of DTH services. The
provision of such service in India is regulated and governed by the Ministry of Information and
Broadcasting (“MIB”) and the TRAI, in terms of the applicable statutory regulations. In terms of such
regulations, our Subsidiary is required to obtain a license from the MIB, for the provision of DTH services,
and is required to comply with the conditions prescribed under such regulation and license. Additionally,
TRAI may from time to time also prescribe new conditions and/or regulatory requirements for providing
such services. If we fail or are unable to satisfy such conditions, comply with the terms of our license or
conduct our business activities in a manner contrary to or in violation of the prevailing statutory
regulations, our license could be revoked. As of today, there are regulations which affect our industry like
obligations on us to ensure that no objectionable, obscene, unauthorized or illegal content, messages or
communications are carried out on our network.

Set forth below are certain specific risks arising out of regulatory requirements applicable to our DTH
operations.

DTH operations: TRAI has already mandated implementation of a revised regulatory framework for
broadcasting and cable services, requiring DTH service providers to allow customers to purchase access to
channels individually or alternatively as a combination of ala-carte/ bouquet. This framework was initially
proposed to be implemented by January 31, 2019 but recently TRAI extended the timeline to March 31,
2019 for seeking subscribers’ choice for new plans and this migration is already in process. Such revised
regulatory framework may negatively impact our revenues from provision of DTH services. Further, the
Gol is in the process of introducing a revised licensing framework for DTH operators and the MIB has
presently issued us an interim renewal of our license under the existing framework, which is valid until
June 30, 2019, or the date of notification of the revised regulatory framework, whichever earlier. Once the
new regulations are notified, we will be required to make an application for obtaining a license under the
new licensing framework. There can be no assurance that we will continue to be in compliance with the
conditions stipulated under such new licensing conditions or that we will be successful in obtaining a
license thereunder. Any failure to obtain such license will have an adverse impact on our DTH business
and our operations.

Further, we are required to renew our DTH license periodically and if our license is revoked or if we fail to
obtain or renew the required license, or if we fail to comply with any of the regulations applicable to us, we
may not be able to continue to offer DTH services, which would affect our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.

Our Company is dependent on third party telecommunications providers over which it has no direct
control for the provision of interconnection and roaming services.

Our Company’s ability to provide high quality and commercially viable mobile telecommunications
services depends, in some cases, on its ability to interconnect with the telecommunications networks and
services of other local, domestic and international mobile and fixed-line operators including our optical
fibre cable transmission network. Our Company also relies on other global telecommunication operators
for the provision of international roaming services for its subscribers. While our Company has
interconnection and international roaming agreements in place with such Indian and global
telecommunication operators, it has no direct control over the quality of their networks and the
interconnections and international roaming services they provide. Any difficulties or delays in
interconnecting with other networks and services, or the failure of any operator to provide reliable
interconnections or roaming services to our Company on a consistent basis, could result in loss of
subscribers or a decrease in traffic, which could adversely affect our Company’s business, prospects,
financial condition, reputation, cash flows and results of operations.

The Airtel Africa Group is also dependent on third parties for the supply of certain of its services. Any
significant disruption or other adverse event affecting the relationship with any of the Airtel Africa Group’s
major suppliers, the inability or unwillingness of key equipment and service providers to provide the Airtel
Africa Group’s operations with adequate equipment and services on a timely basis and to manage its
infrastructure in accordance with best practices, including at attractive prices, could materially adversely
impact the ability of these operations to retain and attract subscribers or provide attractive product
offerings, either of which could materially adversely affect the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.
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Our Company is dependent on suppliers and vendors for supply of equipment and services to build,
develop, maintain and rollout our networks and operate our businesses over which it has no direct
control.

We depend upon suppliers and vendors to provide us with equipment and services that we need to build,
develop, maintain and rollout our networks and operate our businesses. We avail the services from vendors
like Nokia, Ericsson, Huawei and ZTE, and from various local vendors for ensuring operations and
maintenance. We are dependent on these vendors for supplying components for future expansions besides
also maintaining the networks and ensuring their upkeep. We cannot be certain that we will be able to
obtain satisfactory equipment and service on commercially acceptable terms or that our vendors will
perform as expected. If our contractual arrangements with such vendors expire or terminate, or if we fail to
receive the quality of equipment and maintenance services that we require, to negotiate appropriate
financial terms for equipment and services, obtain adequate supplies of equipment in a timely manner, or if
our key suppliers discontinue the supply or maintenance of such equipment and services due to withdrawal
from the Indian mobile telecommunications market or otherwise, we may find it difficult to replace a
vendor on a timely basis without significant capital expenditure which could significantly disrupt our
services. The occurrence of any such events could have an adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.

We are dependent upon certain external suppliers of important services both to us and to our subscribers.
We also import the services from vendors, and any adverse effect to import policies including increase in
import duties and tariffs, or any embargo on imports from countries from which our vendors supply may
have negative impact on our business operations.

As a result, we are exposed to the supply and service capabilities of each of these vendors, which may be
impacted by their ability to retain and attract appropriate personnel, their financial position and many other
factors which are outside our control. If such a vendor fails to perform adequately or we terminate the
vendor, we may not be able to provide such services ourselves or find an alternative supplier without
disruption to our services or incurring additional costs.

We are increasingly dependent on revenue generated from data services and a failure to successfully
compete in providing data services could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

Our business is increasingly dependent on revenue generated from data services. Various factors such as
rising income levels, decline in prices of smartphones, increasing availability of mobile-based content,
higher data demanding media including videos, games and other applications on smartphones and the
rollout of long term evolution (“LTE”) networks have led to a rapid growth of data usage in the telecom
sector in India. Equally, our dependence on voice revenues, which has traditionally been the mainstay of
telecom companies is reducing. We cannot assure you that these trends will continue in the future and that
we will continue to benefit from growth in data usage. We may also need to upgrade and expand our
network infrastructure in order to remain competitive in the provision of data services, including 4G data
services, to our customers, which will require us to incur additional capital expenditure. If we are unable to
expand or upgrade our networks and equipment for the provision of data services on a timely and cost-
effective basis or at all, we may lose existing customers or fail to attract new customers.

Growth in our data revenues is dependent on the prices we are able to charge for various data offerings and
the level of data usage by our customers. We cannot assure you that data usage growth will be adequate to
compensate for any future reduction in data prices. Further, if our competitors are able to offer data
services that are, or that are perceived to be, more affordable or of a higher quality than those offered by us,
we may be required to reduce the price of our data offerings or risk losing market share. In recent times, we
have reduced prices while increasing the amount of data we are offering to our customers, within each of
our price brackets, due to various factors, including competitive pressure in relation to data offerings. If we
are unable to remain competitive in providing data services in the future, our business, prospects, results of
operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. Also see, “Risk Factors - We face intense
competition that may reduce our market share and lower our profits.” above
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Increased sharing of existing and new passive telecommunication infrastructure and increasing
competition in the tower infrastructure services industry may create pricing pressures that may adversely
affect us. Our African Subsidiaries place reliance on various tower companies for their passive
infrastructure needs and change in contracts may impact business.

We believe that growth and demand for mobile telecommunication services in India will lead to an
increased impetus for the sharing and integration of passive telecommunications infrastructure such as
towers, poles, conduits and physical sites, as mobile telecommunication operators will increasingly need to
outsource their passive telecommunication infrastructure needs as high speed data transfer becomes more
commonplace. There can be no assurance, however, that Indian telecommunication operators will not
increasingly share existing and new passive telecommunication infrastructure constructed by other Indian
telecommunication operators, other existing telecommunication infrastructure companies or their
respective affiliates, which could adversely affect our tower infrastructure services business and
consequently our financial condition, cash flows and prospects.

In addition, if BSNL and MTNL, large wireless service providers in India, were to begin to engage in
significant amounts of site sharing with other operators or otherwise offer tower infrastructure services
sharing availability, this could create a significant new competitor to our tower infrastructure services
business.

Our tower infrastructure services business currently faces competition principally from:

¢ Indian wireless communication operators that share their own tower infrastructure services with other
carriers;

¢ Indian power transmission operators such as Power Grid Corporation of India Limited, who may let
their existing infrastructure be utilized by wireless telecommunication service providers;

¢ International, national and regional tower infrastructure services companies, including joint ventures
formed by other wireless communication operators;

o Site development companies that purchase antenna space on existing towers for wireless carriers and
manage new tower site construction; and

e Public sector entities such as the Indian railway authority, which have a dedicated telecommunications
infrastructure arm and offer mass communication facilities to cellular and broadcast operators.

Competitive pricing pressures for customers from these competitors could adversely affect our tower
infrastructure services business growth prospects and revenue. With the merger of the telecom operators
Vodafone and Idea, the telecommunications industry in India is consolidating and has a limited number of
wireless telecommunications service providers. This has led to a substantial percentage of tower companies
revenues being attributable to a small number of customers. If we lose customers in this space due to
pricing pressures or otherwise, we may not be able to find new customers, which may have an adverse
effect on our profitability and cash flows. Increasing competition in this business could also make the
acquisition of high quality tower assets, and securing the rights to land for our towers, more costly.
Competition can also lead to the inability to gain new customers. We cannot therefore assure you that we
will be able to successfully compete within this increasingly competitive business sector.

In accordance with its “asset-light” strategy, during 2015-16, our Company, through its subsidiaries in
Africa divested over 10,000 towers to independent tower companies namely Helios Towers Africa, Eaton
Towers Limited and American Towers Corporation.

Our African Subsidiaries entered in to agreements for leasing of towers at long term contracts with various
tower companies. We cannot assure that the agreements will always be entered on most favorable terms
with such tower companies as compared to lease rates offered by other tower companies. Further, we
cannot assure that our Subsidiaries will be able to renew such agreements, at the terms beneficial to them.
Further, ability to provide high quality and commercially viable mobile telecommunications services
depends on robust network and infrastructure. Third party tower companies are responsible to running and
maintenance of the network. Our Subsidiaries or we have no direct control over the quality of the networks
and the interconnections provided by such third party tower companies. Any difficulties or delays in
providing the reliable infrastructure services by such tower companies, or the failure of any operator to
provide reliable services to our Subsidiaries on a consistent basis, could result in loss of subscribers or a
decrease in traffic, which could adversely affect our Company’s business, prospects, financial condition,
reputation, cash flows and results of operations. Third-party vendors may in future increase charges or
renegotiate prices or we may not be able to renew contracts at terms commercially acceptable to us or at
all. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations.
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Decrease in demand for tower space could materially and adversely affect our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Our subsidiary, Bharti Infratel, is engaged in the business of building, acquiring, owning and operating
tower and related infrastructure and providing access to these towers primarily to wireless
telecommunications service providers. Factors adversely affecting the demand for tower space in India in
general, and space on towers operated by providers such as Bharti Infratel in particular, would adversely
affect its operating results. Such factors could include:

e ageneral deterioration in the financial condition of mobile telecommunications service providers due to
declining tariffs, media convergence or other factors;

e adecrease in the ability and willingness of mobile telecommunications service providers to maintain or
increase capital expenditures;

e a decrease in the growth rate of mobile telecommunications or of a particular segment of the wireless
communications sector;

e adverse developments with respect to auctioning of spectrum by the Gol and changes in
telecommunications regulations;

e mergers or consolidations among mobile telecommunications operators and shutting down the business
by some telecom operators, which have resulted in reduced average sharing factor for co-locations on
our towers during the nine months ended December 31, 2018, as compared with fiscal 2018;

e increased use of network sharing, roaming or resale arrangements by mobile telecommunications
service providers amongst themselves;

o deteriorating financial condition and access to capital by mobile telecommunications service providers;

e changing strategy of mobile telecommunications service providers with respect to owning or sharing
tower infrastructure services;

o adverse developments with regard to zoning, environmental, health and other government regulations;

¢ technological changes; and

e general economic conditions.

The tower infrastructure services business and the growth thereof is based on the premise that the
subscriber base for wireless telecommunications services in India will grow at a rapid pace and that Indian
wireless service providers have, to a certain degree, adopted the tower infrastructure services sharing
model. If the Indian wireless telecommunications services market does not grow or grows at a slower rate
than we expect, or the behaviors of market players do not meet our current expectations, the demand for
tower infrastructure and its growth prospects will be adversely affected, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

We are in the process of completing a merger among Indus Towers with Bharti Infratel, pursuant to
which, our shareholding in Bharti Infratel (“Indus Merger”) will stand reduced, ranging from 33.8% -
37.2%, which is dependent upon, (i) all cash election, or (ii) all shares election by Idea and Providence
and consequently, Bharti Infratel will not continue to be our Subsidiary. Accordingly, our future
financial results may not be comparable with our historical financial statements, including the Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Draft Letter of Offer.

Prior to the Indus Merger, we consolidated the results of operations of Bharti Infratel and its subsidiary on
a line-by-line basis, to the extent of our shareholding in Bharti Infratel. Following completion of the Indus
Merger, our shareholding in Bharti Infratel (post completion of Indus Merger, in Indus Towers) will be
reduced to a range between 33.8% - 37.2%, dependent upon (i) all cash election, or (ii) all shares election
by Idea and Providence. Consequently, our interest in Bharti Infratel (post completion of Indus Merger, in
Indus Towers) will not be consolidated on a line-by-line basis once the Indus Merger is approved by the
DoT and becomes effective. This change in accounting method will have an impact on the presentation of
our financial statements and results of operations and consequently, our future financial statements will not
be comparable with our historical financial statements, including the Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this Draft Letter of Offer. For more details, see “History and Corporate Structure —
Details regarding material mergers, demergers and amalgamation — Scheme of amalgamation and
arrangement between Indus Towers and Bharti Infratel” on page 101.
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We may be unable to effectively manage our growth and derive the anticipated synergies or efficiencies
from mergers and acquisition arrangements.

Our growth, including by way of mergers with Telenor, Bharti Digital and on-going arrangements with
TTSL, TTML and TNL, is expected to place significant demands on our management and operational
resources. In order to manage growth effectively, we must implement and improve operational systems,
procedures and internal controls on a timely basis. If we fail to do so, or if there are any weaknesses in our
internal control and monitoring systems that would result in inconsistent internal standard operating
procedures, we may not be able to service our clients’ needs, hire, train and retain employees, pursue new
business opportunities or operate our existing and future business effectively. Failure to effectively manage
new site construction for towers or properly budget or accurately estimate operational and other costs,
which could result in delays in executing client contracts, trigger service level penalties, or cause our profit
margins to not meet expectations or historical profit margins. Our inability to execute our growth strategy
or to manage our planned business expansion effectively could have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Further, merger of our subsidiary, Bharti Infratel with the Indus Towers is ongoing, has received approval
of Competition Commission of India and stock exchanges, and is at second motion stage of National
Company Law Tribunal. We cannot assure you that the merger of aforesaid tower companies will be
approved. In the event the merger is not approved, our Company may not be able to successfully integrate a
large tower company and the current structure of two parallel companies may continue to exist, which may
be sub-optimal. Failure to merge the tower companies may have an impact on stock price of Bharti Infratel
and we may not be able to realize the expected strategic and/or operational benefits from the merger. We
also could experience difficulty in combining operations and cultures and may not realise the anticipated
synergies or efficiencies from such transaction, should the transaction be consummated.

Our reputation and business may be harmed and we may be subject to legal claims if there is loss,
disclosure or misappropriation of or access to our subscribers’ or our own information or other
breaches of our information security.

We make extensive use of online services and centralized data processing services, including through third-
party service providers. The secure maintenance and transmission of subscriber information is an important
element of our operations. Our information technology and other systems, or those of service providers,
that maintain and transmit subscriber information may be compromised by a malicious third-party
penetration of our network security, or that of a third-party service provider, or impacted by advertent or
inadvertent actions or inactions by our employees, or those of a third-party service provider.

In addition, third-party service providers and we process and maintain our proprietary business information
and personal data related to our subscribers or suppliers. Our information technology and other systems
that maintain and transmit this information, or those of third party service providers, may also be
compromised by a malicious third-party penetration of our network security or that of a third-party service
provider, or impacted by intentional or inadvertent actions or inactions by our employees or those of a
third-party service provider. As a result of any of these risks, our business information, or subscriber or
supplier data may be lost, disclosed, accessed or taken without consent.

Any major compromise of our data or network security, failure to prevent or mitigate the loss of our
services or any subscriber information and delays in detecting any such compromise or loss could disrupt
our operations, damage our reputation and subscribers’ willingness to purchase our service and subject us
to additional costs and liabilities, including litigation. For instance, we are, from time to time, involved in
legal disputes initiated by customers alleging fraudulent access of their data by third parties without their
consent and there can be no assurance that we will be successful in contesting any or all of these disputes.
Should we be held liable in a large number of these disputes, our reputation, business and operations may
be adversely affected.

The Airtel Africa Group could experience breaches in privacy laws and other information security
requirements, which may materially adversely affect its reputation, lead to subscriber lawsuit or, loss of
subscribers or hinder its ability to gain new subscribers. Further, if severe customer data security breaches
are detected, the relevant regulatory authority could sanction one or more of our subsidiaries forming part
of the Airtel Africa Group, and such sanctions could include a temporary suspension of operations. These
factors, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
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Any inability on our part to protect our rights to the land on which our tower sites are located could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

To install our active network infrastructure, which is necessary for us to carry on our business, we obtain a
substantial amount of space for physical infrastructural towers from Infrastructure Providers (“IPS”)
pursuant to commercial agreements. IPs take the right to use the land and property on which the towers are
located under commercial contract with the landlord. In general, these lease arrangements are for periods
ranging between 10 and 20 years.

A loss of any IP interests or right to use over the land / property, including an IP’s actual non-compliance
with the terms of these contracts, termination thereof, or the IP’s inability to secure renewal thereof on
commercially reasonable terms when they expire, could interfere with our ability to operate our active
network infrastructure and generate revenues.

Moreover, IPs may not own the land underlying their infrastructure towers, and any dispute between IPs
and the owners of land on which infrastructure towers are located may force IPs to relocate certain towers.
Any such change or disruption in the infrastructure portfolio may have an adverse effect on our ability to
maintain our network and generate revenues. The cost to IPs of relocating our active network infrastructure
is significant. IPs may not be able to pass these costs on to their customers and any such relocation could
cause significant disruption to our customers. For various reasons, IPs may not always have the ability to
access, analyze and verify all information regarding titles and other issues prior to entering into contracts in
respect of its sites, which may lead to litigation for eviction against certain IPs, and consequently us, from
such lands and properties.

Our Subsidiary, Bharti Infratel, has been named as a party to several litigation proceedings relating to the
rentals of private land by it for its towers. Most of these proceedings pertain to disputes regarding the
ownership of the lessors of these parcels of lands or the ability to use such land for installing towers, as
well as suits for permanent and mandatory injunctions and determination of leases. Our inability to protect
our rights with respect to such lands and properties on which our active network infrastructure is located
could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results
of operations.

In Africa, disagreements with local communities with respect to existing or proposed tower sites in which
the Airtel Africa Group operates could adversely impact the Airtel Africa Group’s business and reputation.

Actual or perceived health risks or other problems relating to mobile handsets or transmission and/or
network infrastructure could lead to litigation or decreased mobile communications usage.

The effects of any damage caused by exposure to an electromagnetic field have been and continue to be the
subject of careful evaluations by the international scientific community, but to date there is no conclusive
scientific evidence of harmful effects on health. However, we cannot rule out that exposure to
electromagnetic fields or other emissions originating from wireless handsets or transmission infrastructure
is not, or will not be found to be, a health risk.

Our costs could increase and revenue could decrease due to perceived health risks from radio emissions,
especially if these perceived risks are substantiated. Public perception of potential health risks associated
with cellular and other wireless communications media could slow the growth of wireless companies such
as ours. In particular, negative public perception of, and regulations regarding, these perceived health risks
could slow the market acceptance of wireless communications services, which could materially restrict our
ability to expand our business. Such perception could also increase opposition to the development and
expansion of tower infrastructure sites, which could force Bharti Infratel, and other IPs that we rely on, and
consequently, us, to relocate existing sites, which could adversely impact our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The potential connection between radio frequency emissions and certain negative health effects has been
the subject of substantial study by the scientific community in recent years, and numerous health related
lawsuits have been filed against wireless carriers and wireless device manufacturers in various
jurisdictions. In India, petitions have also been filed against the installation of towers near residential areas,
schools, hospitals and playgrounds owing to concerns relating to the adverse effects of electromagnetic
radiation. Beginning September 1, 2012 (and now superseded by regulations notified in June 2018), the
DoT has implemented new standards in relation to electromagnetic radiation emitted by towers as well as
mobile handsets. The DoT has also issued new guidelines to all states in India with regard to clearance for
installation of mobile towers. Further, the Rajasthan High Court had, pursuant to orders dated August 22,
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2012 and November 27, 2012, directed the removal of mobile towers from school, college, and hospital
premises and also ordered to remove mobile towers falling within 500 meters of jails, as they were
suspected to be containing potentially hazardous radiation. We and other telecommunication operators
challenged these orders before the Supreme Court of India. Similar orders could be passed against us in
other such matters pending before other fora. If a scientific study resulted in a finding that radio frequency
emissions posed health risks to consumers, it could negatively impact the market for wireless
communications services, which would adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations, cash
flows and financial condition.

Actual or perceived health risks or other problems relating to the use of mobile handsets or network
transmissions or infrastructure could lead to litigation or decreased mobile communications usage. This
could negatively impact the market for wireless services, as well as the Airtel Africa Group’s wireless
carrier customers, which could materially and adversely affect the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results
of operations, financial condition and prospects

Current and future antitrust and competition laws in the countries in which we operate may limit our
growth and subject us to antitrust and other investigations or legal proceedings.

The antitrust and competition laws and related regulatory policies in many of the countries in which we
operate generally favor increased competition in the telecommunications industry and may prohibit us from
making further acquisitions or continuing to engage in particular practices to the extent that we hold a
significant market share in such countries.

In addition, violations of such laws and policies could expose us to administrative proceedings, civil
lawsuits or criminal prosecution, including fines and imprisonment, and to the payment of punitive
damages.

Regulators are particularly focused on establishing rules and a regulatory framework for interconnection
between mobile networks and between fixed and mobile networks, including mobile termination (i.e., the
ability of a telecommunications provider to terminate a call on another operator’s network or place a call
between networks) and the related pricing mechanisms (i.e., mobile termination rates). Decisions by any of
our relevant regulators requiring us to provide mobile termination and interconnection services well below
current rates, including the recent change in India’s mobile termination rates from 14 paise to six paise that
was made effective from October 1, 2017, and further to zero with effect from January 1, 2020, could
prevent us from realizing a significant amount of revenue and have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

In addition, antitrust and competition laws are subject to change and existing or future laws may be
implemented or enforced in a manner that is materially detrimental to us. We cannot predict the effect that
current or any future lawsuits, appeals or investigations by regulatory bodies or by any third party in any of
the countries in which we operate will have on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of
operations. For instance, Reliance JIO had approached the Competition Commission of India (“CCI”)
alleging cartelisation by Cellular Operators Association of India (“COAI”) and certain telecom operators,
i.e., being, our Company, Idea Cellular and VVodafone India. While the CCI directed investigation in the
matter, the Bombay High Court and subsequently, the Supreme Court have reversed the findings of the
CCI and the plea of Reliance JIO on the grounds that CCI was not eligible to decide upon certain
preliminary issues pertaining to jurisdiction, involved in the matter, which was solely vested with the
relavant authorities under the TRAI Act. However, the Supreme Court has upheld the powers of the CClI on
adjudicating upon matters pertaining to the telecom industry subject to the determination by the authorities
under the TRAI Act.

There can be no assurance that we will not be involved in antitrust or competition related lawsuits in the
future, which may cause us material losses and require us to incur significant expenses and significantly
divert the time and attention of our management from our operations. In addition, fines, or other penalties
imposed on us, if any, by an antitrust or competition authority as a result of any such investigation, or any
prohibition on us engaging in certain types of business in one or more markets in which we operate, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.
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Compliance with subscriber verification norms, know your client (“KYC”) regulations and data privacy
norms may require us to incur significant expenditure, which may adversely impact our financial
condition and cash flows.

Regulators are introducing stringent subscriber verification and KYC guidelines, including biometric
verification and quality of KYC documents. We are required to comply with KYC requirements and
processes in relation to our customers as per applicable Indian law. If we are unable to develop, maintain
and update customer information in accordance with applicable KYC norms or are unable to prevent the
misuse of our services, we may be held liable for non-compliance with governmental regulations. In a
recent judgment, the Supreme Court upheld the constitutional validity of ‘Aadhaar’ and has simultaneously
restricted its use by private entities for verification of the identity of the mobile phone users and limited the
use of Aadhaar for social welfare schemes of Gol. Telecom service operators like us had built their
electronic KYC authentication systems around the biometric database of Aadhaar. Restrictions on usage of
Aadhaar by the Supreme Court has led to us requiring to revamp and rework the process and infrastructure
for verification of customers for ensuring KYC compliance, from online verification system based on
Aadhaar to the alternate modes of verification, which has had substantial cost implications on our business
and operations. Alternate mode of KYC verification could be expensive, time consuming and onerous for
us for the compliance with data privacy norms.

We are subject to data privacy laws, rules and regulations that regulate the use of customer data.
Compliance with these laws, rules and regulations may restrict our business activities, require us to incur
increased expense and devote considerable time to compliance efforts. The existing and emerging data
privacy regulations limit the extent to which we can use personal identifiable information and limit our
ability to use third-party firms in connection with customer data. Certain of these laws, rules and
regulations are relatively new and their interpretation and application remain uncertain. Data privacy laws,
rules and regulations are also subject to change and may become more restrictive in the future. For
instance, the Personal Data Protection Bill, 2018 (“PDP Bill”) applies to processing of personal data,
which has been collected, disclosed, shared or processed within India. It imposes restrictions and
obligations on data fiduciaries, resulting from dealing with personal data and further, provides for levy of
penalties for breach of obligations prescribed under the PDP Bill. Changes or further restrictions in data
privacy laws, rules and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations. The cost and operational consequences of implementing further data protection
measures could be significant and this may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

If the broadcasters who provide signal input to our DTH business for the provision of their
programming encounter any technical failures, our business, financial condition and results of
operations may be adversely affected.

In order to successfully operate our business, we depend on third-party broadcasters for the input of signals
to provide us with their programming. If such broadcasters encounter technical failures in the provision of
such input, we may be unable to provide uninterrupted programming offerings to our subscribers or the
audiovisual quality of such programming may be reduced. If we are unable to provide our programming as
a result of such technical failures, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be
adversely affected.

We significantly rely on IT infrastructure, and we are required to develop and maintain our internal IT
infrastructure, which if not properly managed, could result in disruption of critical internal services
and as a result, adversely affect our operations.

We are significantly dependent on effective IT systems for our business and operations. These systems
including software, support key business functions such as research and development and billing
capabilities and are an important means of internal communication and communication with customers and
suppliers. Any significant disruption of these IT systems or the failure of new IT systems to integrate with
existing IT systems or failure to upgrade or maintain existing IT systems, could materially and adversely
affect our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and our ability to
deliver on business targets and to maintain our compliance status and reputation.
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For the nine months ended December 31, 2018, we generated approximately 72% of our revenues from
our operations in 10 telecom circles in India, as per TRAI reports and any adverse developments
affecting our operations in these 10 telecom circles would have an adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

For nine months ended December 31, 2018, we generated approximately 72% of our revenues from our
operations in 10 telecom circles in India primarily comprising Delhi and Mumbai metropolitan cities and
the states of Karnataka, Andhra Pradesh, Tamil Nadu, Bihar, Uttar Pradesh (E) , Rajasthan, Maharashtra
and Madhya Pradesh, as per TRAI reports (based on gross revenue).

The concentration of our operations in these telecom circles heightens our exposure to adverse
developments in such circles, such as those related to competition, market demand and economic,
demographic and other changes, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. For risks related to expiry of our ULs for these and other telecom
circles where we operate, see “Risk Factors - Our telecommunication licenses, permits and frequency
allocations are subject to finite terms and any failure or delay in renewal of licenses could adversely affect
our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flow and results of operations” above.

Poor quality of network and information technology including redundancies and disaster recoveries can
adversely affect our business, prospects and results of operations.

Our operations and assets are spread across wide geographies. The telecom networks are subject to risks of
technical failures, partner failures, human errors, or wilful acts or natural disasters. Equipment delays and
failures, spare shortages, energy or fuel shortages, software errors, fibre cuts, lack of redundancy paths,
weak disaster recovery fall-back, and partner staff absenteeism, among others are few examples of how
network failures happen. Our Information Technology (“IT”) systems are critical to run the customer
facing and market-facing operations, besides running internal systems. In many geographies or telecom
circles, the quality of IT connectivity is sometimes erratic or unreliable, which affects the delivery of
services, such as, recharges, customer query, distributor servicing, customer activation, and billing. Natural
calamities such as tropical cyclones “Titli” in Odisha and Andhra Pradesh, heavy floods in Kerala and
north eastern states in 2018 have, in the past, disrupted telecommunications network and have resulted in
network downtime. Further, such calamities have also led to increased costs and expenses being incurred
on the repair and rework of the IT systems.

In several developing countries, the quality of IT staff is rudimentary, leading to instances of failures of IT
systems and / or delays in recoveries. The systems landscape is ever changing due to newer versions,
upgrades and ‘patches’ for innovations, price changes, among others. Hence, the dependence on IT staff for
turnaround of such projects is immense.

We have a technologically advanced Network Operations Centre for both India as well as Africa to monitor
real time network activity and to take proactive and immediate action to ensure maximum uptime of
network. Network planning is increasingly being done in-house, to ensure that intellectual control on
architecture is retained with our Company. However, if we are not able to cope with the network failures
effectively, it may materially adversely impact our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and
results of operations.

Our Company may be subject to additional regulations regarding net neutrality, which could adversely
affect our Company business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

In September 2018, DoT amended the terms of Unified License (UL), UL (VNO) agreement, ‘Cellular
Mobile Telephone Service’ license agreement and UAS license agreement to include the regulatory
framework on ‘Net Neutrality’. Pursuant to these amendments, the telecom licensees are not permitted to
engage in discriminatory treatment of content, including any discrimination based on the sender or receiver
or the user equipment. The licensees have been expressly prohibited from entering into any arrangement or
agreement with any person that has the effect of discriminatory treatment of content. However, these
provisions do not apply on specialized services provided by a licensee required that specialized services are
not usable or offered as a replacement for internet access services and provision of specialized services is
not detrimental to availability and overall quality of internet access service. Restrictions contemplated
under regime of net neutrality may be adverse to the telecommunication operators’ interests, and it may
impair our Company’s ability to offer innovative services and products and could adversely affect our
Company’s business and operations.
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Our Company deploys and manages passive infrastructure pertaining to telecom operations through its
subsidiary, Bharti Infratel, which are required to obtain certain licenses and permits which are diverse
and may be difficult to obtain, and once obtained, may be amended or revoked or may not be renewed.

The roll out of towers requires approvals from various state/local authorities, including no-objection
certificates from the local or municipal authorities, environmental approvals from the pollution control
boards for operating diesel generator sets (beyond a certain load) etc. These licenses are subject to review,
interpretation, modification or termination by the relevant authorities. Further, the delay in implementation
and adoption of uniform national policy issued by DoT i.e., right of way rules, 2016 (“RoW”), across
different states, for granting permission to deploy towers, has resulted in local civic authorities/state
governments often creating ad hoc, overlapping policies, imposition of exorbitant charges beyond the
amounts prescribed in the RoW and delay in granting the permission to deploy towers. As a result, these
policies vary widely across civic authorities and from state to state, comprising different terms and
conditions, policies, annual fees, tariff bases, local taxes, levies and differing environmental standards.

Our Company and Bharti Infratel applies for various approvals from various authorities as and when they
are due for renewal. There can be no assurance that the relevant authorities will issue such permits,
approvals to our Company and Bharti Infratel or that they will be issued in a timely manner or as expected.
Further, these permits and approvals are subject to conditions and we cannot assure you that our Company
or Bharti Infratel will be able to meet these conditions on an ongoing basis, which may lead to cancellation,
revocation or suspension of the relevant permits, or approvals. Failure on our Company’s or Bharti
Infratel’s part to renew, maintain or obtain the required permits, or approvals may result in the interruption
of their operations and may have a material adverse impact on their business. We cannot assure you that
the relevant authorities will not take any action or impose any conditions in relation to such licenses that
could materially and adversely affect our operations and business. In addition, if our Company or Bharti
Infratel is unable to obtain certain of these approvals and permits, it may be required to seek alternative
sites and incur considerable effort and expense where a suitable alternative tower is not available.

Our subsidiary, Airtel Payments Bank Limited (“APBL”) requires certain approvals, licenses,
registrations and are required to comply with certain statutory regulations and guidelines issued by
Reserve Bank of India (“RBI) to conduct the business of Payments Bank.

APBL obtained payment banking license from RBI on April 11, 2016 and commenced its operation on
November 23, 2016. APBL currently provides savings account, semi-closed prepaid payment instrument
and remittance services to its customers. As per applicable RBI guidelines, APBL cannot directly
undertake lending activities but can offer savings and current account, issue prepaid wallets, offer
remittance products and distribute non-risk sharing financial products such as insurance, mutual funds etc.
If APBL fails to meet such conditions, or to comply with the terms of the license or conducts its business
activities in a manner contrary to or in violation of the prevailing statutory regulations and guidelines by
RBI, its license could be revoked along with the imposition of financial penalties, which would materially
and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. We have in the
past been subject to restrictions and penalties imposed by the UIDAI and RBI alleging that we had opened
bank accounts for customers without their specific consent. While these restrictions have now been
removed, our Company and APBL have been directed to ensure continuous compliance with the applicable
provisions of law and the AUA Agreement, failing which, we face the risk of suspension of our e-KYC
license key or our banking license and/or imposition of further penalties, all of which will have a material
adverse impact on our payments bank business. If the license is revoked or if APBL fails to obtain or renew
the required license, or if it fail to comply with any of the regulations and guidelines applicable, it may not
be able to continue to offer payments bank services, which would adversely affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which could harm the value of our
brand and services and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows and prospects.

Our business is dependent upon successfully protecting our intellectual property — including but not limited
to our trademarks, copyright and patents. As part of our efforts towards ensuring their protection, we have
successfully applied for and registered several trademarks including the word mark AIRTEL and its

variations and formatives including its various logo marks such as airtet. We have over 200 registered
trademarks including word marks, logos and device marks in various classes in India in addition to several
pending trademark applications pending registration. We do not have any control over the registration of a
trademark and a pending mark may not be granted registration for various reasons including being
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descriptive, non-distinctive or similar to a prior trademark. Furthermore, a pending trademark may also be
opposed by third parties that claim to have similar marks. Such actions are not within our control and can
severely impact business and may result in requirement to undertake rebranding exercises, all of which
result in additional costs for our Company and could also impact our reputation. A party could also proceed
against a registered trademark and request for its cancellation on various grounds which include bad faith
use and non-use for a period of five years from grant of registration.

Generating and maintaining recognition for our brand is critical to our business. The success of our
business depends on our ability to use our trademarks in order to compete effectively in our existing
markets and increase penetration and awareness for our brand and further promote our business in newer
markets. If we are unable to maintain or enhance subscriber awareness of our brand and generate demand
in a cost-effective manner, it would adversely affect our ability to compete in the telecommunications
industry and would have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Our Company routinely monitors third party trademarks, including domain names, by watching trade
marks journals for advertised marks and keeps a check on the use of its trademarks on the internet.
However, it is possible that our Company is not aware of misuse of its trade marks as a domain name due
to the sheer volume of domain names. This could potentially cause loss of reputation of our Company,
which could impact our business and may even affect our goodwill.

While we have sought to register most of the trademarks that we use or have used in the past, even if these
trademarks are not registered, those that have garnered a reputation over the years and are associated with
us are protected under common law allowing us to prevent a third party from using a deceptively similar
trademark. This, however, is subject to us taking action against such a third party trademark and proving
that our trademark while unregistered is associated exclusively with us. A third party mark being
deceptively similar and its use will result in a loss/injury to our Company. Such an action can also become
a lengthy and costly exercise for our Company and may not always be in favour of our Company. While
for registered trademarks, we are adequately protected because of the statutory protection afforded against
similar marks being used /registered for similar goods and services, we may not be able to adequately
protect unregistered marks that are not as well recognized.

Our logos are protected under copyright laws as artistic works from the date of publication of the logos. A
similar right is also granted to our literary works, including software programmes, under copyright laws
from the date of their publication. However, copyright may not provide adequate protection to artistic or
literary works and we may not be able to protect our copyright works or prevent their infringement solely
on the basis of copyright. Additionally, we may be required to litigate to protect these works, which may
increase our costs and operational expenditure. These events could have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

We have also filed several patent applications, however, none of these patents have been granted
registration yet and their registration is beyond our control. There is a possibility that registration of such
patents might not be granted which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospect and
results of operations. In the event that a prior patent exists we may also be subject to patent infringement
claims which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations. We could also potentially face similar claims for design infringement in the
event that we are using an industrial design that has already been registered by a third party.

While we have taken and will continue to take protective actions with respect to our intellectual property,
these actions may not be sufficient to prevent, and we may not be aware of all incidents of, unauthorized
usage or imitation by others. Moreover, other parties may challenge the validity, scope and protection of
our intellectual property. Any such unauthorized usage or imitation of our intellectual property, including
the costs related to enforcing our rights, could adversely affect our business and results of operations. Our
intellectual property rights are fundamental to our brand and we believe the strength of our brand gives us a
competitive advantage. We use our intellectual property rights to protect the goodwill of our brand,
promote our brand name, enhance our competitiveness and otherwise support our business goals and
objectives. We cannot assure you that the steps we take to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual
property rights will be adequate, which could in turn materially and adversely affect our business and
prospects.

Additionally, we may not be aware of all intellectual property rights that our services or the products may
potentially infringe or pass off under common law. Certain of the services, products and technology
provided to us by our third party suppliers may utilize intellectual property belonging to other third-parties.
We cannot assure you that our suppliers will not infringe the intellectual property of third-parties by
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supplying us with their services, products or technology, or that our use of such services, products or
technology from these suppliers will not cause us to infringe the intellectual property rights of third-parties.
Therefore, there can be no assurance that our services or the products will not infringe a third party’s
intellectual property . While we may contest any claims brought forth against us, there can be no assurance
that a court will conclude that our services or the products do not violate the intellectual rights of third
parties. Further, there can be no assurance that we or our suppliers would be able to obtain licenses from
third-party owners of such intellectual property rights on commercially favorable terms or at all, and if we
were unable to obtain such licenses, that we or our suppliers would be able to redesign our services or the
products used to transmit or receive our services to avoid infringement. Any court-imposed penalties
relating to violations of third-party intellectual property rights could have a material and adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Bharti Group and the STI Group will continue to have certain privileges including the right to
approve certain corporate actions.

Bharti Group as defined under our Articles of Association, collectively means (i) Bharti Infotel Private
Limited and all of its indirect and direct Subsidiaries (“BIPL”), (ii) Bharti Overseas Private Limited and all
of its indirect and direct Subsidiaries (“BOPL”), (iii) Bharti Enterprises (“BE”), (iv) Bharti Telecom
Limited (“BTL”) and (v) our Company. Further, “STI Group” means Singapore Telecom International Pte
Ltd., Pastel Limited (“Pastel”), SingTel and any and all of SingTel’s direct or indirect Subsidiaries. By
virtue of our Articles of Association, certain rights and privileges have been granted to Bharti Group and
STI Group, including the right of refusal for investment opportunity, right to be considered as preferred
partner in India, right of BTL and Pastel to appoint the nominee directors on our Board, presence of
nominee of Pastel to constitute quorum for our Board meetings in which certain reserved matters are
proposed to be approved, and the approval of Pastel for such reserved matters, which includes, among
other things, any changes to our Articles of Association or Memorandum of Association, approval of any
merger or amalgamation of our Company or Subsidiaries , the creation, allotment, variation, reorganisation
or issue of our share capital other than by way of public issue or rights issue, and/or grant of loan to our
Company or Subsidiaries above a specific threshold, among others. There could be a possibility of a time
lag in obtaining the requisite consents for such reserved matters thereby, at times, adversely impacting our
ability to monetize a business opportunity in the event the requisite approvals are obtained with a delay or
are not obtained. Also, the STI Group has a right of first refusal with respect to an opportunity, business or
venture in which such entities of Bharti Group, which hold any Equity Shares in our Company, proposes to
procure or seek an investment from a telecom operator. Further, with regard to transfer of Equity Shares,
both the STI Group and Bharti Group have mutual tag-along and drag-along rights. Also, members of the
Bharti Group and the STI Group have certain non-compete restrictions in connection with our domestic
long-distance telecommunications operations, corporate data network service business, and mobile
business.

While we have enjoyed a very productive partnership with the STI Group since their acquisition of certain
Equity Shares in the year 2000, events in future cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty. In the
event of a conflict of interest, in future, between Bharti Group and STI Group, there could be an adverse
effect on our ability to execute our business strategy or operate our business and may have a material
adverse effect on our operations.

Our contingent liabilities could adversely affect our financial condition if they materialize.

We have created provisions for certain contingent liabilities in our Financial Statements. There can be no
assurance that we will not incur similar or increased levels of contingent liabilities in the current Fiscal or
in the future and that our existing contingent liabilities will not have material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. For further details in relation to our contingent
liabilities, please see the sections titled “Financial Statements — Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements — Note 9 — Contingent liabilities and commitments” on page 253 and “Summary of Draft Letter

of Offer” on page 13.

Our funding requirements and proposed deployment of the Net Proceeds are based on management
estimates and have not been independently appraised, and may be subject to change based on various
factors, some of which are beyond our control.

Our funding requirements and deployment of the Net Proceeds are based on internal management estimates
based on current market conditions, and have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or
other independent agency. Furthermore, in the absence of such independent appraisal, our funding
requirements may be subject to change based on various factors which are beyond our control. For further
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details, please see the section titled “Objects of the Issue” on page 75.

Environmental and health regulation imposes additional costs and may affect the results of our
operations.

Our tower infrastructure and telecom business are subject to various national, state-level and municipal
environmental laws and regulations in India concerning issues such as damage caused by air emissions,
noise emissions and electromagnetic radiation. These laws can impose liability for non-compliance with
applicable regulations and are becoming more stringent with enforcing service quality standards and
levying related penalties and may in the future create substantial environmental compliance or remediation
liabilities and costs. While we intend to comply with applicable environmental legislation and regulatory
requirements and believe that we are materially in compliance with these as of today, it is possible that
such compliance may become costly. In addition to potential clean-up liability, we may become subject to
monetary fines and penalties for violation of applicable environmental laws, regulations or administrative
orders. This may also result in closure or temporary suspension or adverse restrictions on our operations.
We may also, in the future, become involved in proceedings with various regulatory authorities that may
require us to pay fines, comply with standards that are more rigorous or other requirements or incur capital
and operating expenses for environmental compliance. In addition, third-parties may sue us for damages
and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from its properties.

The discharge of materials that are chemical in nature or of other hazardous substances or other pollutants
into the air, soil or water may nevertheless cause us to be liable to the national governments or the state
governments where our towers are located, including India, Sri Lanka and throughout our operations in
Africa.

We, including the Airtel Africa Group are subject to health, safety and environmental laws and regulations
and industry standards related to the Airtel Africa Group’s operations in each of our operating countries.
The requirements of these laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and could become more
stringent in the future, including new laws and regulations that may increase the cost of operating the real
estate sites underlying the Airtel Africa towers above currently expected levels and require substantial
future capital and other expenditures. The effect of any future laws and regulations or industry standards or
any changes to existing laws and regulations or industry standards, or their current interpretation, could
have a material adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operation, financial
condition and prospects.

Our ability to operate our business effectively could be impaired if we fail to attract and retain key
personnel.

Our ability to operate our business and implement our strategy depends, in part, on the continued
contributions of our executive officers and other key employees. . The loss of any of our key senior
executives could have an adverse effect on our business unless and until a replacement is found. A limited
number of persons exist with the requisite experience and skills to serve in our senior management
positions. We may not be able to locate or employ qualified executives on acceptable terms. In addition, we
believe that our future success will depend on its continued ability to attract and retain highly skilled
personnel with experience in the key business areas in which we operate. Competition for such persons is
intense and we may not be able to successfully recruit, train or retain qualified managerial personnel.

There can be no assurance that we will attract and retain skilled and experienced employees and, should we
fail to do so, or lose any of our key personnel, our business and growth prospects may be harmed and our
cash flows, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Similarly, the Airtel Africa Group’s success relies on its central and local management team and other
highly skilled personnel. The Airtel Africa Group’s ability to maintain its competitive position and to
implement its business strategy relies on the continued services of its executive officers and other members
of senior management, both at the Airtel Africa’s Group level and at its key operating subsidiaries. The
Airtel Africa Group’s inability to successfully integrate, recruit, train, retain and motivate key skilled
employees could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects. The Airtel Africa Group depends on good relations with its employees, and any significant
labour disputes or work stoppages may materially adversely affect its business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.
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Our business relies on sophisticated billing, credit control systems, and any problems with these systems
could interrupt its operations.

Sophisticated billing and credit control systems are critical to our ability to increase revenue streams, avoid
revenue losses, monitor costs, potential credit problems, and bill customers properly and in a timely
manner. New technologies and applications are expected to create increasing demands on billing and credit
control systems. Any damage or interruptions in operation or failure of servers, which are used for our
billing and credit control systems, could result in an interruption in our operations, and this in turn could
materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.

We are dependent on several complex software packages that record minutes used, calculate the
appropriate charge and then deduct the amount due from the account of the pre-paid subscriber or record
the amount payable by the relevant post-paid subscriber. Any failure to properly capture the services
provided or to charge the appropriate amount could have an adverse effect on our revenue. While no
system or process can ensure total capture and some loss of income is common, if such leakages with
respect to revenue determination increase, or are higher than those of our competitors, then our business
and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Similarly, we are also dependent on several sophisticated processes for our customer verification and
activation services. Our customer verification and activation function ensures that all necessary documents
are procured from pre-paid customers at the time of subscription in compliance with regulatory
requirements in relation to verification of the identity of our customers. The DoT has issued guidelines in
November 2012 for the verification of customers, containing a wide range of changes to customer
activation processes, disconnection and other related matters. There are outstanding proceedings initiated
against us for undertaking inadequate KYC, which may be adjudicated against us, resulting in us incurring
penalties.

In the event regulatory agencies direct us to release certain customer data and records in accordance with
applicable law and upon analyzing such information, it is alleged that we did not maintain acceptable
internal processes for customer verification and activation, we may be subject to penalties and fines by
DoT or TRAI. Further, weak internal processes could adversely affect our market position, especially if
competitors have faster and better-coordinated systems for mobility subscriber activation.

Our Company has not independently verified the information pertaining to Joint Ventures and Associate
Companies.

Our Company has 15 Joint Ventures and Associate Companies. Such entities operate independently and we
are not involved in the day-to-day management of operations of our Joint Ventures and Associate
Companies. The information pertaining to Joint Ventures and Associate Companies, which is included in
this Draft Letter of Offer has not independently verified by our Company and is based on certificates,
confirmations, and representations received from such entities or from certificates received from an
independent chartered accountant.

Our funding requirements and proposed deployment of the Net Proceeds are based on management
estimates and have not been independently appraised, and may be subject to change based on various
factors, some of which are beyond our control.

Our funding requirements and deployment of the Net Proceeds are based on internal management estimates
based on current market conditions, and have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or
other independent agency. Further, in the absence of such independent appraisal, our funding requirements
may be subject to change based on various factors which are beyond our control. For details, see “Objects
of the Issue” on page 75.

Our Company is unable to trace certain litigation records pertaining to certain matters in which Airtel
Congo RDC S.A. is involved.

One of our subsidiaries in Africa, Airtel Congo RDC S.A., is involved in two litigations pertaining to (i)
excise duty, and (ii) action in protest against the debt and damages. Litigation documents in respect to
aforesaid two matters are not traceable in the Airtel Congo RDC S.A’s archive. Our Company has in spite
of searches undertaken on the tax and regulatory departments been unable to obtain copies of the respective
litigation documents from the appropriate authorities. We have obtained a legal opinion from an African
counsel wherein it has, amongst other things, been certified that they do not foresee any risk in these cases,
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inter-alia, on account of their not being any correspondences in the past few years. Accordingly, while we
believe that this shall not have any material impact on the long term operations of our Company or its
shareholders, we cannot assure you that these documents will be available in the future or that Airtel Congo
RDC S.A will be able to successfully contest the litigation before appropriate authorities.

Further, pursuant to the introduction of the New Telecom Policy 1999, the DoT has raised certain demands
against our Company between fiscals 2007 and 2015, based on calculation of AGR. However, we evaluate
the various AGR and special audit demands basis the merits of the case as determined based on the extant
laws and jurisprudence, applicable judicial orders/stays and consistency with its past views on similar
matters. Further, we re-assess any such matters in case of any change in the underlying facts, circumstances
(including the change in law or jurisprudence). Accordingly, we have disclosed the amount of demand
raised by the DoT included under the head of ‘contingent liability not provided for’ in the financial
statements of the Company as on December 31, 2018 in the section “Outstanding Litigation and Defaults —
Litigation involving our Company — Proceedings involving material violations of statutory regulations by
our Company” on page 269, and there can be no assurance that the actual demand imposed on us will not
be significantly higher than what we have provided for.

We have not determined whether we will be treated as, and may be treated as, a Passive Foreign
Investment Company (“PFIC”). If we are classified as a PFIC, there may be adverse federal income tax
consequences for U.S. investors.

We cannot determine with certainty, and have not determined, whether we will be treated as a PFIC for
U.S. federal income tax purposes for the current taxable year, and may not be able to make such a
determination in future years. It is possible that we may be considered to be a PFIC for the current or any
future year. The determination of whether we are a PFIC is a factual determination made annually based on
various facts and circumstances and thus is subject to change, and the principles and methodology used in
determining whether a company is a PFIC are subject to interpretation. In general, we will be classified as a
PFIC for any taxable year in which either (1) at least 75% of our gross income is passive income; or (2) at
least 50% of the value (determined on the basis of a quarterly average) of our assets is attributable to assets
that produce or are held for the production of passive income.

If we are classified as a PFIC in any year during which a U.S. investor owns our Rights Equity Shares and
Equity Shares, a U.S. investor will generally be subject to special rules (regardless of whether we continue
to be a PFIC) with respect to (i) any “excess distribution” (generally, any distributions received by the
U.S. holder on the Rights Equity Shares and Equity Shares in a taxable year that are greater than 125% of
the average annual distributions received by the U.S. investor in the three preceding taxable years or, if
shorter, the U.S. investor’s holding period for the Rights Equity Shares and Equity Shares); and (ii) any
gain realised on the sale or other disposition of the Rights Equity Shares and Equity Shares. Under these
rules (a) the excess distribution or gain will be allocated rateably over the U.S. investor’s holding period,
(b) the amount allocated to the current taxable year and any taxable year prior to the first taxable year in
which the Company is a PFIC will be taxed as ordinary income, and (c) the amount allocated to each of the
other taxable years will be subject to tax at the highest rate of tax in effect for the applicable class of
taxpayer for that year and an interest charge for the deemed deferral benefit will be imposed with respect to
the resulting tax attributable to each such other taxable year. If we are classified as a PFIC, a U.S. investor
holding the Rights Equity Shares and Equity Shares will generally be subject to similar rules with respect
to distributions to us by, and dispositions by us of the stock of, any direct or indirect subsidiaries of the
Company that are also PFICs.

Although a “qualified electing fund” election would mitigate some of the adverse tax consequences of
holding an equity interest in a PFIC, we do not intend to provide the information that would enable an
investor to make this election. However, if the Rights Equity Shares and Equity Shares are regularly traded
on a qualifying exchange, a U.S. investor can avoid the interest charge by making an election to recognise
gains on a mark to market basis. However, the mark to market election will not be available with respect to
direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Company that are PFICs unless the equity shares of such subsidiaries
are regularly traded on a qualifying exchange. U.S. investors are urged to consult their tax advisers about
the application of the PFIC rules to our Company and their equity interest therein.

Additional Risk Factors specific to Airtel Africa Group

44,

The Airtel Africa Group is reliant on local management to provide accurate and timely reporting.

The Airtel Africa Group’s business model emphasizes local decision-making and responsibility through a
decentralized organisational structure, in which local managing directors retain substantial autonomy
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regarding the management and oversight of operations in its local markets. As a result of such
decentralization, the Airtel Africa Group relies on local management for financial and other reporting
purposes. A failure of local management to report, a delay in reporting, or inaccurate reporting could lead
the Airtel Africa Group to omit to take decisions, or to take decisions on an uninformed basis or to report
inaccurate data.

Mobile money services in Africa are subject to a new and evolving regulatory environment.

In markets in which the Airtel Africa Group has launched or intends to launch Airtel Money services, the
regulations governing mobile money services are new and evolving and, as it develops, regulations could
become more onerous, either by imposing additional licensing, reporting, pricing or control requirements
or by limiting the Airtel Africa Group’s flexibility to design or implement new products, either of which
may limit its ability to provide mobile money services efficiently or at all. Any need to obtain licenses,
certifications or other regulatory approvals could impose substantial costs and involve considerable delay
to the provision or development of Airtel Money services in a given market, or could require significant
and costly operational changes or prevent the Airtel Africa Group from providing any services in a given
market, which could materially adversely affect its business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects.

Certain of the Airtel Africa Group’s operating subsidiaries are loss-making.

The Airtel Africa Group’s operating subsidiaries in Democratic Republic of Congo, Chad, Congo and
Gabon are regulated by the Organization for the Harmonization of Business Law in Africa (‘OHADA”), a
system of corporate law and implementing institutions adopted by 17 countries in west and central Africa.
OHADA promulgated the Uniform Act on Commercial Companies and Economic Interest Groups in April
1997 and adopted a revised version thereof in January 2014 (together, the “Uniform Act”), which
regulates the behaviour of commercial companies with a registered office in any country that is party to the
OHADA Treaty on the Harmonization of Business Law in Africa. Among other provisions, the Uniform
Act requires companies to maintain sharcholders’ equity levels corresponding to at least half of the
registered share capital in order to limit the risk of bankruptcy. Where an entity is non-compliant with this
requirement and fails to rectify any non-compliance within two years, any interested party can petition the
relevant court to seek the winding up of the entity.

The Airtel Africa Group’s primary operating subsidiaries in each of these countries, as well as Airtel
Money Congo RDC S.A. in DRC, are not in compliance with this requirement. Although each of these
entities has a shareholder loan in place, in each case which is in excess of the respective operating
subsidiaries’ negative reserves and which is convertible into equity, and although the Airtel Africa Group
has developed a strategy to effect the recapitalization of each non-compliant entity, there can be no
assurance that the subsidiaries’ respective third-party creditors will not initiate winding up procedures, or
that the shareholder loans can be converted into equity within the six-month curative period provided by
the Uniform Act.

The Airtel Africa Group operates a large distribution and channel partner network and is reliant on
good working relationships with its franchisees and other third-party distributors.

The Airtel Africa Group sells the majority of its services through physical locations across its footprint.
The distribution network comprises of over 19,000 exclusive Airtel Money branches, mini-shops and
kiosks, around 213,391 SIM selling outlets, 251,388 Airtel Money agents and over 1.6 million outlets
selling airtime. Over 90% of our new subscribers are acquired through this digital acquisition process
across our channels. Under certain arrangements, such as company-owned, franchisee-operated or
franchisee-owned, franchisee-operated retail outlets, the Airtel Africa Group is not the exclusive operator
of its retail points of sale. If franchisees fail to implement the Airtel Africa Group’s operational standards,
the Airtel Africa Group could be exposed to risk of fraud and money laundering, imposition of fines or
other penalties and potential reputational damage. Further, if franchisees decide to give preference to the
Airtel Africa Group’s competitors or cease to do business with the Airtel Africa Group, it could have a
material adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

Certain of the Airtel Africa Group’s operating subsidiaries are, or may in the future be, subject to local
listing or ownership requirements, which may be difficult or costly to comply with in a timely manner, or
at all, and which could make it harder for the Airtel Africa Group to achieve its strategic objectives or
which could otherwise have an adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group.
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In certain jurisdictions, the Airtel Africa Group may choose or be required due to legal requirements to
undertake a listing of all or some of the shares of the Airtel Africa Group’s operating subsidiaries on a local
stock exchange or be required to comply with local ownership requirements. Airtel Malawi Limited
(“Airtel Malawi”), the Airtel Africa Group's primary operating subsidiary in Malawi, must comply with a
similar requirement of at least 20% Malawian citizenship ownership (the “Malawian Citizenship
Ownership Requirement”) under the Communications Act of 2016 and the Communications
(Telecommunications and Broadcasting Licensing) Regulations of 2016, which required compliance with
the Malawian Citizenship Ownership Requirement by November 25, 2018, and of at least 25% Malawian
citizenship ownership under the listing rules of the Malawi Stock Exchange. The Airtel Africa Group is
taking all actions to comply with the Malawian Citizenship Ownership Requirement and continues to
engage with the regulators to comply with the requirements. The Malawian regulator has imposed a fine of
approximately US$620,000, which has been appealed given the good faith efforts the Airtel Africa Group
has undertaken to comply with the Malawian Citizenship Ownership Requirement. As on date, the appeal
remains under consideration by the relevant authorities. If the Airtel Africa Group fails to comply in a
timely manner with any of these requirements or in other jurisdictions into which a similar requirement is
introduced, it could be subject to fines, penalties (including criminal penalties), litigation and other
enforcement actions, including, in extreme cases, withdrawal of the applicable network facilities license,
which could have a material adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.

The Airtel Africa Group is dependent on interconnection with its competitors’ networks and associated
infrastructure as well as roaming arrangements with other international telecommunications operators.

Interconnection agreements allow the Airtel Africa Group to connect local, long distance and international
calls that originate on its networks but terminate on other operators’ networks, or vice versa. In the future,
the Airtel Africa Group may not be able to maintain or renew its interconnection agreements on a timely
basis or on terms that are commercially acceptable to it and any material increase in the interconnection
expenses could have a material adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Plc’s financial condition and the results
of operations.

The Airtel Africa Group is also dependent, to a lesser extent, upon roaming agreements with other
international telecommunications operators as a source of revenue when other telecommunications
operators’ customers roam on the Airtel Africa Group’s networks and when the Airtel Africa Group’s
customers roam on other international telecommunications operators’ networks. If these roaming
agreements were to terminate, or if the other international telecommunications operators were to deploy
technologies that are incompatible with the Airtel Africa Group’s networks, the Airtel Africa Group’s
roaming revenues and profits may be materially reduced.

The Airtel Africa Group’s operations are partly dependent upon the economic cycles of the markets in
which the Airtel Africa Group operates.

The Airtel Africa Group operates in countries with economies in various stages of development and
structural reform, some of which are subject to rapid fluctuations in consumer prices, employment levels,
gross domestic product and interest and foreign exchange rates. Such fluctuations may impact the ability of
customers to pay for the Airtel Africa Group’s products and services or the amount of disposable income
otherwise available to consumers in the markets in which it operates, which could have a material adverse
effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

It may be difficult for the Airtel Africa Group to obtain all licenses, permits, frequency allocations or
other authorizations required to operate its existing network or to expand its operations or any other
required licenses, permits or other authorizations, and once obtained they may be subject to finite terms,
ongoing review or periodic renewal, any of which may result in modification, suspension or early
termination.

The operation of telecom networks and the provision of related services are regulated to varying degrees by
national, state, regional or local governmental and regulatory authorities in the countries where the Airtel
Africa Group operates. The Airtel Africa Group’s operating licences or authorizations specify the services
it is permitted to offer. The operating licenses are subject to review, interpretation, modification or
termination by the relevant authorities and the regulatory framework applicable to such licenses may be
amended from time to time. There can be no assurance that the relevant authorities will not take any action
that could materially adversely affect the Airtel Africa Group's operations. In addition, the Airtel Africa
Group may have difficulty obtaining the necessary licenses, permits, frequency allocations or
authorizations to the extent it seeks to expand its existing operations, including by entering into new
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markets. There can be no assurance that the Airtel Africa Group will be successful in obtaining or funding
these licenses or allocations, or, if such licenses or allocations are awarded, that they can be obtained on
terms acceptable to the Airtel Africa Group.

While the Airtel Africa Group does not expect that it or any of its subsidiaries will be required to cease
operations at the end of the term of their business arrangements or licenses, and while many of these
licenses provide for terms on which they may be renewed, there can be no assurance that these business
arrangements or licenses will in all cases be renewed on equivalent or satisfactory terms, or at all. A
suspension or termination of the Airtel Africa Group’s licenses or other necessary governmental
authorizations could have a material adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s reputation, business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Several countries and regions in which the Airtel Africa Group operates have experienced economic,
regulatory, political and civil instability that could adversely affect the economy in the Airtel Africa
Group’s markets and, therefore, the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects.

Many of the countries in which the Airtel Africa Group operates can be affected by economic downturns
attributable to factors such as commodity price fluctuations, reduced financial aid, capital inflows and
remittances, which can have an adverse effect on consumer spending which in turn could have a material
adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business.

Further, governmental instability in one or more countries in which the Airtel Africa Group operates could
in turn negatively impact the country’s economy which could have a material adverse effect on the Airtel
Africa Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. The Airtel Africa Group may also be
exposed to a lack of certainty with respect to the legal systems in a number of countries in which it
operates, and, such legal systems may not be immune from the influence of political pressure, corruption or
other factors that are inconsistent with the rule of law. The occurrence of such risks could have a material
adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Airtel Africa Group is exposed to the risk of violations of sanctions laws or other similar
regulations.

The Airtel Africa Group operates in jurisdictions that may expose it to heightened risks with respect to
anti-bribery and sanctions laws and regulations. Violations of sanctions laws and regulations could expose
the Airtel Africa Group to potential civil or criminal penalties under the relevant applicable sanctions laws,
which may have material adverse consequences on its business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

Actions by governments, political events or instability or changes in public policy in the countries in
which the Airtel Africa Group operates could have an adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s
business.

Governments in some of the countries in which the Airtel Africa Group operates may at times be
influenced by political or commercial considerations outside of the Airtel Africa Group’s control, and may
act arbitrarily, selectively or unlawfully. For example, in December 2017, the Tanzanian government, then
a 40% shareholder in Airtel Tanzania plc, the Airtel Africa Group’s primary Tanzanian operating
subsidiary (“Airtel Tanzania”), alleged that the initial privatisation of Tanzania Telecommunications
Company Limited, resulting in the creation of Celtel Tanzania B.V. (now Airtel Tanzania) in 2001 and
certain divestments in 2005 were completed in violation of applicable law, and that the Tanzanian
government was, therefore, entitled to sole ownership of Airtel Tanzania. Further, in March 2018, the
Government of Tanzania has raised tax claims of approximately US$874 million against Bharti Airtel
International (Netherlands) B.V. (“BAIN”), primarily relating to capital gains on transfers of ownership of
Airtel Tanzania in 2005 and in 2010 and has assessed various taxes against Airtel Tanzania totaling
approximately US$47 million. In April 2018, the Government of Tanzania also issued a compliance
decision alleging Airtel Tanzania failed to obtain the requisite approvals from the Tanzania
Communications Regulatory Authority (“TCRA”) in connection with transfers of ownership that took
place in 2005 and 2010 and levied a fine of approximately $183 million.

The Airtel Africa Group has disputed the merits of each of these claims in its entirety. In January 2019, the
Government of Tanzania and the Airtel Africa Group agreed (subject to detailed agreements) to: the
Government of Tanzania’s withdrawal of the aforesaid tax claims and TCRA fines and the entry into an
agreement between the parties for provision of support services in order to support Airtel Tanzania’s
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development; approve the sale of towers owned by Airtel Tanzania and to allow a significant portion of the
net sale proceeds towards repayment of the outstanding shareholder loan granted to Airtel Tanzania by
Bharti Airtel Tanzania BV (“BATBV?”); either exempt Airtel Tanzania from listing in Tanzania or ensure
that the Airtel Africa Group’s beneficial ownership of Airtel Tanzania will not decrease below 51% at any
time and that any shares to be offered to the public in compliance with the Tanzanian Electronic and Postal
Communications Act of 2010 (‘EPOCA”) will be offered by the Government of Tanzania; increase the
Tanzanian government’s shareholding in Airtel Tanzania to 49% at zero effective cost; receipt by BATBV
of the agreed portion of the sale proceeds from the sale by Airtel Tanzania of its tower portfolio, which
shall be treated as full repayment by Airtel Tanzania of BATBV’s outstanding shareholder loan.

If the January 2019 understanding does not result in detailed agreements between the Government of
Tanzania and the Airtel Africa Group on substantially similar terms, the Airtel Africa Group’s recourse
will be through the pursuit of proceedings in Tanzania and in international fora, the outcome of which is
uncertain and which may divert financial and management resources away from the business.

Any similar actions in other markets in which the Airtel Africa Group operates could negatively impact the
Airtel Africa Group.

Price regulations in certain of the Airtel Africa Group’s operating countries influence, and will continue
in the future to influence, the Airtel Africa Group’s margins and impact return on investment.

The Airtel Africa Group is subject to price regulation with respect to retail price controls in three of the 14
countries in which it operates. In these countries, the relevant government or regulator imposes a floor on
the price at which certain of the Airtel Africa Group’s voice and data services can be sold. If a government
or regulator elects to introduce new or more restrictive pricing regulations in the markets in which the
Airtel Africa Group operates, the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.

The imposition of exchange controls and limits on convertibility of funds in the countries in which the
Airtel Africa Group operates may restrict the Airtel Africa Plc’s ability to transfer and receive funds
from within the Airtel Africa Group.

The introduction of new foreign exchange controls, new interpretations of existing foreign exchange
controls or future shortages of foreign currency would subject local currency held by the Airtel Africa
Group’s operating companies to variations in the exchange rate between the local currency and the relevant
foreign currency. If the Airtel Africa Group fails to adequately protect against currency exchange risk, the
costs of servicing its debt obligations and providing its services may increase, which could have a material
adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. Moreover, if the
value of the currencies in which the Airtel Africa Group derives its revenue declines relative to the
currency in which its borrowing is denominated, it could increase the debt servicing costs of, and the
financial burden on, the Airtel Africa Group.

Underdeveloped infrastructure in certain of the countries in which the Airtel Africa Group does
business could have an adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Underdeveloped infrastructure in certain of the countries in which the Airtel Africa Group does business
can result in increased costs for the Airtel Africa Group as well as create situations that could negatively
impact the Airtel Africa Group’s ability to conduct and grow its business, which could have an adverse
effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. A lack of access
to, or inadequate opportunities to expand the Airtel Africa Group’s network capacity in line with subscriber
growth and increased usage per subscriber, could also negatively impact its ability to offer new services to
customers or impede its ability to expand its operations into new markets.

The Airtel Africa Group’s operations are subject to risks relating to fraud, bribery, theft and corruption.

While the Airtel Africa Group maintains and regularly updates its IT and control systems, anti-corruption
training programme, codes of conduct, KYC procedures and other safeguards, it may not be possible for
the Airtel Africa Group to detect or prevent every instance of fraud, bribery, theft and corruption in every
jurisdiction in which the Airtel Africa Group’s employees, agents, sub-contractors or commercial partners
are located. If adverse investigations or findings are made against the Airtel Africa Group or its directors,
officers, employees, commercial partners or third-party contractors are found to be involved in bribery or
corruption or other illegal activity, this could result in criminal or civil penalties, including substantial
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monetary fines, against our Company and other members of the Airtel Africa Group which could damage
the Airtel Africa Group’s reputation and business.

The Airtel Africa Group faces risks relating to its property and towers portfolio, including failure by the
Airtel Africa Group to renew leases, which could lead to decreased revenue, reduce its network capacity
and markets or raise its costs.

The Airtel Africa Group has to obtain the rights to construct and operate its towers and base stations
(including broadband stations), distribution outlets and other premises on land owned by third parties and
governmental agencies. The Airtel Africa Group is, as a result, subject to the possibility of more
burdensome terms and increased costs to maintain necessary land use if its leases and rights-of-way lapse
or terminate or it is determined that the Airtel Africa Group does not have valid leases or rights-of-way.
The Airtel Africa Group’s loss of these rights, through its inability to renew contracts or otherwise, could
have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition and prospects.

The tax laws of the countries in which the Airtel Africa Group operates or changes thereto or to the
Airtel Africa Group’s tax profile could result in a higher tax expense or a higher effective tax rate on the
Airtel Africa Group’s worldwide earnings.

A change in these tax laws, regulations or treaties or in the interpretation thereof, or in the valuation of the
Airtel Africa Group’s deferred tax assets, which are beyond the Airtel Africa Group’s control, could result
in a materially higher tax expense or a higher effective tax rate on the Airtel Africa Group’s worldwide
earnings. Additionally, any expansion into new jurisdictions could adversely affect the Airtel Africa
Group’s tax profile and significantly increase its future cash tax payments.

The Airtel Africa Group’s operations in Nigeria represent a large percentage of the Airtel Africa
Group’s operations, and changes in demand for the Airtel Africa Group’s services in Nigeria or other
factors could have a negative effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business.

The Airtel Africa Group’s operations in Nigeria contribute a significant portion of the Airtel Africa
Group’s revenues and profit from operating activities, and are likely to continue to account for a large
portion of the Airtel Africa Group’s business in the future. There can be no assurance that the Airtel Africa
Group can sustain these current levels or that demand in Nigeria for the Airtel Africa Group’s services will
increase. In the event that there are adverse political, regulatory, competitive or other developments in
Nigeria, revenues from these markets could decline and the Airtel Africa Group’s business may be
adversely affected.

The Airtel Africa Group is subject to inflation risks, which might adversely affect its business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Airtel Africa Group operates in several countries, some of which have at times experienced relatively
high rates of inflation. The volatility of the local currencies in those jurisdictions is a significant factor in
reporting the Airtel Africa Group’s costs on a USD basis. High rates of inflation in some of the countries in
which the Airtel Africa Group operates may also cause consumer purchasing power to decrease, which
may reduce consumer demand for the Airtel Africa Group’s services, particularly in those markets with
lower levels of disposable income. It is possible that significantly higher inflation in the future could have a
material adverse effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects.

External Risk Factors

63.

Our operations are conducted across geographies and our results of operations are subject to
fluctuation in exchange rates of currencies.

Our Company maintains its accounts and reports its financial results in Indian Rupees. However, a number
of our Subsidiaries and Associate Companies operate in countries outside India, including in Sri Lanka and
various countries in Africa where a substantial portion of its revenues are denominated in its respective
local currencies. Our revenues from Mobile Services Africa and Mobile Services South Asia segment were
% 205,609 million and % 171,662 million for fiscal 2018 and the nine months ended December 31, 2018,
respectively, which constituted 24.57% and 28.13% of our consolidated revenue from operations,
respectively, for the corresponding periods. Additionally, our Company makes significant purchases of
services and equipment in foreign currencies. Further, our Company has outstanding debt capital market
instruments in multiple currencies — USD, Euros, XAF, XOF, LKR and CHF, as on December 31, 2018.
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As such, our Company is exposed to risks relating to exchange rate fluctuations, particularly in USD and
Euros. Our Company uses various foreign exchange forwards and derivative instruments to manage the
risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates and interest rates. The availability of any such
derivative/hedging instruments are subject to regulations, market conditions in the geographies of our
presence and thus may not be available at all points of time or in an efficacious manner. Further, such
derivative instruments may not fully mitigate the risk of fluctuations and company may continue to not
fully cover its foreign exchange and floating rate liabilities. Unfavorable movements in currency exchange
rates may materially adversely impact our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition.

The Airtel Africa Group prepare the financial statements in USD but derives revenue and incurs costs in
the local currencies used in the different countries in which they have operations. Further, extracting cash
from certain countries in which the Airtel Africa Group operates can be challenging due to exchange
controls, liquidity deficits and cash shortages in respect of international payments from time to time.
Accordingly, movements in exchange rates between these currencies and the USD could have a negative
effect on the Airtel Africa Group’s results of operations and financial condition to the extent there is a
mismatch between its earnings in any foreign currency and its costs that are denominated in that currency.

Where possible, the Airtel Africa Group manages foreign currency risk by matching same currency
revenue to same currency expenses, and by strategically denominating debt in certain functional currencies
in order to match with projected functional currency exposures. Nonetheless, the Airtel Africa Group has a
material amount of borrowings, operating and capital expenses in currencies other than those in which it
derives revenue. Where appropriate, the Airtel Africa Group enters into certain hedging arrangements to
mitigate foreign exchange risk and may enter into further hedging arrangements in the future. Hedging
itself carries certain risks, including that they may need to pay a significant amount (including costs) to
terminate any hedging arrangements. There is no guarantee that the Airtel Africa Group will be successful
with this strategy.

Our infrastructure, including our network equipment and systems may be vulnerable to natural
disasters, security risks and other events that may disrupt our services and could affect our business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations and other unforeseen damage for which its
insurance may not provide adequate coverage

Our business depends on providing subscribers with service reliability, network capacity, security and
account management. This, however, may be subject to disruptions resulting from numerous factors,
including fire, flood or other natural disasters, signal jamming, power outages, acts of terrorism and
vandalism, equipment or system failures and breaches of network or information technology security.
Also, our network operations have been interrupted as a result of natural calamities such as the floods in
the Jammu and Kashmir region in September 2014, floods and landslides in the North Indian state of
Uttarakhand that occurred in June 2013, and the super cyclonic storm in the eastern states of India that
occurred in October 2013. The Airtel Africa Group is also dependent on the uninterrupted operation of its
telecommunications networks to provide its services. Airtel Africa Group’s network, including its
information systems, information technology and infrastructure, and the networks of other operators with
which its customers interconnect, are vulnerable to damage or interruptions in operation from a variety of
sources including power loss, equipment and technical failure, signal jamming, power outages, acts of
terrorism and vandalism, breaches of network or information technology security network software flaws,
aging infrastructure, human error, wilful acts of destruction, transmission cable disruption or other similar
events. Any interruption in our or Airtel Africa Group’s operations or the provision of any service could
damage its ability to attract and retain customers, cause significant customer dissatisfaction and have a
material adverse effect on their brand, business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
The Airtel Africa Group’s operations could be adversely affected by natural disasters or other catastrophic
events beyond its control. The occurrence of any of these events may cause disruptions to the Airtel Africa
Group’s operations in part or in whole, may increase the costs associated with providing services as a result
of, among other things, costs associated with remedial work, may subject the Airtel Africa Group to
liability or impact its brands and reputation and may otherwise hinder the normal operation of the Airtel
Africa Group’s business, which could materially adversely affect its business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.

We may not have insurance against all of these contingencies, or our insurance may not be adequate to
cover all losses from these events. If any of these events were to occur, it could cause limited or severe
service disruption, which could result in subscriber dissatisfaction, regulatory penalties and reduced
revenues. In addition, we rely on manufacturers of telecommunications equipment for continued
maintenance service and supply, and their continued cooperation is important for us to maintain our
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operations without disruption. Any interruption in services could harm our business and reputation and
reduce the confidence of our subscribers and consequently impair our ability to obtain and retain
subscribers and could lead to a violation of the terms of our various licenses, each of which could
materially or adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Airtel Africa Group’s operations subject it to various risks that are either not fully insured against or not
insured against at all. Any future damage caused by its products or services that is not covered by
insurance, is in excess of policy limits, or is not limited by contractual limitations of liability, could
adversely affect the Airtel Africa Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Economic uncertainties in the emerging and developing markets in which our Company operates could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

We have presence and operations across 18 countries. Our strategy is to focus on growth opportunities in
emerging and developing markets. These markets are characterized by low to medium mobile penetration,
low internet penetration and relatively lower per capita incomes, thus offering more growth potential.
However, these markets fall within countries, which are more prone to economic uncertainties, such as
capital controls, varying inflation, volatile interest rates and currency fluctuations. These countries are also
affected by economic downturns, primarily due to commodity price fluctuations, reduced financial aid,
capital inflows and remittances. Slowing down of economic growth tends to affect consumer spending and
might cause a slowdown in telecom sector.

We follow a prudent risk management policy, including hedging mechanisms to protect the cash flows,
however, economic conditions may determine availability of efficacious hedging products/mechanism and
depth of markets to provide adequate risk management solutions. We have spread our debt profile across
local and overseas sources of funds however, availability of capital in various currencies may be limited
and is affected by market conditions and single obligor limits of lenders in those geographies among other
things. Further, we have adopted a pricing strategy for effective management of our business operations,
however, economic uncertainties may materially adversely impact our business, results of operations and
financial conditions.

Enforcement of foreign judgments against our Company or our management may not be possible or
may require additional legal proceedings.

Our Company is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of India and majority of our
Directors and all executive officers are residents of India. It may be difficult for the investors to affect
service of process upon our Company or such persons outside India or to enforce judgments obtained in
courts outside India.

India has reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters with only a
limited number of jurisdictions, which includes the United Kingdom, Singapore and Hong Kong. In order
to be enforceable, a judgment from a jurisdiction with reciprocity must meet certain requirements of the
Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (the “Civil Code”). Judgments or decrees from jurisdictions, which do not
have reciprocal recognition with India, cannot be executed in India. Therefore, a final judgment for the
payment of money rendered by any court in a non-reciprocating territory for civil liability, whether or not
predicated solely upon the general laws of the non-reciprocating territory, would not be enforceable in
India. Even if an investor obtained a judgment in such a jurisdiction against our Company or its officers or
directors, it may be required to institute a new proceeding in India and obtain a decree from an Indian
court. However, the party in whose favour such final judgment is rendered may bring a new suit in a
competent court in India based on a final judgment that has been obtained in a non-reciprocating territory
within three years of obtaining such final judgment in the same manner as any other suit filed to enforce a
civil liability in India. If, and to the extent that, an Indian court were of the opinion that fairness and good
faith so required, it would, under current practice, give binding effect to the final judgment that had been
rendered in the non-reciprocating territory, unless such a judgment contravenes principles of public policy
in India. It is unlikely that an Indian court would award damages on the same basis or to the same extent as
was awarded in a final judgment rendered by a court in another jurisdiction if the Indian court believed that
the amount of damages awarded was excessive or inconsistent with Indian practice. In addition, any person
seeking to enforce a foreign judgment in India is required to obtain prior approval of the RBI to repatriate
any amount recovered pursuant to the execution of such a judgment.
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Any downgrading of India’s debt rating by a domestic or international rating agency could negatively
impact our business and the price of our Equity Shares.

Any adverse revisions to India’s credit ratings or of the countries where Subsidiaries are present or ratings
of financing partners/lenders or geographies their its operations, by domestic or international rating
agencies may adversely impact our ability to raise additional financing, and the interest rates and other
commercial terms at which such additional financing is available. This could have an adverse effect on our
financial results and business prospects, ability to obtain financing for capital expenditures and the price of
the Equity Shares.

Hostilities, wars and other acts of violence or manmade disasters could adversely affect the financial
markets and our business.

Wars, terrorism and other acts of violence or manmade disasters may adversely affect our business and the
Indian markets in which the Equity Shares trade or on which the Equity Shares are proposed to be listed.
These acts may result in a loss of business confidence and have other consequences that could have an
adverse effect on our business. In addition, any deterioration in international relations, especially between
India and its neighboring countries, may result in investor concern regarding regional stability which could
adversely affect the price of our Equity Shares. In addition, India has witnessed local civil disturbances in
recent years and it is possible that future civil unrest as well as other adverse social, economic or political
events in India could have an adverse impact on our business. Such incidents could also create a greater
perception that investment in Indian companies involves a higher degree of risk and could have an adverse
impact on our business and the market price of our Equity Shares.

Risks relating to the Equity Shares

69.
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We will not distribute the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer and CAF to overseas Shareholders
who have not provided an address in India for service of documents.

We will dispatch the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer and CAF (the “Issue Materials”) to the
shareholders who have provided an address in India for service of documents. The Issue Materials will not
be distributed to addresses outside India on account of restrictions that apply to circulation of such
materials in overseas jurisdictions. However, the Companies Act requires companies to serve documents at
any address, which may be provided by the members as well as through e-mail. Presently, there is lack of
clarity under the Companies Act and the rules made thereunder with respect to distribution of Issue
Materials in overseas jurisdictions where such distribution may be prohibited under the applicable laws of
such jurisdictions. While we have requested all the shareholders to provide an address in India for the
purposes of distribution of Issue Materials, we cannot assure you that the regulator or authorities would not
adopt a different view with respect to compliance with the Companies Act and may subject us to fines or
penalties.

Investors holding shares in physical form may not be able to participate in the issue.

In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the option to receive the Rights Equity Shares in physical
form will be available only for a period of six months from the date of coming into force of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, i.e., till May 10, 2019. In case, the Rights Equity Shares offered pursuant to this Issue are not
Allotted during such period, the issue procedure will be modified to this effect and included in the Letter of
Offer.

The Equity Shares may experience price and volume fluctuations or an active trading market for the
Equity Shares may not develop.

The price of the Equity Shares may fluctuate after this Issue as a result of several factors, including
volatility in the Indian and global securities markets, the results of our operations, the performance of our
competitors, developments in the Indian telecommunications sector and changing perceptions in the market
about investments in the Indian telecommunications sector, changes in the estimates of our performance or
recommendations by financial analysts, significant developments in India’s economic liberalization and
deregulation policies, inclusion or exclusion of our Company in indices, significant developments in
India’s fiscal regulations and any other political or economic factors. In addition, if the stock markets
experience a loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our Equity Shares could decline for reasons
unrelated to our business, financial condition or operating results. The trading price of our Equity Shares
might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do
not directly affect us. Further, the price at which the Equity Shares are initially traded may not correspond

55



72.

73.

74.

75.

® airtel

to the prices at which the Equity Shares will trade in the market subsequently.

Economic developments and volatility in securities markets in other countries may cause the price of the
Equity Shares issued to decline.

The Indian economy and its securities markets are influenced by economic developments and volatility in
securities markets in other countries. Investors’ reactions to developments in one country may have adverse
effects on the market price of securities of companies located in other countries, including India. Any
worldwide financial instability could also have a negative impact on the Indian economy, including the
movement of exchange rates and interest rates in India. Negative economic developments, such as rising
fiscal or trade deficits, or a default on sovereign debt, in other emerging market countries may affect
investor confidence, cause increased volatility in Indian securities markets, and indirectly affect the Indian
economy in general. Further, the market price of the Equity Shares may be affected by fluctuations in the
market price of the Equity Shares.

Any future issuance of the Equity Shares, or convertible securities or other equity linked securities by
our Company may dilute your future shareholding and sales of the Equity Shares by our Promoter or
Promoter Group or other major shareholders of our Company may adversely affect the trading price of
the Equity Shares.

Any future issuance of the Equity Shares, or convertible securities or other equity linked securities by our
Company, including a preferential allotment, or through exercise of employee stock options may lead to
dilution of your shareholding in our Company, adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares and
our ability to raise capital through an issue of our securities. Any future sales of the Equity Shares by our
Promoter or other major shareholders of our Company or a dilution of the post-Issue shareholding of our
Promoter and Promoter Group, pursuant to a part renunciation in the Issue by our Promoter, BTL, may
adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares. In addition, any perception by investors that such
issuances or sales might occur could also affect the trading price of the Equity Shares

You may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of capital gains on the sale of the Equity Shares.

Under current Indian tax laws, unless specifically exempted, capital gains arising from the sale of equity
shares in an Indian company are generally taxable in India. However, any gain realized on the sale of listed
equity shares on or before March 31, 2018 on a stock exchange held for more than 12 months will not be
subject to long term capital gains tax in India if Securities Transaction Tax (“STT”) is paid on the sale
transaction and, additionally, as stipulated by the Finance Act, 2017, STT had been paid at the time of
acquisition of such equity shares on or after October 1, 2004, except in the case of such acquisitions of
equity shares which are not subject to STT, as notified by the Central Government under notification no.
43/2017/F. No. 370142/09/2017-TPL on June 5, 2017. However, the Finance Act, 2018, has now levied
taxes on long-term capital gains arising from sale of Equity Shares. However, where specified conditions
are met, such long-term capital gains are only taxed to the extent they exceed X 100,000 and unrealized
capital gains earned up to January 31, 2018 continue to be exempt. Accordingly, you may be subject to
payment of long-term capital gains tax in India, in addition to payment of STT, on the sale of any Equity
Shares held for more than 12 months. STT will be levied on and collected by a domestic stock exchange on
which the Equity Shares are sold.

Further, any gain realized on the sale of listed equity shares held for a period of 12 months or less will be
subject to short-term capital gains tax in India. Capital gains arising from the sale of the Equity Shares will
be exempt from taxation in India in cases where the exemption from taxation in India is provided under a
treaty between India and the country of which the seller is resident. Generally, Indian tax treaties do not
limit India’s ability to impose tax on capital gains. As a result, residents of other countries may be liable for
tax in India as well as in their own jurisdiction on a gain upon the sale of the Equity Shares.

You may not receive the Equity Shares that you subscribe in the Issue until 15 days after the date on
which this Issue closes, which will subject you to market risk.

The Equity Shares that you may be allotted in the I1ssue may not be credited to your demat account with the
depository participants until approximately 15 days from the Issue Closing Date. You can start trading such
Equity Shares only after receipt of the listing and trading approval in respect thereof. There can be no
assurance that the Equity Shares allocated to you will be credited to your demat account, or that trading in
the Equity Shares will commence within the specified time period, subjecting you to market risk for such
period.
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Foreign investors are subject to foreign investment restrictions under Indian law that limits our ability
to attract foreign investors, which may adversely impact the market price of our Equity Shares.

Foreign investment in Indian securities is subject to regulation by Indian regulatory authorities. Under the
FDI Policy, issued by the Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Ministry of Commerce and
Industry, Government of India, foreign investment up to 100% is permitted in the telecom services sector,
of which, foreign investment up to 49% is permitted through the automatic route and beyond 49% is
permitted subsequent to the approval of the Government, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions.

Also, under the foreign exchange regulations currently in force in India, transfers of shares between non-
residents and residents are permitted (subject to certain exceptions) if they comply with, among other
things, the pricing guidelines and reporting requirements specified by the RBI. If the transfer of shares does
not comply with such pricing guidelines or reporting requirements, or falls under any of the exceptions
referred to above, then prior approval of the RBI will be required.

Additionally, shareholders who seek to convert the Rupee proceeds from a sale of shares in India into
foreign currency and repatriate any such foreign currency from India will require a no objection or a tax
clearance certificate from the income tax authority. We cannot assure you that any required approval from
the RBI or any other Government agency can be obtained on any particular terms or at all. Also, see
“Restriction on Foreign Ownership of Indian Securities” on page 352.

57



® airtel

SECTION I11: INTRODUCTION

THE ISSUE

The Issue has been authorised by way of a resolution passed by our Board on February 28, 2019, pursuant to

Section 62 of the Companies Act.

The following is a summary of the Issue. This summary should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in
its entirety by, more detailed information in the section “Terms of the Issue” on page 304.

Issue Details in Brief

Rights Equity Shares being offered by our
Company

Up to 1,133,591,075 Equity Shares

Rights Entitlement

19 Rights Equity Shares for every 67 Equity Shares held on the Record
Date

Record Date

[e]

Issue Price per Rights Equity Share

%220

Face Value per Rights Equity Share

%5

Issue Size

Up to ¥ 249,390.04 million

Equity Shares subscribed, paid-up and
outstanding prior to the Issue

3,997,400,107 Equity Shares of 5 each

Equity Shares outstanding after the Issue
(assuming full subscription for and Allotment
of the Rights Entitlement)

5,130,991,182 Equity Shares of %5 each

Security Codes for the Equity Shares

ISIN: INE397D01024
BSE: 532454
NSE: BHARTIARTL

Terms of the Issue

See “Terms of the Issue” on page 304

Use of Issue Proceeds

See “Objects of the Issue” on page 75

Terms of Payment

The full amount is payable on application
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The following tables set forth the summary financial information derived from the Financial Statements. Our
summary financial information presented below, is in Rupees/ Rupees million and should be read in conjunction
with the financial statements and the notes (including the significant accounting principles) thereto included in
the section “Financial Information” on page 108.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

[The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank]
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Capital work-in-progress
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Intangible assets under development
Investment in joint ventures and associates
FAnancial assets
- Investments
- Derivative instruments
- Security deposits
- Others
Income tax assets (net)
Deferred tax assets (net)
Other non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

FAnancial assets
- Investments
- Derivative instruments
- Trade receivables
- Cash and cash equivalents
- Other bank balances
- Others

Other current assets

Total assets

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Other equity

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent

Non-controlling interests

Non-current liabilities

FAnancial hiabilities

- Borrowings

- Derivative instruments

- Others
Deferred revenue
Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities (net)
Other non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
FAnancial liabilities
- Borrowings

- Current maturities of long-term borrowings

- Derivative instruments
- Trade payables
- Others
Deferred revenue
Provisions
Current tax liabilities (net)
Other current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

® airtel

(In % million)

December 31, 2018

March 31, 2018

784,087 706,079
96,724 52,089
336,098 328,070
857,051 837,855
19,181 45,423
89,250 86,839
21,645 5,769
2,135 2,031
11,669 9,703
3,482 5,814
16,070 25,505
84,497 29,330
53,647 36,319
2,375,536 2,170,826
1,116 693
38,189 68,978
558 8,941
48,955 58,830
43,458 49,552
21,461 17,154
19,935 27,462
145,906 103,380
319,578 334,990
2,695,114 2,505,816
19,987 19,987
691,110 675,357
711,097 695,344
120,962 88,139
832,059 783,483
901,513 849,420
3,149 5,409
46,612 44,547
18,640 22,117
6,626 7,212
8,190 10,606
537 623
985,267 939,934
262,831 129,569
46,124 134,346
9,654 283
297,379 268,536
156,207 140,605
49,959 48,666
2,133 2,384
8,345 11,058
45,156 46,952
877,788 782,399
1,863,055 1,722,333
2,695,114 2,505,816
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(In X million)
March 31, 2018

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss

December 31, 2018

Income
Revenue 610,217 836,879
Other income 2,366 2,488
612,583 839,367
Expenses
Network operating expenses 164,278 197,520
Access charges 69,111 90,446
License fee / spectrum charges 52,138 75,558
Employee benefits expense 28,546 39,771
Sales and marketing expenses 39,306 55,766
Other expenses 64,965 77,027
418,344 536,088
Profit from operating activities before
depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items 194,239 303,279
Depreciation and amortisation 158,541 192,431
Finance costs 80,978 93,255
Finance income (10,407) (12,540)
Non-operating expenses / (income), (net) 1,835 141
Share of Profit of associates and joint venture (net) (3,188) (10,609)
(Loss) / profit before exceptional items and tax (33,520) 40,601
Exceptional items (net) (9,067) 7,931
Profit / (Loss) before tax (24,453) 32,670
Tax expense / (credit)
Current tax 16,357 18,230
Deferred tax (51,924) (7,395)
Profit for the period 11,114 21,835
Other comprehensive income ('OCI')
Items to be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss :
Net losses due to foreign currency
translation differences (13,711) (7,181)
Net gains / ( losses) on net investment hedge (3,043) (8,024)
Net (losses) / gains on cash flow hedge (878) 809
!\let gains / (losses) on fair value through OCI (34) 129
investments
Tax credit / (charge) 4,758 (122)
(12,908) (14,389)
Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss :
Re-measurement (losses) / gains on defined benefit plans 90 205
Tax credit / (charge) (62) 18
Share of OCI of joint ventures and associates 9) (29)
19 194
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the period (12,889) (14,195)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period (1,775) 7,640
Profit for the period attributable to : 11,114 21,835
Owners of the Parent 3,023 10,990
Non-controlling interests 8,091 10,845
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the period
attributable to : (12,889) (14,195)
Owners of the Parent (11,198) (13,445)
Non-controlling interests (1,691) (750)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period
attributable to : (1,775) 7,640
Owners of the Parent (8,175) (2,455)
Non-controlling interests 6,400 10,095
Earnings per share (Face value: Rs. 5/- each)
Basic 0.76 2.75
Diluted 0.76 2.75
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Hows

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss) / profit before tax

Adjustments for :
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Finance income
Share of results of joint ventures and associates
Exceptional items
Employee share-based payment expense
Loss on sale of assets
Other non-cash items

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital
Changes in working capital

Trade receivables

Trade payables

Inventories

Provisions

Other financial and non-financial liabilities

Other financial and non-financial assets

Net cash generated from operations before tax
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities (a)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Payment towards spectrum - deferred payment liability
Net movement in current investments

Purchase of non-current investments

Sale of non-current investments

Investment in subsidiary, net of cash acquired / associate
Consideration / advance for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Sale of tower assets

Investment in associate

Dividend received

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities (b)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Net proceeds from short-term borrowings
Proceeds from sale and finance leaseback of towers
Repayment of finance lease liabilities

Purchase of treasury shares

Interest and other finance charges paid
Proceeds from exercise of share options
Dividend paid (including tax)

Proceeds from issuance of equity shares to NCI
Sale of interest in a subsidiary

Purchase of shares from NCI

Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities (c)
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents during the
period (a+b+c)

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents as at end of the period
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(< in million)

December 31, 2018

March 31, 2018

(24,453) 32,670
158,541 192,431
80,978 93,255
(10,407) (12,540)
(3,188) (10,609)
(10,960) 325
297 413
(200) -
7,787 10,410
198,395 306,355
2,760 (24,474)
16,923 15,122
(421) (202)
(357) 154
(11,945) 51,205
(50,416) (35,899)
154,939 312,261
(6,113) (13,723)
148,826 298,538
(213,210) (245,259)
1,083 5,655
(27,553) (17,749)
(6,668) (9,909)
27,959 (50,259)
(34,641) -
20,108 36,495
- (19,498)
(283) -
3,051 4,869
(60) (60)
11,440 10,377
4,451 5,662
(214,323) (279,676)
264,870 197,664
(252,908) (130,717)
32,710 (26,874)
1,688 2,958
(3,748) (3,932)
(248) (424)
(49,551) (44,041)
8 13
(46,617) (32,652)
90,348 21
16,238 57,189
(5,389) -
47,401 19,205
(18,096) 38,067
1,870 281
28,468 (9,880)
12,242 28,468
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Our Company was originally incorporated as ‘Bharti Tele-Ventures Limited’ on July 7, 1995 at New Delhi, as a
public limited company under the Companies Act, 1956 and a certificate of incorporation was granted to our
Company by the RoC. Our Company received the certificate of commencement of business from the RoC on
January 18, 1996. Subsequently, the name of our Company was changed to ‘Bharti Airtel Limited” pursuant to
which a fresh certificate of incorporation was granted on April 24, 2006 by the RoC. For details of change in our
name and the registered office of our Company, see “History and Corporate Structure” on page 98.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Registered and Corporate Office, Corporate Identity Number and Registration Number of our Company

Bharti Airtel Limited

Bharti Crescent, 1, Nelson Mandela Road
Vasant Kunj, Phase 11, New Delhi 110 070
India

Tel: +91 11 4666 6100

E-mail: compliance.officer@bharti.in
Website: www.airtel.in

CIN: L74899DL1995PLC070609
Registration Number: 070609

Address of the RoC

Our Company is registered with the RoC, which is situated at the following address:
Registrar of Companies, National Capital Territory of Delhi and Haryana

4" Floor, IFCI Tower

61, Nehru Place

New Delhi 110 019

India

Board of Directors

The following table sets out the details of our Board as of the date of this Draft Letter of Offer:

Name Designation DIN Address
Mr. Sunil Bharti Mittal Chairman and Whole-time | 00042491 | 19, Amrita Shergil Marg, New Delhi —
Director 110 003, India
Mr. Gopal Vittal Managing Director & CEO | 02291778 | A2/1202, World SPA East, Sector — 30,
(India & South Asia) Gurgaon — 122 001, Haryana, India

Ms. Chua Sock Koong Non-Executive Director 00047851 | 15A, Oei Tiong Ham Park, Singapore —
268 302

Mr. Rakesh Bharti Mittal Non-Executive Director 00042494 | 4, Pearl Lane, DLF Chhattarpur Farms,
New Delhi — 110 074, India

Ms. Tan Yong Choo Non-Executive Director 02910529 | 22, Park Villas Green, Singapore — 545
430

Mr. Craig Edward Ehrlich Independent Director 02612082 | Block B, 6/F, Best View Court, 66,

MacDonnell Road, Hong Kong

Mr. Dinesh Kumar Mittal Independent Director 00040000 | B — 71, Sector — 44, Noida — 201 301,
Uttar Pradesh, India

Mr. Manish Santoshkumar Kejriwal Independent Director 00040055 | 3703 B, 37™ and 38™ Floor, Vivarea
Building B Wing, Sane Guruji Marg,
Jacob Circle, Mumbai — 400 011,
Maharashtra, India

Mr. Shishir Priyadarshi Independent Director 03459204 | A-1/6, Panchsheel Enclave, New Delhi
—110 017, India

63



® airtel

Name

Designation DIN

Address

Mr. Vegulaparanan Kasi

Viswanathan

Independent Director 01782934

F-01, 1% Floor, Legacy Caldera, 56
SRT Road, Cunningham Road,
Bengaluru — 560 052, Karnataka, India

Company Secretary

Mr. Pankaj Tewari
Company Secretary

Bharti Crescent, 1, Nelson Mandela Road
Vasant Kunj, Phase 11, New Delhi 110 070

India
Tel: +91 11 4666 6100

E-mail: company.secretary@bharti.in

Compliance Officer

Mr. Rohit Krishan Puri

Deputy Company Secretary and Compliance Officer
Bharti Crescent, 1, Nelson Mandela Road
Vasant Kunj, Phase 11, New Delhi 110 070

India
Tel: +91 11 4666 6100

E-mail: compliance.officer@bharti.in

Lead Managers to the Issue

Axis Capital Limited

1% Floor, Axis House, C-2, Wadia
International Centre

Pandurang Budhkar Marg, Worli
Mumbai 400 025

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 4325 2183

E-mail: bal.rights@axiscap.in
Investor grievance E-mail:
complaints@axiscap.in

Website: www.axiscapital.co.in
Contact Person: Ms. Kanika
Sarawgi / Ms. Mayuri Arya
SEBI Registration Number:
INM000012029

HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India)

Private Limited

52/60, Mahatma Gandhi Road, Fort, Mumbai 400

001
Maharashtra, India
Tel: +91 22 2268 5555

J.P. Morgan India Private Limited
J.P. Morgan Towers

Off CST Road, Kalina, Santacruz
East

Mumbai 400 098

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6157 3000

E-mail:
BALRIGHTS_2019@jpmorgan.com
Investor Grievance E-mail:
investorsmb.jpmipl@jpmorgan.com
Website: www.jpmipl.com

Contact Person: Mr. Shagun Gupta
SEBI Registration Number:
INM000002970

Goldman Sachs (India)
Securities Private Limited
Rational House

951-A, Appasaheb Marathe Marg,
Prabhadevi

Mumbai 400 025

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6616 9000

E-mail:
gsbhartiairtelrights@gs.com
Investor Grievance E-mail: india-
client-support@gs.com

Website:
www.goldmansachs.com
Contact Person: Mr. Rishabh
Garg

SEBI Registration Number:
INM000011054

ICICI Securities Limited

ICICI Centre, H.T. Parekh Marg

Churchgate
Mumbai 400 020

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 2288 2460

E-mail: bhartiairtelrights@hsbc.co.in

Investor Grievance E-mail:
investorgrievance@hsbc.co.in

Contact Person: Ms. Sanjana Maniar

Website: www.hsbc.co.in/1/2/corporate/equities-
global-investment-banking

SEBI Registration No.: INM000010353

E-mail: bal.rights@icicisecurities.com
Investor Grievance E-mail:
customercare@icicisecurities.com

Contact Person: Mr. Rupesh Khant / Ms. Nidhi
Wangnoo

Website: www.icicisecurities.com

SEBI Registration No.: INM000011179
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Domestic Legal Advisor to our Company

AZB & Partners
AZB House

Plot No. A8, Sector 4
Noida 201 301

India

Tel: +91 120 417 9999

Domestic Legal Advisor to the Lead Managers

Shardul Amarchand Mangaldas & Co
Amarchand Towers

216, Okhla Industrial Estate, Phase-111
New Delhi 110 020

India

Tel: +91 11 4159 0700

International Legal Counsel to Lead Managers

Latham & Watkins LLP
9, Raffles Place

#42-02, Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Tel: +65 6536 1161

Statutory Auditors of our Company

Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered Accountants
Tower B, 10th Floor, Building 10

DLF Cyber City, DLF Phase 2

Gurugram, Haryana — 122 002

Tel: +91 124 679 2000

E-mail: nilahoti@deloitte.com

Firm Registration Number: 117366W/ W-100018

Peer Review Certificate Number: 009919

Registrar to the Issue

Karvy Fintech Private Limited (formerly KCPL Advisory Services Private Limited)

Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot No. 31 & 32

Financial District, Nanakramguda Serilingampally

Hyderabad Rangareddi 500 032

Telangana, India

Tel: +91 40 6716 2222

E-mail: bhartiairtel.rights@karvy.com

Investor Grievance E-Mail: einward.ris@karvy.com

Website: www.karvyfintech.com

Contact Person: Mr. M Murali Krishna

SEBI Registration Number: INR000000221*

* This registration is held by the Registrar under the name ’Karvy Computershare Private Limited’, and SEBI has, pursuant
to an e-mail confirmed that the registration shall continue to remain valid for the Registrar, in view of the amalgamation of
Karvy Computershare Private Limited into the Registrar, until it obtains a fresh registration, upon SEBI granting it prior
approval for the change in its shareholding pattern resulting in a change in control of Karvy Computershare Private Limited,
after obtaining the previous registration transferred in its name.

Investors may contact the Registrar or our Compliance Officer for any pre-lssue/post-lssue related matter. All
grievances relating to the ASBA process may be addressed to the Registrar, with a copy to the SCSBs, giving
full details such as name, address of the Applicant, contact number(s), e-mail 1D of the sole/ first holder, folio
number or demat account number, serial number of the CAF, number of Rights Equity Shares applied for,
amount blocked, ASBA Account number and the Designated Branch of the SCSBs where the CAF, or the plain
paper application, as the case may be, was submitted by the ASBA Investors along with a photocopy of the
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acknowledgement slip. For details on the ASBA process as well as for non-ASBA process, see “Terms of the
Issue” on page 304.

Experts

Our Company has received consent from its Statutory Auditors, Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered
Accountants through its letter dated March 6, 2019 to include its name as required under the provisions of the
Companies Act, in this Draft Letter of Offer in respect of (i) their audit report dated April 24, 2018 relating to
Annual Audited Financial Statements and the audit report dated January 31, 2019 on the Interim Audited
Financial Statements; and (ii) the statement of special tax benefits available to our Company, material subsidiary
and shareholders, dated March 6, 2019, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, as an “expert” as
defined under Section 2(38) of the Companies Act and such consent has not been withdrawn as of the date of
this Draft Letter of Offer. However, the term “expert” shall not be construed to mean an “expert” as defined

under the US Securities Act.
Bankers to the Issue

[e]

Bankers to our Company

AXis Bank Limited

UGF, Sector C, Pocket 9, Pawa Presidential Business
Park, Vasant Kunj

New Delhi 110 070

Tel.: 491 11 4932 2999

Contact Person: Ms. Seetalakshmi V

E-mail: vasantkunj.branchhead @axisbank.com
Website: www.axisbank.com

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited

Institutional Plot No. 68, Sector 44

Gurgaon 122 002

Haryana, India

Tel.: +91 124 4762 131

Contact Person: Mr. Anurag Pandey

HDFC Bank Limited

HDFC Bank Ltd, 2™ Floor, Block- A
Vatika Atrium, Golf Course Road, Sector 53
Gurgaon 122 002

Tel.: +91 124 4664 325

Contact Person: Ms. Kamala S Prasad
Website: www.hdfcbank.com

Kotak Mahindra Bank Limited
Aerocity, Asset Area 9, 3" Floor
IBIS Commercial Block

Tel.: +91 84477 49432

Contact Person: Mr. Ajay Anand
E-mail: anand.ajay@kotak.com
Website: www.kotak.com

E-mail: anuragpandey@hsbc.co.in
Website: www.hsbc.co.in

State Bank of India

5™ Floor, Parsvnath Capital Tower

Bhai Veer Singh Marg, Gole Market
New Delhi 110 001

Tel.: +91 11 2347 5504

Contact Person: Mr. Viveka Nand Singh
E-mail: amt4.cagdel@sbi.co.in
Website: www.shi.co.in

Designated Intermediaries

Self Certified Syndicate Banks

The list of banks that have been notified by SEBI to act as the SCSBs for the ASBA process is provided on the
website of SEBI at http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes as updated from
time to time, or at such other website as may be prescribed from time to time. Further, for a list of branches of
the SCSBs named by the respective SCSBs to receive the ASBA Forms from the Designated Intermediaries and
updated from time to time, please refer to the above-mentioned link or any such other website as may be
prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Issue Schedule

Issue Opening Date: [e]
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Last date for receiving requests for SAFs: [e]
Issue Closing Date: [e]
Date of Allotment (on or about): [e]
Date of credit (on or about): [o]
Date of listing (on or about): [e]
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Investors are advised to ensure that the Applications are submitted on or before the Issue Closing Date. Our
Company, the Lead Managers or the Registrar to the Issue will not be liable for any loss on account of non-

submission of Applications on or before the Issue Closing Date.

Statement of inter-se Responsibilities

I\?c; Activity Responsibility Coordination
1. | Capital structuring with the relative components and formalities such as Axis, Goldman Axis
type of instrument, number of instruments to be issued, etc. Sachs, HSBC, I-
Sec, J.P. Morgan
2. | Coordination for drafting and design of the Letter of Offer as per the Axis, Goldman Axis
SEBI Regulations, Listing Regulations and other stipulated requirements | Sachs, HSBC, I-
and completion of prescribed formalities with the Stock Exchanges and | Sec, J.P. Morgan
SEBI.
3. Drafting, design and distribution of the Abridged Letter of Offer, CAF, Axis, Goldman AXis
etc. and memorandum containing salient features of the Letter of Offer. Sachs, HSBC, I-
Sec, J.P. Morgan
4. | Selection of various agencies connected with the Issue, namely Registrar Axis, Goldman J.P. Morgan
to the Issue, printers, advertisement agencies, and Monitoring Agency | Sachs, HSBC, I-
and coordination of execution of related agreements Sec, J.P. Morgan
5. | Drafting and approval of all statutory advertisement Axis, Goldman Axis
Sachs, HSBC, I-
Sec, J.P. Morgan
6. Drafting and approval of all publicity material including corporate Axis, Goldman J.P. Morgan
advertisement, brochure, corporate films, etc. Sachs, HSBC, I-
Sec, J.P. Morgan
7. | Formulating and Coordination of International marketing strategy Axis, Goldman J.P. Morgan
Sachs, HSBC, I-
Sec, J.P. Morgan
8. Formulating and Coordination of Domestic marketing strategy Axis, Goldman Axis
Sachs, HSBC, I-
Sec, J.P. Morgan
9. Formulating retail strategy which will cover, inter alia, distribution of Axis, Goldman Axis
publicity and Issue materials including application form, brochure and | Sachs, HSBC, I-
Letter of Offer and coordination for queries related to retail investors Sec, J.P. Morgan
10. | Submission of 1% security deposit and formalities for use of online Axis, Goldman Axis
software with stock exchanges Sachs, HSBC, I-
Sec, J.P. Morgan
11. | Post-Issue activities, which shall involve essential follow-up steps | Axis, Goldman Axis
including follow-up with Bankers to the Issue and the SCSBs to get | Sachs, HSBC, I-
quick estimates of collection and advising our Company about the | Sec, J.P. Morgan
closure of the Issue, finalization of the Basis of Allotment or weeding out
of multiple applications, listing of instruments, dispatch of certificates or
demat credit and refunds and coordination with various agencies
connected with the post-issue activity such as Registrar to the Issue,
Bankers to the Issue, SCSBs, etc., and coordination for underwriting
arrangement, if any

Credit Rating

As the Issue is of Equity Shares, there is no requirement of credit rating for the Issue.
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Debenture Trustee
As the Issue is of Equity Shares, the appointment of a debenture trustee is not required.
Monitoring Agency

Our Company will appoint a monitoring agency, in accordance with Regulation 82 of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, prior to filing of the Letter of Offer with the Stock Exchanges.

Appraising Entity

None of the purposes for which the Net Proceeds are proposed to be utilised have been financially appraised by
any banks or financial institution or any other independent agency.

Minimum Subscription

If our Company does not receive the minimum subscription of 90% of the Issue Size, or the subscription level
falls below 90% of the Issue Size, after the Issue Closing Date on account of withdrawal of applications, our
Company shall refund the entire subscription amount received within 15 days from the Issue Closing Date. In the
event that there is a delay in making refund of the subscription amount by more than eight days after our
Company becomes liable to pay subscription amount (i.e. 15 days after the Issue Closing Date) or such other
period as prescribed by applicable laws, our Company shall pay interest for the delayed period at rate prescribed
under applicable laws.

Underwriting

Our Company may enter into an Underwriting Agreement with Underwriter(s) for underwriting the Rights
Equity Shares. The details of such Underwriting Agreement, if entered into, shall be included in the Letter of
Offer to be filed with the SEBI, Stock Exchanges pursuant to receipt of SEBI’s observations on this Draft Letter
of Offer. Our Company shall ensure that the Underwriter(s) appointed shall have sufficient resources to enable
them to discharge their underwriting obligations in full.

Filing

This Draft Letter of Offer has been filed with SEBI for its observations, at SEBI Bhavan, Plot No. C4-A, G
Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra, India and through the SEBI
intermediary  portal at https://siportal.sebi.gov.in in  terms of the  circular (No.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2018/011) dated January 19, 2018 issued by the SEBI, and with the Stock
Exchanges. After SEBI gives its observations, the final Letter of Offer will be filed with SEBI and the Stock
Exchanges simultaneously with the filing of the Letter of Offer with the Designated Stock Exchange as per the
provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of our Company as on the date of this Draft Letter of Offer is as provided below:

(in 3, except share data)

Aggregate Value at Face | Aggregate Value
Value at Issue Price

AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

29,506,000,000 Equity Shares of I5 each 147,530,000,000 N.A.

ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP CAPITAL BEFORE

THE ISSUE

3,997,400,107 Equity Shares of 5 each 19,987,000,535 N.A.

PRESENT ISSUE IN TERMS OF THIS DRAFT LETTER OF

OFFERYW

Up to 1,133,591,075 Equity Shares of %5 each at a premium of X 215, Up to 5,667,955,375 Up to

i.e., at a price of ¥ 220 per Equity Share 249,390,036,500

ISSUEI(DZ,) SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP CAPITAL AFTER THE

ISSUE

Up t0 5,130,991,182 Equity Shares of %5 each fully paid-up Up to 25,654,955,910 N.A.
SECURITIES PREMIUM ACCOUNT
Before the Issue 107,180,000,000
After the Issue [e] (approximately)”

The Issue has been authorised by our Board resolution dated February 28, 2019, pursuant to Section 62 and other applicable

provisions of the Companies Act.
Assuming full subscription for and Allotment of the Rights Entitlement.

Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment, Allotment and deduction of Issue related expenses.
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Shareholding pattern of the Equity Shares of our Company as per the last quarterly filing with the Stock Exchanges in compliance with the provisions of the SEBI
Listing Regulations

Q) The shareholding pattern of the Equity Shares of our Company as on December 31, 2018, is as follows:
Category Category of Nos. of No. of fully Total nos. of | Shareholding asa | Number of voting rights held in each | Shareholding,asa | Number of equity
shareholder | shareholders | paid up equity | shares held % of total no. of class of securities % assuming full shares held in
shares held shares conversion of dematerialized
(calculated as per convertible form
SCRR) as a % of securities (as a % of
(A+B+C2) diluted share
capital) As a % of
(A+B+C2)
No. of voting rights Total as a % of
(A+B+C)
(A) Promoter  and 4| 2,683,781,555| 2,683,781,555 67.14 2,683,781,555 67.14 67.14 2,683,781,555
Promoter
Group®”
(B) Public 189,465| 1,312,143,576 1,312,143,576 32.82 1,312,143,576 32.82 32.82 1,306,694,873
© Non Promoter- 1 1,474,976 1,474,976 0.04 1,474,976 0.04 0.04 1,474,976
Non Public
(C1) Shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
underlying
Depositary
Receipts
(C2) Shares held by 1 1,474,976 1,474,976 0.04 1,474,976 0.04 0.04 1,474,976
Employee
Trust(s)
Grand Total 189,470| 3,997,400,107 3,997,400,107 100 3,997,400,107 100 100 3,991,951,404
Notes:

* For definitions of Promoter and Promoter Group, refer to the SEBI Listing Regulations.
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(i) Statement showing holding of securities including Equity Shares, warrants and convertible securities of persons belonging to the category “Promoter and Promoter
Group” as on December 31, 2018 is as follows:
Sr. No. Name of Nos. of No. of fully paid | Total nos. of | Shareholding Number of voting rights held in Number of shares | Shareholding, | Number of
shareholder | shareholders | up equity shares | shares held | asa % of total each class of securities pledged or otherwise asa% equity shares
held no. of shares encumbered* assuming full held in
(calculated as No. of As a % | conversion of | dematerialized
per SCRR) as a shares of total convertible form
% of (A+B+C2) shares | securities (as
held (b) | a percentage
of diluted
share capital)
As a % of
(A+B+C2)
No. of voting Total as a % of
rights (A+B+C)
1. BTL® 1 2,002,818,452| 2,002,818,452 50.10 2,002,818,452 50.10 0 0 50.10| 2,002,818,452
2. Indian 1 81,150,803 81,150,803 2.03 81,150,803 2.03 0 0 2.03 81,150,803
Continent
Investment
Limited®
3. Viridian 1 8,493,000 8,493,000 0.21 8,493,000 0.21 0 0 0.21 8,493,000
Limited®
4. Pastel™® 1 591,319,300 591,319,300 14.79 591,319,300 14.79 0 0 14.79 591,319,300
Total 4 2,683,781,555 | 2,683,781,555 67.14 2,683,781,555 67.14 0 0 67.14| 2,683,781,555
Shareholding
of  Promoter
and Promoter
Group

* The term encumbrance has the same meaning as assigned to it in Regulation 28(3) of the SEBI Takeover Regulations.
@ BTL is the Promoter of our Company.
@ Indian Continent Investment Limited is person acting in concert with our Promoter, BTL.
®  Viridian Limited is person acting in concert with Pastel, member of our Promoter Group.
@ Pastel is a member of our Promoter Group in accordance with Regulation 2(1)(t) of the SEBI Takeover Regulations read with Regulation 2(1)(pp) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and is neither our Promoter nor

a person acting in concert with our Promoter, BTL, under Regulation 2(1)(q) of the SEBI Takeover Regulations.
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(iii) Statement showing holding of securities including Equity Shares, warrants and convertible securities of persons belonging to the category “Public” and holding more
than 1% of the total number of Equity Shares as on December 31, 2018 is as follows:
Category Category and No. of No. of fully No. of Total no. of | Shareholding as | Number of voting rights held in | Shareholding , as Number of
name of shareholders paid up shares shares held a % of total no. each class of securities a % assuming full | equity shares
shareholder equity shares | underlying of shares conversion of held in
held depository (calculated as convertible dematerialized
receipts per SCRR) as a securities (as a form
% of (A+B+C2) percentage of
diluted share
capital) As a % of
(A+B+C2)
No of voting rights | Total as a %
of (A+B+C)

Institutions

(@) Mutual Funds 32| 346,507,548 0 346,507,548 8.67 346,507,548 8.67 8.67 346,507,548
Franklin 1 46,406,645 0 46,406,645 1.16 46,406,645 1.16 1.16 46,406,645
Templeton Mutual
Fund A/C Franklin
India Taxshield
ICICI  Prudential 1| 142,583,423 0 142,583,423 3.57 142,583,423 3.57 3.57 142,583,423
Value Fund -
Series 4
SBI Arbitrage 1 66,321,525 0 66,321,525 1.66 66,321,525 1.66 1.66 66,321,525
Opportunities Fund

(b) Foreign  Portfolio 602| 685,621,631 0 685,621,631 17.15 204,860,979 17.15 17.15 685,621,631
Investors

() Insurance 19| 204,860,979 0 204,860,979 5.12 149,203,683 1.02 5.12 204,860,979
Companies
ICICI  Prudential 1 40,932,542 0 40,932,542 1.02 346,507,548 3.73 1.02 40,932,542
Life Insurance
Company Limited
Life Insurance 1| 149,203,683 0 149,203,683 3.73 46,406,645 17.15 3.73 149,203,683

Corporation of
India -
ULIF00218091

72




® airtel

No Equity Shares have been acquired by our Promoter or members of the Promoter Group in the last one
year immediately preceding the date of filing of this Draft Letter of Offer.

No Equity Shares held by our Promoter or members of our Promoter Group have been locked-in, pledged
or encumbered as of the date of this Draft Letter of Offer.

Subscription to the Issue by our Promoter and Promoter Group

Our Promoter, BTL, and members of our Promoter Group have undertaken to subscribe to the full extent of
their Rights Entitlement amongst themselves, in accordance with Regulation 10(4)(a) of the SEBI Takeover
Regulations, subject to compliance with the minimum public shareholding requirements, as prescribed
under the SCRR, except a part renunciation by our Promoter, BTL, of 227,272,727 Equity Shares out of its
Rights Entitlement in favour of GIC. GIC, on behalf of Government of Singapore and Monetary Authority
of Singapore has also confirmed to subscribe to this renounced entitlement of 227,272,727 Equity Shares in
the Issue by way of a letter dated March 1, 2019.

The eligible members of our Promoter Group reserve the right to subscribe either itself and/or through
investors for additional Equity Shares in the Issue, including in an event of under-subscription in this Issue,
subject to the aggregate shareholding of our Promoter and members of our Promoter Group not exceeding
the minimum public shareholding requirements under applicable law.

The acquisition of Rights Equity Shares by our Promoter and members of our Promoter Group, over and
above their Rights Entitlement, as applicable, or subscription of the unsubscribed portion of the Issue by
such investors, shall not result in a change of control of the management of our Company. Our Company is
in compliance with Regulation 38 of the SEBI Listing Regulations and will continue to comply with the
minimum public shareholding requirements pursuant to the Issue.

Details of options and convertible securities outstanding as on the date of filing of this Draft Letter of
Offer

Except as provided below, there are no outstanding options or convertible securities, including any
outstanding warrants or rights to convert debentures, loans or other instruments convertible into the Equity
Shares as on the date of filing of this Draft Letter of Offer.

Employee Stock Option Scheme 2005 (“ESOP 2005”)

Our Company, pursuant to our Board resolution dated July 26, 2005 and our shareholders’ resolution dated
September 6, 2005, adopted ESOP 2005 that came into effect from September 6, 2005. Presently, ESOP
2005 is administered through the Bharti Airtel Employees’ Welfare Trust (erstwhile Bharti Tele-Ventures
Employees Welfare Trust), a trust created pursuant to a trust deed dated March 31, 2001 and implemented
by a committee constituted by our Board (which shall deem to include any committee of our Board
constituted for this purpose including the ESOP Compensation Committee (“ESOP Compensation
Committee™)) for supervising this scheme and approving plans through which options are granted under
this scheme. ESOP 2005 has been subsequently amended on several occasions including, amongst others,
its amendment pursuant to our Board resolution dated October 30, 2014 and shareholders’ resolution dated
April 14, 2015, for ensuring compliance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based
Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014 (“SEBI SBEB Regulations”) and to grant permission to the Bharti
Airtel Employees” Welfare Trust to acquire up to 10,899,159 Equity Shares from the secondary market
from time to time, in one or more tranches for the purposes of ESOP 2005.

ESOP 2005 authorizes the creation, issue, offer and allotment of equity shares not exceeding 9,367,276 in
aggregate (of the face value of % 10 each, as on July 26, 2005), each for cash or such adjusted numbers of
such face value and on such terms and conditions as may be determined by our Board from time to time,
due to any changes in the capital structure of our Company including as a result of splitting up of the face
value of the equity shares. Under ESOP 2005, the minimum vesting period of options is one year from the
grant date and the maximum period in which vested options may be exercised cannot exceed seven years
from the vesting date. In terms of ESOP 2005, the ESOP Compensation Committee has approved the
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Special ESOP Plan — 2010 in its meeting held on April 27, 2010, the Restricted Stock Unit Plan — 2010 in
its meeting held on August 10, 2010 and the Long Term Incentive Plan — 2011 in its meeting held on May
4, 2011 through which the options under ESOP 2005 have been granted, as disclosed below.

As on the date of this Draft Letter of Offer, the details of options pursuant to ESOP 2005 are as follows:

Particulars Number of options
Total number of options 18,734,552
Options granted 7,890,028
Options vested 3,020,175
Options exercised 2,214,257
Options cancelled 2,182,887
Total options outstanding 3,492,884

Employee Stock Option Scheme 2001 (“ESOP 2001”)

Our Company, pursuant to our Board resolution dated February 27, 2001 and our shareholders’ resolution
dated February 27, 2001, adopted ESOP 2001 that was deemed to be effective from September 21, 2001.
Presently, ESOP 2001 is also administered through the Bharti Airtel Employees’ Welfare Trust and
implemented by the ESOP Compensation Committee, which supervises operation of this scheme and
approves plans through which options are granted under this scheme. ESOP 2001 has been subsequently
amended on several occasions including, amongst others, for extending the ESOP 2001 to certain key
managerial personnel of our Company who were not initially covered under this scheme.

ESOP 2001 authorizes the grant of options to subscribe to such number of equity shares of our Company,
initially of the face value of ¥ 10 each, and to issue, allocate and allot such number of equity shares of our
Company at such price, in one or more tranches, to the eligible employees, and to be adjusted in case of any
bonus issue, rights issue, shares split or any similar corporate action and on such terms and conditions as
may be determined by our Board and the ESOP Compensation Committee from time to time. Further, the
minimum vesting period in respect of options shall be one year from the grant date and the period in which
options may be exercised on expiry of the vesting period cannot exceed seven years from the grant date. In
terms of ESOP 2001, the ESOP Compensation Committee has approved the Long Term Incentive Plan —
2013 in its meeting held on May 1, 2013 through which the options under ESOP 2001 have been granted,
as disclosed below.

As on the date of this Draft Letter of Offer, the details of options pursuant to ESOP 2001 are as follows:

Particulars Number of options
Total number of options 31,680,000
Options granted 225,000
Options vested 168,750
Options exercised 160,365
Options cancelled -
Total options outstanding 64,635

The ex-rights price of the Rights Equity Shares is computed in accordance with Regulation 10(4)(b) of the

SEBI Takeover Regulations is ¥ 292.59 per equity share.

At any given time, there shall be only one denomination of the Equity Shares.

All Equity Shares are fully paid-up and there are no partly paid Equity Shares outstanding as on the date of
this Draft Letter of Offer. The Rights Equity Shares, when issued, shall be fully paid-up. For further details

on the terms of the Issue, see “Terms of the Issue” on page 304.
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OBJECTS OF THE ISSUE
Our Company intends to utilize the Net Proceeds from the Issue towards the following objects:
1. Prepayment or repayment of all or a portion of certain borrowings availed by our Company; and

2. General corporate purposes.

The objects as stated in the Memorandum of Association enable us to undertake our existing activities and the
activities for which the funds are being raised by our Company through the Issue and the activities for which the
borrowings proposed to be repaid from the Net Proceeds, were utilised.

Issue Proceeds

The details of the Issue Proceeds are set forth in the table below:
(In % million)

Particulars Amount
Gross Proceeds from the Issue up to” 249,390.04
Less: | Estimated Issue related expenses [e]
Net Proceeds [e]

* assuming full subscription and Allotment.
Requirement of funds and utilisation of Net Proceeds

The proposed utilisation of the Net Proceeds is set forth in the table below:
(In % million)

Particulars Amount
Prepayment or repayment of all or a portion of certain borrowings availed by our Company 215,499
General corporate purposes [o]
Total [e]

Means of Finance

Our Company proposes to meet the entire funding requirements for the proposed objects of the Issue from the Net
Proceeds and identifiable internal accruals. Therefore, our Company is not required to make firm arrangements of
finance through verifiable means towards at least 75% of the stated means of finance, excluding the amount to be
raised from the Issue and existing identifiable internal accruals.

Details of the objects of the Issue
The details in relation to objects of the Issue are set forth herein below.
1. Prepayment or repayment of all or a portion of certain borrowings availed by our Company

Our Company has entered into various financing arrangements with banks and financial institutions. The borrowing
arrangements entered into by our Company includes term loans, working capital loans and commercial papers. Our
Company proposes to utilize an aggregate amount of 215,499 million from the Net Proceeds towards full or partial
repayment or prepayment of the borrowings availed by our Company.

The selection of borrowings proposed to be repaid and / or pre-paid from our facilities set forth below shall be based
on various factors, including (i) cost of the borrowings to our Company, including applicable interest rates; (ii) any
conditions attached to the borrowings restricting our ability to prepay the borrowings and time taken to fulfil, or
obtain waivers for fulfillment of, such requirements, (iii) receipt of consents for prepayment from the respective
lenders, (iv) terms and conditions of any such consents and waivers, (v) levy of any prepayment penalties and the
quantum thereof, (vi) provisions of any law, rules, regulations governing such borrowings, and (vii) other
commercial considerations including, among others, the amount of the loan outstanding and the remaining tenor of
the loan. Given the nature of these borrowings and the terms of repayment or pre-payment, the aggregate
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outstanding borrowing amounts may vary from time to time. In addition to the above, we may, from time to time,
enter into further financing arrangements, such as, by way of issuing commercial papers and draw down funds
thereunder or undertaking financing from banks and financial institutions. In such cases or in case any of the above
borrowings are repaid, refinanced or pre-paid or further drawn-down prior to the completion of the Issue, we may
utilize the Net Proceeds towards repayment or pre-payment of the additional commercial papers issued or additional
banks or financial institutions borrowings, overdrafts taken or drawn or other such additional indebtedness.
However, the aggregate amount to be utilised from the Net Proceeds towards prepayment or repayment of
borrowings (including refinanced or additional borrowings availed, if any), in part or full, would not exceed X
215,499 million.

The prepayment or repayment will help reduce our outstanding indebtedness and debt-servicing costs, assist us in
maintaining a favourable debt to equity ratio and enable utilisation of our internal accruals for further investment in
business growth and expansion. In addition, we believe that the leverage capacity of our Company will improve our
ability to raise further resources in the future to fund potential business development opportunities and plans to grow
and expand our business. The amounts outstanding against the loans disclosed below may vary from time to time, in
accordance with the amounts drawn down and the prevailing interest rates. Some of the below mentioned short term
bank loans can be re-borrowed / rolled over. Accordingly, the amounts proposed to be prepaid and / or repaid
against each facility is indicative and our Company may utilise the Net Proceeds to prepay and / or repay the
facilities disclosed below in accordance with commercial considerations, including amounts outstanding at the time
of prepayment and / or repayment. The following table provides details of borrowings availed by our Company as
on January 31, 2019, which we propose to prepay or repay, in full or in part, from the Net Proceeds:
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(In % million)

S. No. Name of the Nature of Loan Interest | Loan Availed| Outstanding | Amount Proposed| Repayment Date Purpose of Loan*
Lender Borrowing | Drawdown Date| Rate | (Draw Down)| Loan Amount as to be
(%) Amount at January 31, Repaid/Prepaid
2019
1 HDFC Bank Limited| Bank Loan |July 30, 2018 7,000 7,000 7,000( July 30, 2019 Capital expenditure/reimbursement of capital
expenditure
2 HDFC Bank Limited | Bank Loan | October 24, 2018 4,000 4,000 4,000( April 22, 2019 Working capital
3 HDFC Bank Limited| Bank Loan |June 25, 2018 10,000 10,000 10,000| June 24, 2019 Capital expenditure, license fees, spectrum
payments
4 HDFC Bank Limited | Bank Loan | August 29, 2018 9,000 9,000 9,000( August 28, 2019 Ongoing capital expenditure, license fees,
spectrum payments
5 HDFC Bank Limited| Bank Loan |July 30, 2018 14,000 14,000 14,000| October 30, 2020 | Reimbursement of capital expenditure and
license fees for last 12 months and to fund
future capital expenditure
6 |HDFC Bank Limited | Overdraft | NA 550 550 550| Revolving Working capital
7 JP Morgan Chase Bank Loan |January 29, 2019 3,000 3,000 3,000| January 24,2020 | To meet payment commitments in relation to
Bank, N.A. trade payables.
8 | JP Morgan Chase Bank Loan | March 16, 2018 2,650 2,650 2,650| March 15, 2019 To meet payment commitments towards
Bank, N.A. telecom spectrum or capital expenditure
9 JP Morgan Chase Bank Loan |January 29, 2019 | These 7,000 7,000 7,000 April 29, 2019 To meet payment commitments in relation to
Bank, N.A. loans trade payables
10 | Axis Bank Limited | Bank Loan | October 12, 2018| pave a 15,000 15,000 15,000( July 11, 2019 Working capital purpose or any cash flow
11 | Axis Bank Limited | Bank Loan | October 25, 2018| rate of 6,100 6,100 6,100| July 24, 2019 adjustment/refinancing of existing
12 | Axis Bank Limited |Bank Loan |October 31, 2018| interest 5,000 5,000 5,000( July 30, 2019 borrowing/payment towards deferred
ranging spectrum liabilities, license fees/capital
from expenditure in the normal course of
7.6% to business/reimbursement of capital
9% expenditure being made/ bridge loan against
long term financing
13 | Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Loan | October 11, 2018 5,000 5,000 5,000( April 10, 2019 General  corporate  purpose/cash  flow
Banking adjustment
Corporation
14 | Mizuho Bank Bank Loan |January 10, 2019 5,000 5,000 5,000( April 10, 2019 To meet short term cash flow adjustment
Limited
15 | Citibank N.A. Overdraft | NA 2,900 2,900 2,900( Revolving Working capital
16 | Kotak Bank Limited | Bank Loan |June 27, 2018 7,500 7,500 7,500( June 27, 2019 Working capital/cash flow adjustment
17 | ICICI Bank Limited |Bank Loan |June 28,2018 6,000 6,000 6,000( March 29, 2019 Working capital requirements of our
Company
18 |ICICI Bank Limited | Bank Loan | March 28, 2018 20,000 20,000 20,000( December 30, 2022 | Capital expenditure, reimbursement of capital

expenditure for past six months prior to date
of sanction, payment to DoT in respect of
spectrum allotted, any transaction related cost
and expenses
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19 |ICICI Bank Limited | Overdraft | NA 800 800 800| Revolving Working capital
20 | Deutsche Bank AG, |Overdraft | NA 1,880 1,880 1,880| Revolving Working capital
New Delhi Branch
21 | Bank of America, Overdraft | NA 6,970 6,970 6,970 Revolving Working capital
N.A.
22 | INE397D14068 Commercial | September 11, 9,500 9,431 9,431| March 8, 2019 Refinancing of loans
Paper 2018
23 | INE397D14100 Commercial | January 23, 2019 31,000 30,480 30,480( April 23, 2019 Refinancing of overdraft, short term loans and
Paper long term loans
24 | The Hong Kong and | Bank Loan | October 25, 2018 3,750 3,750 3,750( October 18, 2019 | To finance against payables of the borrower
Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited
25 | Deutsche Bank AG, | Buyer's September 28, 3.83% 1,088 1,088 1,088| September 17, Trade advance for financing payment
Singapore Branch Credit 2018 2020 obligations to suppliers
26 | Deutsche Bank AG, |Buyer's October 9, 2018 3.80% 1,400 1,400 1,400| September 30, Trade advance for financing payment
Singapore Branch | Credit 2020 obligations to suppliers
27 | INE397D08029 Debentures | March 13, 2018 8.25% 15,000 15,000 15,000{ April 20, 2020 General corporate purpose
28 | INE397D08037 Debentures | March 13, 2018 8.35% 15,000 15,000 15,000| April 20, 2021 General corporate purpose
Total 216,088 215,499 215,499

* Deloitte Haskins and Sells LLP, Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration Number: 117366W/W-100018) vide its “Report on factual findings in connection with the Agreed upon procedures” dated March 06, 2019 agreed the
loans availed and utilisation thereof with the books of accounts.
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We may utilize the a portion of the Net Proceeds towards repayment/prepayment of loans availed from (i) Axis
Bank Limited which is related to Axis Capital Limited, one of the Lead Managers, (ii) ICICI Bank Limited
which is related to ICICI Securities Limited, one of the Lead Managers (iii) JP Morgan Chase Bank which is
related to J.P. Morgan India Private Limited, one of the Lead Managers and (iv) the Hong Kong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited (“HSBC”) which is related to HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India)
Private Limited, one of the Lead Managers, either in full or in part. However, on account of such relationship
Axis Capital Limited, ICICI Securities Limited, J.P. Morgan India Private Limited and HSBC Securities and
Capital Markets (India) Private Limited do not qualify as associates of our Company in accordance with
Regulation 21(A) (1) of the of the SEBI (Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992 read with Regulation 69(3) of
the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Loans and facilities sanctioned to our Company by Axis Bank Limited, ICICI Bank
Limited, JP Morgan Chase Bank and HSBC, are a part of their normal commercial lending activity.

In due course of business, due to various operational benefits, our Company may explore possibilities of other
banks participating in existing loans either in full or in part, including the loans mentioned above. Some of our
financing agreements provide for the levy of prepayment penalties. Given the nature of these borrowings and the
terms of prepayment, the aggregate outstanding loan amounts may vary from time to time. In the event that there
are any prepayment penalties required to be paid under the terms of the relevant financing agreements, the
amount of such prepayment penalties shall be paid by our Company out of our internal accruals.

2. General Corporate Purposes

Our Company intends to deploy the balance Net Proceeds aggregating to X [e] million towards general corporate
purposes, subject to such utilization not exceeding 25% of the Issue Proceeds, in compliance with applicable
laws, to drive our business growth, including, amongst other things, (a) repayment of commercial papers; (b)
funding growth opportunities, including strategic initiatives; (c) acquiring assets, such as plant and machinery,
furniture and fixtures, and intangibles; (d) meeting any expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business by
our Company and its Subsidiaries, including salaries and wages, rent, administration expenses, insurance related
expenses, and the payment of taxes and duties; (e) meeting our working capital requirements including payment
of interest on borrowings; (f) meeting of exigencies which our Company may face in course of any business, (g)
brand building and other marketing expenses and (h) any other purpose as permitted by applicable laws and as
approved by our Board or a duly appointed committee thereof.

Our management, in response to the competitive and dynamic nature of the industry, will have the discretion to
revise its business plan from time to time and consequently our funding requirement and deployment of funds
may change. This may also include rescheduling the proposed utilization of Net Proceeds and increasing or
decreasing expenditure for a particular object i.e., the utilization of Net Proceeds. In case of a shortfall in the Net
Proceeds, our management may explore a range of options including utilizing our internal accruals or seeking
debt from future lenders. Our management expects that such alternate arrangements would be available to fund
any such shortfall. Our management, in accordance with the policies of our Board, will have flexibility in
utilizing the proceeds earmarked for general corporate purposes. In the event that we are unable to utilize the
entire amount that we have currently estimated for use out of Net Proceeds in a Fiscal, we will utilize such
unutilized amount in the next Fiscal.

Deployment of funds

(In % million)

S. No. Particulars of Objects of Issue Amount proposed Proposed Schedule for
to be funded from | deployment of the Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds Fiscal 2019-20
1. Prepayment or repayment of all or a portion of certain 215,499 215,499
borrowings availed by our Company
2. | General corporate purpose [e] [e]
Total [e] [o]

The above-stated fund requirements and the proposed deployment of funds for pre-payment and/or repayment of
loans and general corporate purposes from the Net Proceeds are based on internal management estimates based
on current market conditions and have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or other
independent agency. For details, see “Risk Factors — Our funding requirements and proposed deployment of the
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Net Proceeds are based on management estimates and have not been independently appraised, and may be
subject to change based on various factors, some of which are beyond our control” on page 44.

Estimated Issue Related Expenses

The total expenses of the Issue are estimated to be [®] million. The break-up of the Issue expenses is as follows:

(unless otherwise specified, in ¥ million)

S. Particulars Amount | Percentage of total estimated | Percentage of
No. Issue expenditure (%) Issue Size (%)
1|/Fee of the Lead Managers, including underwriting [o] [e] [e]
commission
2.| Fee of Registrar to the Issue [e] [e] [e]
3|Fee to the legal advisors, other professional service [e] [e] [e]
providers and statutory fee
4.| Advertising, marketing expenses. [e] [e] [e]
5.| Fees payable to regulators, including Stock Exchanges [e] [e] [e]
6./ Printing, stationery, and distribution of issue stationary
etc.
7. Other expenses (including miscellaneous expenses and [e] [e] [e]
stamp duty)
Total estimated Issue related expenses* [o] [e] [e]

* Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment. In case of any difference between the estimated Issue related expenses and actual expenses
incurred, the shortfall or excess shall adjusted with the amount allocated towards general corporate purposes.

Bridge Financing Facilities

Our Company has not availed any bridge loans from any banks or financial institutions as on the date of this
Draft Letter of Offer, which are proposed to be repaid from the Net Proceeds.

Interim Use of Net Proceeds

Our Company, in accordance with the policies formulated by our Board from time to time, will have flexibility
to deploy the Net Proceeds. Pending utilization of the Net Proceeds for the purposes described above, our
Company intends to deposit the Net Proceeds with scheduled commercial banks included in the second schedule
of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

Monitoring Utilization of Funds from the Issue

Our Company shall appoint a Monitoring Agency for the Issue prior to the filing of the Letter of Offer. Our
Board and the Monitoring Agency will monitor the utilization of Net Proceeds and submit its report to our
Company in terms of Regulation 82 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Our Company will disclose the utilization of
the Net Proceeds under a separate head along with details in our balance sheet(s) along with relevant details for
all the amounts that have not been utilised and will indicate instances, if any, of unutilised Net Proceeds in our
balance sheet for the relevant Fiscals post receipt of listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges.
Pursuant to Regulation 82(4) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and Regulation 32 of the SEBI Listing Regulations,
our Company shall, within 45 days from the end of each quarter, publicly disseminate the report of the
Monitoring Agency on our website as well as submit the same to the Stock Exchange(s), including the statement
indicating deviations, if any, in the use of proceeds from the objects stated above. Such statement of deviation
shall be placed before the Audit Committee for review, before its submission to Stock Exchanges. The
Monitoring Agency shall submit its report to our Company, on a quarterly basis, until at least 95% of the
proceeds of the issue, excluding the proceeds raised for general corporate purposes, have been utilised.

Pursuant to Regulation 32 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, our Company shall, on an annual basis, prepare a
statement of funds utilised for purposes other than those stated above and place it before the Audit Committee,
until such time the full money raised through the Issue has been fully utilized. The statement shall be certified by
the Statutory Auditors of our Company. The Audit Committee shall review the report submitted by the
Monitoring Agency and make recommendations to our Board for further action, if appropriate.

Appraising entity

None of the objects of the Issue for which the Net Proceeds will be utilised has been appraised.
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Interest of Promoter, Promoter Group and Directors, as applicable to the objects of the Issue

No part of the proceeds of the Issue will be paid by our Company to our Promoters, our Promoter Group, our
Directors or key management personnel.
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STATEMENT OF SPECIAL TAX BENEFITS

The Board of Directors

Bharti Airtel Limited

Bharti Crescent, 1, Nelson Mandela Road,
Vasant Kunj, Phase — 11,

New Delhi — 110 070,

India

Dear Sirs,

Sub: Statement of possible Special Tax Benefits (“the Statement”), as required under Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2018, as amended (“the
Regulations”), available in connection with proposed Rights Issue of Equity Shares (the “Rights Issue”) of
Bharti Airtel Limited (the “Company”) and available to its material subsidiary, namely Bharti Infratel Limited,
(herein after referred to as material subsidiary) and their respective shareholders.

We refer to the proposed Rights Issue by the Company. We enclose herewith the Statement showing the current
positions of special tax benefits available to the Company, its material subsidiary and their shareholders as per
the provisions of Income-tax Act, 1961 as applicable to financial year 2018-19. Several of these benefits are
dependent on the Company, its material subsidiary or their respective shareholders fulfilling the conditions
prescribed under the relevant provisions of the statute. Hence, the ability of the Company, its material
subsidiary or their respective shareholders to derive these tax benefits is dependent upon their fulfilling such
conditions.

The possible special tax benefits discussed in the enclosed annexure are not exhaustive. This Statement is only
intended to provide general information to investors and is neither designed nor intended to be a
substitute for professional tax advice. In view of the individual nature of the tax consequences and the changing
tax laws, each investor is advised to consult his or her own tax consultant with respect to the specific tax
implications arising out of their participation in the Rights Issue particularly in view of the fact that
certain recently enacted legislation may not have a direct legal precedent or may have a different interpretation
on the benefits, which an investor can avail. Neither are we suggesting nor are we advising the investor
to invest money based on this Statement.

The benefits discussed in the Statement are only intended to provide the possible special tax benefits
available to the Company, its material subsidiary and their respective shareholders in a general and
summarised manner and does not purport to be a complete analysis or listing of all the provisions or possible
tax consequences of the subscription, purchase, ownership or disposal etc. of shares.

The tax benefits listed herein are only the possible special benefits which may be available under the
current tax laws presently in force in India. Several of these benefits are dependent on the Company, its material
subsidiary or their respective shareholders fulfilling the conditions prescribed under the relevant tax laws, which
based on business imperative it faces in the future, it may or may not choose to fulfil.

We do not express any opinion or provide any assurance as to whether:

(i) The Company, its material subsidiary or their respective shareholders will continue to obtain these benefits
in future;

(ii) The conditions prescribed for availing the benefits have been/would be met with;

(iii) The revenue authorities/courts will concur with the views expressed herein.

The contents of the enclosed statement are based on the representations obtained from the Company and on the
basis of our understanding of the business activities and operations of the Company and its material subsidiary.

We hereby give our consent to include enclosed Statement regarding the tax benefits available to the
Company, its material subsidiary and their respective shareholders in the Draft Letter of Offer for the Rights
Issue which the Company intends to file with the Securities and Exchange Board of India, the BSE
Limited, the National Stock Exchange of India Limited and any other authorities in connection with the
Rights Issue provided that the below statement of limitation is included in the Draft Letter of Offer.
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Our views expressed in the Statement enclosed are based on the facts and assumptions indicated above.
No assurance is given that the revenue authorities/courts will concur with the views expressed herein. Our views
are based on the existing provisions of law and its interpretation, which are subject to change from time to time.
We do not assume responsibility to update the views consequent to such changes. Reliance on the Statement is
on the express understanding that we do not assume responsibility towards the investors who may or may not
invest in the Rights Issue relying on the Statement.

This Statement has been prepared solely in connection with the Rights Issue under the Regulations as amended
and should not be used by any other person or for any other purpose. Accordingly, we do not accept or assume
any liability or any duty of care for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into
whose hands it may come without our prior consent in writing.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP
Chartered Accountants
(Firm Registration No. 117366W/W-100018)

Nilesh Lahoti
Partner
(Membership No. 130054)

Place: New Delhi
Date: March 6, 2019
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Statement of possible special tax benefits available to Bharti Airtel Limited (the “Company”), its material
subsidiary, namely Bharti Infratel Limited, (herein after referred to as material subsidiary) and their
respective shareholders

1. Special tax benefits available to the Company under the Income-tax Act, 1961 (“Act”)

. The Company is eligible to claim a deduction under section 35ABA (capital expenditure on spectrum)
and section 35ABB (capital expenditure on telecom licence). These sections allow a deduction (on a
deferred basis) in computing profits and gains from business, over the period of validity of the spectrum
/ licence fees. These deductions will be available to the Company till:

- Section 35ABA (capital expenditure on spectrum) — Upto FY 2035-36
- Section 35ABB (capital expenditure on telecom licence)-Upto FY 2034-35

2. Special tax benefits available to the shareholders of the Company and its material subsidiary
under the Act

o No special tax benefits are available to the shareholders of Company and its material subsidiary under
the Act.

3. Special tax benefits available to a material subsidiary of the Company namely, Bharti Infratel

Limited, (herein after referred to as material subsidiary)

. No special tax benefits are available to the material subsidiary of Company under the Act.
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SECTION IV: ABOUT OUR COMPANY
OUR BUSINESS

In this section, unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to our Company
together with our Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associate Companies, and references to “our Company” are
to Bharti Airtel Limited only.

Unless otherwise stated, the financial information used in this section is derived from the audited consolidated
financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2018 and the audited consolidated financial
statements of our Company as at and for the nine month period ended December 31, 2018.

Some of the information in the following section, especially information with respect to our plans and strategies,
contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. The information relating to the
industry outlook of Indian telecom industry in this section is derived from the report titled “Cisco Visual
Networking Index 2017 ”and the information relating to the industry outlook of sub-Saharan African telecom
industry in this section is derived from website GSMA Intelligence and report titled “GSMA Mobile Money State
of the Industry 2018 Report .

Overview

We provide telecom services under wireless and fixed line technology, national and international long distance
connectivity and digital TV services, and complete integrated telecom solutions to our enterprise customers. All
these services are rendered under a unified brand “airtel”. ‘Airtel Money’ (known as ‘Airtel Payments Bank’ in
India) extends our product portfolio to further our financial inclusion agenda and offers convenience of payments
and money transfers on mobile phones over secure and stable platforms in India, and across all 15 countries in
Africa. Our Company also owns tower infrastructure pertaining to telecom operations through its subsidiary and
joint venture entity.

We are one of the world’s leading integrated providers of telecommunication services with presence in 18
countries representing India, Sri Lanka, 14 countries in Africa and associate/Joint Ventures in Bangladesh and
Ghana. As per the United Nations, data published on January 01, 2013, the population of these 18 countries
represents around 27% of the world’s population.

We serve approximately 404 million customers, as of December 31, 2018, and retain a diversified service
portfolio which includes, mobile, voice and data solutions, using 2G, 3G and 4G technologies, fixed line
services, broadband services, digital TV services, an integrated suite of telecom solutions for our customers,
enterprise business solutions, besides providing long distance connectivity in India, Africa and the rest of the
world. Globally, we operate with a cable network covering over 250,000 route kilometers (“RKMS”), as of
December 2018 and in India, our national long distance infrastructure provides a pan-India reach with 273,600
RKMs of optical fiber, as of December 31, 2018. Our Company also deploys and manages passive tower
infrastructure pertaining to telecom operations through its Subsidiary, Bharti Infratel, which also owns 42% of
Indus Towers, a joint venture entity, as of December 31, 2018. Together, Bharti Infratel and Indus Towers are
the passive tower infrastructure service providers in India.

Mobile Services

We are the world’s second largest mobile operator by subscriber base, during quarter ended December 31, 2018.
(Source: GSMA Intelligence). We are the second largest mobile telecom operator in India in terms of number of
mobile telecom subscribers (Source: TRAI) and have a wireless subscriber market share of 28.93% for the
quarter ended December 31, 2018. Based on TRAI Reported Revenue, for the quarter ended December 31, 2018,
we had a Revenue Market Share (“RMS”) of approximately 30% calculated on the basis of AGR, plus National
Long Distance Services (AGR + NLD AGR). For the quarter ended December, 2018, we had 340.26 million
subscribers (Source: TRAI), and carried approximately 702.8 billion voice minutes and approximately 3,217
billion MB of data volume.

In May 2018, a merger of Telenor into our Company was completed. For details, see “History and Corporate

Structure — Details regarding material mergers, demergers and amalgamation” on page 100. Further, the
consumer mobile businesses of Tata Teleservices Limited and Tata Teleservices Maharashtra Limited are in the
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process of being merged with our Company. For details, see “History and Corporate Structure — Details
regarding material mergers, demergers and amalgamation” on page 100.

As on December 31, 2018, we have an aggregate of 1588.90 MHz unpaired spectrum across 22 telecom circles,
of which 1390.10 MHz is liberalized and the remaining 198.80 MHz has been administratively allocated. Hence,
our spectrum market share is well aligned to our overall RMS. Equally we have invested in creating a wide
spread data network. As on December 31, 2018, we had 175, 300 network towers in India, of which, 164,859
were mobile broadband towers. We have deployed a combination of 3G and 4G, with 4G being offered via both
TDD and FDD LTE mechanisms. Hence, we had 371,562 mobile broadband base stations as on December 31,
2018.

Tower Infrastructure Services

Bharti Infratel, one of our Subsidiaries, is a provider of tower and related infrastructure and holds 42% equity
interest in Indus, as on December 31, 2018. The business of Bharti Infratel and Indus is to acquire, build, own
and operate tower and related infrastructure. Bharti Infratel and Indus currently provide access to their towers
primarily to wireless telecom service providers on a shared basis, under long-term contracts. As of December 31,
2018, Bharti Infratel owned and operated 40,192 towers in 11 telecom circles while Indus operated 124,069
towers in 15 telecom circles. Hence, through a combination of Indus and Infratel, we have a nationwide presence
with operations in all 22 telecom circles in India, with Bharti Infratel and Indus operations overlapping in 4
telecom circles. With Bharti Infratel’s towers and Bharti Infratel’s 42% interest in Indus, we have an economic
interest in the equivalent of 92,301 towers in India on consolidated basis as of December 31, 2018. During the
quarter ended June 30, 2018, Bharti Infratel has entered into a scheme of amalgamation for the merger of Bharti
Infratel with Indus Towers. For details, see “History and Corporate Structure — Details regarding material
mergers, demergers and amalgamation” on page 100.

Homes Services

We are the largest private wired broadband service provider in the country with a customer market share of
12.5% of the pan-India wired broadband internet market as of December 31, 2018 (Source: Calculated based on
TRAI data). We had approximately 2.27 million wired broadband internet customers as of December 31, 2018
(Source: TRAI). We have invested significantly to develop our fiber broadband network, and invested heavily to
upgrade speeds of the existing network using vectorization technology and deployment of FTTH. Our
investments are designed to grow our fiber broadband network, which enables us to drive revenue growth by
providing high-speed broadband internet access and relevant content.

Digital TV Services

As of September 30, 2018, we are one of the largest digital TV service providers in India (Source: Calculated
based on TRAI data). As of December 31, 2018, we had 15.0 million subscribers for our digital TV business. We
distribute multiple television channels and allied video and audio services to subscribers as part of our digital TV
services offering. We bring to our subscribers digital quality television viewing and, as of December 31, 2018,
carried over 694 channels and services, including 78 HD channels, five international channels and three
interactive services.

Our Company has continuously innovated in order to drive the convergence of multiple products across home,
including content via linear as well as internet-based platforms. To this end, Airtel launched a new set-top box
powered by Android which comes with pre-installed OTT apps, allowing the integration of multiple TV
platforms. Airtel’s Internet TV — 4K hybrid set-top box, powered by Android TV, has won the ‘Tech Peripheral
of the Year’ award at the NEXA NDTV Gadget Guru Awards. Additionally, to penetrate the rural markets, we
also launched an HD set top box with USB playback functionality.

With next digitization phases, DTH operators are likely to benefit from a rising subscriber base and higher
market penetration. Innovations in paid TV services and migration from SD to HD boxes have increased
consumption of smart TVs and HD services, thereby, offering more opportunities to service operators like us.

Airtel Business

We are one of the trusted providers of ICT services in India with a diverse portfolio of services offered to
enterprises, governments, carriers and small and medium businesses under the head of ‘Airtel Business’.

86



® airtel

We offer global connectivity, voice and message termination services. Our global fiber cable network (excluding
India) runs across 250,000 RKMs, covering 50 countries and five continents.

For enterprises and governments, we offer solutions by way of audio, video and web conferencing apart from
core connectivity. Our services also include network integration, data centers, cloud, managed services,
enterprise mobility applications and digital media. Strong economic growth, aided by shift to digital and on-
demand business models with a growing need for any time anywhere connectivity for enterprises and the Gol’s
push for digitization, are fueling demand for telecom services from enterprises, smart cities and governments or
governmental agencies.

For small and medium businesses, we provide solutions for fixed-line voice (PRIs), data, and other connectivity
solutions like DSL, ILP, MPLS, VoIP and SIP trunking. Small and medium enterprises (“SMES”) are increasing
with Digital India and Start Up India initiatives creating a larger market. We enable emerging enterprises and
start-ups through understanding their business needs, and offer specific vertical value and simplified bundled
propositions. We also have a robust portfolio and roadmap of cloud applications targeting SMEs, small
office/lhome office and start-ups, providing them scalable and upgradable solutions with reduced upfront
investments and unique payment platforms.

Digital Services — OTT Application

We have also launched three OTT media applications in the digital media space in India, ‘Wynk Music’, ‘Airtel
TV’ and ‘Airtel Books’. “Wynk Music’ had over 120 million user downloads in India, as of December 31, 2018.
As of December 31, 2018, average songs streamed on Wynk Music were approximately 1.6 billion songs/month.
‘Airtel TV’ has over 90 million user downloads in India and provides 375 linear channels with over 10,000
movies and shows in its library in 14 languages, along with curated exclusive content. ‘Airtel TV’ has an
average of 1.2 billion minutes of watch-time per month. We have strategic partnerships with a host of OTT
platforms for content, including ‘Netflix’, ‘Amazon Prime’ and ‘Zee5’, which in turn enables us to increase
stickiness of high ARPU customers. ‘Airtel Books’ is our latest addition to the foray of digital OTT applications,
which provides access to catalogue of e-books at affordable pricing.

Africa

We are present in 14 countries in Africa, namely, Nigeria, Chad, Congo, Democratic Republic of Congo, Gabon,
Madagascar, Niger, Kenya, Malawi, Seychelles, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia and Rwanda, as of December 31,
2018. We also operate in Ghana through a Joint Venture. We offer post-paid, pre-paid, roaming, broadband
services, content, media and entertainment, and enterprise business solutions. 3G, 4G data and m-Commerce
(Airtel Money) are the next growth engines for us in Africa. We offer 3G services, Airtel Money across all 14
countries and 4G services in 11 countries of Africa. As of December 31, 2017, our Company had an aggregate
customer base of approximately 84 million, which increased at a growth of 16% to approximately 98 million as
of December 31, 2018. As of December 31, 2018, we had aggregate data customers of approximately 29 million,
which were approximately 23 million as on December 31, 2017. Total minutes on network during the quarter
were registered to be 52 billion, as on December 31, 2018. Data usage per customer during the quarter ended
December 31, 2018 was at 1,248 MBs, as compared to 997 MBs during the quarter ended December 31, 2017.
As on December 31, 2017, our Company had aggregate Airtel Money active customers base of approximately 10
million, which increased at a growth of 32% to approximately 14 million as on December 31, 2018. As on
December 31, 2018, we had 20,582 network towers of which 15,734 are mobile broadband towers, which were
19,054 network towers as on December 31, 2017 of which 16,863 were mobile broadband towers. As on
December 31, 2018, we had total 29,650 mobile broadband base stations. Capital expenditure during the quarter-
ended December 31, 2018 was USD 170 million for African operations, which was largely on account of
investment in data capacities and network modernization. Airtel Africa Limited, our subsidiary and holding
entity of Africa operations of the group has appointed global banks for an intended IPO on an international stock
exchange.

Revenues
Our segmental total revenues and the EBITDA from the mobile services India, Airtel business, homes services,

tower infrastructure services, digital TV business in India and Africa business, for the nine months ended
December, 2018, Fiscal 2018 and nine months ended December, 2017 were as follows:
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Our consolidated total revenues for the nine months ended December, 2018, Fiscal 2018 and nine months ended
December, 2017 were X 610,217 million, X 836,879 million and X 640,536 million, respectively, and the
EBITDA, for the same periods, was X 194,239 million, X 303,279 million and X 233,227 million respectively.
For the same periods, our consolidated profit for the period was % 11,114 million, % 21,835 million and X 17,645
million, respectively.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that we are well positioned to exploit the growth opportunities in the rapidly expanding telecom
industry. Our key competitive strengths are set out below.

1. Presence in large and attractive markets

We are present in markets of India, South Asia and Africa, which are still underpenetrated and where demand for
telecom services is expected to rise, as these economies expand and penetration of telecom services increase.

India is the second largest telecom market in the world, along with being the second largest smartphone market
in the world and with the second highest internet users in the world (Source: Cisco Visual Networking Index
2017 (“Cisco VNI”)). The number of internet users in India is expected to grow significantly. India is expected
to have 840 million total internet users by 2022 (60% of the population) up from 357 million (27% of the
population) in 2017 (Source: Cisco VNI). Smartphones have become the predominant gateway to internet for
customers across age groups and geographies, and rapidly proliferating 4G networks will help accelerate market
transformation. Smart phones will account for 38% of all networked devices by 2022 i.e., 829 million, compared
to 26% in 2017 i.e., 404.1 million (Source: Cisco VNI). Data usage of smartphones in 2022 will average 17.5
GB/month, up from 3.5 GB/month in 2017 (Source: Cisco VNI). The average fixed broadband speed will grow
from 9.5 mbps in 2017 to 31.2 mbps in 2022 (Source: Cisco VNI).

The telecom industry in India has experienced unprecedented levels of growth in voice and data traffic. Voice
minutes of usage per customer have increased from 405 minutes/subscriber (GSM) in December 2015 to 726
minutes/subscriber (GSM+LTE) in December 2018 (Source: TRAI). Data usage per subscriber grew from 843
MB in December 2015 to 10528 MB in December 2018 (Source: TRAI). We have strong growth potential in
rural and semi-urban markets. As on December, 2018, overall telecom penetration in India i.e., the number of
wireless subscribers per 100 people was 91.45%, of which urban penetration was 159.98% and rural penetration
was 59.50 % (Source: TRAI).

Mobile has become a platform of choice for creating, distributing and consuming innovative digital solutions in
Africa. Mobile devices are now the primary means through which large number of internet users in sub-Saharan
Africa accesses the internet. At the end of 2018, there were 463 million unique mobile subscribers in Sub-
Saharan Africa, equivalent to a penetration rate of 45% (Source: GSMA Intelligence). The CAGR of 4.4% is
expected over the next seven years with more than 625 million unique mobile subscribers by 2025 (Source:
GSMA Intelligence). The number of smartphone connections in Sub- Saharan Africa is expected to rise to 700
million by 2025, an increase of nearly 400 million, from 308 million smartphones in 2018 (Source: GSMA
Intelligence). Smartphone adoption is expected to grow from 39% in 2018 to 60% in 2025. Mobile internet
penetration is expected to grow from 24% i.e., 244 million internet subscribers in 2018 to 40% i.e., 488 million
internet subscribers in 2025 (Source: GSMA Intelligence). The expanding mobile money ecosystem offers new
opportunities for productivity and efficiency gains to governments, businesses and individuals, as mobile money
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has developed from traditional payments to provide access to more complex financial products. The number of
registered mobile money accounts in Sub-Saharan Africa reached 395 million in 2018, with total transaction
volume and value of USD 1.7 billion and USD 26.8 billion, respectively, during the year (Source: GSMA Mobile
Money State of the Industry 2018 Report).

2. Established leadership position and large subscriber base

We are the second largest mobile telecom operator in India in terms of number of mobile telecom subscribers
and reported revenue (Source: TRAI). As on December 31, 2018, we had 340 million customers and our
subscriber market share stood at 28.93% (Source: TRAI) and revenue market share stood at 30.0% (AGR+NLD
AGR) (Source: TRAI). As on December 31, 2018, we are the world’s second largest mobile operator by
subscriber base (Source: GSMA Intelligence).

For the quarter ended December 31, 2018, in terms of number of mobile telecom subscribers, we are the largest
operator in 10 telecom circles which are, Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Bihar, Himachal Pradesh, Jammu & Kashmir,
Karnataka, North East, Odisha, Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan, the second largest operator in three telecom circles,
which are Delhi, Uttar Pradesh East and West Bengal and the third largest in seven telecom circles which are
Gujarat, Kolkata, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Mumbai, Punjab, Uttar Pradesh West. As of December 31,
2018, we are one of the largest operators in digital TV service business and largest private wired broadband
service provider (Source: TRAI). In Nigeria, which is our largest market in Africa, we are the second ranked
operator based on customers, as on December 31, 2018 (Source: Nigerian Communications Commission —
Industry Statistics).

We believe that our established leadership position allows us to capitalize on any growth opportunities in the
future.

3. Extensive telecom infrastructure built out to support future growth

Our mobile telecom operations cover a population of 95.3% in India, as on December 31, 2018. We continued to
invest in building data capabilities to provide a world-class network to our customers. The consolidated capex
investment for Fiscal 2018 and nine months ended December 31, 2018 were X 268, 176 million and T 224,691
million, respectively.

We have abundant spectrum to roll out superior data networks. We have an aggregate of 1,588.9 MHz of
unpaired spectrum across 22 telecom circles.

Capacity at hotspots is being addressed by deploying combination of massive MIMO and sector splitting. Small
cells are also being deployed in high traffic areas. We are also in the process of refarming our 900 MHz band
spectrum in selected circles for using towards 4G services. This is expected to provide deeper in-building 4G
coverage for better VOLTE and data experience. We have also initiated refarming our 2100 band spectrum,
currently used for 3G, to 4G.

To cater to this exponential data demand, we have also been investing in fibre, backhaul and transmission. Our
optical fibre cable transmission network either owned or through IRU arrangements mainly with other telecom
operators, extends to approximately 273,600 RKMs as of December 31, 2018. Given the significant growth in
data consumption, the need for more extensive fiber network is becoming critical. We have established a
dedicated fiber company, Telesonic Networks Limited, which will provide the requisite India based fiber
network.

These investments resulted in our Company being named as the ‘fastest mobile network in India’ by Ookla, a
reputed firm in internet speed test for three consecutive times in a row.

Our global fiber network runs across 250,000 RKMs, covering 50 countries and five continents, as of December
31, 2018, which while serving our enterprise solutions business, also enables to bring data closer to India and
reduce latency for our customers.

We are one of the largest providers of tower and related infrastructure in India, based on the number of towers

that Bharti Infratel owns and operates and the number of towers owned or operated by Indus that are represented
by Bharti Infratel’s 42% equity interest in Indus. As of December, 2018, we have 175,300 network towers and
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164,859 mobile broadband towers in India. In Africa, as of December, 2018, we have 20,582 network towers and
15,734 mobile broadband towers.

4, Extensive distribution and service network

We maintain an extensive sales and distribution network covering both rural and urban geographies across India,
with over 1.1 million retail outlets taking our bouquet of product offerings to end consumers. These outlets are
serviced by 13,000 distribution partners. Retail outlets are digitally empowered to sell Airtel services to the
customers using ‘Mitra Application’.

We believe our exclusive retail footprint is a key differentiator, including for supporting high value subscribers
and products such as mobile internet. Our exclusive retail footprint is an integral part of our customer acquisition
and engagement strategy, designed to bring the Airtel brand closer to our customers.

We also have a growing digital distribution presence through Airtel online shop and My Airtel app. Digital
distribution channel is cost-efficient compared to traditional channels and enhances customer experience. Our
distribution reach is further expanded by 18,000 dedicated promoters who are promoting Airtel products in
device selling outlets. We empower our promoters to do intelligent selling using promoter app. We also have a
growing digital distribution presence through Airtel online shop and My Airtel app. Digital distribution channel
is cost-efficient compared to traditional channels and enhances customer experience. As of December 31, 2018,
My Airtel application has over 23.5 million subscribers, which constitute approximately 17.6% of the
smartphone subscriber base of our Company.

5. Strong brand presence

We offer our services under our flagship brand ‘airtel’. We support the ‘airtel” brand with extensive market
research and a focused marketing strategy in India and Africa, including national and regional television
advertisement campaigns as well as campaigns in mix-media platforms including print, outdoor and digital. We
believe that the strength of our brand ‘airtel” and our advertising campaigns have contributed significantly to our
strong market position, subscriber growth and loyalty. Our brand is widely recognized in India and Africa, where
we operate.

These campaigns have helped us to further fortify the ‘airtel” brand, which is reflected with highest-ever, scores
on key brand metrics of saliency and consideration.

We believe that we have been able to strengthen our brand equity through our segmented marketing strategies
across geographies and demographic variables e.g., age, income, social groups. We have created famous
campaigns like “Har Ek friend Jaruri hota hai” or “Jo tera hai wo mera hai” which targeted our growing young
customers and created a great degree of emotional affinity towards, and connect with, the “airtel” brand. During
the last couple of years, we also strengthened our innovation and category leader credentials with initiatives like
“Postpaid Promise” — wherein we redefined the postpaid category, “Launch of Airtel TV” in OTT space,
campaigns like “Sab Kuch Try Karo, Phir Sahi Chuno” and launching the category’s first reward program with
“Airtel Thanks”. We have recently introduced our new logo to reposition our brand as a young, energetic and
international brand. We undertake these marketing strategies in consultation with external marketing and
advertising agencies.

The focus of our communication is to clearly bring the benefits of our products and services to our customers.
Further, our strong brand presence is backed by an extensive distribution footprint in India and Africa across
rural and urban areas. We also have a growing digital distribution presence through My Airtel app.

Our brand excellence is confirmed by several awards. Bharti Airtel was honored in the categories of ‘Best Brand
Loyalty Marketing Campaign’ and ‘Excellence in CSR - Best Organisation Transformation’ at the ‘Asian
Customer Engagement Forum and Awards’ in 2017. Bharti Airtel was ranked second in the ‘Brand Finance India
100 (2018)’- an annual report on the most valuable Indian brands. Bharti Airtel was also ranked fourth in the
‘BrandZ Top 75 Most Valuable Indian Brands 2018’ report. Bharti Airtel was ranked amongst the top 100 firms
in the list of ‘Most Innovative Companies’ in the world by Forbes —2018. Bharti Airtel was rated as the fastest
mobile network in India by ‘Ookla’ for the third time in a row. We have consistently focused on our positioning
as the fastest network, as certified by Ookla in our recent campaigns to differentiate ourselves from our
competitors.
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6. Experienced management team with strong execution track record and backed by global investors

We believe that we benefit significantly from having an experienced management team with a successful record
of accomplishment, including Mr. Sunil Bharti Mittal, our Chairman, Mr. Gopal Vittal, our Managing Director
and CEO (India and South Asia), Mr. Raghunath Mandava, our Managing Director and CEO (Africa), and Mr.
Badal Bagri, our Chief Financial Officer and other management personnel.

Our management team has been involved in the telecom industry in India for a significant period. During this
time, our management team has developed sector-specific knowledge and operational expertise and an in-depth
understanding of the key opportunities and risks associated with our business. For details, see “Our
Management” on page 103. Their expertise in the industry is reflected in our ability to maintain our position as
the second largest telecom operator in India measured by RMS, in spite of significant competition and new
entrant in the market. Extreme pricing pressure accelerated market exits and industry consolidation. We have
capitalized on the emerging opportunities and completed the acquisitions of Tikona Digital Networks and
Telenor India. We have entered into agreements with Tata Teleservices Limited (TTSL) and Tata Teleservices
(Maharashtra) Limited (TTML) to merge their Consumer Mobile Business (“CMB”). Further, we have entered
into a scheme of amalgamation for the merger of Bharti Infratel with Indus Towers. The combined company,
which will fully own the respective businesses, will be named to Indus Towers Limited and will continue to be
listed on the Indian stock exchanges. We believe that the experience of our management provides us with an
advantage in commercial negotiations with suppliers, customers, identifying cost and operational efficiencies,
anticipating, avoiding potential execution roadblocks, completing expansion, and roll out plans on time and
within budget, in India as well as in Africa.

Strengthening the balance sheet remains a key priority and towards this end, six leading global investors
comprising Warburg Pincus, Temasek, Singtel, SoftBank Group International and others have invested USD
1.25 billion in Airtel Africa Limited, our subsidiary and holding entity of Africa operations of the group, through
a primary equity issuance. Further, Qatar Investment Authority, the sovereign wealth fund of the State of Qatar
has invested USD 200 million through a primary equity issuance in Airtel Africa Limited. We believe that the
knowledge and expertise generated by their experience will prove to be a crucial advantage as we look to expand
and develop our business. We also emphasize on a strict observance of the corporate governance norms
prescribed under law.

Our Strategies
We intend to continue to grow our business through implementing the following strategies:
1. Prudently maintain and grow our 4G subscriber market share in the mobile telecom industry

We operate in the highly competitive mobile telecom industry in India, which has grown significantly in recent
years. The growth in the number of data subscribers of mobile telecom services is expected to increase due to a
significant increase in mobile data usage and interest in digital content and smartphone penetration. We are the
second largest mobile telecom operator in India in terms of number of mobile telecom subscribers (as reported
by TRAI) and based on TRAI Reported Revenue, for the quarter ended December 31, 2018, and intend to
leverage such position to increase our market share of the primary 4G SIM slot through attractive bundled
pricing plans, partnerships with content companies for bundling their services with ours, adjacent plays to drive
stickiness , such as Airtel Payments Bank and by driving upgrades through device partnerships and offers. For
example, in Fiscal 2018, we launched ‘Mera Pehla Smartphone’ initiative to introduce affordable 4G
smartphones bundled with Airtel mobile network in the Indian market. Further, ‘Airtel Online Store’ was
introduced in Fiscal 2018 with devices from multiple vendors including premium devices, which could be made
affordable for Airtel customers through third party financing options. We intend to consider more such
opportunities to grow our share of high ARPU customers.

We also launched a loyalty program Airtel Thanks’ to ensure customers have an incentive to upgrade to higher
value plans by providing exciting offers and benefits.

Further, we have also adopted various measures to lock-in post-paid customers through many initiatives such as

handset security, free music and TV, free Amazon prime membership, data roll-over, among others, beyond the
traditional services.
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2. Invest in our telecom network to enhance user experience and deliver a differentiated value
proposition to our customers

We are focused on delivering premium, high-speed and reliable telecom services to our customers. We have
successfully grown our aggregate telecom customer base from 357 million as of March 31, 2016 to 404 million
as of December 31, 2018, and intend to continue to retain our existing customer base and grow our market share
by continuing to offer high speed and reliable mobile telecom services at competitive prices and providing high-
quality customer support services.

During this period, our data customer base has grown from approximately 58 million as of March 31, 2016 to
approximately 108 million as of December 31, 2018. As of December 31, 2018, 77 million customers were using
4G services on our network.

Airtel was rated as the fastest mobile network in India by Ookla for each of the last three years. We intend to
enhance our telecom network user experience by improving our network quality through digitization and using
more self-healing and self-evolving networks using newer generation technologies. For example, we entered into
a strategic partnership with a South Korean telecom company in Fiscal 2018 to leverage their expertise in
improving our network experience, machine learning, big data and better customer experience. Further, in Fiscal
2018 we announced the deployment of ‘Massive Multiple-Input Multiple-Output’ (“MIMQO”) in partnership
with Huawei Telecom India as a part of Airtel’s ongoing network transformation program. We intend to consider
more such opportunities.

While we utilize a number of advanced technologies to deliver our services and operate our network, we intend
to continue to invest in our network and technology infrastructure, so that we are able to improve our existing
technology systems or implement new, more advanced technology systems that may be developed. We believe
that this will enable us to continue to deliver high quality, market leading and competitive service offerings,
which will drive our growth.

Additionally, we have significantly simplified our pricing plans. Starting from September 2018, we launched
minimum ARPU plans to ensure that every customer who stays on the network gives us a minimum
commitment.

3. Focus on developing high growth revenue streams such as apps with digital media content,
enterprise, broadband, digital TV and mobile payment bank (“MPS”) businesses, among others

We intend to continue to retain our existing customer base and aggressively grow our market share by continuing
to offer high speed and reliable services in the broadband and digital TV space at competitive prices and
providing high-quality customer support services.

We intent to rapidly grow the Homes Services business and to expand digital TV services business. Towards this
end we have been investing heavily in increasing our homes passes, to accelerate the Broadband business. As of
March 31, 2018, we had passed 10.2 million homes passes with our broadband footprint.

With digitization Phase 11l and 1V, DTH operators are likely to benefit from a rising subscriber base and higher
market penetration. Innovations in paid TV services, migration from SD to HD boxes have increased
consumption of — smart TVs and HD services, offering more opportunities to service operators like us.

Strong economic growth, aided by shift to digital and on-demand business models with a growing need for any
time anywhere connectivity for enterprises and the Gol’s push for digitization, are fuelling demand for telecom
services from enterprises. Our enterprise strategy is to increase our share of wallet of existing customers and gain
new customers by launching new enterprise platforms, thereby increasing our RMS. SMEs are increasing with
digital India and start up India initiatives. We enable emerging enterprises and start-ups through understanding
their business needs and offering specific vertical value propositions. We intend to continue adopting the ready
business solution approach entitling SMEs to scale faster and enhance their operational efficiencies, making their
business responsive to customers. We also have a robust portfolio and roadmap of cloud applications targeting
SMEs, small office/home office and start-ups, providing them scalable and upgradable solutions with reduced
upfront investments and unique payment platforms.

We intend to ensure ‘Wynk Music’ and ‘Airtel TV’ apps continue to enjoy their market leading positions by
focusing on user preferences. With respect to ‘Wynk Music’, we intend to launch industry-first features packaged
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into a highly intelligent product that understands user music preferences and customizes the experience for them
using machine-learning and artificial intelligence. To enhance user experience, we are planning for ‘Wynk
Music’ to (i) include technology integrations and alliances to create a seamless, multi-platform music streaming
experience that caters to the latest trends in music listening, (ii) build social communities around users and
artists, (iii) invest in original and exclusive content, and (iv) introduce vernacular interfaces and expansion of
regional content library. With respect to ‘Airtel TV’, we intend to (i) establish stronger partnerships with
premium video content providers to unlock further value for our customers, (ii) include live sports streaming,
(iii) expand the regional content library, (iv) integrate rich and exclusive content across genres and languages
and (v) introduce technological innovations for a more immersive user experience. We believe that such
measures in our app space will be a significant driver for our revenues.

We are also one of India’s leading providers of data centre services, including co-location, managed services and
cloud solutions, through our Subsidiary, Nxtra Data. We are investing in Internet of Things (1oT) platforms, and
telco-grade networks to drive 10T in the country. We entered into a strategic alliance with Symantec Asia Pacific
Pte. Ltd. (“Symantec”) to serve the growing cyber security requirements of businesses in India, providing
protection and for prevention of online threats.

4. Focus on digitization and cost optimization
We are focused on disciplined investment and prudent cost controls.

Cost optimization is an integral part of our growth strategy to deliver shareholder value. We aim to deliver
savings in operating expenses through targeted cost saving programs with a range of initiatives across different
functions. These include zero based budgeting with fresh look at all cost items to avoid redundant costs, focused
initiatives on reducing low utilisation sites, simplifications to reduce waste and drive efficiency in administrative
costs. We also periodically negotiate appropriate contracts including outsourcing arrangements and annual
maintenance contracts with our technology and equipment vendors. Among other elements of our optimized cost
structure, we outsource various non-core supplies, service and support functions in discrete parcels to multiple
specialized providers, while retaining a high-level of centralized reporting and control. We also engage in new
request for proposal processes at the end of such contract terms, to allow us to re-evaluate the cost and
performance of each active network partner or vendor, and to form new partnerships or vendor relationships, as
necessary. We also seek to minimize our dependence on any single network provider, by working with multiple
vendors.

In addition, we extensively focus on network cost optimization programs like indoor to outdoor conversions of
sites leading to reduction in energy cost, off-net to on-net link conversion for enterprise customers leading to
lower bandwidth charges.

We use technology to drive down costs, including through infrastructure sharing, adopting disruptive
technologies, use of increased automation, including customer service automation and the use of digital tools and
interfaces such as chatbots and webchats with our customers (as well as executive dashboards for account
summaries and individual products, including through our My Airtel app), and digitization, such as through our
“Green Bill” initiative, which has resulted in lowering our billing costs, product and communication
simplification, improved predictive analytics and reduced travel and outbound tele-calling, among other things.

5. Focus on deleveraging and maintaining financial flexibility

Our aggregate Net Debt amounted to X 1,167,010 million, X 1,063,783 million, and X 1,040,283 million as of
December 31, 2018, March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Our debt profile is spread across
local and overseas sources of funds to mitigate interest rate risks and to create natural hedges. We have a healthy
currency mix of debt having issued USD, EUR and CHF denominated bonds in the international debt capital
markets as well as debt in local currencies of INR, XAF, XOF etc. We also entered into interest rate swaps to
reduce the interest rate fluctuation risk. Our Company has over the time increased the tenor of the borrowings
from two years to —five to seven years. We remain focused on maintaining a healthy leverage ratio and
deleveraging through a mix of strategic and organic initiatives. Some of the key steps taken by our Company
include secondary sale of stake in Bharti Infratel to global investors such as KKR and CPPIB. Additionally, we
raised USD 200 million through stake sale in DTH business to Warburg Pincus. We realized approximately USD
3 billion in Airtel Africa through tower sale and divestment in two countries. Recently, we raised USD 1.45
billion in Africa through a primary equity issuance including investment from Qatar Investment Authority, the
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sovereign wealth fund of the State of Qatar for USD 200 million. The proceeds of these issues are being used to
reduce debt and fund growth of operations. We are also planning an IPO for Airtel Africa unit in 2019.

We aim to maintain an efficient capital structure with high balance sheet flexibility. We seek to continue to
manage our borrowing costs with a focus on cost effective financing and refinancing structures, including our
repayment tenors and the balance between our fixed and floating rate instruments. We will continue to maintain
a measured and careful balance between fixed and floating rate debt. We also intend to maintain our strategy of
efficient capital deployment aligned with our growth plans.

Description of Our Business - Our Products and Services

We are one of the world’s leading integrated providers of telecommunication services with presence in 18
countries representing India, Sri Lanka, 14 countries in Africa and Associate / Joint Ventures in Bangladesh and
Ghana. We serve approximately 404 million customers as of December 31, 2018, and retain a diversified service
portfolio which includes, mobile, voice and data solutions, using 2G, 3G and 4G technologies, fixed line
services, broadband services, digital TV service, an integrated suite of telecom solutions for our customers,
enterprise business solutions, besides providing long distance connectivity in India, Africa and the rest of the
world. All these services are rendered under a unified brand “airtel”. ‘Airtel Money’ (known as ‘Airtel Payments
Bank’ in India) extends our product portfolio to further our financial inclusion agenda and offers convenience of
payments and money transfers on mobile phones over secure and stable platforms in India, and across all 15
countries in Africa. Our Company also owns Tower Infrastructure pertaining to telecom operations through its
subsidiary and joint venture entity.

Business Divisions

India

We follow a segmented approach for our operations in India with clear focus on retail and corporate customers.
B2C Services:

1. Mobile Services (India)

2. Homes Services

w

Digital TV Services

4. Payment Banking

B2B Services:

1. Airtel Business

2. Tower Infrastructure Services

South Asia (except India)

South Asia represents our operations in Sri Lanka and in Bangladesh by way of a joint venture.

Africa

We are present in 15 countries across Africa, namely, Nigeria, Chad, Congo B, Democratic Republic of Congo,
Gabon, Madagascar, Niger, Kenya, Malawi, Seychelles, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia, Rwanda and in Ghana by
way of Joint Venture. We offer post-paid, pre-paid, roaming, internet services, content, media and entertainment,
and enterprise solutions. 3G, 4G data and m-Commerce (Airtel Money) are the next growth engines for us in
Africa. We offer 3G services, Airtel Money across all 14 countries and 4G services in 11 countries in Africa.
Select Operational Information

The following table sets out certain operational metrics about our service offerings:
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Parameters Unit December 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Total Customers Base 000's 303,268 322,292 307,964
Mobile Services
Customer Base 000's 284,224 304,192 290,113
Net Additions 000's (48,539) 14,079 8,066
Pre-Paid (as a % of total Customer Base) % 93.6% 93.9% 93.7%
Monthly Churn % 7.3% 2.8% 3.3%
Average Revenue Per User (ARPU) Z 104 116 123
Average Revenue Per User (ARPU) US$ 14 1.8 1.9
Revenue per towers per month 3 193,519 206,785 215,670
Revenues
Mobile Services T Mn 100,532 102,221 105,709
Voice
Minutes on the network Mn 702,881 592,657 494,546
Voice Usage per customer min 726 670 575
Data
Data Customer Base 000's 107,511 86,077 70,836
Of which 4G data customers 000's 77,068 47,862 36,367
As % of Customer Base % 37.8% 28.3% 24.4%
Total MBs on the network Mn MBs 3,216,897 1,539,746 1,105,839
Data Usage per customer MBs 10,528 6,585 5,349
Homes Services
Homes Customers 000's 2,245 2,172 2,164
Net Additions 000's 33 8 5
Average Revenue Per User (ARPU) 3 821 929 948
Average Revenue Per User (ARPU) USs$ 114 145 14.7
Digital TV Services
Digital TV Customers 000's 15,001 14,168 13,937
Net additions 000's 222 230 416
Average Revenue Per User (ARPU) b 231 228 233
Average Revenue Per User (ARPU) USs$ 3.2 3.5 3.6
Monthly Churn % 1.3% 1.1% 1.2%
Airtel Business Customer Base 000's 1,797 1,760 1,749
Parameters Unit December 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Mobile Services Mn Min 702,881 592,657 494,546
Homes Services Mn Min 3,698 2,831 3,071
Airtel Business Mn Min 2,744 2,714 2,869
National Long Distance Services Mn Min 97,933 78,732 65,925
International Long Distance Services Mn Min 4,423 5,085 5,476
Total Minutes on Network (Gross) Mn Min 811,679 682,019 571,887
Eliminations Mn Min (98,024) (78,412) (65,871)
Total Minutes on Network (Net) Mn Min 713,655 603,608 506,016
Parameters Unit December 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Mobile Services
Census Towns Nos 7,906 7,899 7,897
Non-Census Towns & Villages Nos 786,134 786,043 786,032
Population Coverage % 95.3% 95.3% 95.3%
Optic Fibre Network RKMs 273,600 237,893 233,720
Network towers Nos 175,300 165,748 163,808
Of which Mobile Broadband towers Nos 164,859 144,708 130,334
Total Mobile Broadband Base stations Nos 371,562 298,014 259,002
Homes Services - Cities covered Nos 90 89 89
Airtel Business - Submarine cable systems Nos 7 7 7
Digital TV Services
Districts Covered Nos 639 639 639
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Parameters Unit December 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Coverage % 99.8% 99.8% 99.8%
Parameters Unit December 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Bharti Infratel Standalone
Total Towers Nos 40,192 39,523 39,363
Total Co-locations Nos 77,693 88,665 92,211
Key Indicators
Smr(];rtlr?g Revenue per sharing operator per 2 41,632 35,800 36,495
Average Sharing Factor Times 1.95 2.29 2.38
Indus Towers
Total Towers Nos 124,069 123,639 122,962
Total Co-locations Nos 230,372 278,408 288,727
Key Indicators
Average Sharing Factor Times 1.85 2.30 2.39
Bharti Infratel Consolidated
Total Towers Nos 92,301 91,451 91,007
Total Co-locations Nos 174,449 205,596 213,476
Average Sharing Factor Times 1.89 2.30 2.38
Africa
Parameters Unit December 31, 2018 | December 31, 2017
Customer Base 000's 97,922 84,130
Airtel Money Active Customers 000's 13,805 10,449
Data Usage per customer MBs 1,248 997
Data Customer Base 000's 29,264 23,324
Network Towers No's 20,582 19,054
Mobile Broadband Towers No's 15,734 12,933
Partners

Our strategic partnership with SingTel has enabled us to expand and further enhance the quality of services to
our customers. We also pioneered the outsourcing business model with long term strategic partnership in all
areas including network equipment, information technology and call center. We partnered with global players
who share our drive for co-creating innovative and tailor-made solutions. To name a few, our strategic partners
include ZTE, Ericsson, Symantec, Nokia Solutions and Networks India Private Limited, and Cisco, among
others.

We have always believed in the philosophy of ‘win customers for life’. Anticipating future market trends, we
have entered into several strategic partnerships to enrich our service offerings.

Exclusive Online Content

Digitization continues to gain traction with technology reshaping the consumer experience. With people
increasingly consuming more content, we have partnered with leading online content providers such as Netflix,
Zee 5, Hotstar, Amazon Prime and ALT Balaji, to bring our customers closer to the best of content across
different genres, and strengthen our competitiveness.

Other Technology Partnerships

Technology continues to play a critical role in a dynamic industry like ours. We have partnered with these
players to leverage their technical excellence and integrate the same into our product portfolio. Some of these
partnerships have helped create a stronger security platform amidst the evolving digital landscape.

Our Licenses and Spectrum

In alignment with Gol’s vision of a ‘Digital India’, we are making sustained investments to strengthen our
network infrastructure. Our tower infrastructure, spectrum and other related assets form a strong manufactured
capital base for our Company. The surging data traffic has made it imperative for us to have a stronger presence
across the different spectrum bandwidth to widen our customer base. We have invested significantly until date in
increasing our presence in spectrum portfolio bandwidth. A growing customer base in key areas across our
multiple product segments is adequately supported by our strong spectrum bandwidth. We realize that the

96




® airtel

investments we make today will have a lasting impact on the near future. In India, our unpaired spectrum
holding across 22 mobile telecom circles includes 250 MHz of spectrum in the 2100 MHz band, 232.80 MHz of
spectrum in the 900 MHz band, 536.10 MHz of spectrum in the 1800 MHz band (includes Telenor’s 86.80 MHz

unpaired spectrum in 1800 MHz band) and 570 MHz of spectrum in the 2300 MHz band.

Except for our licenses and administratively allocated spectrum in the telecom circles of Tamil Nadu including
Chennai, Gujarat, Haryana, Kerala, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Mumbai and Uttar Pradesh West which are
scheduled to expire in 2021 and that of Bihar, Jammu & Kashmir, Odisha, Uttar Pradesh East, West Bengal and
Assam which are scheduled to expire in 2024, we do not have any other access license that terminates in the
next ten years. The table below sets forth the spectrum held by us across all telecom circles in India (Source:

TRAI).
FDD (paired) TDD (unpaired) 2x (FDD) + TDD
Telecom Circles Spectrum
900 1800 2100 Total 2300 2500 Total Total (unpaired)

AndhraPradesh 9.0 16.4 5.0 30.4 300 - 30.0 90.8
Assam 8.0 15.5] 5.0 28.5 30.0 - 30.0 86.9
Bihar 7.8 15.2 10.0 33.0 30.0 - 30.0 96.0
Delhi 6.0 7.0 10.0 23.0 300 - 30.0 76.0
Gujarat - 16.2 5.0 21.2) 300 - 30.0 724
Haryana - 16.2 5.0 21.2) 20 - 20.0 62.4
Himachal Pradesh 7.4 10.2 5.0 22.6 300 - 30.0 75.2
Jammu & Kashmir 6.2 5.0 10.0 21.2 20.00 - 20.0 62.4
Karnataka 8.8 8.8 5.0 22.6 300 - 30.0 75.2
Kerala - 11.2 5.0 16.2) 20 - 20.0 52.4
Kolkata 7.0 9.0 - 16.0 300 - 30.0 62.0
MadhyaPradesh - 17.0 5.0 22.0 200 - 20.0 64.0
Maharashtra - 18.2 5.0 23.2 200 - 20.0 66.4
Mumbai 5.0 15.2 5.0 25.2) 300 - 30.0 80.4
North East 8.8 10.0 5.0 23.8 300 - 30.0 77.6
Orissa 7.4 11.8] 5.0 24.2 30.00 - 30.0 78.4
Punjab 10.0 10.0 - 20.0 200 - 20.0 60.0
Rajasthan 6.0 10.0 10.0 26.0 200 - 20.0 72.0
Tamilnadu* 6.2 8.0 10.0 24.2 30.0 - 30.0 78.4
Uttar Pradesh (East) 6.2 12.8] 5.0 24.0 200 - 20.0 68.0
Uttar Pradesh (West) - 18.2 5.0 23.2 2000 - 20.0 66.4
West Bengal 6.6 6.2 5.0 17.8 300 - 30.0 65.6
[Total 22 Telecom Circles 116.4 268.1 125.0 509.5 570.00 - 570.0 1,588.9

Awards and Recognitions
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Winner of Golden Peacock Award for Excellence in Corporate Governance in 2016.

Ranked ‘first” in corporate transparency and reporting by Transparency International in 2016.

‘Best Governed Company Award 2016’ by Asian Centre for Corporate Governance & Sustainability.
Ranked in “Top 10’ (out of India’s top 100 companies) on Indian Corporate Governance Scorecard.
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HISTORY AND CORPORATE STRUCTURE
Brief History of our Company

Our Company was originally incorporated as ‘Bharti Tele-Ventures Limited” on July 7, 1995 at New Delhi, as a
public limited company under the Companies Act, 1956 and a certificate of incorporation was granted to our
Company by the RoC. Our Company received the certificate of commencement of business from the RoC on
January 18, 1996. Subsequently, the name of our Company was changed to ‘Bharti Airtel Limited’ pursuant to
which a fresh certificate of incorporation was granted on April 24, 2006 by the RoC.

Our Company filed a prospectus dated February 7, 2002, in respect of an IPO of its equity shares of face value of
%10 each. Such equity shares were listed on BSE, NSE and the Delhi Stock Exchange pursuant to the IPO, and
were subsequently delisted from the Delhi Stock Exchange with effect from October 13, 2004.

Changes to the address of our registered office

The details of changes in our registered office since the incorporation of our Company are given below:

Date of change Change in address Reason(s) for change
March 2, 2009 From Qutub Ambience, H-5/12, Mehrauli Road, New Delhi — 110030, | For administrative
India to Aravali Crescent, 1, Nelson Mandela Road, Vasant Kunj, | convenience
Phase Il, New Delhi — 110 070, India
January 21, 2010 From Aravali Crescent, 1, Nelson Mandela Road, Vasant Kunj, Phase | For administrative
I, New Delhi — 110 070, India to Bharti Crescent, 1, Nelson Mandela | convenience
Road, Vasant Kunj, Phase Il, New Delhi — 110 070, India

Main objects
The main objects of our Company as contained in our Memorandum of Association are as follows:

1. “To promote & establish Companies, Funds, Associations or Partnerships for providing telecom
networks and/or to run and maintain telecom services like basic/fixed line services, cellular/mobile
services, paging, videotext, voice mail and data systems, private switching network services,
transmission network of all types, computer networks i.e. local area network, wide area network,
Electronic Mail, Intelligent network. Multimedia communication systems or the combinations thereof
and for execution of undertakings. Works, projects or enterprises in the Industry whether of a private or
public character or any joint venture re with any government or other authority in India or elsewhere
and to acquire and dispose of shares /securities in such companies, and funds and interest in such
associations or partnerships.

2. To provide telecom networks and to run and maintain telecom services like basic/fixed line services,
cellular/mobile services, paging, video-text, voice mail & data systems, private switching network
services. transmission networks of all types, computer networks like local area network, wide area
network, Electronic Mail, Intelligent network, Multi media communication systems or the combinations
thereof.

3. To carry on the business of manufacturers, merchants, dealers, distributors, importers, exporters,
buyers, sellers, agents and stockists, and to market, hire, lease, rent out, assemble, alter, install,
service, design, research and improve, develop, exchange, maintain, repair, refurnish, store and
otherwise deal in any manner in all types of telephone exchanges, telephone instruments -whether
corded, cordless, mobile or of any other kind; tele- terminals, fax machines, telegraphs, recording
instruments and devices, telephone message/ answering machines and devices; dialing machines, trunk
dialing barring devices, wireless sets and other wireless communication devices like radio pagers,
cellular phones, satellite phones etc; telecom switching equipments of all kinds; telecom transmission
equipments of all kinds, test equipments, instruments, apparatus, appliances and accessories and
equipment and machinery for the manufacture thereof and to provide technical services in respect
thereof or relating thereto.

4, To buy, sell, manufacture, assemble, repair, design, alter, research and improve, develop, exchange,
ware- house, let on hire, import, export, and deal in all sorts of Electronic, non- Electronic,
Computerized and Electrical items and equipment including Computer and Data Processing
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Equipment, Peripherals. Printers. Disc-drives, Intelligent Terminals, Modems, Software, Hardware,
Personal Computers, 'CAD'CAM' Computer, Graphic Systems, Office Automation Equipments, Word
processors, Photopesetting, Text Editing and Electronic Printing and/or Typing Systems, Circuits,
including integrated, hybrid, 'VLSI' Chips, Microprocessors and Microprocessor based equipment,
Semiconductor Memories including bubble Memories, Discrete electronic devices, Facsimile
Equipments, Copying Machines. Xerox Machines, Telephone Cable Pressurization Systems, Printed
Circuit Boards, all sorts of automatic Float charges, Electronic, Electrical and Computerized Systems
and Equipment and Plant and Machineries and Field Engineering support and for all above, their
incidental and allied equipment, accessories, components, parts, sub-parts, tools, manufactured and
semi manufactured goods, raw materials, plant and machineries, substance, goods, articles and things
and VCR, VCP, Cassettes, Cameras, Radios, Stereo and Amplifiers, television sets, audio visual
equipment, teleprinters, telecommunications satellite Station and electronic equipment, remote control
systems, business machines, calculators, hoists, elevators, trolleys and their components including
valves, transistors, resistors, condensors, coils and circuits.

To guarantee/ counter guarantee the obligations of any of its subsidiary/ associate/ group companies
and/or other companies in which the company has equity interest under any agreements/ contracts/
debentures, bonds, stocks, mortgages, charges and securities. ”

The main objects as contained in our Memorandum of Association enable our Company to carry on our existing

business.

Major events and milestones

The table below sets forth some of the major events in the history of our Company:

Calendar Year Particulars

1995 e Launched mobile services under the brand name ‘Airtel’ in Delhi through Bharti Cellular

Limited*, our subsidiary

1999 e  Warburg Pincus (through its investment company Brentwood Investment Holdings Limited)

acquired 5.26% equity interest in our Company in September 1999

2002 e  Listing of the equity shares of face value of ¥ 10 each on the BSE, NSE and Delhi Stock

Exchange**, pursuant to our Company’s IPO

2005 e Became India’s largest mobile operator in terms of mobile services subscriber base, with pan

India footprint as on March 2005
e  Became first private telecom operator to complete pan India network across 23 circles

2008 e  Launched DTH services through Bharti Telemedia Limited, our Subsidiary

2009 e Launched mobile services in Sri Lanka through Bharti Airtel Lanka (Private) Limited, our
Subsidiary

2010 e  Entered Africa by concluding an agreement with Zain group to acquire Zain Africa BV

2011 e  Launched 3G services in India

2012 e Launched 4G services in India

2013 e Qatar Foundation Endowment SPC (through its affiliate Three Pillars Pte. Ltd.) invested
approximately X 67.96 billion in our Company

2017 e Launched pan India payments bank through Airtel Payments Bank Limited, our Subsidiary in

accordance with the Companies Act

*  Amalgamated with our Company with effect from April 1, 2004.
**  Delisted with effect from October 13, 2004.

Corporate Structure of our Company

As of the date of this Draft Letter of Offer, our Company has one Holding Company, BTL. Further, as of the
date of this Draft Letter of Offer, our Company has 100* Subsidiaries (including step-down Subsidiaries),
seven** Associates Companies and eight Joint Ventures.

* Includes Airtel Payments Bank Limited which is our Subsidiary in accordance with the Companies Act. However, Airtel Payments Bank

Limited has ceased to be a subsidiary under Ind AS 110. Airtel Payments Bank Limited has been considered as an associate under Ind AS
28. For details, see “Financial Statements” on page 108.

** Excludes Airtel Payments Bank Limited
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Details regarding material mergers, demergers and amalgamation

(i) Set forth below are the brief details of the mergers/amalgamations/demergers that were completed by our
Company in Fiscals 2018 and 2019

Scheme of amalgamation between Telenor (India) Communications Private Limited (“Telenor”) and our
Company

Pursuant to an order dated March 8, 2018, the National Company Law Tribunal, New Delhi (“NCLT Delhi”)
sanctioned a scheme of amalgamation under Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, whereby Telenor was
permitted to be amalgamated into our Company. The transaction has received all regulatory and statutory
approvals. The appointed date and effective date for such amalgamation was May 14, 2018. For details, see
“Qutstanding Litigation and Defaults — Litigation involving our Company — Other Regulatory Matters involving
our Company” on page 276.

Pursuant to the scheme, the entire business of Telenor including, inter alia, all assets including all permits,
licences (UASL and UL issued by the DoT, authorisation and spectrum), movable and immovable properties,
intellectual property rights and related documents, liabilities, contracts and agreements, employees, legal and
other proceedings of Telenor, have been transferred and vested in our Company on a going concern basis.
Further, pursuant to the scheme, our Company allotted five Equity Shares of face value of X 5 each to Telenor
South Asia Investment Pte. Limited, Singapore on May 14, 2018.

(ii) Set forth below are the brief details of mergers/amalgamations/demergers pending sanction of the appropriate
authorities

Scheme of amalgamation between Bharti Digital Networks Private Limited (earlier known as Tikona Digital
Networks Private Limited) (“Bharti Digital ”), our Subsidiary, and our Company

Pursuant to an order dated July 4, 2018, the NCLT Delhi sanctioned the scheme of amalgamation between Bharti
Digital and our Company under Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, whereby Bharti Digital is proposed
to be amalgamated into our Company. The proposed amalgamation is pending before the DoT under the
‘Guidelines for the Transfer/Merger of various categories of Telecommunication service licenses/authorisation
under Unified License (UL) on compromises, arrangements and amalgamation of the companies’ dated February
20, 2014 issued by the DoT (“Transfer-Merger Guidelines”). For details, see “Outstanding Litigation and
Defaults — Litigation involving our Company — Other Regulatory Matters involving our Company” on page 276.

Pursuant to the proposed scheme, the entire business of Bharti Digital including, inter alia, all assets, moveable
and immovable properties, intellectual property rights and related documents, liabilities, contracts and
agreements, employees, legal and other proceedings, taxes and duties, power and authority of Bharti Digital, as
applicable, is proposed to be transferred to and vested in our Company on a going concern basis. In
consideration of the said amalgamation, there will be no issue and allotment of shares to the shareholders of
Bharti Digital by our Company as Bharti Digital is our wholly owned Subsidiary.

Scheme of arrangement between Tata Teleservices Limited (“TTSL”), Bharti Hexacom Limited (“Bharti
Hexacom ”), our Subsidiary, and our Company

Pursuant to an order dated January 30, 2019, the NCLT Delhi sanctioned the composite scheme of arrangement
between TTSL, Bharti Hexacom and our Company under Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, for the
proposed demerger of one part of the entire consumer wireless mobile business, undertakings, activities and
operations of TTSL in its telecom circles (other than Rajasthan) and transferring and vesting it on a going
concern basis (the “Demerged Undertaking 1”) in our Company, and demerger of the other part of the entire
consumer wireless mobile business, undertakings, activities and operations of TTSL in the telecom circles in
Rajasthan and transferring and vesting it on a going concern basis (the “Demerged Undertaking 11”) in Bharti
Hexacom. The proposed demerger is pending before the DoT under the Transfer-Merger Guidelines.

Pursuant to the proposed scheme, all assets used by TTSL in relation to the Demerged Undertaking | and
Demerged Undertaking 1, including, inter alia, allocated spectrum, various resources granted by the DoT,
current assets and deposits, statutory and regulatory approvals, base station transmitting or receiving equipment,
plants and machinery including related infrastructure, intellectual property and goodwill, right to use optical
fibre network, subscribers, exclusive contracts and agreements, legal proceedings and liabilities, is proposed to
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be transferred to and vested in our Company and Bharti Hexacom, respectively, on a going concern basis. In
consideration of the aforesaid demerger of Demerged Undertaking I, our Company shall issue and allot 500 fully
paid-up redeemable, non-participating, non-cumulative preference shares of our Company of face value of X 100
each to the equity shareholders of TTSL in proportion to their shareholding in TTSL. Further, in consideration of
the aforesaid demerger of Demerged Undertaking I, Bharti Hexacom shall issue and allot 500 fully paid-up
redeemable, non-participating, non-cumulative preference shares of Bharti Hexacom of face value of ¥ 100 each
to the equity shareholders of TTSL in proportion to their shareholding in TTSL. The proposed scheme also
provides for allotment of fully paid-up redeemable, non-participating, non-cumulative preference shares of our
Company of face value of ¥ 100 each to be made to the preference shareholders of TTSL as consideration.

Scheme of arrangement between Tata Teleservices (Maharashtra) Limited (“TTML ”) and our Company

Pursuant to an orders dated January 30, 2019 and December 4, 2018, the NCLT Delhi and National Company
Law Tribunal, Mumbai, respectively, sanctioned the scheme of arrangement between TTML and our Company
under Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, for the proposed demerger of the entire consumer wireless
mobile business, undertakings, activities and operations of TTML in its telecom circles in Mumbai and
Maharashtra and transferring and vesting it on a going concern basis (“Demerged Undertaking”) in our
Company. The proposed demerger is pending before the DoT under Transfer-Merger Guidelines.

Pursuant to the proposed scheme, all assets used by TTML in relation to the Demerged Undertaking, including,
inter alia, allocated spectrum, various resources granted by the DoT, current assets and deposits, statutory and
regulatory approvals, base station transmitting or receiving equipments, plants and machinery including related
infrastructure, intellectual property and goodwill, right to use optical fibre network, subscribers, exclusive
contracts and agreements, legal proceedings and liabilities, is proposed to be transferred to and vested in our
Company on a going concern basis. In consideration of the aforesaid demerger, our Company shall issue and
allot one fully paid-up equity share of our Company of face value of ¥ 5 each to the equity shareholders of
TTML for every 2,014 fully paid-up equity shares of TTML of face value of % 10 each. The proposed scheme
also provides for allotment of fully paid-up redeemable, non-participating, non-cumulative preference shares of
our Company of face value of X 100 each to be made to the preference shareholders of TTML as consideration.

Scheme of arrangement between Telesonic Networks Limited (“TNL ”) and our Company

Pursuant to our Board resolution dated October 31, 2017 and consents received from the shareholders of our
Company, a petition dated March 12, 2018 has been filed before the NCLT Delhi under Sections 230 to 232 of
the Companies Act, for the sanction of a proposed scheme of arrangement whereby the optical fibre cable
business undertaking of our Company, comprising of and including underground and over-ground cables, shall
be transferred to and vested in TNL on a going concern basis by way of a slump sale (“OFC Undertaking”).

Pursuant to the proposed scheme, all assets in relation to the OFC Undertaking including, inter alia, the rights
and permits, licenses, books and documents, earnest money and security deposits, employees specific to the OFC
Undertaking, legal and other proceedings, liabilities and any other assets specifically allocated by our Board in
relation to the OFC Undertaking, are proposed to be transferred to and vested in TNL. In consideration of the
proposed scheme, TNL shall discharge a lump sum amount of X 45,647 million to our Company, in the form of
cash through normal banking channels, which will be subject to adjustments on account of incremental capital
expenditure, working capital and the like incurred by our Company which shall in no event be in excess of X
56,500 million.

Scheme of amalgamation and arrangement between Indus Towers Limited (“Indus Towers”) and Bharti Infratel
Limited (“Bharti Infratel ), our Subsidiary

Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors of Bharti Infratel dated April 24, 2018, a petition dated August
31, 2018 has been filed before the National Company Law Tribunal, Chandigarh under Sections 230 to 232 of
the Companies Act, for the sanction of proposed scheme of amalgamation of Indus Towers on a going concern
basis with Bharti Infratel.

Pursuant to the proposed scheme, the name of Bharti Infratel is proposed to be changed to ‘Indus Towers
Limited’ and all the assets, liabilities, leases or licenses or rent agreements, immovable properties, governmental
approvals including those relating to Infrastructure Category-1, permits, employees, legal and other proceedings
of the Indus Towers are proposed to be transferred to and vested in Bharti Infratel on a going concern basis.
Further, upon the proposed scheme becoming effective, equity shares held by Bharti Infratel and its nominees in
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Indus Towers will automatically stand cancelled and in consideration of the aforesaid amalgamation, Bharti
Infratel will issue and allot 1,565 fully paid-up equity shares of face value of ¥ 10 each to the shareholders
(except Bharti Infratel and its nominees) of Indus Towers for every one fully paid-up equity share of Indus
Towers of face value of X 1 each. Such issue and allotment will be subject to, inter alia, exercise of right by
certain shareholders of Indus Towers, pursuant to arrangements entered into by Bharti Infratel with such
shareholders, to require Bharti Infratel to purchase the equity shares held by them in Indus Towers.
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Our Articles of Association provide that the minimum number of Directors shall be 10 and the maximum
number of Directors shall be 18 unless otherwise determined by our Company in a general meeting. As of the
date of this Draft Letter of Offer, our Company has 10 Directors, of which two Directors are Executive Directors
and eight Directors are Non-Executive Directors, including five Independent Directors. Our Board is compliant
with the requirements of the SEBI Listing Regulations.

The following table sets forth details regarding our Board as of the date of filing this Draft Letter of Offer:

Sr. | Name, Designation, Date of Birth, Term, Period Age Other Directorships
No. | of Directorship, DIN, Occupation and Address | (in years)
1. | Mr. Sunil Bharti Mittal 61 Indian Companies:
Designation: Chairman and Whole-time Director 1. Bharti Telecom Limited;
2. Airtel Payments Bank Limited,;
Date of Birth: October 23, 1957 3. Bharti (SBM) Holdings Private Limited;
_ ) . _ 4. Bharti Overseas Private Limited;
Term: Fixed term for a period of five years with 5. Bharti (SBM) Resources Private Limited,;
effect from October 1, 2016 until September 30, 6. Bharti Enterprises (Holding) Private
2021. Limited,;
7. Bharti (Satya) Trustees Private Limited,;
Period of Directorship: Director since July 7, 1995 8. Bharti SBM Trustees Il Private Limited;
9. Bharti (SBM) Services Private Limited;
DIN: 00042491 10. Bharti (SBM) Trustees Private Limited;
) ) 11. Satya Bharti Foundation;
Occupation: Businessman 12. Bharti SBM Trustees S2 Private Limited;
. . . 13. Bharti SBM Trustees D1 Private Limited,;
Address: 19, Amrita Shergil Marg, New Delhi — and
110 003, India 14. Bharti SBM Trustees S1 Private Limited.
Foreign Companies:
1. Qatar Endowment; and
2. Airtel Africa Limited.
2. | Mr. Gopal Vittal 52 Indian Companies:
Designation: Managing Director & CEO (India & 1. Satya Bharti Foundation;
South Asia) 2. Airtel Payments Bank Limited,;
3. St. Jude India Childcare Centres;
Date of Birth: June 18, 1966 4. Indus Towers Limited; and
5. Bharti Telemedia Limited.
Term: Liable to retire by rotation in addition to a
fixed term of five years with effect from February Foreign Companies:
1, 2018 until January 31, 2023
None.
Period of Directorship: Director since February 1,
2013
DIN: 02291778
Occupation: Professional
Address: A2/1202, World SPA East, Sector — 30,
Gurgaon — 122 001, Haryana, India
3. | Ms. Chua Sock Koong* 61 Indian Companies:
Designation: Non-Executive Director 1. Bharti Telecom Limited.
Date of Birth: September 14, 1957 Foreign Companies:
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Sr. | Name, Designation, Date of Birth, Term, Period Age Other Directorships
No. | of Directorship, DIN, Occupation and Address | (in years)
Term: Liable to retire by rotation 1. Singapore Telecom International Pte Ltd;
2. Singapore Telecom Mobile Pte Ltd;
Period of Directorship: Director since May 7, 3. Singapore Telecommunications Limited;
2001 4. Singtel Group Treasury Pte Ltd;
5. Singtel Innov8 Holdings Pte Ltd;
DIN: 00047851 6. Singtel Innov8 Pte Ltd;
7. Singtel Optus Pty Limited;
Occupation: Professional 8. Defence Science and Technology Agency;
9. Cap Vista Pte Ltd; and
Address: 15A, Oei Tiong Ham Park, Singapore — 10. GSMA.
268 302
4. | Mr. Rakesh Bharti Mittal 63 Indian Companies:
Designation: Non-Executive Director 1. Fieldfresh Foods Private Limited,;
2. DM Buildwell Private Limited;
Date of Birth: September 18, 1955 3. Bharti Realty Holdings Limited:;
4. Bharti (RM) Holdings Private Limited;
Term: Liable to retire by rotation 5. Bharti AXA Life Insurance Company
Limited,;
Period of Directorship: Director since July 7, 1995 6. Bharti AXA General Insurance Company
until September 26, 2012 and re-appointed as Limited,;
Director since January 7, 2016 7. Bharti Overseas Private Limited;
8. Bharti (RM) Resources Private Limited;
DIN: 00042494 9. Bharti (RM) Services Private Limited;
10. Bharti Enterprises (Holding) Private
Occupation: Businessman Limited:
11. Bharti (RM) Trustees Private Limited,;
Address: 4, Pearl Lane, _DLF Chhattarpur Farms, 12. Bharti (Satya) Trustees Private Limited;
New Delhi — 110 074, India 13. Indian School of Business;
14. Satya Bharti Foundation;
15. Bharti RM Trustees S2 Private Limited;
16. Bharti RM Trustees S1 Private Limited;
and
17. Bharti RM Trustees Il Private Limited.
Foreign Companies:
None.
5. | Ms. Tan Yong Choo 54 Indian Companies:
Designation: Non-Executive Director 1. Aspira Digital India Private Limited.
Date of Birth: September 14, 1964 Foreign Companies:
Term: Liable to retire by rotation 1. Optus Insurance Services Pty Limited;
2. Singtel Elnvestments Pte Ltd;
Period of Directorship: Director since January 21, 3. Yes Lab Group Pty Limited;
2010 4. Singtel Asia Pacific Investments Pte. Ltd.;
5. Singtel Interactive Pte. Ltd;
DIN: 02910529 6. STI Solutions Pte. Ltd;
7. TE International (S) Pte Ltd;
Occupation: Professional 8. Viridian Limited;
. . 9. Singtel Global Investment Pte. Ltd;
Address: 22, Park Villas Green, Singapore — 545 10. Singtel International Investments Private
430 Limited;
11. Singtel Australia Investment Ltd;
12. Singtel  Awustralia  Investment  Ltd
(Singapore branch);
13. HOOQ Digital (Philippines) Inc.; and
14. InfoCom Holding Company Pte Ltd.

104




® airtel

Sr. | Name, Designation, Date of Birth, Term, Period Age Other Directorships
No. | of Directorship, DIN, Occupation and Address | (in years)
6. | Mr. Craig Edward Ehrlich 63 Indian Companies:
Designation: Independent Director None.
Date of Birth: May 14, 1955 Foreign Companies:
Term: Fixed term of five years with effect from 1. Novare Technologies Limited.
April 29, 2018 until April 28, 2023
Period of Directorship: Director since April 29,
2009
DIN: 02612082
Occupation: Professional
Address: Block B, 6/F, Best View Court, 66,
MacDonnell Road, Hong Kong
7. | Mr. Dinesh Kumar Mittal 66 Indian Companies:
Designation: Independent Director 1. Max Financial Services Limited;
2. Balrampur Chini Mills Limited,;
Date of Birth: January 25, 1953 3. Max India Limited,;
4. Max Ventures and Industries Limited;
Term: Fixed term of five years with effect from 5. Trident Limited;
March 13, 2014 until March 12, 2019** 6. ONGC Tripura Power Company Limited;
7. Max Bupa Health Insurance Company
Period of Directorship: Director since March 13, Limited:;
2014 8.  Atyati Technologies Private Limited;
9. Business Strategy Advisory Services
DIN: 00040000 Private Limited;
10. HSBC Asset Management (India) Private
Occupation: Professional Limited,;
) 11. Arohan Financial Services Limited; and
Address: B — 71, Sector — 44, Noida — 201 301, 12. Max Life Insurance Company Limited.
Uttar Pradesh, India
Foreign Companies:
None.
8. | Mr. Manish Santoshkumar Kejriwal 50 Indian Companies:
Designation: Independent Director 1. Bajaj Holdings & Investment Limited;
2. Parksons Packaging Limited,;
Date of Birth: November 8, 1968 3. United World Colleges Committee (India)
Governing Board,;
Term: Fixed term of five years with effect from 4. Bajaj Finserv Limited; and
September 26, 2017 until September 25, 2022 5. International Foundation for Research and
Education.
Period of Directorship: Director since September
26, 2012 Foreign Companies:
DIN: 00040055 None.
Occupation: Professional
Address: 3703 B, 37" and 38" Floor, Vivarea
Building B Wing, Sane Guruji Marg, Jacob Circle,
Mumbai — 400 011, Maharashtra, India
9. | Mr. Shishir Priyadarshi 61 Indian Companies:
None.
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Sr.
No.

Name, Designation, Date of Birth, Term, Period
of Directorship, DIN, Occupation and Address

Age
(in years)

Other Directorships

Designation: Independent Director
Date of Birth: October 23, 1957

Term: Fixed term of five years with effect from
February 4, 2015 until February 3, 2020

Period of Directorship: Director since February 4,
2015

DIN: 03459204
Occupation: Professional

Address: A-1/6, Panchsheel Enclave, New Delhi —
110017, India

Foreign Companies:

None.

10.

Mr. Vegulaparanan Kasi Viswanathan
Designation: Independent Director
Date of Birth: November 20, 1950

Term: Fixed term of five years with effect from
January 14, 2019 until January 13, 2024

Period of Directorship: Director since January 14,
2014

DIN: 01782934
Occupation: Professional
Address: F-01, 1% Floor, Legacy Caldera, 56 SRT

Road, Cunningham Road, Bengaluru — 560 052,
Karnataka, India

68

Indian Companies:

KSB Limited;

United Spirits Limited,;

Magma Fincorp Limited;

HDFC Life Insurance Company Limited,;
Bosch Limited;

Magma HDI General Insurance Company
Limited;

TransUnion CIBIL Limited; and

8.  Century Metal Recycling Limited.

I e

~

Foreign Companies:

None.

* Whose name appears as Ms. Sock Koong Chua in the records maintained by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Gol, and as Ms. Chua Sock
Koong as per her passport.
** Re-appointed for a further term of five years with effect from March 13, 2019 until March 12, 2024, pursuant to our Board resolution

dated January 31, 2019, subject to the approval of our shareholders.

Except Mr. Sunil Bharti Mittal and Mr. Rakesh Bharti Mittal, who are brothers, none of the Directors are related
to each other.

Confirmations

1.

None of our Directors is or was a director of any listed company during the last five years immediately
preceding the date of filing of this Draft Letter of Offer, whose shares have been or were suspended from
being traded on any stock exchanges, during the term of their directorship in such company.

None of our Directors is or was a director of any listed company which has been or was delisted from the
stock exchanges, during the term of their directorship in such company, in the last 10 years immediately
preceding the date of filing of this Draft Letter of Offer.

Service contracts with our Directors for benefits upon termination

No service contracts have been entered into by any Director with our Company providing for benefits upon their
termination of employment.
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Arrangement or understanding with major shareholders, customers, suppliers or others

Except for Ms. Chua Sock Koong and Ms. Tan Yong Choo, who have been nominated to our Board by Pastel,
there are no arrangements or understanding with major shareholders, customers, suppliers or others, pursuant to
which our Company has appointed a Director as of the date of this Draft Letter of Offer.
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SECTION V: FINANCIAL INFORMATION
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sr. No. Particulars Page Nos.
1. | Audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2018 109
2. | Audited interim condensed consolidated financial statements as at and for the nine month period 231

ended December 31, 2018

[The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank]
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF
BHARTI AIRTEL LIMITED

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of BHARTI AIRTEL LIMITED ("the
Company") and its subsidiaries (the Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as "the Group"),which includes
the Group’s share of profit/loss in its associates and joint ventures, which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as
at March 31, 2018, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended on
that date and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes (hereinafter referred to as
“Consolidated Financial Statements”).

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements in
terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as “the Act”) that give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance including other comprehensive
income, consolidated cash flows and consolidated changes in equity of the Group including its Associates and Joint
ventures in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under section133 of the Companies
Act, 2013, read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended and other accounting
principles generally accepted in India.

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its associates and joint ventures are
responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and its associates and joint ventures and for preventing and detecting frauds and
other irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates
that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial
controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records,
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view
and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of the
consolidated financial statements by the directors of the company, as aforesaid.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audit.

In conducting our audit, we have taken into account the provisions of the Act ,the accounting and auditing standards
and matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made
thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act.
Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial Statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial control relevant to the Company’s
preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Company’s Board of Directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditor in terms of
their report referred to in Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and based on the
consideration of report of the other auditor on separate financial statements of the joint venture referred to below in
the Other Matters paragraph, the aforesaid Consolidated Financial Statements give the information required by the
Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Ind AS and other accounting
principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group, its associates and joint
ventures as at March 31, 2018, their consolidated profit, consolidated total comprehensive income, their consolidated
cash flows and consolidated changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 24(i)(f)(v) to the Consolidated Financial Statements which describes the
uncertainties related to the legal outcome of Department of Telecommunications demand with respect to one time
spectrum charges.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Matters

i. The Consolidated Financial Statements include the Group’s share of profit of Rs. 11,816 Million and total
comprehensive income of Rs. 11,817 Million for the year ended March 31, 2018, as considered in the
Consolidated Financial Statements, in respect of Indus Towers Limited (joint venture), whose financial statements
have not been audited by us. These financial statements have been audited by the other auditor whose report has
been furnished to us by the management and our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements, in so far as
it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of this joint venture is based solely on the report of
the other auditor. Our opinion on the statement is not modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our
reliance on the work done and the report of the other auditor.

ii. The comparative financial information of the Group, its associates and joint ventures for the year ended and as at
March 31, 2017 prepared in accordance with Ind AS included in these Consolidated Financial Statements have
been audited by the predecessor auditor. The report of the predecessor auditor on comparative financial statements
for the year ended and as at March 31, 2017 dated May 9, 2017 expressed an unqualified opinion. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of the report of other
auditor on separate financial statements of joint venture company incorporated in India, referred in the Other
Matter paragraph above we report, to the extent applicable, that:

a)

b)

d)

2)

We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid
consolidated financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books,
returns and the reports of the other auditors.

The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other
Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account maintained for the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting
Standards prescribed under Section 133 of the Act.

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Company as on 31st March,
2018 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Company and the reports of the statutory auditors
of its subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint venture companies incorporated in India, none
of the directors of the Group companies, its associate companies and joint venture companies incorporated
in India is disqualified as on 31st March 2018 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164
(2) of the Act.

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting and the operating
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A”, which is based on the
auditors’ reports of the Company, subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint venture companies
incorporated in India. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating
effectiveness of internal financial controls over financial reporting of those companies.

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the
Companies (Audit and Auditor's) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our
information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated
financial position of the Group, its associates and joint ventures.

ii. Provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements, as required under the applicable law
or accounting standards, for material foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term contracts including
derivative contracts.

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts required to be transferred, to the Investor Education

and Protection Fund by the Company, its subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint venture
companies incorporated in India.
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For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 117366W/W-100018)

Hemant M. Joshi
Partner

(Membership No. 38019)
Place: New Delhi

Date: April 24, 2018

112



ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph (f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’
section of our report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of
Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended
March 31, 2018, we have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Bharti Airtel Limited (“the
Company”) and its subsidiary companies, its associates companies and joint venture companies, which are companies
incorporated in India, as of that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Company , its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and joint
venture companies, which are companies incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing and maintaining
internal financial controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the respective
Companies considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were
operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the
respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as
required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company,
its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and its joint venture companies, which are companies incorporated
in India, based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal
Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of India and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate
internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated
effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial
controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the auditor of the joint
venture company which is company incorporated in India, in terms of their report referred to in the Other Matters
paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial
controls system over financial reporting of the Company, its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and its
joint venture companies, which are companies incorporated in India.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and
not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future
periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the
consideration of the reports of the other auditors referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below the Company, its
subsidiary companies, its associate companies andjoint venture companies , which are companies incorporated in
India, have, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and such
internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at March 31, 2018, based on the
criteria for internal financial control over financial reporting established by the respective companies considering the
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

Other Matters

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal
financial controls over financial reporting in so far as it relates to joint venture, which is a company incorporated in
India, is based solely on the corresponding report of the auditor of the joint venture company.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants
(Firm‘s Registration No.117366 W/W-100018)

Hemant M. Joshi
Partner
(Membership No. 38019)
Place: New Delhi
Date: April 24, 2018
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Bharti Airtel Limited
Consolidated Balance Sheet
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees)

>

airtel

Assets

Hon-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Capital work-in-progress
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Intangible assets under development
Investment in joint ventures and associates
Financial assets
- Investments
- Derivative instruments
- Security deposits
- Others
Income tax assets (net)
Deferred tax assets (net)
Other non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Financial assets
- Investments
- Derivative instruments
- Trade receivables
- Cash and cash equivalents
- Other bank balances
- Others

Other current assets

Total assets

Hotes

10
11
16
17
17
13
15

As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

J06,079 620,088
52,089 23,942
328,070 338,082
837,855 824,181
45,423 84,443
86,839 82,277
5,769 44,187
2,031 4,732
9,703 9,630
5,814 16,633
23,505 22,716
29,330 26,195
36,319 53,488
2,170,826 2,150,614
693 488
68,978 16,923
8,941 2,060
58,830 47,402
47,886 12,817
18,820 38,166
27,462 19,737
103,380 44 445
334,990 182,038
2,505,816 2,332,652
......... Continued

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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Bharti Airtel Limited @
Consolfidated Balance Sheet

(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees) airtel

As of

Hotes March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Equity and Liabilities

Equity
Share capital 18 19,987 19,987
Other equity 675,357 654,576
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent 695,344 674,563
Mon-controlling interests ('MCI") 88,139 68,750
783,483 743,313
Non-current habilities
Financial liabilities
- Borrowings 20 849,420 896,373
- Derivative instruments 11 5,409 2,726
- Dthers 21 44,547 15,681
Deferred revenue 22,117 22,335
Provisions 22 7,212 7471
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 14 10,606 9,429
Other non-current liabilities 23 623 727
939,934 954,742
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
- Borrowings 20 129,569 129,442
- Current maturities of long-term borrowings 20 134,346 47,062
- Derivative instruments 11 283 2,335
- Trade payables 277,675 268,537
- Others 21 140,605 90,212
Deferred revenue 48,666 48,785
Provisions 22 2,384 2,215
Current tax liabilities (net) 11,058 11,239
Other current liabilities 23 37,813 34,770
782,399 634,597
Total liabilities 1,722,333 1,589,339
Total equity and habilities 2,505,816 2,332,652

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Bharti Airtel Limited

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants
(Firm's Registration No. 117366W / W-100018)

Sunil Bharti Mittal Gopal Vittal
Chairman Managing Director & CEQ
DIN: 00042491 (India and South Asia)

DIN: 02291778

Hemant M. Joshi
Partner
{Membership No: 38019)

Nilanjan Roy Pankaj Tewari
Global Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Place: New Delhi Date: April 24, 2018
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Bharti Airtel Limited
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss

(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees; except per share data)

>

airtel

Income

Fevenue
Other income

Expenses

Metwork operating expenses

Access charges

License fee [ spectrum charges (revenue share)
Employee benefits expense

Sales and marketing expenses

Other expenses

Profit from operating activities before
depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items

Depreciation and amortisation

Finance costs

Finance income

Mon-operating expenses (net)

Share of results of joint ventures and associates
Profit before exceptional items and tax

Exceptional items
Profit before tax

Tax expense [ (credit)
Current tax

Deferred tax

Profit for the year

Hotes

25

26

27
28
29

30
31
31

32

14
14

For the year ended

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

836,879 954,683
2,488 1,206
839,367 955,889
197,520 209,154
90,446 102,786
73,558 82,760
39,771 43,032
53,766 66,732
77,027 86,921
536,088 601,385
303,279 354,504
192,431 197,730
93,235 85,466
(12,540) (18,492)
141 1,319
(10,609) (10,449)
40,601 88,930
7,931 11,697
32,670 77,233
18,230 21,240
(7,395) 13,579
21,835 42,414
......... Continued
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Bharti Airtel Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss

(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees; except per share data)

>

airtel

For the year ended

Hotes March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Profit for the year (continued from previous page)

Other comprehensive income ("0CI')

Iemns to be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss :
Met losses due to foreign currency translation differences

Met losses on net investment hedge
Met gains on cash flow hedge
Met gains on fair value through OCI investments

Tax charge

Iterns not to be reclassified to profit or loss :

Re-measurement gains / (losses) on defined benefit plans

Share of OCI of joint ventures and associates

Tax (charge) [ credit

Other comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive income [ (loss) for the year

Profit for the year attributable to :

Owners of the Parent
Mon-controlling interests

Other comprehensive loss for the year

attributable to :

Owners of the Parent
Mon-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income [ (loss) for the year

attributable to :

Owners of the Parent
Mon-controlling interests

Earnings per share (Face value : Rs. 5 each) (In Rupees)

Basic
Diluted

21,835 42,414
(7,181) (41,424)
(8,024) (10,330)
809 857
129 107
14 (122) (16)
(14,389) (50,806)
205 (73)
8 18 (9)
(29) 20
194 (62)
(14,195) (50,868)
7,640 (8,454)
21,835 42,414
10,990 37,998
10,845 4,416
(14,195) (50,868)
(13,445) (48,655)
(750) (2,213)
7,640 (8,454)
(2,455) (10,657)
10,085 2,203
33 2.75 9.51
33 2.75 9.51

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP

Chartered Accountants

(Firm's Registration No. 117366W / W-100018)

Hemant M. Joshi
Partner
(Membership No: 38019)

Place: New Delhi

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Bharti Airtel Limited

Sunil Bharti Mittal
Chairman
DIN: 00042491

Nilanjan Roy
Global Chief Financial Officer

Date: April 24, 2018
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Bharti Airtel Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

>

(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees; except per share data) airtel
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent
Share capital Other equity
Reserves and surplus Other
Securities Debenture Share-based components of Non-
No of shares premium Retained General redemption payment equity controlling Total
(in "000)[ Amount account earnings reserves reserve reserve NCI reserve (Note 19) Total interests equity

As of April 1, 2016 3,997,400 19,987 123,456 453,279 27,030 - 5,169 51,165 (12,393) 647,706 54,981 722,674
Profit for the year - - - 37.998 - - - - - 37.998 4.418 42 414
Other comprehensive loss - - - (62) - - - - (48.593) (48.655) (2.213) (50.868)
Total comprehensive income [ (loss) - - - 37,936 - - - - (48,593) (10,657) 2,203 (8,454)
Transaction with owners of equity
Employee share-based payment expense - - - - - - 328 - - 328 10 338
Exercise of share options - - - - - - (1.432) - 157 (1.275) (1.236) (2.511)
Transaction with MNCI - - - - - - - 26,051 - 26,051 26,303 52,354
Dividend paid {including tax) to Company’s
sharehuldpers ¢ g ! pany - - - (6.543) - - - - - (6.543) - (6.543)
Dividend paid (including tax) to MCI - - - - - - - - - - (12.869) (12.869)
Movement on account of court approved _ _ R (1.034) _ _ _ _ R {1.034) (642) (1.676)
schemes
As of March 31, 2017 3,997,400 19,987 123,456 483,638 27,030 - 4,065 77,216 (60,829) 654,576 68,750 743,313
Profit for the year - - - 10.990 - - - - - 10,990 10,845 21,835
Other comprehensive income / (loss) - - - 194 - - - - (13.639) (13.445) (750} (14.195)
Total comprehensive income [ (loss) - - - 11,184 - - - - (13.639) (2,455) 10,095 7,640
Transaction with owners of equity
Employee share-based payment expense - - - - - - 382 - - 382 21 413
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - (424) (424) - (424)
Exercise of share options - - - - 3.510 - (3.675) - 148 (16) (13) (29)
Transaction with MNCI - - - - - - - 42,625 - 42,625 13.812 56,437
Creation of debenture redemption reserve - - - - (7.500) ¥.500 - - - - - -
Dividend paid (including tax) to Company’s ~ ~ B (18.475) ~ ~ ~ ~ B (18.475) ~ (18.475)
shareholders - : :
Dividend paid (including tax) to NCI - - - - - - - - - - (3.933) (3.933)
Movement on account of court approved
il PP - - - (866) - - - - - (866) (593) (1.459)
As of March 31, 2018 3,997,400 19,987 123,456 475,481 23,040 7,500 782 119,841 (74,743) 675,357 88,139 783,483

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

MAs per our report of even date

For DELOITITIE HASKINS & SELLS LLP™

Chartered Accountants

(Firmm’s Registration No. 11 7366WVW S W-100018)

Hemant M. Joshi
Partner
(Membership Mo: 38019)

Place: New Dwelhi

For a

Sunil

nd on behalf of the Board of Directors of Bharti Airtel Limmited

Bharti Mittal

Chairman
DIMN: 000329491

Milanjan Roy
Global Chief Financial Officer

Date:

April 24, 2018
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For the year ended

March 21, 2018 March 21, 2017
Cash flows from operating activities
Frofit before tax 22 670 FF.222
Adferstrmresris for -
Depreciation and amortisation 192 431 197,720
Finance costs Q3,255 95,466
Finance income (12,540) (18,492
Share of results of joint wventures and associates (10,8097 (10,3397
Exceptional items 325 (27a)
Employeese share-based payment expense <413 =238
Other non-cash items 10,410 F., 900
Operating cash flow before changes in working capital I, 355 349, 450
Changes in working capital
Trade receivables (2,474 5,366
Trade payables 15,122 7640
Inwventories 2027 2433
FProvisions 154 (26}
Other financial and non financial liabilities 51,205 32,558
Other financial and non financial assets (25,899) [(52,550)
Met cash generated from operations before tax 212 2671 213, 3860
Incorme tax paid (13, 723) (21,587
MNet cash generated from operating activities (a) 2908, 538 DB, T
Cash flovws from inwvesting activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (245,259 (223,030
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,655 @4, 4G22
FPurchase of intangible assets = (17,749 (155,673}
Payment towwards Spectrum - Deferred payment liability = (9.9097% [9,.80%)
Met mowvement in current investments (50,259 5,785
FPurchase of non-current investments - (89,073
Sale of non-current iNvestments 36,495 82,557
Inwvestment in subsidiary, net of cash acquired / associate (19,498 [(283)
Sale of subsidiaries - 59,50
Sale of towwer assets <% ,869 F.120
Inwestment in associate a0l (250
Proceeds from sale of interest in associate J/ joint wenture - = e
Dividend received 10,377 Q9,789
Interest receiwved 5,662 2,305
Net cash used in inwvesting activities (b) (279, 676) (06, 0-2-1)

Cash flovws from financing acthvities

Proceeds from borrowvsings 197, 6563 258,583
Repayment of borrowings (130, 717) (274,608
Met proceeds from short-term borrowvings [(26,874) 25,377
Proceeds from sale and finance leaseback of towers 2,958 6,277
Repayment of finance lease liabilities (2. 932) (2,899
FPurchase of treasury shares <+ 2<17) -

Interest and other finance charges paid (43,0417 (58,5660
FProceeds from exercise of share options 1= a5
Diwidend paid (including ta) (32,6520 (9,158%
Proceeds from issuance of equity shares to MCI (refer note 5) 21 1,245

Sale of interest in a subsidiary (refer MNote 5 57,189 B6l,863
Purchase of shares from MNCI (refer note 5 - (10,68

Met cash generatved from J (used in) financing activities () LD, 205 (2. 514%)
MNet increase f (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8, OGTFT (26, 759
during the year (a+b+c)

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 281 (756}
Cash and cash equivalents as at beginning of the year (=2.880) 17,635
Cash and cash equivalents as at end of the year (Note 17) 28, 468 (9. 830)

*Cash flows towards spectrum acquisition are based on the timing of payouts to DoT (viz. upfront / deferred).

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Bharti Airtel Limited
For DELOITTE HASKINS 8 SELLS LLP

Chartered Accountants

(Firm’s Registration No. 117366W / W-100018)

Sunil Bharti Mittal Gopal Vittal
Chairman Managing Director 8 CEO
DIMN: 00042491 {India and South Asia)

DIMN: 02291778

Hemant M. Joshi

Partner

{Membership No: 28019)
Nilanjan Roy Pankaj Tewari
Global Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Place: New Delhi Date: April 24, 2018
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1. Corporate information

Bharti Airtel Limited (‘the Company’ or ‘the Parent’) is domiciled and incorporated in India as a limited liability
company with its shares being listed on the National Stock Exchange and the Bombay Stock Exchange. The
registered office of the Company is situated at Bharti Crescent, 1, Nelson Mandela Road, Vasant Kunj, Phase —
II, New Delhi — 110070.

The Company together with its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Group’) has presence in India,
Africa and South Asia. The principal activities of the Group, its joint ventures and associates consist of
provision of telecommunication services, tower infrastructure services and direct-to-home digital television
services. The details as to the services provided by the Group are further provided in note 36. For details as to

the Group structure, refer note 39.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements (‘financial statements’) have been prepared to comply in all material
respects with the Indian Accounting Standard (‘Ind AS’) as notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs("MCA")
under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act’), read together with Rule 3 of the Companies (Indian

Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended from time to time) and other relevant provisions of the Act.

The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on April 24, 2018.

The financial statements are based on the classification provisions contained in Ind AS 1, ‘Presentation of
Financial Statements’ and division II of schedule III of the Companies Act 2013. Further, for the purpose of
clarity, various items are aggregated in the statement of profit and loss and balance sheet. Nonetheless, these

items are dis-aggregated separately in the notes to the financial statements, where applicable or required.

All the amounts included in the financial statements are reported in millions of Indian Rupees
(‘Rupees’ or 'Rs.”) and are rounded to the nearest million, except per share data and unless stated otherwise.

Further, amounts which are less than a million are appearing as ‘0’

The preparation of the said financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and
judgements. It also requires the management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas where estimates are significant to the financial statements, or areas involving a

higher degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in note 3.
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The accounting policies, as set out in the following paragraphs of this note, have been consistently applied, by
all the group entities, to all the periods presented in the said financial statements. Further, previous year

figures have been re-grouped, wherever necessary to conform to current year’s classification.

2.2 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual and going concern basis, and the historical cost
convention except where the Ind AS requires a different accounting treatment. The principal variations from
the historical cost convention relate to financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss or
through other comprehensive income (refer note 2.10 (b)), liability for cash-settled awards (refer note 2.17),
the component of carrying values of recognised liabilities that are designated in fair value hedges (refer note

2.10 (d)) - which are measured at fair value.
Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price at the measurement date, at which an asset can be sold or paid to transfer a liability, in
an orderly transaction between market participants. The Group’s accounting policies require, measurement of
certain financial / non-financial assets and liabilities at fair values (either on a recurring or non-recurring
basis). Also, the fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are required to be disclosed in

the said financial statements.

The Group is required to classify the fair valuation method of the financial / non-financial assets and liabilities,
either measured or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements, using a three level
fair-value-hierarchy (which reflects the significance of inputs used in the measurement). Accordingly, the
Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of

unobservable inputs.

The three levels of the fair-value-hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets

Level 2: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are directly or indirectly observable
Level 3: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are unobservable

2.3 Basis of consolidation

a. Subsidiaries
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Subsidiaries include all the entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed or has right to variable return from its involvement with the entity, and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power (that is, existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities)
over the entity. The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls the entity, in case the under-lying facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to above mentioned parameters that determine the existence

of control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group, and they are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. Non-controlling interests is the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable to a parent and presented separately from the Group’s equity. Non-controlling interests consist of
the amount at the date of the business combination and its share of changes in equity since that date. Profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are attributed to the controlling and non-controlling interests in
proportion to their ownership interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. However, in case where there are binding contractual arrangements that determine the attribution of

the earnings, the attribution specified by such arrangement is considered.

The profit or loss on disposal (associated with loss of control) is recognised in the statement of profit and loss
being the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest, and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of
the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in the other
comprehensive income in respect of that de-consolidated entity, are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed off the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in the other
comprehensive income are re-classified to the statement of profit and loss. Any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the resultant change in carrying value being recognised in statement of

profit and loss.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a change of control, is accounted for as a
transaction with equity holders. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling

interests and any consideration exchanged is recognised in ‘NCI reserve’, a component of equity.

b. Joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of

the parties sharing control.
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An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

Investment in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using equity method; from the date on which
Group obtains joint control over the joint venture / starts exercising significant influence over the associate.
The said investments are tested at-least annually and whenever circumstances indicate that their carrying
values may exceed the recoverable amount (viz. higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value-in-

use).

C. Method of consolidation

Accounting policies of the respective individual subsidiary, joint venture and associate are aligned wherever
necessary, so as to ensure consistency with the accounting policies that are adopted by the Group under Ind
AS.

The standalone financial statements of subsidiaries are fully consolidated on a line-by-line basis, after
adjusting for business combination adjustments (refer note 2.4). Intra-group balances and transactions, and
income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated while preparing the said financial
statements. The un-realised gains resulting from intra-group transactions are also eliminated. Similarly, the
un-realised losses are eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence as to impairment of the asset

transferred.

The Group’s investments in its joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method.
Accordingly, the investments are carried at cost less any impairment losses, as adjusted for post-acquisition
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of investees. Any excess of the cost over the Group’s share of
net assets in its joint ventures / associates at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. The un-realised gains / losses resulting from
transactions with joint ventures and associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the
Group's interest in the investee. However, un-realised losses are eliminated only to the extent that there is no

evidence of impairment.

At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment is
impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between

the recoverable amount of investment and its carrying value.

2.4 Business combinations
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The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, and accordingly,
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed in the acquiree are recorded at their acquisition
date fair values (except certain assets and liabilities which are required to be measured as per the applicable
standard) and the non-controlling interest is initially recognised at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
is aggregation of the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests

issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.

The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is subsequently
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is

classified as equity is not re-measured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, along with the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value (with the resulting difference being recognised in statement of
profit and loss) of any previous equity interest in the acquiree, over the fair value of the Group’s share of the

identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete as at the reporting date in which the
combination occurs, the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination are measured at
their provisional fair values at the date of acquisition. Subsequently adjustments to the provisional values are
made within the measurement period, if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of those assets and

liabilities as of that date; otherwise the adjustments are recorded in the period in which they occur.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently,
it is measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in accordance with Ind AS 37,
‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, or amount initially recognised less, when

appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with Ind AS 18 ‘Revenue’.

2.5 Foreign currency transactions

a. Functional and presentation currency

The items included in financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (i.e. ‘functional currency”).
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The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the functional and presentation currency of

the Company.

b. Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the relevant functional currency at the rates

prevailing at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the closing exchange rate prevailing as at the reporting date with the resulting foreign exchange differences,
on subsequent re-statement / settlement, recognised in the statement of profit and loss within finance costs /
finance income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rate prevalent, at the date of initial recognition (in case they are
measured at historical cost) or at the date when the fair value is determined (in case they are measured at
fair value) — the resulting foreign exchange difference, on subsequent re-statement / settlement, recognised
in the statement of profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The equity items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at historical cost.

C. Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations (including the goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of foreign entities) are translated into Rupees at the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting
date whereas their statements of profit and loss are translated into Rupees at monthly average exchange
rates and the equity is recorded at the historical rate. The resulting exchange differences arising on the
translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and held in foreign currency translation reserve
(‘FCTR"), a component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation (that is, disposal involving loss of control),
the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to

profit or loss.

2.6 Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current / non-current classification.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities, and all assets and liabilities which are not current (as discussed in the

below paragraphs) are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

An asset is classified as current when it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in
normal operating cycle, held primarily for the purpose of trading, expected to be realised within twelve
months after the reporting period, or cash and cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or

used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

A liability is classified as current when it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle, it is held primarily
for the purpose of trading, it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or there is
no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting

period.

The derivatives designated in hedging relationship and separated embedded derivatives are classified basis

the hedged item and host contract respectively.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment ("PPE’)

An item is recognised as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. PPE are initially recognised at cost.
The initial cost of PPE comprises its purchase price (including non-refundable duties and taxes but excluding
any trade discounts and rebates), assets retirement obligations (refer note 2.18 (b)) and any directly
attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Further, it
includes assets installed on the premises of customers as the associated risks, rewards and control remain

with the Group.

Subsequent to initial recognition, PPE are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When significant parts of PPE are required to be replaced at regular intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as separate component of assets. When an item of PPE is replaced, then its carrying amount is de-
recognised from the balance sheet and cost of the new item of PPE is recognised. Further, in case the
replaced part was not being depreciated separately, the cost of the replacement is used as an indication to

determine the cost of the replaced part at the time it was acquired.

The expenditures that are incurred after the item of PPE has been put to use, such as repairs and
maintenance, are normally charged to the statement of profit and loss in the period in which such costs are

incurred. However, in situations where the said expenditure can be measured reliably, and is probable that
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future economic benefits associated with it will flow to the Group, it is included in the asset’s carrying value or

as a separate asset, as appropriate.

Depreciation on PPE is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. Freehold land
is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. The Group has established the estimated range of useful
lives for different categories of PPE as follows:

Categories Years

Period of lease or 10 -20 years, as

Leasehold improvement applicable, whichever is less

Leasehold land Period of lease
Buildings 20
Flant and equipment

- Metwork equipment (including passive

infrastructure) 3-20
- Customer premise equipment 5-6
- Assets taken on finance lease Period of lease or 10 years, as

applicable, whichever is less
Other equipment, operating and office equipment

Computer equipment 3
Furniture & fixture and Office equipment 2-5
Vehicles 3-5

The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusted appropriately, at-
least as at each financial year end so as to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are consistent
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from these assets. The effect of any change in the estimated
useful lives, residual values and / or depreciation method are accounted prospectively, and accordingly, the
depreciation is calculated over the PPE’s remaining revised useful life. The cost and the accumulated
depreciation for PPE sold, scrapped, retired or otherwise disposed off are de-recognised from the balance
sheet and the resulting gains / (losses) are included in the statement of profit and loss within other expenses

/ other income.

The cost of capital work-in-progress (‘CWIP") is presented separately in the balance sheet.

2.8 Intangible assets

Identifiable intangible assets are recognised when the Group controls the asset, it is probable that future
economic benefits attributed to the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured

reliably.
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Goodwill represents the cost of the acquired businesses in excess of the fair value of identifiable net assets
purchased (refer note 2.4). Goodwill is not amortised; however it is tested annually for impairment (refer note
2.9) and carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The gains / (losses) on the disposal of a
cash-generating-unit ("CGU’) include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the CGU sold (in case
goodwill has been allocated to group of CGUs; it is determined on the basis of the relative fair value of the
operations sold).

The intangible assets that are acquired in a business combination are recognised at its fair value there at.
Other intangible assets are recognised at cost. These assets having definite useful life are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is computed using the straight-line

method over the expected useful life of intangible assets.

The Group has established the estimated useful lives of different categories of intangible assets as follows:

a. Software

Software are amortised over the period of license, generally not exceeding three years.

b. Bandwidth

Bandwidth is amortised over the period of the agreement.

C. Licenses (including spectrum)

Acquired licenses and spectrum are amortised commencing from the date when the related network is

available for intended use in the relevant jurisdiction. The useful lives range from two to twenty five years.

The revenue-share based fee on licenses / spectrum is charged to the statement of profit and loss in the

period such cost is incurred.

d. Other acquired intangible assets

Other acquired intangible assets include the following:

Rights acquired for unlimited license access: Over the period of the agreement which ranges upto five
years

Distribution network: One year to two years

Customer base: Over the estimated life of such relationships which ranges from one year to five years

Non-compete fee: Over the period of the agreement which ranges upto five years
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The useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed, and adjusted appropriately, at least at each financial
year end so as to ensure that the method and period of amortisation are consistent with the expected pattern
of economic benefits from these assets. The effect of any change in the estimated useful lives and / or
amortisation method is accounted prospectively, and accordingly, the amortisation is calculated over the

remaining revised useful life.

Further, the cost of intangible assets under development includes the amount of spectrum allotted to the
Group and related costs (including borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of qualifying assets) (refer note 2.21), if any, for which services are yet to be rolled out and are

presented separately in the balance sheet.

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

a. Goodwiill

Goodwill is tested for impairment, at-least annually and whenever circumstances indicate that it may be
impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating-unit (‘"CGU’) or
group of CGUs (‘CGUs"), which are expected to benefit from the acquisition-related synergies and represent
the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, within
an operating segment. A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are

largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets.

Impairment occurs when the carrying value of a CGU / CGUs including the goodwill, exceeds the estimated
recoverable amount of the CGU / CGUs. The recoverable amount of a CGU / CGUs is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. Value-in-use is the present value of future cash flows expected to
be derived from the CGU / CGUs.

The total impairment loss of a CGU / CGUs is allocated first to reduce the carrying value of Goodwill allocated
to that CGU / CGUs and then to the other assets of that CGU / CGUs - on pro-rata basis of the carrying value

of each asset.

b. PPE, intangible assets and intangible assets under development

PPE (including CWIP) and intangible assets with definite lives, are reviewed for impairment, whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. Intangible assets
under development is tested for impairment, at-least annually and whenever circumstances indicate that it

may be impaired.
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For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (that is, higher of the fair value less costs to
sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis, unless the asset does not generate cash
flows that are largely independent of those from other assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined at the CGU level to which the said asset belongs. If such individual assets or CGU are considered
to be impaired, the impairment to be recognised in the statement of profit and loss is measured by the
amount by which the carrying value of the asset / CGU exceeds their estimated recoverable amount and

allocated on pro-rata basis.

Reversal of impairment losses

Impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Other impairment losses are reversed in the statement
of profit and loss and the carrying value is increased to its revised recoverable amount provided that this
amount does not exceed the carrying value that would have been determined had no impairment loss been

recognised for the said asset / CGU in previous years.

2.10 Financial instruments
a. Recognition, classification and presentation
The financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

The Group determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: a) those to be measured subsequently at
fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss), and b) those to be
measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the

financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

The Group has classified all the non-derivative financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost.

The entire hybrid contract, financial assets with embedded derivatives, are considered in their entirety for
determining the contractual terms of the cash flow and accordingly, the embedded derivatives are not
separated. However, derivatives embedded in non-financial instrument / financial liabilities (measured at
amortised cost) host contracts are classified as separate derivatives if their economic characteristics and risks

are not closely related to those of the host contracts.

Financial assets and liabilities arising from different transactions are off-set against each other and the

resultant net amount is presented in the balance sheet, if and only when, the Group currently has a legally
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enforceable right to set-off the related recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

b. Measurement - Non-derivative financial instruments

I. Initial measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures the non-derivative financial instruments at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Otherwise transaction

costs are expensed in the statement of profit and loss.

II. Subsequent measurement - financial assets
The subsequent measurement of the non-derivative financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

i. Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate ('EIR") method (if the
impact of discounting / any transaction costs is significant). Interest income from these financial assets is

included in finance income.

ii. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI’)

Equity investments which are not held for trading and for which the Group has elected to present the change
in the fair value in other comprehensive income and debt instruments that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flow represent solely

payment of principal and interest, are measured at FVTOCI.

The changes in fair value are taken through OCI, except for the impairment (on debt instruments), interest
(basis EIR method), dividend and foreign exchange differences which are recognised in the statement of

profit and loss.

When the financial asset is derecognised, the related accumulated fair value adjustments in OCI as at the
date of derecognition are reclassified from equity and recognised in the statement of profit and loss. However,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to statement of profit and loss in case of

equity instruments.

iii. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (‘"FVTPL’")

All equity instruments and financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL. Interest (basis EIR method) and dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL is
recognised in the statement of profit and loss within finance income / finance costs separately from the other

gains/losses arising from changes in the fair value.
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Impairment

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried
at amortised cost and debt instrument carried at FVTOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If credit risk has not
increased significantly, twelve month expected credit loss (‘"ECL’) is used to provide for impairment loss,

otherwise lifetime ECL is used.

However, only in case of trade receivables, the Company applies the simplified approach which requires

expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

III. Subsequent measurement - financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method (if the impact of

discounting / any transaction costs is significant).

c. Measurement - derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, including separated embedded derivatives, that are not designated as
hedging instruments in a hedging relationship are classified as financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss - Held for trading. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. They
are subsequently measured at their fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the statement of

profit and loss within finance income / finance costs.

d. Hedging activities
I. Fair value hedge

Some of the group entities use certain type of derivative financial instruments (viz. interest rate / currency
swaps) to manage / mitigate their exposure to the risk of change in fair value of the borrowings. The Group
designates certain interest swaps to hedge the risk of changes in fair value of recognised borrowings
attributable to the hedged interest rate risk. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the statement of profit and loss within
finance income / finance costs, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged liability that are
attributable to the hedged risk. If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the
adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item is amortised to profit or loss over the period to

remaining maturity of the hedged item.
II. Cash flow hedge

Some of the group entities use certain types of derivative financial instruments (viz. foreign currency

forwards, options, swaps) to manage / mitigate their exposure to foreign exchange and price risk. Further,
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the Group designates certain such derivative financial instruments (or its components) as hedging instruments
for hedging the exchange rate fluctuation risk attributable to is either to an recognised item or a highly
probable forecast transaction (‘Cash flow hedge’). The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
Derivative financial instruments (or its components) that are designated and qualify as Cash flow hedges, are
recognised in the Other comprehensive income and held in Cash flow hedge reserve (‘CFHR") - a component
of Equity. Any gains / (losses) relating to the ineffective portion, are recognised immediately in the statement
of profit and loss within finance income / finance costs. The amounts accumulated in Equity are re-classified

to the statement of profit and loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit / (loss).

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, any cumulative gains / (losses) existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised
(on the basis as discussed in the above paragraph) when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in
the statement of profit and loss. However, at any point of time, when a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gains / (losses) that were reported in equity is immediately transferred to

the statement of profit and loss within finance income / finance costs.

II1.Net investment hedge
The Group hedges its certain net investment in foreign subsidiaries which are accounted for similar to cash
flow hedges. Accordingly, any foreign exchange differences on the hedging instrument (viz. borrowings)
relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and held in foreign
currency translation reserve (‘"FCTR") - a component of equity, so as to offset the change in the value of the
net investment being hedged. The ineffective portion of the gains or loss on these hedges is immediately
recognised in the statement of profit and loss. The amounts accumulated in equity are included in the

statement of profit and loss when the foreign operation is disposed or partially disposed.

e. Derecognition

The financial liabilities are de-recognised from the balance sheet when the under-lying obligations are
extinguished, discharged, lapsed, cancelled, expires or legally released. The financial assets are de-recognised
from the balance sheet when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired, or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. The

difference in the carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

2.11 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease is based on whether fulfillment of the arrangement is
dependent on the use of a specific asset and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that

right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.
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Leases where the lessor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are

classified as finance lease and other leases are classified as operating lease.

Operating lease receipts / payments are recognised as an income / expense on a straight-line basis over the

lease term unless the lease payments increase in line with expected general inflation.

Contingent rents are recognised as income / expense in the period in which they are earned / incurred.

a. Group as a lessee

Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised at the lease inception at lower of the fair value of the
leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges (recognised in the statement of profit and loss) and reduction of the lease liability so

as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Sale and leaseback transaction involves the sale and the leasing back of the same asset. In case it results in a
finance lease, any profit or loss is not recognised, instead the asset leased back is retained at its carrying
value. However, in case it results in an operating lease, any profit or loss is recognised immediately provided

the transaction occurs at fair value.

b. Group as a lessor
Assets leased to others under finance lease are recognised as receivables at an amount equal to the net
investment in the leased assets. Finance lease income is allocated to periods so as to reflect a constant

periodic rate of return on the net investment outstanding in respect of the finance lease.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased

asset and recognised in statement of profit and loss on a stratght-line basis over the lease term.

The Group enters into ‘Indefeasible right to use’ ('IRU") arrangement wherein the assets are given on lease
over the substantial part of the asset life. However, the title to the assets and significant risk associated with
the operation and maintenance of these assets remains with the Group. Hence, such arrangements are
recognised as operating lease. The contracted price is recognised as revenue during the tenure of the
agreement. Unearned IRU revenue received in advance is presented as deferred revenue within liabilities in

the balance sheet.

2.12 Taxes
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The income tax expense comprises of current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognised in the
statement of profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the related income tax is also recognised

accordingly.

a. Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates, laws and regulations, which have been enacted or
substantively enacted as at the reporting date in the respective countries where the group entities operate
and generate taxable income. The payment made in excess / (shortfall) of the respective group entities’
income tax obligation for the period are recognised in the balance sheet under non-current income tax assets
/ liabilities.

Any interest, related to accrued liabilities for potential tax assessments are not included in Income tax charge

or (credit), but are rather recognised within finance costs.

The Group periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the

basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

b. Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial statements. However, deferred tax are not
recognised if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Further,

deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Moreover, deferred tax is recognised on
temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates - unless the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The unrecognised deferred tax assets / carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting

date for recoverability and adjusted appropriately.
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

137



Bharti Airtel Limited @
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ‘
(All amounts are in millions of Indian Rupees -'Rs.” ; unless stated otherwise) airtel

Income tax assets and liabilities are off-set against each other and the resultant net amount is presented in
the balance sheet, if and only when, (a) the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the
current income tax assets and liabilities, and (b) when it relate to income tax levied by the same taxation

authority and where there is an intention to settle the current income tax balances on net basis.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined using the first-in-first-out method) and net realisable
value. The costs comprise its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of bringing to its present
location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,

less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated variable costs necessary to make the sale.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank balances and any deposits with original maturities of
three months or less (that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and cash equivalents and subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value). However, for the purpose of the statement of cash flows, in
addition to above items, any bank overdrafts / cash credits that are integral part of the Group’s cash

management, are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

2.15 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets-held-for-sale when their carrying amount is to
be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. The sale is
considered highly probable only when the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present
condition, it is unlikely that the sale will be withdrawn and sale is expected within one year from the date of
the classification. Disposal groups classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell except for assets such as deferred tax assets, financial assets that are carried at

fair value. Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale.
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately in the balance sheet.
Loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less

costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or

disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative loss previously recognised.
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If the criteria for the held for sale are no longer met, it ceases to be classified as held for sale and are
measured at the lower of (i) its carrying amount before the asset was classified as held for sale, adjusted for
any depreciation / amortisation that would have been recognised had that asset not been classified as held
for sale, and (ii) its recoverable amount at the date when the disposal group ceases to be classified as held

for sale.

2.16 Share capital / Securities premium account / Treasury shares

Ordinary shares are classified as Equity when the Company has an un-conditional right to avoid delivery of
cash or another financial asset, that is, when the dividend and repayment of capital are at the sole and

absolute discretion of the Company and there is no contractual obligation whatsoever to that effect.

When the Company purchases its ordinary shares through Bharti Airtel Employees' Welfare Trust, they are
treated as treasury shares, and the consideration paid is deducted from the Equity. When the treasury shares
are subsequently re-issued, any difference between its carrying amount and consideration received is

recognised in share-based-payment reserve.

2.17 Employee benefits

The Group’s employee benefits mainly include wages, salaries, bonuses, defined contribution to plans, defined
benefit plans, compensated absences, deferred compensation and share-based payments. The employee

benefits are recognised in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the group employees.

a. Defined contribution plans
The contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised in profit or loss as and when the services are
rendered by employees. The Group has no further obligations under these plans beyond its periodic

contributions.

b. Defined benefit plans
In accordance with the local laws and regulations, all the employees in India are entitled for the Gratuity plan.
The said plan requires a lump-sum payment to eligible employees (meeting the required vesting service

condition) at retirement or termination of employment, based on a pre-defined formula.

The Group provides for the liability towards the said plans on the basis of actuarial valuation carried out
quarterly as at the reporting date, by an independent qualified actuary using the projected-unit-credit

method.
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The obligation towards the said benefits is recognised in the balance sheet, at the present value of the
defined benefit obligations less the fair value of plan assets (being the funded portion). The present value of
the said obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows, using interest rates of

government bonds.

The interest income / (expense) are calculated by applying the above mentioned discount rate to the plan
assets and defined benefit obligations. The net interest income / (expense) on the net defined benefit
obligation is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. However, the related re-measurements of the net
defined benefit obligation are recognised directly in the other comprehensive income in the period in which
they arise. The said re-measurements comprise of actuarial gains and losses (arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions), the return on plan assets (excluding interest). Re-

measurements are not re-classified to the statement of profit and loss in any of the subsequent periods.

C. Other long-term employee benefits
The employees of the Group are entitled to compensated absences as well as other long-term benefits.
Compensated absences benefit comprises of encashment and availment of leave balances that were earned

by the employees over the period of past employment.

The Group provides for the liability towards the said benefits on the basis of actuarial valuation carried out
quarterly as at the reporting date, by an independent qualified actuary using the projected-unit-credit
method. The related re-measurements are recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the period in

which they arise.

d. Share-based payments
The Group operates equity-settled and cash-settled, employee share-based compensation plans, under which
the Group receives services from employees as consideration for stock options either towards shares of the

Company / cash settled units.

In case of equity-settled awards, the fair value is recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss
within employee benefits as employee share-based payment expenses, with a corresponding increase in

share-based payment reserve (a component of equity).
However, in case of cash-settled awards, the credit is recognised as a liability within other non-financial
liabilities. Subsequently, at each reporting period, until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement,

liability is re-measured at fair value through statement of profit and loss.

The total amount so expensed is determined by reference to the grant date fair value of the stock options

granted, which includes the impact of any market performance conditions and non-vesting conditions but
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excludes the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions. However, the non-market
performance vesting and service conditions are considered in the assumption as to the number of options that
are expected to vest. The forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and reduce the said expense rateably

over the vesting period.

The expense so determined is recognised over the requisite vesting period, which is the period over which all
of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. As at each reporting date, the Group revises its

estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest, if required.

It recognises the impact of any revision to original estimates in the period of change. Accordingly, no expense
is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for which vesting is conditional upon a market
performance / non-vesting condition. These are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market /
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that service conditions and all other non-market performance are

satisfied.

Where the terms of an award are modified, in addition to the expense pertaining to the original award, an
incremental expense is recognised for any modification that results in additional fair value, or is otherwise

beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled (including due to non-vesting conditions not being met), it is

treated as if it is vested thereon, and any un-recognised expense for the award is recognised immediately.

2.18 Provisions

a. General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the said obligation, and the

amounts of the said obligation can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
relevant obligation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
(if the impact of discounting is significant) and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the

provision due to un-winding of discount over passage of time is recognised within finance costs.

b. Asset retirement obligations (‘fARO’)

ARO are recognised for those operating lease arrangements where the Group has an obligation at the end of

the lease period to restore the leased premises in a condition similar to inception of lease. ARO are provided
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at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation and are recognised as part of the cost of that
particular asset. The estimated future costs of decommissioning are reviewed annually and any changes in the

estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are adjusted from the cost of the asset.

2.19 Contingencies

A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that
may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation or a present
obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is
made. Contingent assets are not recognised and disclosed only where an inflow of economic benefits is

probable.

2.20 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the entity will receive the economic benefits associated with
the transaction and the related revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is recognised at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable, which is generally the transaction price, net of any taxes, duties,

discounts and process waivers.

In order to determine if it is acting as a principal or as an agent, the Group assesses whether it has exposure

to the significant risks and rewards associated with the sale of goods or the rendering of services.

a. Service revenues
Service revenues mainly pertain to usage, subscription and activation charges for voice, data, messaging,
value added services and broadcasting. It also includes revenue towards interconnection / roaming charges

for usage of the Group’s network by other operators for voice, data, messaging and signalling services.

Usage charges are recognised based on actual usage. Subscription charges are recognised over the estimated
customer relationship period or subscription pack validity period, whichever is lower. Customer onboarding
revenue and associated cost is recognised upfront. Activation revenue and related activation costs are
amortised over the estimated customer relationship period. However, any excess of activation costs over

activation revenue are expensed as incurred.

The billing / collection in excess of revenue recognised is presented as deferred revenue in the balance sheet

whereas unbilled revenue is recognised under other current financial assets.
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Certain business’ service revenues include income from registration and installation, which are amortised over

the period of agreement since the date of activation of services.

Revenues from long distance operations comprise of voice services and bandwidth services (including

installation), which are recognised on provision of services and over the period of arrangement respectively.

b. Multiple element arrangements

The Group has entered into certain multiple-element revenue arrangements which involve the delivery or
performance of multiple products, services or rights to use assets. At the inception of the arrangement, all the
deliverables therein are evaluated to determine whether they represent separately identifiable component

basis it is perceived from the customer perspective to have value on standalone basis.

Total consideration related to the multiple element arrangements is allocated among the different components
based on their relative fair values (i.e., ratio of the fair value of each element to the aggregated fair value of
the bundled deliverables). In case the relative fair value of different components cannot be determined on a

reasonable basis, the total consideration is allocated to the different components on a residual value method.

C. Equipment sales

Equipment sales mainly pertain to sale of telecommunication equipment and related accessories. Such
transactions are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
customer. However, in case of equipment sale forming part of multiple-element revenue arrangements which

is not separately identifiable component, revenue is recognised over the customer relationship period.
d. Capacity swaps
The exchange of network capacity is recognised at fair value unless the transaction lacks commercial

substance or the fair value of neither the capacity received nor the capacity given is reliably measurable.

e. Interest income

The interest income is recognised using the EIR method. For further details, refer note 2.10.

f. Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established. For further
details, refer note 2.10

2.21 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other ancillary costs that the Group incurs in connection with the

borrowing of funds. The borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of any asset
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that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised. All the other
borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of profit and loss within finance costs of the period in which

they are incurred.

2.22 Exceptional items

Exceptional items refer to items of income or expense within the statement of profit and loss from ordinary
activities which are non-recurring and are of such size, nature or incidence that their separate disclosure is

considered necessary to explain the performance of the Group.

2.23 Non-operating expense / income

Non-operating expense comprises regulatory levies applicable to finance income in some of the geographies

whereas non-operating income pertains to certain fee income in one of the group entities.

2.24 Dividends paid

Dividend to shareholders is recognised as a liability and deducted from equity, in the year in which the
dividends are approved by the shareholders. However, interim dividends declared by the Board of directors,
which does not need shareholders’ approval, are recognised as a liability and deducted from retained

earnings, in the year in which the dividends are so declared.

2.25 Earnings per share (‘EPS’)

The Company presents the Basic and Diluted EPS data.

Basic EPS is computed by dividing the profit for the period attributable to the shareholders of the Company by

the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period excluding the treasury shares.

Diluted EPS is computed by adjusting, the profit for the year attributable to the shareholders and the
weighted average number of shares considered for deriving Basic EPS, for the effects of all the shares that
could have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential shares. The dilutive potential shares are
adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the shares been actually issued at fair value. Further, the dilutive
potential shares are deemed converted as at beginning of the period, unless issued at a later date during the

period.

3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements
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The estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the said financial statements are continuously
evaluated by the Group, and are based on historical experience and various other assumptions and factors
(including expectations of future events), that the Group believes to be reasonable under the existing
circumstances. The said estimates and judgements are based on the facts and events, that existed as at the
reporting date, or that occurred after that date but provide additional evidence about conditions existing as at

the reporting date.

Although the Group regularly assesses these estimates, actual results could differ materially from these
estimates - even if the assumptions under-lying such estimates were reasonable when made, if these results
differ from historical experience or other assumptions do not turn out to be substantially accurate. The

changes in estimates are recognised in the financial statements in the year in which they become known.

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

values of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

a. Impairment reviews

PPE (including CWIP) and intangible assets with definite lives, are reviewed for impairment, whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. Similarly,
goodwill and intangible assets under development is tested for impairment, at-least annually and whenever
circumstances indicate that it may be impaired. For details as to the impairment policy, refer note 2.9.
Accordingly the Company has performed impairment reviews for the above assets. However, the said

reviews did not result in any impairment charge.

In calculating the value in use, the Group is required to make significant judgements, estimates and
assumptions inter-alia concerning the growth in EBITDA, long-term growth rates and discount rates to reflect
the risks involved. Also, judgement is involved in determining the CGU /grouping of CGUs for allocation of the

goodwill.

The Group mainly operates in developing markets and in such markets, the plan for shorter duration is not
indicative of the long-term future performance. Considering this and the consistent use of such robust ten
year information for management reporting purpose, the Group uses ten year plans for the purpose of

impairment testing.
b. Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and the amount and timing of

future taxable income. Given the wide range of international business relationships and the long-term nature
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and complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results and the
assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax
income and expense already recorded. The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for
possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The
amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing

interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the relevant tax authority.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for the unused tax losses and minimum alternate tax credits for which
there is probability of utilisation against the future taxable profit. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing
and the level of future taxable profits, future tax planning strategies and recent business performances and

developments.

C. Property, plant and equipment
Refer note 2.7 and 6 for the estimated useful life and carrying value of property, plant and equipment

respectively.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group had reassessed useful life of certain categories of network
assets due to technological developments and accordingly, had revised the estimate of its useful life in respect
of those assets. Out of those assets, the additional depreciation charge of Rs. 3,258 on assets for which the
revised useful life had expired by March 31, 2016 has been recognised and disclosed as ‘exceptional items’
and additional depreciation charge of Rs. 6,969 for other assets has been recognised within ‘Depreciation and
amortisation’ during the year ended March 31, 2017. The impact of above change on the depreciation charge

for the future years after March 31, 2018 is as follows:

Year Ended Future period fill

March 21, 2019 March 31, 2020 end of life

Impact on future depreciation charge (£,765) (1,133) 16,968
d. Allowance for impairment of trade receivables

The expected credit loss is mainly based on the ageing of the receivable balances and historical experience.
The receivables are assessed on an individual basis or grouped into homogeneous groups and assessed for
impairment collectively, depending on their significance. Moreover, trade receivables are written off on a case-

to-case basis if deemed not to be collectible on the assessment of the underlying facts and circumstances

e. Contingent liability
Refer note 24 (i) for details of contingent liability.
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3.2 Critical judgement’s in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The critical judgement’s, which the management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and has the most significant impact on the amounts recognised in the said financial statements, is

discussed below:

a. Revenue recognition and presentation
The Group assesses its revenue arrangements in order to determine if it is acting as a principal or as an
agent by determining whether it has primary obligation basis pricing latitude and exposure to credit /

inventory risks associated with the sale of goods / rendering of services.

In the said assessment, both the legal form and substance of the agreement are reviewed to determine

each party’s role in the transaction.

b. Determination of functional currency

The Group has determined the functional currency of the group entities by identifying the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates - based on under-lying facts / circumstances. However, in respect of
certain intermediary foreign operations of the Group, the determination of functional currency is not very
obvious due to mixed indicators and the extent of autonomy enjoyed by the foreign operation. In such cases
management uses its judgement to determine the functional currency that most faithfully represents the

economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.

C. Taxes
The identification of temporary differences pertaining to the investment in subsidiaries that are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future and the determination of the related deferred income tax liabilities after

considering the requisite tax credits require the Group to make significant judgements.

4. Standards issued but not effective until the date of authorisation for issuance of the said
financial statements

The new significant standards, amendments to Standards that are issued but not yet effective until the date

of authorisation for issuance of the said financial statements are discussed below. The Group has not early

adopted these amendments and intends to adopt when they become effective.

Ind AS 115, '‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’
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In March 2018, MCA has notified the Ind AS 115, Revenue from Contract with Customers. As a consequence

of issuance of Ind AS 115, relevant paragraphs have been inserted / amended in various other standards.

The Standard establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with

customers. Under this standard, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which

an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in

Ind AS 115 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue. The new revenue

standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under Ind

AS. The effective date of Ind AS 115 is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2018. The Group does

not expect that the adoption of the said standard and related amendments will have any significant impact on

the consolidated financial statements per se.

a)

b)

Significant transactions / new developments
During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Group has entered into an agreement to sell 15% equity
stake in Bharti Telemedia Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. The said transaction is subject to

requisite regulatory approvals and other closing conditions.

i. During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Group had entered into a share purchase agreement with
Millicom International Cellular S.A. to acquire 100% equity interest in Tigo Rwanda Limited. The
acquisition will make the Group the second largest mobile operator in Rwanda. The difference of
Rs. 362 between the fair value of purchase consideration (including contingent consideration)
aggregating to Rs. 3,200 and provisional fair value of net assets has been recognised as goodwill. The
said goodwill is mainly attributable to the acquired customer base and economies of scale expected

from combining the operations of the Group.

The contingent consideration arrangement requires the Group to pay between Nil to Rs. 554
(undiscounted basis) which is contingent on the achievement of meeting a target performance and is
essentially an earn out condition. As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the said consideration was

Rs. 339 determined using the discounted cash flow and estimated probability of payout.

The initial accounting for the acquisition has only been provisionally determined at the end of the
reporting period. At the date of finalisation of these consolidated financial statements, the necessary
deferred tax related implications and calculations thereto had not been finalised and they have

therefore only been provisionally determined based on the management’s best estimate.

From the date of acquisition, the acquired entity has contributed for the year ended March 31, 2018,
revenue of Rs. 473 and loss of Rs. 85 to the revenue and profit of the Group respectively, Management
estimates if the said business combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the statement

of profit and loss would show pro-forma revenue of Rs. 839,816 and the profit of Rs. 20,209.
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ii. During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Group had entered into a share purchase agreement with
seller of Tikona Digital Networks Private Limited (“TDNPL’) to acquire 100% equity interest in TDNPL.
The difference of Rs. 739 Mn between the purchase consideration and fair value of net assets has been
recognised as goodwill. The said goodwill is mainly attributable to synergies expected from the

combined operation of the Group and TDNPL.

iii. The fair value of the assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition for the above

acquisitions are as follows:

Tigo Tikona Total
Hon-current assets
Property, plant and eguipment (including CWIP) 4634 206 4,840
Intangible assets 945 17,258 18,203
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 1,786 10,538 12,324
Defferred tax liabilities - 1,709 1,709
Working capital (955) 3,014 2,055
Net assets acquired 2,838 8,21 11,069

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group signed a definitive agreement to enter into 50-50
joint venture between Bharti Airtel Ghana Holdings B.V. and MIC Africa B.V. against consideration of
their respective ownership interest of operations in Ghana. Further during the year ended
March 31, 2018, as the closing conditions for consummation of the transaction have been fulfilled, the
Group and Millicom International Cellular have formed a joint venture to combine their

telecommunication operations in Ghana.

The details of consideration received (determined on provisional basis), assets and liabilities over which

control was lost and gain on disposal (recorded as exceptional item) is as follows:

A. Consideration received As of
October 12, 2017

Fair value of consideration received 7.663

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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B. MNet assets disposed off

Mon-current assets

Property, plant and eguipment 5776

Goodwill and other intangible assets 7,962

Others 47
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 135

Trade receivables 640

Other current assets 570
Total Assets (a) 15,130
Non-current liabilities

Others 862
Current liabilities

Borrowings 4278

Trade payable 2,065

Others 895
Total Liabilities (b) 8,100
Net assets disposed off (a-b) 7,030

C. Gain on disposal® M2

D.  Net cash inflow on disposal

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalent -
Less: cash and cash equivalents held by the entity (135)
{135)

*Gain on disposal has been computed after adjusting FCTR reclassified to statement of profit and loss

and provision towards future contractual settlements.

d) During the year ended March 31, 2018, an understanding for demerger of consumer mobile businesses
of Tata Teleservices Limited and Tata Teleservices Maharashtra Limited into the Company / Bharti
Hexacom Limited (subsidiary of the Company) was entered into. Further, the board of directors have
approved the scheme(s) of arrangement under section 230 to section 232 of the Companies Act, 2013

for the said demerger. The said transaction is subject to requisite regulatory approvals.

e) During the year ended March 31, 2017, Bharti Infratel Limited ('BIL"), a subsidiary of the Company had
bought back its approx. 47 Mn shares against a consideration of Rs. 425 per share aggregating to

Rs. 20,000, wherein the Company and other shareholders had tendered the shares in the ratio of 62%
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9)

h)

)

k)

and 38% approximately. Accordingly, the shareholding of the Company in BIL had increased by 0.25%,
and hence the consideration paid to NCI over and above the reduction in their carrying value amounting

Rs. 1,514 had been recognised in NCI reserve, a component of equity.

Further, the Group has sold approx. 150.5 Mn equity shares and 190.6 Mn equity shares of BIL during
the year ended March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 respectively. The excess of proceeds (net of
associated transaction costs, taxes and regulatory levies) over the change in NCI amounting to Rs.
42,598 and Rs. 39,241 during the year ended March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 has been recognised

directly in NCI reserve, a component of equity.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group had entered into a scheme of amalgamation for the
merger of Telenor (India) Communication Private Limited with the Company. The said transaction is

subject to requisite regulatory approvals and other closing conditions.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, Bharti Telemedia Limited ('BTL"), a subsidiary of the Company
allotted 500 Mn shares, against a consideration of Rs. 10 per share aggregating to Rs. 5,000, to the
Company and Bharti Enterprises Limited (‘BEL’) in the ratio of their existing shareholding (viz. 95:5).
Accordingly, the Group had allocated BEL's share of accumulated losses in BTL to the extent of capital

contribution received from BEL.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group acquired rights to use spectrum in the 1800 MHz

band for six circles against a consideration of Rs. 46,530 from Videocon Telecommunications Limited.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group acquired rights to use spectrum in the 2300 MHz
band for eight circles against a consideration of Rs. 35,000 from Aircel Limited and its subsidiaries

Dishnet Wireless Limited.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group acquired 24.89% of shares in Airtel Ghana Limited by
subscribing to the right issue through the conversion of existing shareholder loans hereby, increasing its
shareholding to 99.89%. The excess of consideration over the carrying value of the interest acquired,

Rs. 9,130, had been recognised in transaction with NCI reserve, a component of equity.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group acquired 4.20% equity stake in Airtel Networks
Limited, thereby, increasing its shareholding to 83.25%. The excess of consideration paid to NCI over
the carrying value of the interest acquired, Rs. 3,923, had been recognised in transaction with NCI

reserve, a component of equity.
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(i) During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group merged its business operations in Bangladesh with
Robi Axiata Limited and accordingly lost control over Airtel Bangladesh Limited and acquired 25%

stake in the merged entity (viz. Robi Axiata Limited) as an associate of the Group.

(ii) During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group had sold Group’s operations in Burkina Faso and
Sierra Leone.

The details of consideration received, assets and liabilities over which control was lost and gain on

disposals (recorded as exceptional item) is as follows:

A. Consideration received As of
June 22, 2016 July 19, 2016 November 16, 2016
Burkina Faso Sierra Leone Bangladesh
Fair value of consideration received 39,554 22184 256956
B. Net assets disposed off
Non-current assets
Property, plant and eguipment 5,922 4110 18.661
Goodwill and other intangible assets 25,232 8,972 16,765
Others 1,203 1.014 720
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1.017 402 426
Trade receivables 1.153 132 689
Other current assets 3.953 629 1,752
Total Assets (a) 39,480 15,259 39,013
Non-current liabilities
Others 1.018 153 961
Current liabilities
Borrowings 1,074 73 7,444
Trade payable 9,090 904 4,681
Others 1.096 69 2,812
Total Liabilities (b) 12,278 1,199 15,899
Net assets disposed off (a-b) 27,202 14,060 23,114
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C. Gain on disposal * 8,404 1,778 2,038
D. Met cash inflow on disposal
Consideration received in cash and cash
equivalent (net of transaction tax) 39.554 20,820 -
Less: cash and cash eguivalents held by
the entity ha (402) (426)
39,612 20,418 (426)

m)

n)

0)

*Gain on disposal has been computed after adjusting FCTR reclassified to statement of profit and loss,
transactional taxes, deferred gains on account of transaction with associate and provision towards

future contractual settlements.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group has been allotted 172 MHz spectrum across 1800 /
2100 / 2300 MHz. Consequently, the Group had paid amount of Rs. 74,018 upfront and opted the
deferred payment option for Rs. 66,764.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group had sold its entire stake in its African associate,
Tanzania Telecommunications Company Limited and recognised gain of Rs. 443 on disposal as

exceptional item.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Group had acquired 100% equity stake of Augere Wireless
Broadband India Private Limited CAWBPL"). On June 7, 2016, on fulfillment of the relevant conditions
the transactions has been consummated and goodwill of Rs. 150 has been recognised. Subsequently,
with effect from February 15, 2017, AWBPL had merged with the Company through the scheme of

arrangement under Sections 391 to 394 of the Companies Act, 1956.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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6. Property, plant and equipment ("PPE’)

The following table presents the reconciliation of changes in the carrying value of PPE for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017:

Leasehold Plant and Furniture 8 Office
improvement Building Land equipment fixture Vehicles equipment Computer Total
Gross carrying value
As of april 1, 2016 9,163 11,873 3,687 1,230,511 3,661 2,414 9,212 85,745 1,356,266
Additions [ capitalisation 378 86 351 202,705 710 157 981 4,309 209,677
Disposals / adjustments (471) (153) (241) (28,714) (361) (151) (1,496) (3,136) (34,723)
Sale of subsidiari t
ale of subsidiaries / towerco (130) (610) (97) (69,400) (970) (115) (328) (4,777) (76,427)
operation
Met transfers to [/ from assets- _ ) ) 4,990 ) _ ) ) 4,990
held-for-sale
Exchange differences (537) (788) (262) (53,624) (317) (131) (942) (10,635) (67,236)
As of March 31, 2017 8,403 10,408 3,438 1,286,468 2,723 2,174 7,427 71,506 1,392,547
Additions [ capitalisation 318 147 123 220,354 389 57 798 7,688 229,874
Acqulsltm_n through business 15 157 ) 3,006 i 1g ) 510 4,697
combinations™
Disposals / adjustments 220 (498) 520 (38,517) (29) (52) (547) 119 (38,775)
Sale of subsidiaries™ (82) (66) - (9,184) (145) (4) (114) (1,345) (10,940)
Exchange differences 127 Q 131 (4,665) 59 a8 (54) (141) (4,446)
As of March 31, 2018 9,010 10,157 4,212 1,458,452 2,997 2,282 7,510 78,337 1,572,957
Accumulated depreciation
As of April 1, 2016 6,674 2,841 127 651,301 2,493 1,977 6,791 73,504 745,758
Charge# 804 570 5 136,400 561 177 1,040 6,474 146,031
Disposals / adjustments (503) 677 5 (26,576) 688 (151) (2,278) (3,332) (31,470)
Sale of subsidiaries [/ towerco
aperation™ (98) (152) (38,421) (900} (96) (268) (3,949) (43,884)
Met transfers to [ from assets- _ ) ) 1,374 ) ) ) _ 1,374
held-for-sale
Exchange differences (392) (245) (9) (33,975) (491) (94) (621) (9,523) (45,350)
As of March 31, 2017 6,485 3,691 128 690,103 2,351 1,813 4,664 632,224 772,459
Charge# 533 445 18 128,189 429 176 1,028 6,154 137,022
Disposals / adjustments 228 (384) (33) (32,400) (3) (28) (170} 119 (32,671)
Sale of subsidiaries™ (60) (27) - (4,168) (134) (3) (90) (1,222) (5,704)
Exchange differences 122 5 11 (4,318) 13 72 (42) (91) (4,228)
As of March 31, 2018 7,308 3,780 124 777,406 2,656 2,030 5,390 68,184 866,378
Net carrying value
As of March 31, 2017 1,918 6,717 3,310 596,365 372 361 2,763 8,282 620,088
As of March 31, 2018 1,702 6,377 4,088 681,046 341 252 2,120 10,153 706,079
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~Refer note 5 (b), (c), (I) & (0)

#1It includes Rs. 3,672 (March 31, 2017 Rs. 2,936) on account of exceptional item with respect to plant and
equipment (refer note 32 (i) a & (ii) b, ¢, d) and Rs. 387 (March 31, 2017 Rs. 510) on account of court

approved scheme / arrangements.

@Refer note 24 (ii) (a) for assets given on operating lease

The carrying value of CWIP as at March 31, 2018 and 2017 is Rs. 52,089 and Rs. 23,942 respectively, which

mainly pertains to plant and equipment.

The following table summarises the detail of the significant assets taken on finance lease:

As of
Plant and equipment
March 31, 2018 March 21, 2017
Gross carrying value@ 36,453 37,165
Accumulated depreciation 19,598 18,757
Met carrying value 16,335 18,408

@During the year ended March 31, 2017, sale and lease back of 1,510 towers in two of the African countries
was completed for a consideration of Rs. 13,193. The portion leased back which have been classified as
finance lease, has been retained at the carrying value of Rs. 5,430 and the finance lease obligation has been

recorded at Rs. 5,855, being the fair value of the leased back portion.

For details towards pledge of the above assets refer note 20.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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7. Intangible assets
The following table presents the reconciliation of changes in the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible
assets for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017:

Other intangible assets
Licenses
(including oOther acquired
Goodwill # Software Bandwidth spectrum) intangibles Total
Gross carrying value
As of April 1, 2016 431,018 16,218 19,901 771,197 4,405 811,721
Additions / capitalisation - 2,783 4,903 205,372 5,463 218,521
AchI.SItID.ﬂ through business 150 ) ) 1,250 3 1,250
combinations™
Disposals / adjustments@ - (92) (86) (1,005) - (1,273)
Sale of suEsmIlarles [ towerco (44,066) (944) (182) (19,015) ) (20,141)
operation
Exchange differences (46,383) 17 (954) (24,497) (91) (25,525)
As of March 31, 2017 340,719 17,982 23,582 933,212 9,777 984,553
Additions / capitalisation - 3,637 7451 64,352 ] 75,446
Ach|.5|t|0.n through business 1,084 _ _ 121 632 953
combinations™
Disposals / adjustment@ - (140) (824) (10,362) (389) (11,715)
Sale of subsidiaries™ (6,310) - (463) (16,112) - (16,573)
Exchange differences (4,783) 2 (71) (2,830) 102 (2,797)
As of March 31, 2018 330,710 21,481 29,675 968,581 10,128 1,029,865
Accumulated amortisation
As of April 1, 2016 - 12,027 5,342 108,011 2,302 127,682
Charge - 2,780 1,507 48,611 2,247 55,145
Disposals [ adjustments@ - 36 (82) (1,127) (100) (1,273)
Sale of subsidiaries [/ towerco
operation™ (792) (68) (8,849) (9,709)
Exchange differences - 13 (79) (11,344) (63) (11,473)
As of March 31, 2017 - 14,064 6,620 135,302 4,386 160,372
Charge - 2,731 1,663 52,612 2,462 50,468
Disposals / adjustments@ (140) (B824) (10,362) (389) (11,715)
Sale of subsidiaries™ - - (52) (14,868) - (14,921)
Exchange differences - 2 (9) (1,295) 108 (1,194)
As of March 31, 2018 - 16,657 7,397 161,389 6,567 192,010
Net carrying value
As of March 31, 2017 338,082 3,018 16,962 797,910 5,301 824,181
As of March 31, 2018 328,070 4,824 22,278 807,192 3,561 837,855

#Net carrying value of goodwill includes accumulated impairment of Rs. 2,640.

ARefer note 5 (b), (c), (I) & (0)

@Mainly pertains to gross block and accumulated amortisation of license (including spectrum), bandwidth and

software whose useful life has expired.

The carrying value of Intangible assets under development as at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 is

Rs. 45,423 and Rs. 84,443 respectively, which pertains to spectrum.
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During the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 the Group has capitalised borrowing cost of Rs. 3,037 and
Rs. 2,750 respectively.

Weighted average remaining amortization period of licenses as of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017

is 15.88 years and 16.60 years respectively.

For details towards pledge of the above assets refer note 20.

Impairment review

The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually on December 31. During the year ended March 31, 2018,

the testing did not result in any impairment in the carrying amount of goodwill.

The carrying amount of goodwill is attributable to the following CGU / group of CGUs:

As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Mobile Services - Africa 281,182 291,959
Maobile Services - India 40,413 39,676
Airtel business 6,131 6,103
Homes Services 344 344
328,070 338,082

The recoverable amount of the above CGUs are based on value-in-use, which is determined based on ten year
business plans that have been approved by management for internal purposes. The said planning horizon
reflects the assumptions for short-to-mid term market developments. The cash flows beyond the planning
period are extrapolated using appropriate terminal growth rates. The terminal growth rates used do not
exceed the long term average growth rates of the respective industry and country in which the entity operates

and are consistent with the internal / external sources of information.

The key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations are as follows:
¢ Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (‘"EBITDA") margins
e Discount rate
* Growth rates

» Capital expenditures

EBITDA margins: The margins have been estimated based on past experience after considering incremental
revenue arising out of adoption of valued added and data services from the existing and new customers,
though these benefits are partially offset by decline in tariffs in competitive scenario. Margins will be positively
impacted from the efficiencies and cost rationalisation / others initiatives driven by the Company; whereas,

factors like higher churn, increased cost of operations may impact the margins negatively.
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Discount rate: Discount rate reflects the current market assessment of the risks specific to a CGU or group of
CGUs and estimated based on the weighted average cost of capital for respective CGU / group of CGUs. Post-
tax discount rates used are 18.20% / 10.60% for Mobile Services — Africa / other CGUs respectively, for the
year ended March 31, 2018 and 17.55% / 9.13% for Mobile Services — Africa / other CGUs respectively, for the
year ended March 31, 2017. The post-tax discount rates as grossed up for tax impact during the projection
period (marginal tax rates are mainly in the range of 30% to 40%) are the pre-tax discount rates used for

discounting the cash flows.

Growth rates: The growth rates used are in line with the long-term average growth rates of the respective
industry and country in which the entity operates and are consistent with the internal / external sources of
information. The average growth rates used in extrapolating cash flows beyond the planning period ranged
from 3.5% to 4.0% for March 31, 2018 and ranged from 3.5% to 4.0% for March 31, 2017.

Capital expenditures: The cash flow forecasts of capital expenditure are based on past experience after
considering the additional capital expenditure required for roll out of incremental coverage requirements and

to provide enhanced voice and data services.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of value-in-use for Homes Services, Mobile Services - India CGU group (as of
December 31, 2016) and Airtel Business, no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions

would have caused the carrying amount of these units to exceed their recoverable amount.

In case of Mobile Services - India CGU group, the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount by
Rs. 349,671 (25.5%) as of December 31, 2017. An increase of 1.78% in pre-tax discount rate shall equate the
recoverable amount with the carrying amount of the Mobile Services — India CGU group as of
December 31, 2017. Further, no reasonably possible change in the terminal growth rate beyond the planning

horizon would cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount.

In case of Mobile Services - Africa CGU group, the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount by
Rs. 54,087 (15.2%) as of December 31, 2017 and Rs. 33,103 (8.1%) as of December 31, 2016. An increase of
2.4% (December 31, 2016: 0.9%) in pre-tax discount rate shall equate the recoverable amount with the
carrying amount of the Mobile Services — Africa CGU group as of December 31, 2017. Further, no reasonably
possible change in the terminal growth rate beyond the planning horizon would cause the carrying amount to

exceed the recoverable amount.
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8. Investment in joint ventures and associates

Details of joint ventures:

Principal place of

S.no. Name of joint ventures . Principal activities Ownership interest
business
% As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
1 Indus Towers Limited™ India Passive infrastructure services 22.49 25.91
2 Airtel Ghana Limited$ Ghana Telecommunication services 49,95
3 Millicom Ghana Company Limited$ Ghana Telecommunication services 49,95
4 Airtel Mobile Commerce Ghana Limited$ Ghana Maobile commerce services 49,95
5 Mobile Financial Services Limited$ Ghana Mobile commerce services 40,95
6 Bharti Airtel Ghana Holdings B.V.% Netherlands Investment company 50
7 Bridge Mabile Pte Limited Singapore Provision of regional mobile services 10 10
8 FireFly Metworks Limited India Telecommunication services 50 50

* Bharti Infratel Limited, in which the Group has 53.54% equity interest (61.68% as of March 31, 2017), owns 42% of Indus Towers Limited .

% w.e.f. October 12, 2017, refer note 5 (c).

Details of associates:

Principal place of

S.no. Name of associates . Principal activities Ownership interest
business
% As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
1 Seychelles Cable Systems Company Limited Seychelles Submarine cable system 26 26
2 Robi Axiata Limited (refer note 5 (1)) Bangladesh Telecommunication services 25 25
3 Seynse Technologies Private Limited India Financial services 22.54 22.54
4 Juggernaut Books Private Limited India Digital books publishing services 10.71
(w.e.f. November 29, 2017)
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Joint ventures 64,714 59,461
Associates 22,125 22,816
86,839 82,277
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The amounts recognised in the statement of profit and loss are as follows:

Recognised in profit and loss
Joint ventures
Associates

Recognised in other comprehensive income

Joint ventures
Associates

For the year ended

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

10,715 11,091
(106) (642)
10,609 10,449
1 (9)

17 -
18 (9)

The summarised financial information of joint venture and associate that are material to the Group are as

follows:

Summarised balance sheet

Assets
MNon current assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents {'C&CE')

Other current assets (excluding "C&CE'")
Total current assets
Liabilities
MNon current liabilities

Borrowings

Other liabilities
Total non current liabilities
Current liabilities

Borrowings

Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

Equity

Percentage of Group's ownership interest

Interest in joint venture [ associate

Consolidation adjustment (inlcuding
goodwill / accounting policy alignment)

Carrying amount of investment

As of
Joint ventures Associate
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Indus Towers Limited Bharti ﬂ.urtel Ghana Robi Axiata Limited
Holdings B.V.*

201,576 207,357 12,102 104,308 05,480
1,063 1,121 1,759 1,111 1,507
33,534 17,182 2,120 8,899 6,904
34,597 18,303 3,879 10,010 8,411
9,556 10,589 4,122 6,078 8,578
31,751 30,254 716 2,836 2,706
41,307 40,883 4,838 8,014 11,284
30,683 24,090 269 22,177 11,620
32,233 28,522 12,283 37,396 33,521
62,916 52,612 13,152 59,573 45,141
131,950 132,165 (2,009) 45,831 47,466
42% 42% 50% 25% 25%
55,419 55,509 (1,005) 11,458 11,867
2,691 3,900 7,548 10,162 10,700
58,110 59,409 6,543 21,620 22,567
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Summarised information on statement of profit and loss

For the year / period ended

loint ventures Associate
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
. Bharti Airtel Gh e .
Indus Towers Limited artt _I € ana Robi Axiata Limited
Holdings B.V.*
Revenue 187,424 174,817 5,612 52,635 19,901
Depreciation and amortisation 27,766 26,116 1,388 11,574 7,958
Finance income 995 376 - 66 52
Finance cost 5,053 5,440 789 1,343 479
Income tax expense 16,593 15,273 3 1,385 (1,814)
Profit / (loss) for the year [ period 31,013 28,451 {1,092) {1,668) (4,932)
OCl { loss for the year / period 3 (22) - 76 -
Percentage of Group's ownership interest 42% 42% 50% 25% 25%
Group's share in profit / (loss) for the year, 13,025 11,549 {546} (417) (1,233)
Group's share in OCI / (loss) for the year
up / (loss) year / 1 (9) ) 19 )

period
Con-solid-atinn adjustments / accounting (1,209) (366) (564) 135 51
policy alignment
Group's share in profit / (loss

P P / (loss) 11,816 11,083 {1,110) (282) {1,182)
recognised@

Dividend received from joint venture /
associate 10,010 9,510 - - -

@During the year ended March 31, 2017 loss of Rs. 540 has been recognised as exceptional item for Robi
Axiata Limited (refer note 32 (ii) (f)).

*Based on consolidated financial statements of the entity

The aggregate information of joint ventures that are individually immaterial is as follows:

As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Carrying amount of investments 61 52

For the year ended

Group's share in joint ventures March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Met profit 9 8
Total comprehensive income 9 8
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The aggregate information of associates that are individually immaterial is as follows:

Carrying amount of investments
Cumulative unrecognised losses

Group's share in associates’

Met profit
Total comprehensive income

Unrecognised losses

As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

505

249
90

For the year ended

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

176
176

46

Refer note 24 for Group’s share of joint venture’s and associate’s commitments and contingencies.

9. Investments in subsidiaries

Information as to the subsidiaries which are part of the Group is as follows:

Principal place of

NMumber of wholly-owned

5. no. Principal activity business subsidiaries
As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
1 Telecommunication senices India 4 3
2 Telecommunication senices Africa 8 7
3 Telecommunication semvices South Asia 1 1
4 Telecommunication semvices Others 6 B
5 Mobile commerce semnvices India - -
b Mobile commerce semnvices Africa 13 14
7 Infrastructure services Africa 4 4
g Infrastructure services South Asia - 2
g Direct to home semnvices Africa - 1
10 Submarine cable Mauritius 1 1
11 Investment company Metherlands 22 25
12 Investment company Mauritius 7 B
13 Investment company Others 3 4
14 Others India 2 1

i1 75
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Principal place of Mumber of non-wholly-owned
5. no. Principal activity business subsidiaries
As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
1 Telecommunication senices India 2 2
2 Telecommunication senices Africa 7 a8
3 Mobile commerce semnvices India 1 1
4 Mobile commerce semnvices Africa 3 3
5 Infrastructure services India 1 1
3] Infrastructure services Africa 2 3
7 Direct to home semvices India 1 1
8 Investment company Africa 1 1
g Others India - 1
13 21

Additionally, the Group also controls the employee stock option plan trusts as mentioned herebelow:

5. no. Hame of trust PI’II‘IEIPEI! place of
business
1 Bharti Airtel Employees' Welfare Trust India
2 Bharti Infratel Employees' Welfare Trust India

The summarised financial information of subsidiaries (including acquisition date fair valuation and adjustments

thereto, and accounting policies alignment) having material non-controlling interests is as follows:-

Summarised balance sheet

Bharti Infratel Limited™® Bharti Hexacom Limited Airtel Networks Limited
As of As of As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Assets
Non current assets 135,827 178,274 94,539 89,157 53,692 63,174
Current assets 76,121 47,118 8,931 6,984 465 5,343
Liabilities
Non current liabilities 14,613 14,705 2,628 3,560 32,288 37,798
Current liabilities 18,159 43,952 35,949 25,753 37,573 43,049
Equity 179,176 166,735 64,893 66,828 {15,704) (12,330)
% of ownership interest held by NCI 46.46% 38.32% 30.00% 30.00% 16.75% 16.75%
Accumulated NCI 83,245 63,893 15,468 20,049 (2,630) (2,064)
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Summarised statement of profit and loss

Bharti Infratel Limited™

Bharti Hexacom Limited

Airtel Networks Limited

For the year ended

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Revenue 64,751 60,178
Met profit / (loss) 22,651 25,624
Other comprehensive income / (loss) 24 34
Total comprehensive income / (loss) 22,675 25,708
Profit / (loss) allocated to NCI 9,530 7,242

44,181 51,313
(1,119) 5,601
2 (1)
{1,117} 6,600
(335) 2,007

66,781 69,543
(2,927) {22,173}
(450) (2,010)
(3,377) (24,183}
(566) {4,810}

Summarised statement of cash flows

Bharti Infratel Limited™

Bharti Hexacom Limited

Airtel Networks Limited

For the year ended

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Net cash inflow from operating

. 34,694 28,662 9,882 15,162 20,141 13,605
activities
Net cash outflow from investin

o 6 (18,551) (2,434) (14,884) (16,443) (3,213) (10,291)
activities
MNet cash (outflow) / inflow from
o o (35,548) (26,648) 2,383 49 (13,270) (6,497)
financing activities
Net cash outflow (19,405} {420) {2,119} (1,232) (2,342) {3,183)
Dividend paid to NCI {including tax) 3,411 1,873 245 695

*Based on consolidated financial statements of the entity (refer note 5 (e))

10 Investments

Non-current

Investment at FVTPL
Government securities
Equity instruments
Mutual funds
Preference shares

Investment at FWYTOC!
Bonds

As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

292 38,783
2,672 2,648

334 308

318 316
3,616 42,055
2,153 2,132
2,153 2,132
5,769 44,187
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Current
Investment at FVTPL
Mutual funds 51,038 221
Government securities 11,738 13,089
Corporate deposits - 1,425
Bonds 1,001 -
Mon-convertible debenture 937 -
64,834 14,735
Investment at FYTOCI
Government securities 3,904 1,711
Commercial paper 240 477
4,144 2,188
68,078 16,923
Aggregate book / market value of quoted investments
Mon-current 2,777 41,222
Current 65,074 15,466
Aggregate book value of unguoted investments
Mon-current 2,992 2,965
Current 3,904 1,457

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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11 Derivative financial instruments

As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Assets
Currency swaps, forward and option contracts 8,341 814
Interest swaps 2,101 4,963
Embedded derivatives 330 1,015
10,972 6,792
Liabilities
Currency swaps, forward and option contracts 474 3,412
Interest swaps 2210 880
Embedded derivatives 8 764
5,692 5,061
MNon-current derivative financial assets 2,031 4,732
Current derivative financial assets 8,941 2,060
Mon-current derivative financial liabilities (5,409) (2,726)
Current derivative financial liabilities (283) (2,335)
5,280 1,731

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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12 Security deposits

Considered good™
Considered doubtful

Less: provision for doubtful deposits

As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

9,703 9,630
1,357 1,464
(1,357) (1,464)
9,703 9,630

Security deposits primarily include deposits given towards rented premises, cell sites and interconnect ports.
*It includes amount due from related party refer note 35.

For details towards pledge of the above assets refer note 20.

13 Financial assets — others

Non-current

As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

Rent equalisation 4,164 4,183
Tower sale receivable - 10,323
Bank deposits 950 744
Margin money deposits 419 354
Claims recoverable 74 73
Others 207 776

5814 16,653

The details of interest accrued on above items (which is included within ‘interest accrued on deposits’ under

current other financial assets) is provided in the table given below:

As of

March 31, 2018

March 21, 2017

Bank deposits 30 25
Margin money depostis 8 ]
Tower sale receivable - 474

338 499
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Current

As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Unbilled revenue 16,136 15,880
Claims recoverable 1,180 2,007
Receivable on sale of business / tower assets™ 8,736 -
Interest accrued on investments [ deposits 870 1,447
Others# 540 403
27,462 19,737

*Interest accrued on tower sale receivable amounts to Rs. 150 and is included within ‘interest accrued on
deposits’ above.

#It includes finance lease receivables and amounts due from related party (refer note 35).
For details towards pledge of the above assets refer note 20.

14 Income tax

The major components of the income tax expense are:

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Current income tax
- For the year 21,082 21,332
- Adjustments for prior periods (2,852) (92)
18,230 21,240
Deferred tax
- Origination and reversal of temporary differences (4,536) 18,436
- Effect of change in tax rate 411 -
- Adjustments for prior periods (3,270) (4,857)
(7,395) 13,579
Income tax expense 10,835 34,319
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The reconciliation between the amount computed by applying the statutory income tax rate to the profit

before tax and the income tax charge is summarised below:

Profit before tax
Tax expense @ company's domestic tax rate of 34.608%

Effect of:

Share of profits in associates and joint ventures

Tax holiday

Adjustments in respect of previous years

Effect of changes in tax rate

Additional taxes [ taxes for which no credit is allowed
Difference in overseas tax rates

Iems subject to different tax rates

(Income) / expense (net) not taxable [ deductible
Tax on undistributed retained earnings

Items for which no deferred tax asset was recognised
Settlement of various disputes

Others
Income tax expense

The analysis of deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

Deferred tax assets (net)

a) Deferred tax liability due to
Depreciation [ amortisation on PPE / intangible assets

b) Deferred tax asset arising out of

Provision for impairment of debtors [ advances

Carry forward losses

Unearned income

Employee benefits

Minimum alternate tax ('MAT') credit

Lease rent equilisation

Fair valuation of financial instruments and exchange differences
Rates and taxes

Others

169

For the year ended

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

32,672 77,233
11,307 26,728
(3,985) (3,618)
303 778
(6,125) (4,967)
411 -
2,339 4,466
(77) (465)
452 (4,311)
(551) 1,065
2,434 2,184
4,662 12,311
(395) 369
a0 279
10,835 34,819
As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

(86,565) (66,798)
16,291 13,004
73,424 3,382
576 385
1,285 1,133
57,484 57,465
7,003 6,083
8,210 7,748
1,431 1,527
101 1,366

29,330 26,195
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Deferred tax liabilities (net)

a) Deferred tax liability due to

Lease rent equilisation (net)

Fair valuation of financial instruments and exchange differences
Depreciation / amortisation on PPE [ intangible assets
Undistributed retained earnings

Others

b) Deferred tax asset arising out of
Provision for impairment of debtors [ advances
Carry forward losses

Unearned income

Employee benefits

Deferred tax expense

Provision for impairment of debtors [ advances

Carry forward losses

Unearned income

Employee benefits

MAT credit

Lease rent equilisation (net)

Fair valuation of financial instruments and exchange differences
Rates and taxes

Depreciation / amortisation on FPE [ intangible assets
Undistributed retained earnings

Others

Net deferred tax expense
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As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

3,639 4,076
(569) 691
6,242 4,112
3,541 2,987
115 187
(1,652) (1,389)
(498) (720)
7 (301)
(219) (214)
10,606 9,430

For the year ended

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

2,604 2,858
19,575 (99)
(497) 23
162 235
(47) 1,223

658 789
864 2,377
(96) 1,527
(16,178) (22,496)
(549) (259)
899 243
7,395 (13,579)
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The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Opening balance 16,766 34,226
Tax expense [ (credit) recognised in statement of profit or loss 7,395 (13,579)
Tax income recognised in equity - 1,426
Tax expense on Business combination (1,709) -
Tax expense recognised in OCL:
- on net investments hedge (122) (10)
- on fair value through OCI investments (29) (6]
Exchange differences and others (3,577) (5,291)
Closing balance 18,724 16,766

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward tax losses / credits (including capital losses) can
be utilised. Accordingly, the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of deductible temporary
differences and carry forward tax losses (including capital losses) of Rs 509,731 and Rs 484,266 as of
March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 respectively, as it is not probable that relevant taxable profits will be
available in future. The applicable tax rates for the same vary from 3% to 45%, depending on the tax
jurisdiction in which the respective group entity operates. Of the above balance as of March 31, 2018 and
March 31, 2017, Rs. 70,508 and Rs. 58,861 respectively have an indefinite carry forward period and the

balance amount expires, if unutilised, as follows:

As of
Expiry date March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Within one - three years 52,694 38,289
Within three - five years 31,265 44,242
Above five years 355,264 342,874
439,223 425 405

Moreover, deferred tax liability has not been recognised in respect of temporary differences pertaining to the
investment in its certain subsidiaries, as where Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. The temporary differences associated with respect to such investment in subsidiaries are represented
by their retained earnings and other reserves (on the basis of their standalone financial statements),
aggregating to Rs. 130,715 and Rs. 129,808 as of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 respectively. In case
of distribution of the same as dividend, it is expected to attract tax in the range of 10% to 21% depending on
the tax rates applicable as of March 31, 2018 in the relevant jurisdiction. Further, the Group has been
substantially availing the tax credit and believes that it would continue to avail the tax credit, for the dividend

distribution tax payable by the subsidiaries on its dividend distribution.
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15 Other non-financial assets

Non-current

As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Advances (net)# 32,267 32,980
Capital advances 1,147 2,961
Prepaid expenses 1,600 1,783
Taxes recoverable - 15,092
Others 1,305 672

36,319 33,438

#Advances represent payments made to various government authorities under protest and are disclosed net of

provision (refer note 22).

Capital advances includes advance payment of Nil and Rs. 1,720 towards spectrum as at
March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 respectively.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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Current

As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Taxes recoverable 74,004 13,524
Advances to suppliers (net) 17,642 17,054
Prepaid expenses 9,275 11,490
Others* 2,459 2,377

103,380 44,445

*It mainly includes security deposits given towards rented premises, cell sites, interconnect ports and other

miscellaneous deposits.

Taxes recoverable primarily include Goods and service tax (‘GST’), customs duty, excise duty, service tax and

sales tax.

Advance to suppliers are disclosed net of provision of Rs. 2,680 and Rs. 2,128 as of March 31, 2018 and
March 31, 2017 respectively.

16 Trade receivables

As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Unsecured
Considered good™® 58,830 47,402
Considered doubtful 51,579 42,258
Less: provision for doubtful receivables (51,579) (42,258)
58,820 47,402

*It includes amount due from related party refer note 35.

Refer note 36 (iv) for credit risk
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The movement in allowances for doubtful debts is as follows:

Opening balance
Additions

Write off (net of recovery)
Exchange differences

Closing balance

For details towards pledge of the above assets refer note 20.

17 Cash and bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents ("C&CE’)

Balances with banks

- On current accounts

- Bank deposits with original maturity of 3
months or less

Cheqgues on hand

Cash on hand

Other bank balances

Restricted cash™
Earmarked bank balances - unpaid dividend
Term deposits with bank

Margin money deposits

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

42,258 35,080
10,163 8,509
(1,156) (873)
314 (458)
51,579 42,258
As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

8,218 9,871

37,862 2,532
986 16

820 398

47,886 12,817
15,289 11.408
70 22,250
2,119 3.360
1,342 1,148
18,820 38,166

*Tt represents cash received from subscriber of mobile commerce services.
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Margin money deposits represents amount given as collateral for legal cases and / or bank guarantees for
disputed matters.

The details of interest accrued on above items (which is included within ‘interest accrued on deposits’ under

current other financial assets) is as below:

As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Cash and cash equivalents
- Bank deposits with original maturity 3 months or less 1 2
1
Other bank balance
- Margin money depostis 33 31
- Term deposits with bank 124 69
157 100
158 102
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, C&CE are as following:
As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

C&CE as per balance sheet 47,886 12,817
Bank overdraft (19,418) (22,697)
28,468 (9,880)
18 Share capital
As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up shares
3,997,400,102 equity shares of Rs. 5 each 19,987 19,987

19,987 19,987

a. Terms / rights attached to equity shares
The Company has only one class of equity shares having par value of Rs. 5 per share. Each holder of equity

shares is entitled to cast one vote per share.
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b. Treasury shares
For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
{'000") {'000")
Opening balance 1,345 367 1,882 524
Purchased during the year 904 424
Excercised during the year (532) [149) (537) [157)
Closing balance 1,719 642 1,345 367

c. Dividend

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
A Declared and paid during the year:
Interim dividend for 2017-18 : Rs. 2.84 per share® 13,658 -
Dividend on treasury shares™ & -
*(including dividend distribution tax @ 20.36% of Rs. 2,311)
Final dividend for 2016-17 : Re. 1 per share# 4,810 -
Dividend on treasury shares# 1 -
#(including dividend distribution tax of Rs. 814 @ 20.36%)
Final dividend for 2015-16 : Rs. 1.36 per share™ - 6,541
Dividend on treasury shares™ - 2
“~(including dividend distribution tax Rs. 1,107 @ 20.36%)
18,475 6,543
B Proposed dividend
Final dividend for 2017-18: Rs. 2.50 per share
(2016-17 : Rs 1 per share) 9,993 3,997
Dividend distribution tax for 2017-18 @ 20.56%
(2016-17 @ 20.36%) 2,054 814
12,047 4,811

The proposed dividend being subject to approval at respective annual general meetings, no related
corresponding liability has been recognised in the respective financial years.

19 Other equity

a. Retained earnings: Retained earnings represent the amount of accumulated earnings of the Group, re-
measurement differences on defined benefit plans, any transfer from general reserve and the reserves
arising due to court scheme accounting and adjustments thereto (as explained below for significant

Scheme of Arrangements).
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The Scheme of Arrangement under Section 391 to 394 of the Companies Act, 1956 for transfer of all
assets and liabilities at their respective fair values from Bharti Infratel Ventures Limited (erstwhile
subsidiary company), Vodafone Infrastructure Limited, Idea Cellular Tower Infrastructure Limited to its
joint venture Indus Towers Limited, was approved by the Hon'ble High Court of Delhi vide order dated
April 18, 2013 and filed with the Registrar of Companies on June 11, 2013 with appointed date April 1,
2009 and hence was accounted retrospectively with effect from April 01, 2009. Similarly, pursuant to the
Scheme of Arrangement of the Company under sections 391 to 394 of the Companies Act, 1956, the
telecom infrastructure undertaking of the Company was transferred to one of its subsidiary Bharti Infratel
Limited during the year ended March 31, 2008.

Further, pursuant to the said schemes, mainly the excess of the fair values over the original book values of

the assets transferred to them and the periodic depreciation thereto is adjusted in retained earnings.

In absence of any specific provision under Ind AS with respect to court schemes, and the fact that the
court schemes are part of the law, accounting prescribed therein (as explained above) will continue to
prevail even in the Ind AS financial statements of the Group after being adjusted for intra-group

eliminations / equity accounting, as required.

b. General reserve: The Company has transferred a portion of its profit before declaring dividend in
respective prior years to general reserve, as stipulated under the erstwhile Companies Act 1956. Mandatory

transfer to general reserve is not required under the Companies Act 2013 (*Act’).

Further, on exercise of the stock options, the difference between the consideration (i.e. the exercise price
and the related amount of share-based payment reserve) and the cost of the related treasury shares, is

transferred to general reserve.

c. Debenture redemption reserve: Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, the Company is required to
create debenture redemption reserve out of the profits and is to be utilised for the purpose of redemption
of debentures. On redemption of the debentures, the related amount of this reserve gets transferred to

retained earnings.
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Other components of equity
FUTOCI Treasury

FCTR* CFHR reserve shares Total
As of April 1, 2016 (11,149) (724) 4 (524) (12,393)
MNet losses due to foreign currency translation differences 42,134) - 42,134)
MNet losses on net investment hedge (7.402) - - (7,402)
MNet gains on cash flow hedge - 857 - - 857
MNet gains on fair value through OCI investments 86 - 86
Exercise of share options - - - 157 1657
As of March 31, 2017 (60,685) 133 90 (367) (60,829)
MNet losses due to foreign currency translation differences (7.056) - (7.,056)
Met losses on net investment hedge (7.508) - - (7,508)
Met gains on cash flow hedge - 810 - - 810
MNet gains on fair value through OCI investments 115 - 115
Purchase of treasury shares 424) 424)
Exercise of share options - - - 149 149
As of March 31, 2018 (75,249) 943 205 (642) (74,743)

*During the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group has reclassified gain of Rs. 60 and loss

Rs. 2,073 respectively, from FCTR to statement of profit and loss on sale of foreign subsidiaries

(refer note 5).

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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20 Borrowings

Non-current

As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Secured
Term loans 16,836 11,474
Vehicle loans™® 28 31
16,865 11,505
Less: Current portion (A) (14,498) (4,322)
Less: Interest accrued but not due (refer note 21) (111) (130)
2,256 7,053
Unsecured
Term loans# 71,011 69,087
MNon-convertible bonds@ 389,558 373,765
Mon-convertible debentures™ 30,068 -
Deferred payment liabilities™* 455,602 439,204
Finance lease obligations 48,831 57,089
995,070 939,125
Less: Current portion (B) (119,848) (42,740)
Less: Interest accrued but not due (refer note 21) (28,058) (7,065)
847,164 889,320
849,420 896,373
Current maturities of long-term borrowings (A + B) 134,346 47,062
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Current
As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Secured

Bank overdraft 2,060 663
5,060 663

Unsecured
Term loans 76,816 92,094
Commercial papers 33,507 14,820
Bank overdraft 14,358 22,034
124,681 128,948
Less: Interest accrued but not due (refer note 21) (172) (169)
129,569 129,442

*These loans are secured by hypothecation of the vehicles.

#1It includes re-borrowable term loans of Rs. 3,331 and Rs. 9,810 as of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017

respectively which have daily prepayment flexibility.

@It includes impact of fair value hedge refers note 36 (ii).

~During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Group has issued 30,000 listed, unsecured, rated, redeemable,
Non - Convertible Debentures (‘NCDs"), Series I and series II of face value of Rs. 10 Lakhs each, at par
aggregating to Rs. 30,000 on private placement basis, carrying interest rates 8.25% p.a. and 8.35% p.a.
(payable annually) and principal repayable in year 2020 and 2021 respectively.

**During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Government of India has provided one time option to elect
higher number of annual instalments prospectively (upto a maximum of 16 instalments) towards the
repayment of spectrum liability viz-a-viz currently allowed 10 instalments. Accordingly, the Company has
exercised the option, increasing the remaining number of instalments by 6 annual instalments for all its

existing deferred payment liabilities.
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20.1 Analysis of borrowings

The details given below are gross of debt origination cost and fair valuation adjustments with respect to the

hedged risk.

20.1.2 Repayment terms of borrowings

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings:

Vehicle loans

Term loans

Commercial papers
Non-convertible bonds
MNon-convertible debentures
Deferred payment liabilities
Finance lease obligations

Bank overdraft

As of March 31, 2018

Number of

- S Between .
Interest rate Frequency of installments  Within one one and Between two  Over five
(range) installments  outstanding per year two years and five years years
facility (range)*
7.95% - 9.50% Maonthly 6-33 15 11 3
3.38% Monthly 10 2,716
4.,95% - 5.00% Quaterly 10-11 472 472 264
2.56% - 5.02% Half yearly 1-14 8,181 6,465 13,078 4,424
2.72% - 4.32% Annual 1 19,625
6.00% - 8.98% Quaterly 3-15 5,263 7,363 15,763
7.85% - 8.40% Half yearly 3-9 863 2,725 11,743
7.90% Annual 2 8a0 880
7.70% - 8.35% One time 1 63,800
7.05% - 8.05% One time 1 33,507
3.00% - 5.35% One time 1 80,144 23,842 157,688 129,978
8.25% - 8.35% One time 1 30,000
9.30% - 10.00% Annual 13-16 24,511 12,217 51,543 345,023
8.05% - 10.30% Maonthly [ Annual 8-119/2 4,858 5,194 18,573 20,151
3.88% - 10.65%  Payable on demand NfA 16,684
14.00% - 19.00%  Payable on demand NfA 2,734
264,253 59,169 298,655 499,576

*The instalments amount due are equal / equated per se.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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As of March 31, 2017
Number of
Interst rate Frequency of installments Within one BO?IT::; B;T:.?; over five
(range) installments outstanding per year years
facility (range)* two years five years
Vehicle loans 9.25% - 9.48% Monthly 2-35 15 12 5 -
Term loans 0.63% One time 1 3,801 B B
1.68% - 1.07% on demand N/A 28,372 - -
4.26% - 4.28% Quarterly 14 - 15 1,028 1,029 1,573
1.45% - 4.52% Half yearly 1-16 10,810 9,069 15,327 8,746
2.30% Annual 1 3,243 - -
7.00% - 8.00% Quarterly 3-12 2,525 2,554 2,430 -
6.25% - 8.35% Half yearly 1-9 983 3,513 15,988 L750
8.00% Annual 3 1,630 880 880 -
7.85% - 8.75% One time 1 55,250 - -
11.25% - 12.20% One time 1 1,208 - -
16.90% Quarterly 14 182 182 272 -
23.11% Half yearly 1 97 - -
Commercial papers 6.35% One time 1 14,820 ) .
MNon-convertible bonds 3.00% - 5.35% One time 1 B 69,328 74,414 226,691
Deferred payment liabilities ~ 9.30 - 10.00% Annual 7-10 26,814 35991 78,331 298,031
Finance lease obligations 9.77% - 10.25%  Monthly / Annual 7-119/3 5,360 5,835 17,828 27,524
Bank overdraft 1.54% - 8.80%  Payable on demand NfA 17,851 ) .
9.90% - 16.50% Payable on demand N/A 4,582 - -
26.70% Payable on demand Nf& 265 B B
178,928 128,393 207,068 562,742

*The installments amount due are equal / equated per se.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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20.1.3 Interest rate and currency of borrowings
Currency Weighted average Total Floating rate Fixed rate
rate of Interest borrowings borrowings borrowings
MR 2.33% 603,321 106,298 497,223
UsD 5.47% 337,319 58,572 278,747
Euro 3.73% 139,954 - 139,954
CHF 3.00% 23,843 - 23,843
HAF 6.61% 4,691 - 4,691
*OF 6.80% 7,047 1,421 5,626
Others 3.48% to 19.00% 5,278 2,799 2,479
March 31, 2018 1,121,653 169,000 952,563
MR 9.48% 242,731 86,377 456,154
UsD 5.05% 372,361 88,598 283,763
Euro 3.73% 121,037 - 121,037
CHF 3.00% 22,705 - 22,705
HAF 6.56% 5,893 - 5,893
XOF F.10% 5,180 - 5,180
Others 11.06% to 25.74% 7,224 4,886 2,338
March 21, 2017 1,077,131 180,061 897,070

20.2 Security details

The Group has taken borrowings in various countries mainly for working capital, capital expenditure and

refinancing of existing borrowings. The details of security provided by the Group in various countries are as

follows:
Outstanding loan amount

Entity . .

March 31, 2018| March 31, 2017|Security detail
Bharti Airtel Ltd. 29 31 | Hypothecation of vehicles
Bharti Airtel .
Africa BV and its 21,838 12,128 Pl.edg_e of all ﬂ:ged and floating assets - Kenya,

e Migeria, Tanzania, Uganda and DRC.
subsidiaries
21,867 12,159

Africa operations acquisition related borrowing:

Borrowings include certain loans which have been taken to refinance the Africa acquisition related borrowing.
These loan agreements prevents the Group (excluding Bharti Airtel Africa B.V, Bharti Infratel Limited, and their
respective subsidiaries) to pledge any of its assets without prior written consent of the majority lenders except

in certain agreed circumstances.
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The Euro bonds due in 2018 and USD bonds due in 2023 issued by BAIN contain certain covenants relating to
limitation on indebtedness. All notes carry a restriction on incurrence of any lien on its assets other than as
permitted under the agreement, unless the bonds and guarantee are ranked pari-pasu with such indebtedness.
The limitation on indebtedness covenant on Euro bonds due in 2018 and USD bonds due in 2023 gets
suspended on notes meeting certain agreed criteria. The debt covenants remained suspended as of the date of

the authorisation of the financial statements.

20.3 Unused lines of credit*
The below table provides the details of un-drawn credit facilities that are available to the Group.

As of
March 21, 2018 March 31, 2017
Secured 1.-5'42 57
Unsecured 171,531 104,592
173,073 194,649
*Excludes non-fund based facilities
21 Financial liabilities - others
Non-current
As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Lease rent equalisation 14,496 13,377
Payable towards acquisition@ 1,440 -
Security deposits 1,294 1,237
Others*# 27,317 1,067
44 547 15,681

*It includes advance amounting to Rs. 26,077 as on March 31, 2018, received against an agreement to sell

certain investment, at a future date and is subject to certain customary closing conditions.

@Refer note 5 (b)
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Current
As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Payables against capital expenditure 80,940 65,860
Interest accrued but not due 28,341 7,364
Payable against business [ asset acquisition@ 13,523 4,104
Employees payables 5,879 5,304
Security deposit™ 4,372 4,148
Others# 7,550 3,373

140,605 90,212

@It includes payable to Qualcomm Asia Pacific Pte. Limited for Rs. 4,104 (towards purchase of balance equity
shares upon satisfaction of certain conditions as per the share purchase agreement for acquisition of erstwhile

Airtel Broadband Services Private Limited) and other acquisitions during the year.

At pertains to deposits received from subscriber / channel partners which are repayable on demand after

adjusting the outstanding amount, if any.

#1It includes account balances of customers and distributors of payments bank, non-interest bearing advance
received from customers / international operators and liability towards cash settled employee share based

payment plans.
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22 Provisions
Non-current

As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Asset retirement obligations 4,523 5,359
Gratuity 2,006 1,956
Other employee benefit plans 683 156
7,212 7,471
Current
As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Gratuity 662 616
Other employee benefit plans 1,722 1,599
2,334 2,215

The movement of provision towards asset retirement obligations is as below:

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 21, 2017

Opening balance 5,359 5,064
Met (reversal) [ additions (B68) 823
Interest cost 37 248
Disposal of subsidiries / tower operations (refer note 5) (5) (776)
Closing balance 4,523 5,359

Refer note 27 for movement of provision towards various employee benefits.

The movement of provision towards subjudice matters is as below:

For the year ended
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Opening balance 131,061 113,436
Met additions 20,738 17,625
Closing balance 151,799 131,061
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The said provision has been disclosed under:

As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Other non-financial assets (refer note 15) 53,910 48,915
Other non-financial liabilities (refer note 23) 4,685 4,619
Trade payables 93,204 77,527

151,799 131,061

The said provisions pertain to payable / paid under protest spectrum usage charges / licenses fees (trade

payable / other non-financial assets) and payable for certain levies (other non-financial liabilities).

23 Other non - financial liabilities

Non-current
As of

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Deferred rent 623 727
623 727
Current
As of
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Taxes payable 37,376 25,961
Others# 437 8,809

37,813 34,770

#As of March 31, 2017, it includes dividend payable by one of the subsidiary to its NCI amounting to
Rs. 8,512.

Taxes payable mainly pertains to GST, service tax, sales tax, other taxes payable and provision

towards subjudice matters (refer note 22).
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24 Contingent liabilities and commitments

(i) Contingent liabilities

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt:

As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

(i} Taxes, duties and other demands
(under adjudication / appeal / dispute)

-Sales Tax and Service Tax 31,560 39,085
-Income Tax 15,712 20,130
-Customs Duty 7,646 3,899
-Entry Tax 9,878 9,252
-Stamp Duty 596 596
-Municipal Taxes 1,488 1,276
-Department of Telecom ('DoT") demands 40,778 37,560
-Other miscellaneous demands 5,164 8,000
(i) Claims under legal cases including arbitration matters

-Access charges [ Port charges 10,733 9,371
-Others 2,708 3,631

126,263 134,820

Further, refer note f (iv), (v), (vi) and g below for other DoT matter.

In addition to the above, the Group’s share of joint ventures and associates contingent liabilities is

Rs. 21,816 and Rs. 17,507 as of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 respectively.

The category wise detail of the contingent liability has been given below:-

a) Sales and Service Tax

The claims for sales tax comprised of cases relating to the appropriateness of declarations made by the Group
under relevant sales tax legislations which were primarily procedural in nature and the applicable sales tax on
disposals of certain property and equipment items. Pending final decisions, the Group has deposited amounts

under protest with statutory authorities for certain cases.

The service tax demands relate to cenvat claimed on tower and related material, levy of service tax on SIM

cards and employee talk time, cenvat credit disallowed for procedural lapses and usage in excess of 20% limit.

b) Income Tax demand

Income tax demands mainly include the appeals filed by the Group before various appellate authorities against
the disallowance by income tax authorities of certain expenses being claimed and non-deduction of tax at

source with respect to pre-paid dealers / distributor’s margin.
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c) Access charges / Port charges

(i) Despite the interconnect usage charges (‘'IUC") rates being governed by the Regulations issued by Telecom
Regulatory Authority of India ("TRAIL’); BSNL had raised a demand for IUC at the rates contrary to the
regulations issued by TRAI in 2009. Accordingly, the Company and one of its subsidiaries filed a petition
against the demand with the TDSAT which allowed payments to be on the existing regulations. The matter

was then challenged by BSNL and is currently pending with the Hon’ble Supreme Court.

(i) The Hon'ble TDSAT allowed BSNL to recover distance based carriage charges. The private telecom
operators have jointly filed an appeal against the said order and the matter is currently pending before the

Hon'ble Supreme Court.

(i) BSNL challenged before TDSAT the port charges reduction contemplated by the regulations issued by TRAI
in 2007 which passed its judgment in favour of BSNL. The said judgment has been challenged by the
private operators in Hon'ble Supreme Court. Pending disposal of the said appeal, in the interim, private
operators were allowed to continue paying BSNL as per the revised rates i.e. TRAI regulation issued in
2007, subject to the bank guarantee being provided for the disputed amount. The rates were further
reduced by TRAI in 2012 which was challenged by BSNL before the Hon’ble Delhi High Court. The Hon’ble
Delhi High Court, in the interim, without staying the rate revision, directed the private operators to secure
the difference between TRAI regulation of 2007 and 2012 rates by way of bank guarantee pending final

disposal of appeal.

d) Customs Duty

The custom authorities, in some states, demanded custom duty for the imports of special software on the
ground that this would form part of the hardware on which it was pre-loaded at the time of import. The view
of the Group is that such imports should not be subject to any custom duty as it is operating software exempt
from any custom duty. In response to the application filed by the Group, the Hon’ble Central Excise and
Service Tax Appellate Tribunal (CESTAT') has passed an order in favour of the custom authorities. The Group

has filed an appeal with Hon’ble Supreme Court against the CESTAT order.
e) Entry Tax

In certain states, an entry tax is levied on receipt of material from outside the state. This position has been
challenged by the Group in the respective states, on the grounds that the specific entry tax is ultra vires the
Constitution. Classification issues have also been raised, whereby, in view of the Group, the material proposed

to be taxed is not covered under the specific category.
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During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India upheld the constitutional validity

of entry tax levied by few States. However, Supreme Court did not conclude certain aspects such as present

levies in each State is discriminatory in nature or not, leaving them open to be decided by regular benches of

the Courts. Pending disposition by the regular benches, the Group has decided to maintain status-quo on its

position and hence continues to disclose it as contingent liability.

f) DoT demands

a)

b)

<)

d)

Demand for license fees pertaining to computation of Adjusted Gross Revenue (‘AGR’) and the interest
thereon, due to difference in its interpretation. The definition of AGR is sub-judice and under dispute since
2005 before the TDSAT. TDSAT had pronounced its judgment in 2015, quashed all demands raised by DoT
and directed DoT to rework the demands basis the principles enunciated in its judgment. Subsequently,
the Union of India ("UOI") and the Company and of its subsidiaries along with various other operators have
filed appeals / cross appeals before the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India against the TDSAT judgment. In
2016, all the appeals were tagged together and Hon’ble Supreme Court has permitted DOT to raise
demands with a direction not to enforce any demand till the final adjudication of the matter by Hon'ble
Supreme Court. Accordingly, DoT has raised the demand basis special audit done by DoT and Comptroller
and Auditor General of India. The contingent liability includes such demand and interest thereto (excluding
certain contentious matters, penalty and interest thereto) for the financial years for which demand have

been received.

Demands for the contentious matters in respect of subscriber verification norms and regulations including

validity of certain documents allowed as proof of address / identity.

Penalty for alleged failure to meet certain procedural requirements for EMF radiation self-certification

compliance.

The matters stated above are being contested by the Company and one of its subsidiaries and based on
legal advice, the Company and one of its subsidiaries believes that it has complied with all license related

regulations and does not expect any financial impact due to these matters.

In addition to the amounts disclosed in the table above, the contingent liability on DOT matters includes

the following:
Post the Hon'ble Supreme Court judgment in 2011, on components of AGR for computation of license fee,

based on the legal advice, the Company believes that the foreign exchange gain should not be included in

AGR for computation of license fee thereon. Further as per TDSAT judgement in 2015, foreign exchange
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)

fluctuation does not have any bearing on the license fees. Accordingly, the license fee on foreign exchange
gain has not been provided in the financial statements. Also, due to ambiguity of interpretation of 'foreign
exchange differences’, the license fee impact on such exchange differences is not quantifiable. The matter

is currently pending adjudication by Hon’ble Supreme Court.

On January 8, 2013, DoT issued a demand on the Company and one of its subsidiaries for Rs. 52,013
towards levy of one time spectrum charge. The demand includes a retrospective charge of Rs. 9,090 for
holding GSM spectrum beyond 6.2 MHz for the period from July 1, 2008 to December 31, 2012 and also a
prospective charge of Rs. 42,923 for GSM spectrum held beyond 4.4 MHz for the period from January 1,

2013, till the expiry of the initial terms of the respective licenses.

In the opinion of the Company and one of its subsidiaries, inter-alia, the above demand amounts to
alteration of financial terms of the licenses issued in the past. Based on a petition filed by the Company
and one of its subsidiaries, the Hon'ble High Court of Bombay, vide its order dated January 28, 2013, has
directed the DoT to respond and not to take any coercive action until the next date of hearing. The DoT
has filed its reply and the matter is currently pending with Hon'ble High Court of Bombay. The Company
and one of its subsidiaries, based on independent legal opinions, till date has not given any effect to the

above demand.

(vi) DoT had issued notices to the Company (as well as other telecom service providers) to stop provision of

services (under 3G Intra Circle Roaming (ICR’) arrangements) in the service areas where such service
providers had not been allocated 3G spectrum and levied a financial penalty of Rs. 3,500 on the Company.
The Company contested the notices, in response to which TDSAT in 2014 held 3G ICR arrangements to be
competent and compliant with the licensing conditions and quashed the notice imposing penalty. The DoT

has challenged the order of TDSAT before the Hon'ble Supreme Court which is yet to be listed for hearing.

g) Airtel Networks Limited — Ownership

Airtel Networks Limited (‘Airtel Networks’) (formerly known as Celtel Nigeria Limited) was incorporated on

December 21, 2000 as Econet Wireless Nigeria Limited and since 2010 been a subsidiary of Bharti Airtel
Nigeria B.V. (‘BANBV’), which is an indirect subsidiary of Bharti Airtel Limited. Airtel Networks and / or BANBV

have since 2010 been defending cases filed by Econet Wireless Limited ("EWL") where EWL was claiming,

amongst others, a breach of its alleged pre-emption rights against erstwhile and current shareholders.

EWL inter alia commenced arbitral proceedings in Nigeria contesting the acquisition by Celtel Nigeria B.V.
(now, Bharti Airtel Nigeria B.V. — ‘BANBV’) of the controlling stake in Airtel Networks Limited in 2006, wherein
BANBV was one of the defendants. The Final Award (‘FA") by the Arbitral Tribunal as to the same was
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pronounced in 2014. Subsequently, various applications were filed to challenge / enforce the FA in the High
Court and the Supreme Court of Nigeria by BANBV and Econet respectively. Further, EWL had filed
conservatory attachment proceedings in the Netherlands against BANBV for enforcement of the Final Award,
and also pursuing a claim for compensation against BANBV's parent (Bharti Airtel Nigeria Holdings II B.V.) and
Grandparent (Bharti Airtel Africa B.V.) alleging that these entities acted unlawfully and induced breach of
contract by the selling shareholders. Separately, Airtel Networks Limited was a defendant in an action where

EWL was claiming entitlement to 5% of the issued share capital of Airtel Networks Limited.

Under the 2010 share purchase agreement, the Group had certain indemnities from Zain BV in relation to
these proceedings. In 2016, the Group had initiated arbitration against Zain B.V. and its guarantor, Mobile

Telecommunications Company in relation to the said indemnities under the share purchase agreement.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, Zain and Company has entered into an agreement to settle these matters along with other tax cases covered
under indemnities. Separately, the Company and EWL have entered into an agreement to settle all these disputes and consequent withdrawal of all
the proceedings in all courts across all jurisdictions. The net settlement amount as adjusted for the related indemnification assets and provisions

resulted in a loss of Rs. 732 which has been recognised and disclosed as an exceptional item.

Guarantees:

Guarantees outstanding as of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 amounting to Rs. 129,565 and
Rs. 129,131 respectively, have been issued by banks and financial institutions on behalf of the Group. These guarantees include certain financial bank
guarantees which have been given for subjudice matters / compliance with licensing requirements, the amount with respect to these have been

disclosed under capital commitments, contingencies and liabilities, as applicable, in compliance with the applicable accounting standards.

In addition to the above the Group’s share of guarantees of joint ventures and associates is

Rs. 891 and Rs. 396 as of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 respectively.

(ii) Commitments

Capital commitments

The Group has contractual commitments towards capital expenditure (net of related advance) of

Rs. 137,280 and Rs. 102,008 as of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 respectively.

In  addition to the above, the Group’s share of capital commitments of joint ventures and associates s

Rs. 4,126 and Rs. 4,684 as of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017 respectively.

Lease commitments

a) Operating lease
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The future minimum lease payments (‘FMLP’) are as follows:-

As lessee

Mot later than one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years

Lease rentals (including lease equalisation adjustments)

As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

70,602 65,945
244,153 244,475
70,652 92,978
385,497 403,398
70,875 70,883

The above lease arrangements are mainly pertaining to passive infrastructure and premises / land. Certain of these lease agreements have escalation

clause upto 25% and include option of renewal from 1 to 15 years.

The FMLP obligation disclosed above include the below FMLP obligations payable to joint ventures, which mainly pertain to amounts payable under

the agreement entered by the parent and its subsidiaries, with a joint venture of the Group.

Mot later than one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years

As lessor

As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

45,156 41,639
149,465 159,691
15,253 31,677
209,874 233,007

(i) The Group has entered into non-cancellable lease arrangements to provide dark fiber on indefeasible right to use (‘IRU’) basis. Due to the nature of

the transaction, it is not possible to compute gross carrying amount, depreciation for the year and accumulated depreciation of the asset given on

operating lease

March 31, 2018 and accordingly, the related disclosures are not provided.

(ii)The FMLP receivables against assets (other than above IRU assets) are as follows:
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As of

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

Mot later than one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years

21,933 21,574
68,228 86,447
37,574 38,430

127,735 146,451

The above lease arrangements are mainly pertaining to passive infrastructure. Certain of these lease agreements have escalation clause upto 2.5%.

b)  Finance lease

As lessee

Finance lease obligation of the Group as of March 31, 2018 is as follows:-

Future minimum Interest Present value
lease payments
Mot later than one year 0,930 5,053 4,877
Later than one year but not later than five years 38,989 14,702 24,287
Later than five years 23,335 3,723 19,612
72,254 23,478 48,776
Finance lease obligation of the Group as of March 31, 2017 is as follows:
Future minimum Interest Present value
lease payments
Mot later than one year 10,792 5,446 5,346
Later than one year but not later than five years 40,117 16,449 23,668
Later than five years 33,221 5,689 27,933
84,130 27,584 56,547

The above lease arrangements are mainly pertaining to passive infrastructure.

As lessor

The FMLP receivable of the Group as of March 31, 2018 is as follows:-

Future minimum

lease payments Interest Present value
Mot later than one year 176 16 160
Later than one year but not later than five years 89 6 83
Later than five years
265 22 243

The FMLP receivable of the Group as of March 31, 2017 is as follows:-
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Mot later than one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years

Future minimum

lease payments Interest Present value
133 25 107
189 17 172
322 42 279

The above lease arrangements are mainly pertaining to various network equipments.

25 Revenue

Semvice revenue

Sale of products

26 Network operating expenses

Fassive infrastructure charges
Power and fuel

Repair and maintenance

Internet, bandwidth and leasedline charges

Others®

For the year ended

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

833,019 951,213
3,860 3,470
836,879 954,683

For the year ended

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

79,636 78,490
69,082 72,946
34,667 45,612

9,932 7,785
4,203 4,321
197,520 209,154

*It includes charges towards managed service, installation, insurance and security.
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27 Employee benefits expens
For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Salaries 34,185 37,300
Contribution to provident and other funds 2,104 1,746
Staff welfare expenses 1,313 1,617
Defined benefit plan / other long term benefits 693 887
Employee share-based payment expense
- Equity-settled plans 630 337
- Cash-settled plans (36) 61
Others™® 882 1,084
29,771 43,032

*It includes recruitment and training expenses.

27.1 Share based payment plans

The following table provides an overview of all existing share option plans of the Group:

Vesting period Contractual term

Scheme Plan (years) (years)
Equity settled Plans
Scheme I 2006 Plan 1-5 7
2008 Plan & Annual 1-3 7

Scheme 2005
cneme Grant Plan (AGP)

3-4 7
Scheme 2005 Performance Share Plan (PSF) 2009
Plan
Special ESOP & Restricted Share 1-5 7

Scheme 2005 Units (RSU) Plan

Infratel plan Infratel 2008 Flan 1-5 7
. 1-3 7

Scheme 2005 Long Term Incentive (LTI} Plan
Infratel plan Infratel LTI plans 1-3 7

Airtel Payments Bank Limited 1-4 8

APBL Plan
("APBL") Flan
Cash settled Plans

Performance Unit Plan (PUF) PUP 2013 - PUP 2017 1-5 3-5

Infratel plan PUP 1-3 7

The stock options vesting is subject to service and certain performance conditions mainly pertaining to certain

financial parameters.
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The movement in the number of stock options and the related weighted average exercise prices are given in

the table below:

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Number of weighted average Number of Weighted average
share options exercise price share options aexercise price
(000) (Rs.) (000) (Rs.)
2006 Plan
COutstanding at beginning of year 205 5.00 205 S.00
Granted - - - -
Exercised (90 5.00 {100} 5.00
Forfeited / expired - - - -
COutstanding at end of year 115 5.00 205 S.00
Exercisable at end of year 2 5.00 26 S.00
2008 Plan & AGP
COutstanding at beginning of year - - 639 402.50
Granted - - - -
Exercised - - - -
Forfeited / expired - - (629) 402.50
COutstanding at end of year - - - -
Exercisable at end of year - - - -
PSP 2009 Plan
COutstanding at beginning of year (=3 5.00 53 S.00
Granted - - - -
Exercised (3} 5.00 [(327) S.00
Forfeited / expired (3] 5.00 (10} 5.00
COutstanding at end of year - - (=1 S.00
Exercisable at end of year - 5.00 (=1 S.00
Special ESOP & RSU Plan
COutstanding at beginning of year 24 5.00 126 S.00
Granted - - - -
Exercised [332) 5.00 (o1} S.00
Forfeited / expired {1} 5.00 {1} S.00
Outstanding at end of yvear - - 34 5.00
Exercisable at end of year - - 24 S.00
Infratel 2008 Plan
COutstanding at beginning of year 158 109.67 732 109.67
Granted - - - -
Exercised {49 109.67 (564) 109.67
Forfeited / expired {1} 109.67 f10) 109.67
COutstanding at end of year i08 109.67 158 109.67
Exercisable at end of yvear 108 109.67 158 109.67
LTI Plans
Outstanding at beginning of yvear 2,002 5.00 1,709 5.00
Granted 1,571 - 820 -
Exercised (406 5.00 (208) 5.00
Forfeited / expired (189) 5.00 (219) 5.00
COutstanding at end of year 2,978 5.00 2,002 S.00
Exercisable at end of year 567 5.00 258 S.00
Infratel LTI plans
COutstanding at beginning of year 175 10.00 = 10.00
Granted 115 10.00 105 10.00
Exercised (36) 10.00 (19) 10.00
Expired - - - -
Forfeited / expired (15} 10.00 =) 10.00
COutstanding at end of year 2328 10.00 175 10.00
Exercisable at end of year 21 10.00 11 10.00
Aidrtel Payment Bank Limited Plan
COutstanding at beginning of year - * - -
Granted 14,063 * - -
Exercised - * - -
Forfeited / expired (2,3259) * - -
Outstanding at end of year 10,704 * - -
Exercisable at end of year - * - -
Parformance Unit Plans
COutstanding at beginning of year 2,369 - 5,221 -
Granted &90 - 366 -
Exercised (1,226) - (1,442) -
Expired - - -
Forfeited / expired [(322) - (1,786) -
Outstanding at end of year 1,401 - 2,269 -
Exercisable at end of year 23 - 25 -

*The exercise period is 3 years from vesting date or 1 year from IPO listing (whichever is later). Eligible

employees will be able to exercise the option at a price of 50% of fair market value (determined at the end of
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previous financial year) or INR 10 whichever, is higher. Employee can exercise the unexercised options within

3 months / 1 month from the date of retirement / resignation from the Group.

The fair value of options is measured using Black-Scholes / Binomial valuation model. The key inputs used in
the measurement of the grant date fair valuation of equity settled plans and fair value of cash settled plans are

given in the table below:

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Risk free interest rates 6.17% to 7.18% 579% to 7.1%
Expected life 10 to 96 months 4 to Y6 months
Wolatility 25.91% to 40% 27.08% to 38.94%
Dividend yield 0.24% to 3.99% 0.39% to 1.83%

The expected life of the stock options is based on the Group’s expectations and is not necessarily indicative of
exercise patterns that may actually occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility over a period similar to the expected life of the options is indicative of future trends, which may not
necessarily be the actual outcome. Further, the expected volatility is based on the weighted average volatility

of the comparable benchmark companies.
For details as to exercise price, refer table above.

The details of weighted average remaining contractual life, weighted average fair value and weighted average

share price for the options are as follows:-

For the year ended

Weighted average March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Remaining contractual life for the options outstanding as of (years) 0.35 to 8.44 0.10 to 5.90
Fair value for the options granted during the year ended (Rs.) 4.36 to 409.76 304.34 to 338.50
Share price for the options exercised during the year ended (Rs.) 367.14 to 457.41 316.50 to 486.77

The carrying value of cash settled plans liability is Rs. 235 and Rs. 752 as of March 31, 2018 and
March 31, 2017 respectively.
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27.2 Employee benefits
The details of significant employee benefits are as follows:
For the year ended
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
. Compensated . Compensated
Gratuity absences Gratuity absences
Obligation:
Balance as at beginning of the year 2,618 1,158 2,656 1,127
Current service cost 377 218 412 234
Interest cost 194 86 207 a4
Benefits paid (424) (169) (541) (163)
Transfers 5 2 (189) (79)
Remeasurements (86) (180) 73 (43)
Present value of funded obligation 2,684 1,115 2,618 1,158
Assets:
Balance as at beginning of year 46 - 66
Interest income 3 - 5
Benefits paid (32) - (23)
Remeasurements (1) - (D)
Fair value of plan assets 16 - 46
Liability recognised in the balance sheet 2,668 1,115 2,572 1,158
Current portion 662 1,115 616 1,158
Hon-current portion 2,006 - 1,956 -

The expected contribution for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 for Gratuity plan is Rs. 588 and
Rs. 583 respectively.

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income for the above plans

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Experience losses 18 41
Gains from change in demographic assumptions 26 (31)
Losses from change in financial assumptions (130} 63
Remeasurements on lability (86) 73
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income (1) (0)
Remeasurements on plan assets (1) (0)
Net remeasurements recognised in OCI (85) 73

The above mentioned plan assets are entirely represented by funds invested with LIC.
Due to its defined benefit plans, the Group is exposed to the following significant risks:
Changes in bond yields - A decrease in bond yields will increase plan liability.

Salary risk - The present value of the defined benefit plans liability is calculated by reference to the future
salaries of the plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the

plan’s liability.
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The financial (per annum rates) a